#### PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due. MAY BE RECALLED with earlier due date if requested.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE
	5/08 K:/P	roi/Acc&Pres/CIBC/DateDu

.....

HYBRID HIE DEVELOPMENT EXPERIMENTATIO

in pa

## HYBRID HIERARCHICAL BIO-BASED MATERIALS: DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION THROUGH EXPERIMENTATION AND COMPUTATIONAL SIMULATIONS

By

Mahmoodul Haq

## **A DISSERTATION**

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

## DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

# **CIVIL ENGINEERING**

2009

# HYBRID H DEVELOPME EXPERIMENTA

Environmentally frie wared by harnessing the s at more scale) reinforcer zzi risins. Bio-based cor is invironmental appeal a trange of multiscale reinf vie combined with bio-1 and barner proper Moreover, the Somenial impact. While her studied for synthetic co intereloping new types of s theration focused on devel En 10 understand and ex transmission and computer <sup>Bio-based</sup> composites zzi or bio-resin (epoxidize <sup>actanosilicate</sup> (nanoclas) inc

#### ABSTRACT

#### HYBRID HIERARCHICAL BIO-BASED MATERIALS: DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTERIZATION THROUGH EXPERIMENTATION AND COMPUTATIONAL SIMULATIONS

#### By Mahmoodul Haq

Environmentally friendly bio-based composites with improved properties can be obtained by harnessing the synergy offered by hybrid constituents such as multiscale (nanoand micro- scale) reinforcement in bio-based resins composed of blends of synthetic and natural resins. Bio-based composites have recently gained much attention due to their low cost, environmental appeal and their potential to compete with synthetic composites. The advantage of multiscale reinforcement is that it offers synergy at various length scales, and when combined with bio-based resins provide stiffness-toughness balance, improved thermal and barrier properties, and increased environmental appeal to the resulting composites. Moreover, these hybrid materials are tailorable in performance and in environmental impact. While the use of different concepts of multiscale reinforcement has been studied for synthetic composites, the study of multiphase/multiscale reinforcements for developing new types of sustainable materials is limited. The research summarized in this dissertation focused on development of multiscale reinforced bio-based composites and the effort to understand and exploit the synergy of its constituents through experimental characterization and computational simulations.

Bio-based composites consisting of petroleum-based resin (unsaturated polyester), natural or bio-resin (epoxidized soybean and linseed oils), natural fibers (industrial hemp), and nanosilicate (nanoclay) inclusions were developed. The work followed the "materials by

2051 philosophy by : regrain explore muks of bio-resin zh counter-balance s mat strength an unue toughness. 7 rightess can be broug zway. A multiscale memented to the de ne nano-scale actuational design of imphase material w ron problem to dete zostature in greater Overall, eco-frie TO WERE SUCCES ite sustainable bio-b tanjortation and hour ermath of understanding acqued in this work, 1 tient per of hierarchica design" philosophy by incorporating an integrated experimental and computational approach to strategically explore the design possibilities and limits. Experiments demonstrated that the drawbacks of bio-resin addition, which lowers stiffness, strength and increases permeability, can be counter-balanced through nanoclay reinforcement. Bio-resin addition yields benefits in impact strength and ductility. Conversely, nanoclay enhances stiffness but seems to decrease toughness. Thus, the traditionally seen opposite measures of stiffness and toughness can be brought to an efficient balance through the combination of bio-resin and nanoclay. A multiscale computational approach, namely a multi-FE based approach, was implemented to the developed materials to extrapolate the experimental matrix, to provide insight into nano-scale behavior beyond measurements and to hopefully serve as a tool for computational design of hybrid materials. Additionally, an enhanced RVE for modeling the three-phase material was determined by solving a topology optimization based material layout problem to determine the distribution of bio-resin, thereby allowing modeling the nanostructure in greater detail and closer to reality.

Overall, eco-friendly, tailorable, cost-effective and multiscale reinforced bio-based composites were successfully developed. The improved multifaceted features possible for these sustainable bio-based materials are likely to increase their appeal for use in transportation and housing structural applications. Additionally, it is believed that the approach of understanding complex materials by integrating simulations and experiments, as attempted in this work, holds great promise, and a similar methodology can be applied for other types of hierarchical materials, thereby providing guidance in designing those materials. Copyright ©

Mahmoodul Haq

2009

To my parents and my wife, for their continuous prayers, sacrifices, guidance and support.

v

A

Praise be to the L It is difficult to oversta misum inspiration, and has werth great fun for me. Th ni ma vision helped me na mailizve been lost without h I wish to thank the me: Mrs. Dr. Ronald Harichand marrive comments. Addition & Merium Misra for sharing intrance, encouragement a I would like to thank N the Center for their help Z.M. Siavosh Ravanbaksh with also like to ter help in electron microsc I would like to thank D internancing of materials. I Series for their help in ma <sup>In thearth</sup> I would also like the store my stay at MSU. Lastly, and most import at a site Sarah, for their pa-

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Praise be to the LORD, The Most Beneficent, The Most Merciful

It is difficult to overstate my gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Rigoberto Burgueño. His enthusiasm, inspiration, and his efforts to explain things clearly and simply, helped to make research great fun for me. Throughout my dissertation, his encouragement, sound advice and great vision helped me navigate through the difficult times during my PhD studies. I would have been lost without him.

I wish to thank the members of PhD committee, Dr. Amar Mohanty, Dr. Manjusri Misra, Dr. Ronald Harichandran, and Dr. Alejandro Diaz for their valuable time and constructive comments. Additionally, very special thanks are due to Dr. Amar Mohanty and Dr. Manjusri Misra for sharing with me their expertise in biocomposite materials, and ofr their guidance, encouragement and support throughout this research.

I would like to thank Mr. Michael Rich and the staff of Composite Materials and Structures Center for their help in manufacturing and material testing. Also, I would like to thank Mr. Siavosh Ravanbaksh and Mr. Joseph Nguyen for their help at Civil Engineering Laboratories. I would also like to thank the staff at MSU's Center of Advanced Microscopy for their help in electron microscopy imaging.

I would like to thank Dr. Hiroaki Miyagawa for his initial help in processing and understanding of materials. I thank Janelle Musch, Richard McClary and Lindsey Diggelmann for their help in manufacturing of biocomposite materials at different stages of this research. I would also like to thank my colleagues for their friendship and support throughout my stay at MSU.

Lastly, and most importantly, I would like to thank my family, specially my parents and my wife Sarah, for their patience, sacrifices and support. To them, I dedicate this thesis.

m grateful to my b

mine most: to

This study wa

35:439566. Additio

mini were obtained

iz Gratuate School

invitiged.

.

I am grateful to my brother Zia for having confidence in me and supporting me when it mattered the most: to chase my dream.

This study was mainly funded by the National Science Foundation under grant CMS-0409666. Additionally, financial support in the form of assistanships and fellowship awards were obtained from the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, and the Graduate School at Michigan State University. All contributions are gratefully acknowledged.

LIST OF TABLES
IN OF FIGURE S
HAPTER 1 NTRODUCTION Determined Method Determined Method Biology and Simulations - Con Method / Approach Method /
Results Content an 14.1 Overall Processing I
1       Tensile Properties

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST C	OF TABLES	iii
LIST C	OF FIGURESx	iv
CHAP	TER 1.	
INTRO	ODUCTION	1
1.1	Motivation	1
1.2	Objectives	5
1.3	Background	6
1.3.1	Bio based composite materials and Biocomposites	6
1.3.2	Enhancement through Nano-reinforcement & Nanocomposite processing	7
1.3.3	Hybrid Biocomposites from Bio-based Resins & Nanoclays	10
1.3.4	Modeling and simulation of micro/nano reinforced polymers	11
1.3.5	Multiscale methodology	14
1.4	Method / Approach	16
1.4.1	Experimentation - Processing & Characterization:	17
1.4.2	Simulations - Computational Models & Multiscale Modeling	17
1.5	Scope	18
1.6	Organization	20
1.7	Tables and Figures	21
1.8	References	24
<b>CHAP</b>	TER 2.	
DEVE	LOPMENT OF BIO-BASED CLAY NANOCOMPOSITES	28
2.1	Abstract	28
2.2	Introduction	28
2.3	Experimental Methods	34
2.3.1	Materials	34
2.3.2	Testing & Characterization	35
2.4	Processing Techniques	35
2.5	Processing Variables	39
2.5.1	Styrene Content in Resin System	39
2.5.2	Sonication Energy	39
2.5.3	Material Content and Nomenclature	40
2.6	Results	41
2.6.1	Overall Processing Efficiency	41
2.6.2	Tensile Properties	42
2.6.3	Morphology of Nanoclay Inclusions	45
264	Emerannyhin Ohannyhinn	A.C

2.6.4 Fractographic Observations	
2.7 Discussion	
2.8 Conclusions	
2.9 Tables and Figures	51
2.10 References	

CEAPT	ER 3.
BIO B.	SED POLYMER NA
<u>1</u>	biat
11	moducion
	menmental Methods
	Vatenak
;;"	Emerimental Matrix a
	Pahmer Nanocommos
124	Tomat Chamaters
1 •: • •	
:4.1	lensue lests & Prope
342	Dinamic Mechanical
343	Thermal Mechanical A
34.4	Mosture Absorption 7
:45	Energy Absorbed per 1
346	Transmission Electron
347	Fractographic Observa
B I	Sansion
3 (	antisione
	handedoom
ч. Чт	bla and T
	with and rigures
D	ciernees
FUT	τ.
CEAPT NO. P.	ER4.
CEAPT SIOBA	ER 4. SED POLYMER NAT
ELAPT BIOBA L'	ER 4. SED POLYMER NAT
CHAPT BIOBA 42 A	ER 4. SED POLYMER NA Ustract
CHAPT BIOBA L: A L: A L: A L: A L: A L: A L: A L:	ER4. SED POLYMER NA Introduction renimental Methods
0EAPT 200BA 42 A 42 A 43 E 431	ER 4. SED POLYMER NA Instruction Introduction Interimental Methods Materials
044PT 100BA 10 A 10 A 10 A 10 A 10 A 10 A 10 A 10	ER 4. SED POLYMER NAT Introduction spennental Methods Materials Experimental material
0HAPT 300BA 42 A 43 E 431 432 433	ER4. SED POLYMER NA bstract mroduction menimental Methods Materiak Experimental matrix a: Polymer papers
0:4PT 3:0BA 42 E 43 E 431 432 433 434	ER4. SED POLYMER NAT Instruction Introduction Internated Methods Materials Experimental matrix at Polymer nanocompose Tetime and the
0HAPT SUOBA 42 A 43 E 432 433 434 44 R	ER4. SED POLYMER NAT Introduction
0HAPT 100BA 12 4 13 E 13 E 13 4 1432 1434 14 R 141	ER4. SED POLYMER NAX ibstract moduction incenimental Methods Materials Experimental matrix at Polymer nanocompose Testing and character esults Testing
0HAPT SIOBA 42 H 43 E 431 432 433 434 44 R 441 442	ER4. SED POLYMER NAX ibstract introduction introduction introduction internals Materials Experimental matrix a: Polymer nanocompos: Testing and character. esults Tensile tests and proper Theory
0EAPT SIOBA 42 E 43 E 432 433 434 441 442 443	ER4. SED POLYMER NAX Instruct Introduction
0:49T 3:08A 4: 1: 4:: 4:: 4:: 4:: 4:: 4:: 4:: 4:: 4:: 4	ER4. SED POLYMER NAX betract
04APT 100 BA 12 E 13 E 14	ER4. SED POLYMER NAX istract introduction introduction Materials Experimental Methods Materials Experimental matrix at Polymer nanocompose Testing and character esults Tensile tests and properties Thermal properties Moisture absorption Impact strength
CHAPT SIOBA 42 E 431 432 434 441 442 444 445 5	ER4. SED POLYMER NAX istract introduction introduction introduction introduction internals Experimental Methods Materials Experimental matrix and Polymer nanocompose Testing and character isting and character isting and character isting and character isting and properties Moisture absorption Impact strength Nanoclay dispersion
CEAPT SIOBA 42 E 431 432 433 434 R 441 442 443 444 5 C	ER4. SED POLYMER NAX Instruct Introduction Introduction Introduction Internals Experimental Methods Materials Experimental matrix and Polymer nanocompose Testing and character. Internal properties Moisture absorption Impact strength Nanoclay dispersion a Neussion
CHAPT SIOBA 42 E 431 432 433 44 441 445 5 451 451 451 451 4	ER4. SED POLYMER NAX Instruct Introduction Introduction Internal Methods Materials Experimental matrix a Polymer nanocompose Testing and character. Seats Tensile tests and properties Moisture absorption Impact strength Nanoclay dispersion a Secusion Properties and creation Properties and Properties and creation Properties and creation Properties and creation Properties and creation Properties and creation Properties and creation Properties and Properties and creation Properties and creation Properties and properties and creation Properties
GAPT BOBA 10 A A B E B 10 BA A B E B 10 BA A B B B A B A B A B A B A B A B A B	ER4. SED POLYMER NAX istract introduction introduction inteninental Methods Materials Experimental matrix and Polymer nanocomposes Testing and character subs Tensile tests and properties Moisture absorption Impact strength Manoclay dispersion a Necussion Properties and synerg Performance line
CEAPT BOBA 10 A 1 E E 10 BA 10 A 1 E E 10 A 2 E E	ER4. SED POLYMER NAX istract introduction introduction introduction internals Experimental Methods Materials Experimental matrix and Polymer nanocompose Testing and character isting and
CHAPT A SIOBA A L E E L 13235 A R 14 4425 D 152 0 15 152 0 15 152 0 15 152 0 15 152 0 15 152 0 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15	ER4. SED POLYMER NAX istract introduction introduction introduction internals Experimental Methods Materials Experimental matrix and Polymer nanocompose Testing and character. Internal properties Moisture absorption Impact strength Nanoclay dispersion a Necusion Properties and synerg Performance limits ar- orchusions ables and Elimits
CHAPT A SIO BA 4: 1: E 4: 1: 2: 3: 4: 4: 4: 4: 4: 4: 4: 4: 4: 4: 4: 4: 4:	ER4. SED POLYMER NAX Instruct Introduction Introduction Introduction Introduction Materials Experimental Methods Materials Experimental matrix at Polymer nanocompose Testing and character. Setting Tensile tests and properties Moisture absorption Impact strength Nanoclay dispersion a Secusion Properties and synerg Performance limits at otchsions Setting Performance limits at Setting Performance limits at Setting Performance limits at Setting Performance limits at Setting Performance limits at Setting Performance limits at Properties and Figures Performance limits at Performance

#### CHAPTER 3.

BIO-E	BASED POLYMER NANOCOMPOSITES: I – UPE / EMS	62
3.1	Abstract	62
3.2	Introduction	62
3.3	Experimental Methods	66
3.3.1	1 Materials	66
3.3.2	2 Experimental Matrix and Nomenclature	66
3.3.3	3 Polymer Nanocomposite Processing	67
3.3.4	4 Testing & Characterization	69
3.4	Results	71
3.4.1	1 Tensile Tests & Properties	71
3.4.2	2 Dynamic Mechanical Analysis	72
3.4.3	3 Thermal Mechanical Analysis	72
3.4.4	4 Moisture Absorption Tests	73
3.4.	5 Energy Absorbed per Unit Volume (Toughness)	74
3.4.6	6 Transmission Electron Microscopy	75
3.4.2	7 Fractographic Observations (Scanning Electron Microscopy)	76
3.5	Discussion	77
3.6	Conclusions	80
3.7	Acknowledgements	81
3.8	Tables and Figures	82
3.9	References	90

#### CHAPTER 4.

BIO-BASED POLYMER NANOCOMPOSITES: II - UPE / EML	92
4.1 Abstract	92
4.2 Introduction	92
4.3 Experimental Methods	96
4.3.1 Materials	96
4.3.2 Experimental matrix and nomenclature	97
4.3.3 Polymer nanocomposite processing	97
4.3.4 Testing and characterization	98
4.4 Results	99
4.4.1 Tensile tests and properties	99
4.4.2 Thermal properties	
4.4.3 Moisture absorption	104
4.4.4 Impact strength	106
4.4.5 Nanoclay dispersion and morphology	108
4.5 Discussion	109
4.5.1 Properties and synergistic behavior	110
4.5.2 Performance limits and optimized material design	112
4.6 Conclusions	113
4.7 Tables and Figures	115
4.8 References	122

CHAPTER 5.
MITTISCALE HYBRII
1 Abstract
E Introduction
3 Experimental meth
331 Materials
32 Nanocomposite
333 Manufacturing O.
H Testing & character
ii Results
55.1 Tensile modulus
552 Elongation at fail
553 Thermal properti
554 Nanoclay dispers:
555 Fracture surface of
Discussion.
Conclusions
I Tables and Figures
References
A1
CHAPTER 6.
MULLISCALE HYBRID
Abstract
- Introduction
Experimental method
10.1 Materials
522 Experimental matr
23 Pohmer nanocom
Manufacturing of H
Testing and charac
Results
Material characteri
UISCUSSION.
Conclusions
laples and Figures
References

CHAPTER 7. NALYTICAL AND NUM ARRIER PROPERTIES C I Introduction Micromechanical Modi 721 Mori Tanaka Estima 13 Unit Cell Methods / Fi 731 Representative Volu 732 RVE Analyses 733 Results of RVE Ana Comparison of Tensile

# CHAPTER 5.

MULTI	ISCALE HYBRID BIOCOMPOSITES: I – HF / UPE / EMS	125
5.1	Abstract	125
5.2 I	Introduction	125
5.3 I	Experimental methods	128
5.3.1	Materials	128
5.3.2	Nanocomposite processing	129
5.3.3	Manufacturing of hybrid biocomposite plates	130
5.4	Testing & characterization	131
5.5 I	Results	132
5.5.1	Tensile modulus and ultimate tensile strength	132
5.5.2	Elongation at failure and notched Izod impact strengths	133
5.5.3	Thermal properties and moisture absorption	134
5.5.4	Nanoclay dispersion and exfoliation.	135
5.5.5	Fracture surface observations.	135
5.6 1	Discussion	137
5.7 (	Conclusions	140
5.8	Tables and Figures	141
5.9 I	References	146

# CHAPTER 6.

MULTISCALE HYBRID BIOCOMPOSITES: II - HF	/ UPE / EML148
6.1 Abstract	
6.2 Introduction	
6.3 Experimental methods	
6.3.1 Materials	
6.3.2 Experimental matrix and nomenclature	
6.3.3 Polymer nanocomposite processing	
6.3.4 Manufacturing of hybrid biocomposite plates	
6.3.5 Testing and characterization	
6.4 Results	
6.4.1 Material characterization study	
6.5 Discussion	
6.6 Conclusions	
6.7 Tables and Figures	
6.8 References	

# CHAPTER 7.

ANALYTICAL AND NUMERICAL MODELING OF MECHANICAL AND	
BARRIER PROPERTIES OF CLAY/POLYMER NANOCOMPOSITES	184
7.1 Introduction	184
7.2 Micromechanical Modeling of PNC's	188
7.2.1 Mori Tanaka Estimates	188
7.3 Unit Cell Methods / FE - RVE based method	198
7.3.1 Representative Volume Element (RVE)- Selection and Boundary Conditions	199
7.3.2 RVE Analyses	202
7.3.3 Results of RVE Analyses	204
7.4 Comparison of Tensile Modulus Results with Theoretical and FE predictions	205

FF RVE based DL
Missine Dittusion
-1 Morrine distusiv
11 Moine diffusion
Monine distant
J MOSTARE ALLING
'I Companson of Dill
<sup>3</sup> Discussion of Diffu
Conclusion
Tables & Figures
12 References
CHAPTER 8.
E-BASED MULTISCAL
L'Abent
12 Introduction
11 Uniterial American
N' Marial
fill Commission
ton Computational Ho
Penodic Boundary
Lit Couping Macrostn
E Implementation
14 Mathevel FE Model
141 Macromesh RIF (
5 Meterel FF Madel
i Paul

References. CHAPTER 9. MODELING OF THREE - 1 METERMINING BIO-RES MATERIAL DESIG Abstract

E Results and Discussion

15.1 Bio-based Polymer 15.2 Hybrid Bio-based C

Conclusion

11 Appendix-Derivation c 15 Tables & Figures

- Introduction: Materials Design / Law Gase Studies:
- 942 Description of model
- 943 Determination of Tar 944 Case 1: Exfoliated, 10 945 Case 2: Exfoliated, 20
- in, Case-3: Extoliated, 2
- in Case-4: Extoliated, 1

7.5	Theoretical Models for Diffusion / Heat Transfer Problems	
7.6	FE-RVE based Diffusion Modeling and Comparison with Experiments	
7.7	Moisture Diffusion Results	
7.7.	1 Moisture diffusivity through neat resins (no clay)	
7.7	2 Moisture diffusivity in virgin UPE reinforced with nanoclay	
77.	3 Moisture diffusivity in UPE/EML blends reinforced with nanoclay	
7.8	Comparison of Diffusion Results: Experiment and Theory	
7.9	Discussion of Diffusion Results	
7.10	Conclusion	
7.11	Tables & Figures	
7.12	References	

## CHAPTER 8.

FE-BASED MULTISCALE	HOMOGENIZATION <sup>,</sup> 243
8.1 Abstract	
8.2 Introduction	
8.3 Multi-level Approach	
8.3.1 Materials	
8.3.2 Computational Hom	ogenization Hypotheses250
8.3.3 Periodic Boundary C	onditions (PBC)251
8.3.4 Coupling Macrostruc	ture and Microstructure252
8.3.5 FE Implementation.	
8.4 Multi-level FE Model o	f bio-based Polymer/Clay Composites
8.4.1 Macromesh, RVE (n	icromesh), Material Models and Computational Aspects256
8.5 Multi-level FE Model o	f Hybrid Biocomposites:
8.6 Results and Discussion	
8.6.1 Bio-based Polymer N	Janocomposites
8.6.2 Hybrid Bio-based Co	mposites
8.7 Conclusion	
8.8 Appendix-Derivation o	f Tangential Stiffness Matrix
8.9 Tables & Figures	
8.10 References	

## CHAPTER 9.

<b>CHAP</b>	<b>TER 9.</b>	
MODE	LING OF THREE-PHASE BIO-BASED NANOCOMPOSITES:	
DETE	RMINING BIO-RESIN DISTRIBUTION USING AN OPTIMIZATIO	DN-
BASEI	D MATERIAL DESIGN PROBLEM	288
9.1	Abstract:	288
9.2	Introduction:	290
9.3	Materials Design / Layout as an Optimization Problem	293
9.4	Case Studies:	297
9.4.1	Introduction to the models/cases:	297
9.4.2	Description of models	298
9.4.3	Determination of Target Properties	298
9.4.4	Case-1: Exfoliated, 10% bio-resin, 10% available for layout optimization	300
9.4.5	Case-2: Exfoliated, 20% bio-resin, 20% available for layout optimization	301
9.4.6	Case-3: Exfoliated, 20% bio-resin, 10% available for layout optimization	301
9.4.7	Case-4: Exfoliated, 10% bio-resin, Initial Value Varies Linearly	302
	•	

618	Case-5: Intercalated
949	Case-6: Intercalated
64.0	Case-7: Intercala
41	Case-8: Intercala
412	Discussion of the
5 J	hin-FE simulations:
÷ (	enclusion
÷ 4	knowledgements
I I	ities and Figures
e R	

.

9.4	4.8	Case-5: Intercalated, 10% bio-resin, 10% available for layout optimization	302
9.4	4.9	Case-6: Intercalated, 20% bio-resin, 20% available for layout optimization	303
9.4	4.10	Case-7: Intercalated, 20% bio-resin, 10% available for layout optimization	304
9.4	4.11	Case-8: Intercalated, 10% bio-resin, Initial Value varies linearly	304
9.4	4.12	Discussion of the case-studies and Idealized RVEs	305
9.5	Ν	fulti-FE simulations: Tensile behavior using idealized RVEs	308
9.6	C	Conclusion	308
9.7	Α	cknowledgements	310
9.8	Т	ables and Figures	311
9.9	R	eferences	324

# CHAPTER 10.

SUMN	ARY AND CONCLUSIONS	326
10.1	Summary:	326
10.2	Research Findings	327
10.2	.1 Processing of Bio-based Nanocomposites	327
10.2	.2 Study on Bio-based Polymer Nano-composites	328
10.2	.3 Hybrid Bio-based Composites:	330
10.2	.4 Analytical and Computational Modeling	331
10.2	.5 Material layout	332
10.2	.6 Multi-scale simulations / Multi-FEA	334
10.2	.7 Closure	336
10.3	Philosophical Conclusions	337
10.3	.1 Sustainability	337
10.3	.2 Multi-scale Computations	
10.3	.3 Integration of Experimental results and Computational simulations	338
10.3	.4 Electron Microscopy / Measurements at Lower Scale	339
10.4	Research Needs	339
10.4	.1 Atomistic Simulations, Transient and Non-linear Properties:	339
10.4	.2 Statistical Considerations in Experimental Results	340
10.4	.3 True Bio-degradable "Green" Materials	340
10.4	.4 True Integration of Experiments and Computational Simulations	341
10.4	.5 Structural Application of Biocomposites and Large-scale Testing	341
10.5	Research Impact	342

Held Comparison of proc

Ter 12 Experimental results

Held. Experimental results

life 3-1. Experimental matri day and EMS contents .....

lize 41. Experimental matri day and EMS contents .....

2231 Biocomposite materi

res 1. Biocomposite materi

Tet 52 Measured properties

Er 1. Modulus along diffe

ize?2 Important issues limit

dr and EML contents .....

21.74. Diffusivity coefficier

UPE, expressed in percer equal or better barrier progr

Particle overlap factors, at Particle overlap factors, at Cet 7.7. Comparison of ex Particle overlap factors, at

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1. Comparison of processing techniques.     51
Table 2-2. Experimental results for various processes at sonication energy of 60 kJ
Table 2-3. Experimental results for various processes at sonication energy of 300 kJ52
Table 3-1. Experimental matrix showing specimen identification numbers and variation in clay and EMS contents
Table 4-1. Experimental matrix showing specimen identification numbers and variation in clay and EMS contents
Table 5-1. Biocomposite material identification and composition.         141
Table 6-1. Biocomposite material properties, Composition and Identification
Table 6-2. Measured properties of biocomposite material systems
Table 7-1. Modulus along different filler orientations (fibers and platelets) – Mori – Tanaka
Table 7-2. Important issues limiting ability to model the nanocomposites [7-3]
Table 7-3. Experimental matrix showing specimen identification numbers and variation in clay and EML contents       219
Table 7-4. Diffusivity coefficients of UPE/EML nanoclay composites.       219
Table 7-5. Comparison of diffusivity coefficients of various nanocomposites with virginUPE, expressed in percentage. Highlighted region shows nanocomposites that hadequal or better barrier properties than virgin UPE.219
Table 7-6. Comparison of experimental results and theoretical predictions for various particle overlap factors, at nanoclay content of 2.5 wt.%220Table 7-7. Comparison of experimental results and theoretical predictions for various particle overlap factors, at nanoclay content of 5 wt.%220
Table 9-1. Model Description for the material design layouts studied in this work

# Images i

Fer 1-1. Schematic showing Fra 1-2 Computation mate web[1-40]\_\_ First 1-3. Schematic of multis isa 14 Herarchical Modeli TER 1-5. Overall approach of Fren 241. Schematic descriptio Est 2.2 Tensile modulus and TER 2.3. Tensile modulus and TETE 24. Tensile failure strains Fair 2.5. Tensile failure strains Ten 2-6. TEM micrographs processed at 60 kJ, a) proce c process C with 60 kJ a sacks of clay particles ...... TET 27 TEM micrographs <sup>processed</sup> at 300 kJ, a) proparticle from process D na

Terre 2.8. SEM images s rancomposites from var: Cwith sonication energy a process B at 300 kJ, and, f

Ext 3-1. Processing technique

# LIST OF FIGURES

# Images in this dissertation are presented in color.

Figure 1-1. Schematic showing multiscale components and phase transitions
Figure 1-2. Computation materials – Length, time scales, modeling methods and associated tools [1-40]
Figure 1-3. Schematic of multiscale FE approach (Adapted from [1-10])22
Figure 1-4. Hierarchical Modeling and Evaluation Techniques
Figure 1-5. Overall approach of multiscale modeling for load bearing biocomposites
Figure 2-1. Schematic description of various processing techniques
Figure 2-2. Tensile modulus and strength at sonication energy of 60 kJ53
Figure 2-3. Tensile modulus and strength at sonication energy of 300 kJ54
Figure 2-4. Tensile failure strains at sonication energy of 60 kJ54
Figure 2-5. Tensile failure strains at sonication energy of 300 kJ55
Figure 2-6. TEM micrographs showing clay dispersion and exfoliation for nanocomposites processed at 60 kJ, a) process B, b) process C with sonication energy applied in 3 steps, c) process C with 60 kJ applied continuously. Encircled regions reveal agglomerated stacks of clay particles
Figure 2-7. TEM micrographs showing clay dispersion and exfoliation for nanocomposites processed at 300 kJ, a) process B, b) process D, c) High magnification of an intercalated particle from process D nanocomposite
Figure 2-8. SEM images showing tensile fracture surface morphologies for the nanocomposites from various processes: a) neat UPE, b) process B at 60 kJ, c) process C with sonication energy applied in 3 steps, 60 kJ, d) process C at 60 kJ (continuous), e) process B at 300 kJ, and, f) process D at 300 kJ
Figure 3-1. Processing technique of nanoclay reinforced EMS-UPE blends
Figure 3-2. Experimental tensile modulus of bio-blend resin systems with varying clay contents

Experimental to
- 14 Travila strains a
Sat 35. Unimate tensile
Tar: 3-6. Ultimate tensile :
Tean 3-7. Storage Mar Nanocomposites
Fant 3-8. Linear coefficient
Tut 3.9. Moisture absorption after
Fra Lil Moisture absorp
Ter 311. Absorbed energy raying chy contents
<ul> <li>πισματά and intercalate</li> <li>πισματά and intercalate</li> <li>1 μm, b) High magnit</li> <li>μm, of intercalated participation</li> </ul>
sale bar = 50 μm, b) 1 sale bar = 50 μm, b) 1
3= 41. Processing of nano
Tanoclay content
Ext 43. Experimental ult
Polymer/clay composites.
- CTE L
·Ert 46. Variation of CTE a

Figure 3-3. Experimental tensile modulus and Poisson's ratio of neat resin (no clay) systems
Figure 3-4. Tensile strains at failure of bio-blend resin systems with varying clay contents84
Figure 3-5. Ultimate tensile strengths of bio-blend resin systems with varying clay contents 85
Figure 3-6. Ultimate tensile strengths and failure strains of neat resin (no clay) systems85
Figure 3-7. Storage Modulus and Glass Transition Temperature of Bio-blend Nanocomposites
Figure 3-8. Linear coefficient of thermal expansion above and below $T_g$
Figure 3-9. Moisture absorption of neat resins (no clay). The inset plot compares the moisture absorption after steady state has been achieved
Figure 3-10. Moisture absorption of bio-blend resin systems with varying clay contents87
Figure 3-11. Absorbed energy per unit volume (toughness) of bio-blend resin systems with varying clay contents
<ul> <li>Figure 3-12. Bright-field TEM micrographs revealing homogenous dispersion with partially exfoliated and intercalated clay particles in UPE matrix. a) Low magnification, scale bar</li> <li>– 1 μm, b) High magnification, scale bar – 50 nm, approximately 3 to 4 particles per gallery of intercalated particle</li></ul>
Figure 3-13. SEM micrographs of tensile failure surfaces, a) Neat UPE without inclusions, scale bar = 50 μm, b) 10% bio-blend [EMS] in UPE with 1.5 wt.%. clay inclusions, scale bar = 50 μm
Figure 4-1. Processing of nanoclay reinforced bio-based (UPE/EML) resins116
Figure 4-2. Experimental tensile modulus of bio-based polymer systems with varying nanoclay content
Figure 4-3. Experimental ultimate tensile stresses for various bio-based polymer/clay nanocomposites
Figure 4-4. Experimental tensile test elongations at failure for various bio-based polymer/clay composites
Figure 4-5. Variation of CTE below $T_g$ with varying bio-resin (EML) and nanoclay content. 118
Figure 4-6. Variation of CTE above $T_g$ with varying bio-resin (EML) and nanoclay content.

.

<sup>1</sup><sup>2</sup><sup>27</sup> 56. SEM micrograp: <sup>biocomposites</sup>. Microgra: <sup>respectively</sup>: All images ha

Figure 61. Schematic of pro-

Anufacturing of r

Figure 4-7. Variation of glass transition temperature (7) with varying EML and nanoclay content
Figure 4-8. Moisture diffusivity of neat resins (no clay)119
Figure 4-9. Experimental diffusivity coefficients for all bio-based polymer/clay nanocomposites in study
Figure 4-10. Variation of Izod Impact strength with varying bio-resin (EML) and nanoclay concentration
Figure 4-11. TEM micrographs showing degree of dispersion and morphology: a) $100/0/2.5$ - well dispersed, partially exfoliated and intercalated (scale = 1µm), b)70/30/2.5 – well dispersed, but higher degree of intercalation relative to $100/0/2.5$ (scale = 1µm), c) $100/0/5$ – Well dispersed, partially exfoliated and intercalated (scale = 2µm), and d) $100/0/5.0$ – high magnification of an intercalated gallery (scale = 50 nm).
Figure 5-1. Tensile modulus and ultimate tensile strengths142
Figure 5-2. Impact strengths from notched Izod tests and tensile strains at failure142
Figure 5-3. Linear coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) and moisture absorption (MA).
Figure 5-4. Bright-field TEM micrographs revealing homogenous dispersion with partially exfoliated and intercalated clay particles in UPE matrix. a) low magnification, scale bar = 1 $\mu$ m, b) high magnification, scale bar = 50 nm, approximately 3 to 4 particles per gallery of intercalated particle
Figure 5-5. SEM micrographs of tensile fracture surfaces showing interfacial gaps between fiber and matrix. (a) biocomposite B: 10 % EMS and no nanoclay in UPE, (b) biocomposite C: 20 % EMS and no nanoclay in UPE, (c) biocomposite E: 10 % EMS and 1.5 wt. % nanoclay in UPE, and (d) representative fracture surface showing both pull-out (circled region) and fracture (boxed region) of fibers, scale bar = 100 $\mu$ m. Images (a) to (c): scale bar =10 $\mu$ m.
Figure 5-6. SEM micrographs showing matrix region in tensile fracture surface of biocomposites. Micrographs (a), (b), (c) and d represent biocomposites A, B, D, E, respectively. All images have a magnification scale bar of 10 µm145
Figure 6-1. Schematic of processing technique of nanoclay reinforced UPE + bio-resin blends
Figure 6-2. Manufacturing of nanoclay reinforced biocomposites

Firt 63. Experimental ten	ut 63. Experimental tens
---------------------------	--------------------------

32864 Experimental ultir

Farto 5 Experimental elon

Fart 5-6. Impact strengths C

Fare 67. Moisture diffuisivit

Fight 5-8. Summary of diffus Fight 6-9. TEM microgra Nancomposite resin in partally exfoliated and in High magnification inna Biocomposite I (100/0/5.

First 5-10. Tensile fracture s showing fiber-pull-out (er ani), b) Magnified region regions and fiber-matrix metriacial gap: c) Biocon Biocomposite I (100/0/5, bar = 10 µm).

Ext 6-11. Matrix regions of Bicomposite D (70/30/ 70/30/0), phase-separated ad fj Biocomposite I (70/

oremations [7-3]

Tex 7.2 Variation of Longitus

Ett 7.3. Variation in length :

TT 14. Variation of Longit:

Sur 7.5. Variation of Transv

Ext 7.6. Variation of In-Plan

Ren 7.7 Variation of Out of

Figure 6-3. Experimental tensile modulus of biocomposite
Figure 6-4. Experimental ultimate tensile strengths of biocomposites
Figure 6-5. Experimental elongations at tensile failure of biocomposites
Figure 6-6. Impact strengths of biocomposites from notched Izod tests
Figure 6-7. Moisture diffuisivity of neat resin (no nanoclay) biocomposites
Figure 6-8. Summary of diffusion coefficients of various biocomposites
Figure 6-10. Tensile fracture surface analysis: a) Generic low magnification failure surface showing fiber-pull-out (encircled) and fiber fracture (arrows) regions, (scale bar = 200 $\mu$ m), b) Magnified regions showing fiber-pull-out (encircled), fiber fracture (boxed) regions and fiber-matrix interfacial gap (arrows), (scale bar = 50 $\mu$ m). Fiber-matrix interfacial gap: c) Biocomposite A (100/0/0), d) Biocomposite D (70/30/0), e) Biocomposite I (100/0/5.0), and f) Biocomposite L (70/30/5.0). (Images c to e, Scale bar = 10 $\mu$ m)
Figure 6-11. Matrix regions of Tensile fracture surfaces: a) Biocomposite A (100/0/0), b) Biocomposite D (70/30/0), well blended UPE/EML region, c) Biocomposite D (70/30/0), phase-separated, bio-resin enriched region, d) Biocomposite I (100/0/5.0), and f) Biocomposite I (70/30/5.0)
Figure 7-1. Physical representations, coordinate systems, Mori-Tanaka model – filler orientations [7-3]
Figure 7-2 Variation of Longitudinal Modulus with Aspect ratio
Figure 7-3. Variation in length and subsequently aspect ratio, across a dish-like platelet [7-3].
Figure 7-4. Variation of Longitudinal Modulus ( $E_{11}$ ) with variation in $f_p$ and ( $L/t$ ) [7-7]222
Figure 7-5. Variation of Transverse Modulus ( $E_{22}$ ) with variation in $f_p$ and $(L/t)$ [7-7]223
Figure 7-6. Variation of In-Plane Shear Modulus (G <sub>12</sub> ) with variation in $f_p$ and $(L/t)$ [7-7]223
Figure 7-7. Variation of Out of-Plane Shear Modulus (G <sub>23</sub> ) with variation in $f_p$ and $(L/t)$ [7-7]

San & Vanation of Plane
Text 7.9 Variation of Major
Free Like inclusions, (L
For 11 Variation of Tra For Like inclusions, (L
Fair 12 Variation of Long Faire Like inclusions, (L
Fate Like inclusions, (L
axiel [7-7]
tsm 15. Variation of E 11/H
Sze 7-16. Kinematic Period.
523-17. Schematic Repress
Tan '18. Particle Periodia Particles RVE dimension
Sample RVE v
Est 22. Resulting stress co
5=: 7-21. Partly exfoliated at
Text 7.22. RVE with Mesh et Text 7.23. RVE with interfa- Interface (green) shown al
(rd) with Interfac
The string E /E
۲ – E

Figure 7-8. Variation of Plane Strain Bulk Modulus ( $K_{23}$ ) with variation in $f_p$ and ( $L/t$ ) [7-7].
Figure 7-9. Variation of Major Poisson's Ratio ( $v_{12}$ ) with variation in $f_p$ and (L/t) [7-7]225
Figure 7-10. Variation of Longitudinal Modulus $(E_{11})$ with variation in $f_p$ and $(L/t)$ - Hui-Shia Fiber Like inclusions, $(L/t = 10, 50)$ [7-7]
Figure 7-11. Variation of Transverse Modulus $(E_{22})$ with variation in $f_p$ and $(L/t)$ - Hui-Shia Fiber Like inclusions, $(L/t = 10, 50)$ [7-7]
Figure 7-12. Variation of Longitudinal Modulus $(E_{11})$ with variation in $f_p$ and $(L/t)$ - Hui-Shia Flake Like inclusions, $(L/t = 0.01, 0.1)$ [7-7]
Figure 7-13. Variation of Transverse Modulus $(E_{22})$ with variation in $f_p$ and $(L/t)$ - Hui-Shia Flake Like inclusions, $(L/t = 0.01, 0.1)$ [7-7]
Figure 7-14. Variation of $E_{11}$ with respect to particle volume fraction( $f_p$ ) – Halpin-Tsai model [7-7]
Figure 7-15. Variation of E11/Em. Halpin - Tsai model [7-1]
Figure 7-16. Kinematic Periodic Boundary Conditions
Figure 7-17. Schematic Representation of Particle Periodicity in RVE
Figure 7-18. Particle Periodicity. Circled regions show the inclusions of the truncated particles. RVE dimension of 500 x1000 nm
Figure 7-19. a) Sample RVE with 2% wt. clay concentration, and, b) equivalent FE model
Figure 7-20. Resulting stress contours (S11-Von-Mises) from RVE FE analyses
Figure 7-21. Partly exfoliated and partly intercalated RVE model
Figure 7-22. RVE with Mesh thickness = 1 element per clay particle (RED)
Figure 7-24. RVE with Interface, Mesh thickness = 4 elements per Clay Particle and Interface (red)
Figure 7-25. Comparison of RVE Analyses with theory, Variation of Longitudinal Stiffness with varying $E_p/E_m$

the same aspect ratios ...

TET J. Study of Interface

Text 28 Study of CTE thro

Fest 3.9. Comparison of To Results for 100% Neat UI

Fere 7-30. Diffusion modelin attusion of water from magnification, c) tortuous and Experimental results

Ten -31. Diffusivity plots ( experimental data and so distance of the second se

oments. Symbols indica

Test 7-33. Diffusivity plo 10%EML, with varying Eres the exponential fit.

En 7.34. Diffusivity pla MoEML, with varying mes the exponential fit.

E.L. with varying clay exponential fit.

Fut 7-36. Summary of dir

Paricke overlap factors, sproach. Adapted from
Figure 7-26. Comparison of RVE Analyses with theory, Variation of Longitudinal Stiffness with varying aspect ratios
Figure 7-27. Study of Interface properties through RVE Analyses
Figure 7-28. Study of CTE through RVE analyses
Figure 7-29. Comparison of Tensile Modulus from theory, FEA – UCM and Experimental Results for 100% Neat UPE with varying clay content
Figure 7-30. Diffusion modeling using FE-based RVEs. a) concentration contours showing diffusion of water from bottom to top, b) tortuous flow path simulation, low magnification, c) tortuous flow path simulation, high magnification, and d) Simulation and Experimental results comparison
Figure 7-31. Diffusivity plots $(M_t/M_{\infty} \text{ vs.} \sqrt{t/d})$ of neat resins (no clay). Symbols indicate experimental data and solid lines the exponential fit. Inset shows, the initial slope / diffusivity coefficients (D x 10 <sup>-12</sup> m <sup>2</sup> /s) as a function of bio-resin content
Figure 7-32. Diffusivity plots $(M_t/M_{\infty} \text{ vs.} \sqrt{t}/d)$ of UPE (no EML) with varying clay contents. Symbols indicate experimental data and solid lines the exponential fit237
Figure 7-33. Diffusivity plots $(M_t/M_{\infty} \text{ vs. }\sqrt{t}/d)$ of UPE/EML blend containing 10%EML, with varying clay contents. Symbols indicate experimental data and solid lines the exponential fit
Figure 7-34. Diffusivity plots $(M_t/M_{\infty} \text{ vs. }\sqrt{t}/d)$ of UPE/EML blend containing 20%EML, with varying clay contents. Symbols indicate experimental data and solid lines the exponential fit
Figure 7-35. Diffusivity plots $(M_t/M_{\infty} \text{ vs. } \sqrt{t/d})$ of UPE/EML blend containing 30% EML, with varying clay contents. Symbols indicate experimental data and solid lines the exponential fit
Figure 7-36. Summary of diffusivity coefficients of all bio-based nanoclay composites in this study
Figure 7-37. Comparison of experimental results and theoretical predictions for various particle overlap factors, corresponding to clay content of 2.5 wt. %
Figure 7-38. Comparison of experimental results and theoretical predictions for various particle overlap factors, corresponding to clay content of 5 wt. %
Figure 8-1. A schematic of a typical 2D periodic RVE used in the current multiscale approach. Adapted from [8-15]

Free 8.2 Schematic of Iter

E megration point,

displacements {u}. Mac

are returned to macrosco

Figure 84. a) A FE-RVE sh showing 50% exfoliate mirrograph showing int. FE based RVE model....

Terr 85. Three phase RVE wt% nanoclay (black), ( morphology RVE c) mult

تعت 6. Three phase RVE ۳.۵ nanoclay (black), ( membology RVE c) muth

Sert 87. Experimental tensi semcidal fit to the experi

E= 38 Schematic of multi-

Exe 69. Parameters cons

San & 10. Tensile stress-stra Vanocomposite with 2.5 v

bocomposites with 10% E

icomposites with 20% E

inte-phase RVEs. All my

تورید 14. Comparison of ter انتقتا UPE (۲۵% bio-resin

ter § 15. Comparison of ter Libid composites with 2 Figure 8-2. Schematic of Iterative Computational Procedure. Adapted from [8-19]......275

Figure 8-3. Flowchart of multi-level FE approach. Deformation gradient at any macroscopic FE integration point, $F_{macro,ip}$ is transferred to microFEA models as vertex
displacements $\{u_i\}$ . Macroscopic stresses $\sigma_{macro,ip}$ , and tangential stiffness ${}^4S_{macro}$ , are returned to macroscopic integration points from microscopic models276
Figure 8-4. a) A FE-RVE showing 100% exfoliated nanoclay morphology, b) A FE-RVE showing 50% exfoliated and 50% intercalated nanoclay particles, c) actual TEM micrograph showing intercalated gallery, and d) zoom in of the intercalated gallery in FE based RVE model
Figure 8-5. Three phase RVEs for materials with 10% EML (red) in UPE (green) with 2.5 wt.% nanoclay (black), (a) Single platelet idealized RVE, b) multi-particle, exfoliated morphology RVE c) multi-particle, intercalated morphology RVE
Figure 8-6. Three phase RVEs for materials with 20% EML (red) in UPE (green) with 2.5 wt.% nanoclay (black), (a) Single platelet idealized RVE, b) multi-particle, exfoliated morphology RVE c) multi-particle, intercalated morphology RVE
Figure 8-7. Experimental tensile modulus for neat bio-blends (no clay). The dotted line is a sigmoidal fit to the experimental data
Figure 8-8. Schematic of multi-FE model used for fiber-reinforced hybrid composites280
Figure 8-9. Parameters considered to compare simulations and average experimental response
Figure 8-10. Tensile stress-strain response of two-phase RVEs: a) Neat (no clay) resins, b) Nanocomposite with 2.5 wt.% clay
Figure 8-11. Comparison of tensile response from multi-FE simulations and experiments for biocomposites with 10% EML and 2.5wt.% nanoclay in UPE
Figure 8-12 Comparison of tensile response from multi-FE simulations and experiments for biocomposites with 20% EML and 2.5 wt.% nanoclay in UPE
Figure 8-13. Comparison of tensile response from multi-FE simulations using two-phase and three-phase RVEs. All models have intercalated morphologies
Figure 8-14. Comparison of tensile response from multi-FE simulations and experiments for virgin UPE (0% bio-resin and 0% nanoclay) biocomposites
Figure 8-15. Comparison of tensile response from multi-FE simulations and experiments for hybrid composites with 20% EML and 2.5 wt.% nanoclay

rgen represents the name origin represents the name containing blends of bio-res
stering change of object material lay ster 200
For 93 Case 2, Exfoliated rr showing change of object constraints, b) material la sep 200
Fart 94. Case-3, Exfoliated willible for material design function, magnitude of de tention step 50, and c) ma
stowing change of object constraints, b) Distribution teration step 50, and c) ma
East 9-6. Case-5, Intercalated irign, plots showing ch rettor, and constraints, b) itazion step 200.
Tention step 50, and c) maintained and compared to the step state of the step state of the step state of the step step state of the step step step step step step step ste
and the set of the set
SE 9.0 C

- <sup>3</sup>*str:* 9.9. Case-8, Intercalated <sup>2</sup>*bts* showing change of of <sup>constraints</sup>, b) Distribution <sup>iteration</sup> step 50, and c) mi
- rsin (UPE), bio-resin (EN

- Figure 9-10. Simplified, idealized RVEs. The green, red and black regions represent petroresin (UPE), bio-resin (EML) and nanoclay respectively. a) 10% EML, b) 20% EML322

مت 9.11. Comparison of te: شته plase RVEs with exp

.

ļ

1

# Chapter 1. Introduction

- Il Meination
- Environmentally friend. inert by hamessing the sync nimino scale) reinforcement zzi rsins. Bio-based compmentionmental appeal and interse of multiscale reinfor. in combined with bio-baand barrier propertie mosters. Moreover, these Strongental impact. While ti ter ruled for synthetic cor interesting new types of suc Service focused on develor Son to understand and exp transition and computation Environmental concern in composites has propell. trade sources [1-1]1-2 and polymer matrices hav trivingental friendliness, and Wattheless, the use of

# Chapter 1. Introduction

## 1.1 Motivation

Environmentally friendly bio-based composites with improved properties can be obtained by harnessing the synergy offered by hybrid constituents such as multiscale (nanoand micro- scale) reinforcement in bio-based resins composed of blends of synthetic and natural resins. Bio-based composites have recently gained much attention due to their low cost, environmental appeal and their potential to compete with synthetic composites. The advantage of multiscale reinforcement is that it offers synergy at various length scales, and when combined with bio-based resins provide stiffness-toughness balance, improved thermal and barrier properties, and increased environmental appeal to the resulting composites. Moreover, these hybrid materials are tailorable in performance and in environmental impact. While the use of different concepts of multiscale reinforcement has been studied for synthetic composites, the study of multiphase/multiscale reinforcements for developing new types of sustainable materials is limited. The research summarized in this dissertation focused on development of multiscale reinforced bio-based composites and the effort to understand and exploit the synergy of its constituents through experimental characterization and computational simulations.

Environmental concerns related to the use of synthetic, or petroleum-based, polymer matrix composites has propelled the development of composite materials based on natural or renewable sources [1-1][1-2]. Biocomposites, composed of natural fibers in synthetic or natural polymer matrices have recently gained much attention due to their low cost, environmental friendliness, and their potential to compete with synthetic composites [1-3][1-4]. Nonetheless, the use of bio-based composites has been limited due to their lower

minimized and thermo-physic menoral structural material miness and performance ar firenteum-based resin with and mins improve toughne inter in toughness compro its and toughness are o ment for an efficient compo ings, or nanoclays. The biocomposite use rengenemes in different re ero resin, bio resin, natural mo three length sca tes + nanoclay inclusions) ni e) macroscale (structura the properties and spatial c Den and bio-resin). From a Temental measurements v for each scale. He: turnating an integrated ex the rest possibilities and lin

Figure 1-1 provides a Figure 1-1 provides a <sup>25 work</sup> Apart from exper-<sup>25 work</sup> developing comp mechanical and thermo-physical properties compared to synthetic composites and conventional structural materials [1-5]. A promising compromise between environmental friendliness and performance are bio-based resins, or bio-blends, obtained by replacing part of a petroleum-based resin with natural bio-resin. In addition to higher natural content, biobased resins improve toughness of the resulting resin blend [1-6]-[1-8]. However, this increase in toughness compromises stiffness, barrier and thermal properties [1-6]-[1-8]. Stiffness and toughness are opposing performance parameters and a proper balance is required for an efficient composite. One way to attain this balance is the addition of layered silicates, or nanoclays.

The biocomposite used in this study is a hybrid heterogeneous material with heterogeneities in different relative dimension scales containing four major components: petro- resin, bio resin, natural fibers, and nano-clay inclusions. This biocomposite can be classified into three length scales (see Figure 1-1), namely: a) nanoscale (resin system: resin blends + nanoclay inclusions), b) microscale (resin system + natural fiber reinforcement), and, c) macroscale (structural component). The effective properties depend on the size, shape, properties and spatial distribution of the heterogeneities (in our case, nanoclay, short fibers and bio-resin). From a time and cost point of view, it is an infeasible task to perform experimental measurements with all possible combinations of volume fractions and phase properties, for each scale. Hence, the work followed the "materials by design" philosophy by incorporating an integrated experimental and computational approach to strategically explore the design possibilities and limits.

Figure 1-1 provides a schematic of the overall multiscale methodology carried out in this work. Apart from experimental characterization at nano and micro-scales, the work focused on developing computational (finite element) models at each scale. The models were

independent that they reserve independent that they reserve in the of material behavior is repetive scales and the reserve metrics and scanning elect invertie scales. Representative interest each scale. The reserve it isomical models and est inverse at each scale. The reserve it isomical models and est inverse at each scale. The reserve it isomical models and est inverse at each scale. The reserve it isomical models and est inverse at each scale. The reserve it isomical models and est inverse at each scale. The reserve it isomical models and est inverse at each scale. The reserve it isomical models and est inverse at each scale. The reserve it isomical models and est inverse at each scale. The reserve it isomical models and est inverse at each scale. The reserve it isomical models and est it isomical models and est it isomical isomical models and est it isomical i

The bio-based resines The bio-based resines The anothy. The distribution internation microscopy, but siminternation order to model where the order to model the three-phase many the three-phase many the three-phase many internation order to model where the three-phase many the three-phase many the three-phase many internation order to model the three-phase many internation order to model the three-phase many internation of the three three the three-phase many internation of the three developed such that they resemble the microstructure at their respective scales. This enables simulation of material behavior close to reality and understanding the phenomena occurring at respective scales and the resulting material behavior. Electron microscopy tools such as transmission and scanning electron microscopy were used to model clay and fibers at their respective scales. Representative volume elements (RVEs) were modeled or obtained from literature at each scale. The results of the computational models at each scale were compared with theoretical models and experimental results. Discrepancies between the computational models and experimental results may occur due to various assumptions made in the model and experimental inaccuracies. Nonetheless, in order to use the respective models as a computational tool to obtain the next hierarchical level properties, it becomes essential to validate and verify the model with experiments, such that accurate transfer of information to the next level is possible.

The bio-based resin system used in this study has blends of petro-polymer (UPE, unsaturated polyester) and bio-polymer (derivatives of soybean and linseed oil) reinforced with nanoclay. The distribution of nanoclay in the polymer matrix could be observed using electron microscopy, but similar distribution of bio-resin in primary petro-resin cannot be observed. In order to model the hybrid composite to great detail, it is essential to realistically model the three-phase material, and hence the distribution of bio-resin was sought. A material layout problem was designed and implemented in this work. This was aimed to develop an enhanced three phase RVE by using experimental data along with topology optimization in an attempt to provide insight to the distribution of bio-resin in the RVE, and not to accurately solve the material design problem. The resulting material layouts were simplified into idealized models and used in multiscale simulations. In this work, a direct micro-macro finite element based approach, also referred as multi-level FE approach was

3

se [1-9[1-10]. The tension recomposites was simulated

The experimental part of invised nanocomposites ar minimizal and barrier propert simonally, optimal material ware in multiple properties w s agenments such that t imprational models to pre methems and any macro smath, namely a multi-FE | Emplate the experiment. memments and to hopefull simonally, an enhanced RV a topology optimizatio in min, thereby allowin <sup>Nan, Overall,</sup> eco-friendly, movines were successfully ise sisteinable bio-based and housing trach of understanding c and in this work, hold te per of hierarchical m used [1-9][1-10]. The tensile response of hybrid biocomposites and bio-based nanocomposites was simulated using multi-FE scheme and compared with experimental data.

The experimental part of this research resulted in novel processing techniques of bio-based nanocomposites and comprehensive characterization of thermo-physical, mechanical and barrier properties of bio-based clay nanocomposites and biocomposites. Additionally, optimal material concentrations that provided ease of processing with good balance in multiple properties were obtained. The objective was to perform a limited amount of experiments such that the experimental information can be used to develop computational models to predict the behavior of materials for any combination of constituents and any macroscale structural component. A multiscale computational approach, namely a multi-FE based approach, was implemented to the developed materials to extrapolate the experimental matrix, to provide insight into nano-scale behavior beyond measurements and to hopefully serve as a tool for computational design of hybrid materials. Additionally, an enhanced RVE for modeling the three-phase material was determined by solving a topology optimization based material layout problem to determine the distribution of bio-resin, thereby allowing modeling the nanostructure in greater detail and closer to reality. Overall, eco-friendly, tailorable, cost-effective and multiscale reinforced bio-based composites were successfully developed. The improved multifaceted features possible for these sustainable bio-based materials are likely to increase their appeal for use in transportation and housing structural applications. Additionally, it is believed that the approach of understanding complex materials by integrating simulations and experiments, as attempted in this work, holds great promise, and a similar methodology can be applied for other types of hierarchical materials, thereby providing guidance in designing those materials.

- 11 Objectives
- The goal of this work w:
- monoming an integrated expe
- wings possibilities and limit
- mined to the maximum. Mo
- at methods to manufacture
- incinental data will provide
- MEL objectives of the work of
- <u>Gobal objective:</u> To effective, environment !
- To use <u>synergy of mater</u>
   has <u>balanced or super</u>
   matenals and multiscal
   bio-based materials.
- To <u>develop and use rei</u> chy nanocomposites techniques for producia
- To <u>perform key experion</u> <u>characterizing</u> the resul processing and effects <u>experiments will provi</u>
- To <u>develop</u> and use experiments and to eli-

### 1.2 Objectives

The goal of this work was to develop eco-friendly, hybrid bio-based composites by incorporating an integrated experimental and computational approach to strategically explore the design possibilities and limits, such that the synergy offered by these materials could be exploited to the maximum. Moreover, as a part of the study efficient processing techniques and methods to manufacture nanocomposites and biocomposites were investigated. Experimental data will provide input to validate models and the development of RVEs. The overall objectives of the work can be summarized as follows:

- <u>Global objective</u>: To obtain / use a rational approach in development of costeffective, environment friendly, multifunctional hybrid hierarchical biocomposites.
- To use synergy of materials at various length scales, such that the resulting composite
  has balanced or superior properties than the virgin base material. The synergy of
  materials and multiscale reinforcement provides multifunctionality to the resulting
  bio-based materials.
- To develop and use relatively efficient processing techniques to synthesize bio-based clay nanocomposites and biocomposites. Also, to study the feasibility of these techniques for producing large structural components
- To perform key experiments at each scale. The experiments will not only help in characterizing the resulting material properties but will provide the limits / bounds in processing and effects of constituents on resulting parameter(s). <u>Most importantly</u> experiments will provide vital information for developing computational models.
- To <u>develop</u> and use <u>validated</u> computational models at each scale through key
   experiments and to eliminate the costly trial and error approach.

· To link the computation nd accurately transferr mini-level finite elemen i Background 3.1 Bio based composite Cassical fiber reinfor etopate applications, but ha at suffress at low weights : its such as carbon, or glass Messen However, environ in non-renew; FRP composites Zaliber composites or b Biocomposites are co utin, coir, bamboo etc.) ; time, phenolics, etc.) or Piterides, animal fats, et mance concerns such <sup>14</sup> Bio-based resins, or bi atural bio is the increase the regioners due to the inc <sup>2</sup><sup>1</sup>55 [1-6][1-15][1-17],

 To link the computational models at each scale, such that information is adequately and accurately transferred through computational models at various length scales. A multi-level finite element technique has been used.

# 1.3 Background

### 1.3.1 Bio based composite materials and Biocomposites

Classical fiber reinforced polymer (FRP) composites were initially targeted for aerospace applications, but have transitioned into numerous other fields where high strength and stiffness at low weights are required. In general, high strength and modulus synthetic fibers, such as carbon, or glass, are mixed with petroleum based resins, such as epoxies and polyesters. However, environmental concerns, such as biodegradability, recycling issues and dependability on non-renewable petroleum reserves, have limited the wide spread use of synthetic FRP composites and have propelled the development of alternatives such as natural fiber composites or biocomposites [1-1][1-2][1-5][1-11]-[1-13]

Biocomposites are comprised of <u>natural fibers</u> (e.g., flax, hemp, jute, cellulose, kenaf, cotton, coir, bamboo etc.) and <u>petroleum based resins</u> (unsaturated polyester, epoxy, poly urethane, phenolics, etc.) or <u>natural bioresins</u> (epoxidized vegetable oils, polyoles, maleinated trighterides, animal fats, etc.)[1-2]-[1-4]. The use of only bio-resins has been limited due to performance concerns such as low mechanical and thermo-physical properties [1-6]1-7]1-14]. Bio-based resins, or bio-blends, obtained by replacing/blending part of the petroleum based resin with natural bio-resin have been developed by our group and it has been found that they can increase the toughness of the composites [1-6]1-7]. However, the increase in toughness due to the increase in bio-resin content is generally achieved by sacrificing stiffneess [1-6]1-15]-[1-17], barrier [1-16] and thermal [1-16]1-17] properties. Stiffness and

remess are opposing perform zenient biocomposite. One resistates or nanoclays for As discussed earlier, env zz ther composites (bioci min and automotive in incorposites for load bearing and non-uniform fiber s equant. Work in our group Entering of Delaware [1-3] mile overcome with efficie: accepting panels was four arterional materials as well a a misture susceptibility intermined studies did r monposites. The incorpora the reinforcements to r mistement has been studie [12] Conversely, the internation of petroleum and bio-re <sup>12</sup> Enhancement throug In Vononposite: An Osr

toughness are opposing performance parameters and a proper balance is required to develop an efficient biocomposite. One of the methods of attaining this balance with the addition of layered silicates or nanoclays for nano-reinforcement.

As discussed earlier, environmental concerns have relatively increased the demand of natural fiber composites (biocomposites). Initial use has been in flooring, siding, roofing, furniture and automotive interiors [1-1][1-3][1-18]. Nonetheless, consideration of biocomposites for load bearing applications has been limited due to their lower stiffness and strength, non-uniform fiber sizes, high moisture absorption and low stability at high temperature. Work in our group [1-5]1-11]1-12]1-13]1-19] and similar work by researchers at university of Delaware [1-3][1-4] has shown that stiffness shortcomings of biocomposites could be overcome with efficient hybrid and cellular designs, and the performance of cellular biocomposite panels was found to be as efficient as building flooring systems from conventional materials as well as E-glass/polyester panels. Nonetheless, the issues of thermal and moisture susceptibility of biocomposites are still a concern. Moreover, the aforementioned studies did not include bio-resin or nanoclays in the manufacture of biocomposites. The incorporation of nanoclays and natural fibers in the resin systems provide reinforcements to resin systems at two different scales. Similar multiscale reinforcement has been studied for synthetic fibers for mechanical and electrical properties [1-20]-[1-22]. Conversely, the use of nanoclays and natural fiber reinforcement in resin blends of petroleum and bio-resins is very limited.

1.3.2 Enhancement through Nano-reinforcement & Nanocomposite processing

Pohmers reinforced w matterness in modulus, the mutes or nanoclays consist of minit large surface areas a rizer apacities of clay intitudizations with a host minute gaps of moisture Depending on the func in how polymer, the platelets reme between the platele: tim exteriolized or separate wined While the exfoliate ant properties, it has beer. trainess for the resulting n. mens in polymers with nimed Le Baron et al aucomposities. Apart from the multifunctionality ter properties, flammabilit transmission of bio-based ised as the prima EMS) and epo

Polymers reinforced with layered silicates or nanoclays have shown to exhibit enhancements in modulus, thermal and barrier properties at low concentrations. Layered silicates or nanoclays consist of stacks of sheet like platelets with thickness of  $\sim 1$  nm and extremely large surface areas and aspect ratios. The large surface areas and high cation exchange capacities of clay platelets enable the use of nanoclay with proper functionalizations with a host of polymers enabling the opportunity to circumvent the performance gaps of moisture and thermal dimensional instability of bio-fiber polymer composites.

Depending on the functionalization of the clay and the compatibility of the clay with the host polymer, the platelets in the stacks are separated to enable the polymer chains to penetrate between the platelets. Depending on the degree of penetration of the polymer chains, exfoliated or separated, and intercalated or stacked b) clay morphologies are obtained. While the exfoliated morphology may produce enhancement in modulus and barrier properties, it has been found that intercalated composites produce better gains in toughness for the resulting nanocomposites. The enhancement of mechanical and barrier properties in polymers with the addition of small concentrations of nanoclays is well established. Le Baron et al [1-23] provide a good review on polymer clay hybrid manocomposites. Apart from the increase in stiffness, the inclusion of nanoclay particles introduces multifunctionality to the resulting nanocomposite resin system by enhancing Darrier properties, flammability and ablation resistance. As a part of this study, experimental characterization of bio-based clay nanocomposites was performed. Unsaturated polyester (UPE) was used as the primary petroleum based resin. Two bio-resins, namely epoxidized soyate (EMS) and epoxidized methyl linseedate (EML) were blended with UPE. The

rais and results of the

# her Venerpains: Pross.

Pohmer clay nano nimerzation, melt compo in whele used in the ind intratation of polymers. Solv is hereine to produce nat stiged SBPT generally in site solvent and the nanocla semoval of the solvent to is process is that it is ener mer removal Moreover Apriles of the resulting nan it to based resins may lead to the resulting nanocomposit to based clay nanocomposites As a part of this stu stat based processing tect finitive approach. Polymer c. attachased unsaturated pc Exetone as the solvent. acting as it led to issues i and the effects of

details and results of the experimental characterization for EMS and EML based nanocomposites are provided in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 respectively.

### Polymer Nanocomposites: Processing

Polymer clay nanocomposites have been synthesized commonly by in-situ polymerization, melt compounding and solvent based techniques. Melt compounding has been widely used in the industry but has been questioned as it raises issues of thermal degradation of polymers. Solvent based processing techniques (SBPT) have been reported in the literature to produce nanocomposites with clay platelets that are well dispersed and exfoliated. SBPT generally involves sonication (mechanical stirring and ultrasonic agitation) of the solvent and the nanoclay, mixing of the polymer with the sonicated solution, followed by removal of the solvent to obtain the desired nanocomposites. One of the drawbacks of this process is that it is energy <u>inefficient</u>, as large amounts of energy is required in the solvent removal. Moreover solvent residues in the polymer may adversely affect the **properties** of the resulting nanocomposites. Also, excessive energy spent in solvent removal **in** bio based resins may lead to phase separation of the resin blend and affect the properties **of** the resulting nanocomposite. Thus, efficient processing techniques are required to obtain **bio** based clay nanocomposites in an energy-efficient and robust manner.

As a part of this study, an investigation was performed to evaluate the various solvent based processing techniques for CPNCs so as to identify a time, energy and cost effective approach. Polymer clay nanocomposites were processed using SBPT with blends of styrene-based unsaturated polyester (UPE) and bio-resin (EMS, epoxidized methyl soyate) with acetone as the solvent. The SBPT became infeasible at higher concentrations of EMS and clay as it led to issues in solvent (acetone) removal. Four different techniques were studied and the effects of energy spent on sonnication, styrene content in UPE and

masing technique or manuposites were stud miling the process mass were found to p IE iav nanocompositi zifizational composites approved in Chapter 2 a 33 Hybrid Biocompo The bio-based nar are were combined with inche biocomposites. ktion 1.1. As discussed ar assents provide rei zhak reinforcement h Textus [1-20] [1-22]. N accele reinforcement su in and bio-resins i nt's not reported else <sup>UEEMS</sup> and UPE/EM <sup>ia valous</sup> material prope ienzi expansion, moisture Is details and results of . 12. 11 6.

processing technique on tensile, impact and barrier properties of the resulting nanocomposites were studied. Acetone (solvent) removal and related issues were overcome by modifying the processing techniques and eliminating the use of acetone. Two novel processes were found to produce balanced mechanical and barrier properties for bio-based UPE/clay nanocomposites and hold promise for the development of bio-based multifunctional composites. A detailed explanation of the processing study and its outcomes are provided in Chapter 2 and reference [1-24].

### 1.3.3 Hybrid Biocomposites from Bio-based Resins & Nanoclays

The bio-based nanocomposite resins synthesized and characterized as discussed above were combined with natural hemp fiber reinforcement to develop novel hybrid multiscale biocomposites. A brief introduction of generic biocomposites was provided in Section 1.1. As discussed earlier, the incorporation of nanoclays and natural fibers in the res in systems provide reinforcements to resin systems at two different scales. Similar multiscale reinforcement has been studied for synthetic fibers for mechanical and electrical **properties** [1-20]-[1-22]. Meanwhile, the development of biocomposites with the use of multiscale reinforcement such as nanoclays and natural fiber reinforcement in resin blends of petroleum and bio-resins is very unique to this work, and to the author's knowledge such work is not reported elsewhere. The bio-based nanocomposite resins synthesized from UPE/EMS and UPE/EML combinations with nanoclay were experimentally characterized for various material properties such as tensile properties, impact strength, coefficient of thermal expansion, moisture absorption/diffusivity, and tensile failure surface characteristics. The details and results of such characterization studies are provided in Chapter 5 and Chapter 6.

134 Modeling and simula The enhancement ga max.et.) is experimental! mark to predict the overa where filer systems. It is con ments of a polymer-filler mins of the filler, modu minion of the homogenized therature. Various theorie torrages and limitations. Ov ma feld approaches, variatio rixds, embedded cell appr Tina formulae such as Ha The simplest method treates are calculated as a righed by their volume fr interactural property, the in material properties [1-2] centre medium theories d in inped by various research 19, and others [1-9]. Effe iondary value problem for  $\frac{1}{2}$  m account for the F

#### 1.3.4 Modeling and simulation of micro/nano reinforced polymers

The enhancement gained from nanoscale fillers (e.g. nanotubes, silica, layered silicates, etc.) is experimentally well established. Many analytical and numerical models are available to predict the overall effective/homogenized properties of these heterogeneous polymer-filler systems. It is commonly accepted that the overall effective physico-mechanical properties of a polymer-filler material depends on the type of the filler, its aspect ratio, modulus of the filler, modulus of the matrix, concentration of the filler, etc. Hence, prediction of the homogenized properties of heterogeneous materials is widely documented in literature. Various theories and models have been proposed, each with their own advantages and limitations. Overall, homogenization techniques can be classified into [1-25]: mean field approaches, variational bound methods, periodic microfield approaches /unit cell methods, embedded cell approaches, windowing approaches, rules of mixtures and semi-

The simplest method of homogenization is the rule of mixtures wherein the overall properties are calculated as an average over the respective properties of the constituents weighed by their volume fractions. Clearly, this method takes into account only one microstructural property, the volume fraction, and is applicable for simple geometries and linear material properties [1-23][1-25]. A more sophisticated method is the self-consistent or effective-medium theories developed by Eshelby [1-26]. Eshelby's theory was further developed by various researchers including Hashin [1-27], Hashin and Shtrikman [1-28], Hill [1-29], and others [1-9]. Effective overall properties are obtained as an analytical solution of a boundary value problem for a spherical/ellipsoidal particle in an infinite matrix. In order to take into account for the particle-particle interactions, Mori-Tanaka [1-25] modified the

hereby metasion theory. Mu meries of particulate comp min Extended, or modified atom variations in fiber of intins [1-25]1-30]. Another mathematical Bensoussan et al. [1-31] an Tit s the ratio of characteri sized in an asymptotic exmindes are then used to requirinal methods, unit winds depends on the sele WE). The RVE should b interacture and small e anyonding RVE's are the atual or numerical met eneries in great detail (spteristion of the influent Intions, etc., on the O the macroscopic tered to a given loading ·[125] Unlike most convent. it and unique modeling is

------

Eshelby inclusion theory. Mori-Tanaka estimates are commonly used to estimate elastic properties of particulate composites and are found to agree reasonably with experimental results. Extended, or modified, Mori-Tanaka schemes have been proposed that also take into account variations in fiber orientations and fiber lengths using probability distribution functions [1-25][1-30].

Another mathematical approach is the asymptotic homogenization method reported by Bensoussan et al. [1-31] and Sanchez [1-32]. In this method "natural length parameter," which is the ratio of characteristic size of the heterogeneities to a measure of macrostructure. is used in an asymptotic expansion of the displacement and stress fields. Variational principles are then used to create a link between the scales [1-9T1-25]. Among the computational methods, unit cell methods have become widely used. The success of these methods depends on the selection of the unit cell or the representative volume element (RVE). The RVE should be selected such that it is large enough to represent the mic rostructure and small enough to allow efficient computational modeling. The corresponding RVE's are then analyzed with proper loading and boundary conditions via analytical or numerical methods. Unit cell methods allow modeling of micro-scale geometries in great detail (specifically in finite element based unit cell methods) and enable **unvestigation** of the influence of different geometrical features, interfaces, interparticle interactions, etc., on the overall material response. However, since these approaches formulate the macroscopic constitutive relations based on the behavior of a single RVE subjected to a given loading history, they are in fact successful only for small deformations [1-9]1-25].

Unlike most conventional fillers, the modeling of nanoclays, or layered silicates, pose and unique modeling issues such as: a) particle size, b) hierarchical modeling, and c)

intare and gallery propertie attestul in predicting homo ingt sale is in the order reposites, depending on Eritated clays may be in ra mbe in the order of micr zucomposites exhibit both ny minmechanical mode in the limitation in mod menues. The concepts immechanical models can leachers have tried to add Lision." Sheng et al. [1-33 micromechani xic inclusion model using Xilo inclusion size. Miyaga Le dorementioned studies a terachical nature of poly with experimental The ing of polymer/clay  $n_{a}$ it iterical compatibility, c Properties will activogies, wherein the c. tend in the gallenes is not

interface and gallery properties [1-33]. Analytical micromechanical models have proved to be successful in predicting homogenized properties of conventional composites where the filler length scale is in the order of tens of microns or larger [1-33]. In nanoclay reinforced composites, depending on the processing, the clay morphology varies significantly. Exfoliated clavs may be in range of nanometers and highly intercalated clav agglomerations may be in the order of micrometers. Moreover, it is commonly agreed that polymer/clay nanocomposites exhibit both exfoliated and intercalated (hierarchical) morphologies. Clearly, most micromechanical models cannot handle this complexity [1-33]. More importantly, it shows the limitation in modeling hierarchical morphologies that can vary by orders of magnitudes. The concepts of "matrix" and "particle" that are well-defined in mic romechanical models can no longer be directly applied to polymer-clay nanocomposites. Researchers have tried to address this issue by defining an "effective particle" or a "pseudo inclusion." Sheng et al. [1-33] employ an "effective particle" in analytical and numerical (firite element) micromechanical models, Similarly, Brune and Bicerano [1-34] developed a **pseudo** inclusion model using the Halpin-Tsai empirical model by substituting the effective pseudo inclusion size. Miyagawa et al. [1-6] used the same concept in Mori-Tanaka models. The aforementioned studies with the concept of "effective particle" have shown to model the hierarchical nature of polymer/clay nanocomposites successfully and have reported good agreement with experimental data [1-6][1-33][1-34]. The final and most important issue in mode ling of polymer/clay nanocomposites is the particle-polymer interface. Depending on the chemical compatibility, or functionalization, of the nanoclay and polymer the resulting interfacial properties will vary considerably [1-35]. Additionally in intercalated clay hologies, wherein the clay platelets are in stacks (called galleries), the properties of the material in the galleries is not fully understood [1-33].

The above menti noting of such comp minon address these is mphieges, non-linear order hierarchical nat milered in this work. N int micro-macro method zenik [1-9]1-10]1-36] minds [1-10]1-36]1-37 "=== evel methods [1-38 135 Multiscale method Multiscale modeling betteally, multiscale mo est and time scales assoc ". The multiscale, cor bezehical modeling of r tornes and behavior fr Contation. Ideally, a mult to macro. In or to the continuous structu wing scheme that links in the into account the todeling scheme that in The above mentioned issues specific to polymer/clay nanocomposites make modeling of such composites challenging. Finite element (FE) based modeling and simulation address these issues and enable modeling of interfaces, different particle sizes and morphologies, non-linear material properties and complex loading [1-25]. Due to the complex hierarchical nature of polymer/clay nanocomposites multiscale models are considered in this work. Not limited to polymer/clay nanocomposites, multiscale models or direct micro-macro methods have been used for homogenization of different heterogeneous materials [1-9][1-10][1-36]-[1-39]. These models have also been termed as "multiscale methods [1-10][1-36][1-37]," "FE<sup>2</sup> methods [1-38]," "integrated methods [1-39]," and "multi-level methods [1-38]", and are briefly described in the following section.

### 1.3.5 Multiscale methodology

Multiscale modeling covers a wide range of simulations and modeling techniques. Specifically, multiscale modeling can be coined as any modeling scheme spanning both length and time scales associated with analyses that describe material behavior (Figure 1-2,[1-40]). The multiscale, computational modeling of materials has a primary challenge: hierarchical modeling of materials; namely, the accurate prediction of physical/chemical Properties and behavior from nanoscale to macroscale without loss of intrinsic structural information. Ideally, a multiscale modeling scheme would be the one that links all the scales from nano to macro. In other words, it should connect the discrete molecular structure with the bulk continuous structure. Nevertheless, it has been found that the literature terms any mode ling scheme that links any two scales a multiscale modeling scheme; although it may not take into account the quantum or atomistic behavior of the material. For instance, a mode ling scheme that integrates a micromechanics (microstructure) and structural

mininis (macro/global) me re referred as a multiscale : zon sale. In this study, the che: minimizers and that of c reactions. These aspects an smeeter dynamics. This ± work and hence a multime is studied. Neverthel minimized behavior from ato ning scheme to study all II-mailhoroperation Various homogenizat These of homogenization is ie macroscopic homogeneo oursame and stress-strain realized continua, const: Etals, it is difficult to fit of 2525 ish a stress-strain re in: not require any constit Terries are obtained from <sup>[[.1]</sup> [1-25][1-36]. Hence interesting prescribes that FI Statents [1-9]1-36]: (1)
mechanics (macro/global) model to obtain the behavior of a material or structure would still be referred as a multiscale method, although it failed to propagate properties from the atomistic scale.

In this study, the chemical compatibility or functionalization between the petro-resin with bio-resin and that of clay with resin system is governed by atomistic and molecular interactions. These aspects are generally studied using tools in computational modeling such as molecular dynamics. This aspect of atomistic/molecular modeling is beyond the scope of this work and hence a multi-level modeling that links different scales within the continuum regime is studied. Nevertheless, it has been shown that it is possible to integrate material *simulation* behavior from atomistic scale. It is clear that this would be the ideal multiscale modeling scheme to study all material parameters.

#### <u>FE — based homogenization:</u>

Various homogenization techniques exist and have been used widely in the past. The **process** of homogenization involves finding the average properties at a lower scale due to the macroscopic homogeneous deformations. In other words, it involves finding elastic **constants** and stress-strain (constitutive) relations that relate the two scales. For any **generalized** continua, constitutive equations are very difficult to write, and in complex **materials**, it is difficult to fit experimental data. Instead of trying to build differential systems **to establish** a stress-strain relation at a macroscale, a multi-level finite element computation **does** not require any constitutive equations to be written at the macroscopic scale; all non **linearites** are obtained from separate FE analyses at lower hierarchical (micro/nano) scale [1- **91 1** - **10**] [1-25]1-36]. Hence, FE-based homogenization would be used in this research. **Literature** prescribes that FE based models are constructed using the following three main **constituents** [1-9]1-36]: (1) modeling of the mechanical behavior at the lower scale (the

NE (2) localization rule pen overall strain), and ( arry the micromechania Milliscale FE mo relation at the macroscale : zeral behavior. In this st zer used by Kouznetsova zeration point of the my azion is performed. madary conditions are de Intro point is derived ± RVE volume. The con en s derived from the R s to need to specify ma anxopic integration po notes a good explanation itematic representation of ris mili-level FE metho accomposites and hybrid in The details and re-

<sup>14</sup> Method / Approac

The goal of this  $w_{OI}$ <sup>temporating</sup> an integrated e RVE), (2) localization rule which determines the local solutions inside the unit cell (for any given overall strain), and (3) homogenization rule giving the macroscopic stress tensor, knowing the micromechanical stress state.

Multiscale FE modeling is an iterative procedure that assumes homogenized behavior at the macroscale and enables the incorporation of large deformations and arbitrary material behavior. In this study, the multi-level FE approach as developed by Smit [1-10] and later used by Kouznetsova [1-9] and Breuls [1-36] is proposed. In this approach, to each integration point of the macroscopic mesh an RVE is assigned and a separate FE computation is performed. From a macroscopic deformation tensor ( $F_{macro}$ ), appropriate boundary conditions are derived to be imposed on the RVE. The macroscopic stress at integration point is derived from the RVE by averaging the resulting RVE stress field over the RVE volume. The consistent macroscopic stiffness matrix at macroscopic integration point is derived from the RVE stiffness matrix. When using this multi-level approach there is no need to specify macroscopic constitutive behavior, instead the behavior at the macroscopic integration point it is derived from associated microstructure. Breuls [1-36] **provides** a good explanation and derivation of the complete multi-level modeling scheme. A schematic representation of the multi-level FE scheme is provided in Figure 1-3. In this work multi-level FE methodology was used to predict the tensile behavior of bio-based nanocomposites and hybrid biocomposites and the results were compared with experimental behavior. The details and results are provided in Chapter 8.

## I. I Method / Approach

The goal of this work was to develop eco-friendly, hybrid bio-based composites by porating an integrated experimental and computational approach to strategically explore

re togs possibilities and l material mode fate experiments are a key inter mo two major to Entrins - Computationa Exit of these tasks was acco 141 Experimentation a) Development of cost of bio-based polymer b) Use of OPNCs for bi t) Characterization of C 112 Simulations - Comp Strait Mating a RVEs/unit cells that without bio-resins su within acceptable tole b) The degree of inter experimental results performed. t The distribution of El problem and validati Mr. Margate Madeling

the design possibilities and limits. As discussed earlier, the approach will integrate multiscale computation, material modeling and optimization and is schematically shown in Figure 1-4. Since experiments are a key part of modeling at each scale, the overall research study can be classified into <u>two</u> major tasks: <u>Experimentation</u> – Processing and characterization, and <u>Simulations</u> – Computational Models, material layout optimization and multiscale modeling. Each of these tasks was accomplished with subdivision of tasks as follows:

## 1.4.1 Experimentation - Processing & Characterization:

- a) Development of cost and time efficient processing techniques for the development of bio-based polymer clay nanocomposites (Chapter 2).
- b) Use of CPNCs for biocomposite plates using hand layup and VARTM.
- c) Characterization of CPNCs and biocomposites (Chapter 3 Chapter 6).

## 1.4.2 Simulations - Computational Models & Multiscale Modeling

## Nanoscale Modeling:

- a) RVEs/unit cells that can accurately represent the nano-reinforced polymers with or without bio-resins such that the RVE can accurately provide material parameters within acceptable tolerance to experimental results were developed.
- b) The degree of intercalation of nanoclay by validating virgin UPE results with experimental results (Number of layers in intercalated gallery obtained by TEM) was performed.
- The distribution of bio-resin was determined through a material layout optimization problem and validation by comparing to experimental results

# Micro Mesoscale Modeline:

A simplified computation of the properties are obtain properties are obtain polymer/clay RVEs hybrid biocomposities <u>Vicinal / Macrocale Maching</u> A multi-level finite end and the proper RVE of the provided in Figure 1.
Schem in Figure 1-5(c) or moved due to time and comparate response of hybrid biocomposities are response of hybrid biocomposities.

# is Scope

The study aimed at of stati herarchical biocomp correspondents, by incomp torrespondents, by incomp torrespondents is a result of the work aimed at utilizing the work aim a) A simplified computational model (RVE) similar to that of nanoscale, wherein resin properties are obtained from lower-scale analyses of appropriate bio-blend polymer/clay RVEs was developed and implemented in multiscale analyses for hybrid biocomposites.

### <u>Multi-level / Macroscale Modeling:</u>

A multi-level finite element approach that integrated the three scales, from nano to macro, through proper RVEs and phenomenological models at each scale was impelemented (Chapter 8). A schematic description of the overall computational approach used in this work is provided in Figure 1-5. The large scale biocomposites manufacturing and simulation as shown in Figure 1-5(c) was initially proposed to be a part of the work, but was later removed due to time and cost point of view. Nevertheless, the approach presented up to the tensile response of hybrid biocomposites validates the approach and is believed that it can extended to model mechanical behavior of large scale structural components.

1.5 Scope

The study aimed at developing cost-effective environmental friendly, multifunctional hybrid hierarchical biocomposites using a rational approach that eliminates costly trial and error experiments, by incorporating an integrated experimental and computational approach to strategically explore the design possibilities and limits. The efficiency of the hybrid biocomposites is a result of the synergy of the different constituents at various length scales. The work aimed at utilizing this synergistic effect to its full extent by identifying key parameters, phenomena and behavior of the various constituents that make the resultant biocomposite, such that only the beneficial effect of each of the constituent is revealed and the detrimental effects are suppressed, thereby leading to a superior/balanced

minimumal hybrid bioco with scales provided refere of constituents on r interment of efficient comp The study aimed at impenized macroscopic be irrisional scales. At the m inted instead the constitution mains results of detailed n respensives at the nano/m The proposed study cu: is emended to thermal and d i mitt/nanoscale mechanis TERSTOPIC properties by F Verall a successful model antepment of novel, efficia interpret of bio-based r. ain sustainable, environr: the agricultural ir microscopic n inter Similar methodolo teachical materials there ar ak

multifunctional hybrid biocomposite. Experimental characterization these materials at various length scales provided vital information on bounds/limits of processing and limits on effects of constituents on resultant properties. Most importantly, the experiments aid the development of efficient computational models.

The study aimed at implementing a computational scheme that models a homogenized macroscopic behavior taking into considerations the heterogeneities at lower dimensional scales. At the macroscopic scale, no constitutive/phenomenological model is defined; instead the constitutive behavior at macroscopic integration points is determined by averaging results of detailed modeling of the lower-scale material structure. The influence of heterogeneities at the nano/micro scale was studied.

The proposed study currently focused on mechanical behavior. A similar approach can be extended to thermal and diffusion analyses. The approach will increase the understanding of micro/nanoscale mechanisms governing various parameters, thereby enabling tailoring of macroscopic properties by proper synergy and distribution of materials at respective scales. Overall, a successful modeling scheme, as the one used in this research could enable development of novel, efficient, cost effective multifunctional materials. On the other hand, development of bio-based materials and their applications for structural applications would lead to sustainable, environmental friendly, bio-degradable and cost effective materials, while benefiting the agricultural industry. The success of this computational scheme will enable prediction of macroscopic responses for various material compositions and macroscopic shapes. Similar methodology could be applied for other types of nanoparticles and hierarchical materials thereby providing guidance in designing such hybrid hierarchical materials.

## 16 Organization

- The dissertation has be
  - introduction to the wo
- Chapter 2 reports the
- uchniques for develop
- Capter 3 and Chap tanccomposites with
- Chapter 5 and Char biocomposites produce
- and Chapter 4, respect
- Chapter 7 provides a
  - mechanical and barrie
- Chapter 8 reports that
  - and hybrid biocomp
- Chapter 9 provides
  - problem that aimed
  - of bio-resin in a nan-
  - parameters and exper
- Finally, Chapter
  - recommendations.

## 1.6 Organization

- The dissertation has been organized into <u>ten</u> chapters. The first chapter provides an introduction to the work with a brief background, scope and objectives of this work.
- Chapter 2 reports the study on development of novel solvent based processing techniques for development of bio-based nanocomposites.
- Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 report the experimental characterization of bio-based nanocomposites with EMS and EML bio-resins, respectively.
- Chapter 5 and Chapter 6 provide the experimental characterization of hybrid biocomposites produced from the nanocomposite resins as reported in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4, respectively.
- Chapter 7 provides an overview of numerical and analytical models to predict the mechanical and barrier properties of bio-based nanocomposites.
- Chapter 8 reports the multiscale simulations of tensile response of nanocomposites and hybrid biocomposites using a multi-level FE technique.
- Chapter 9 provides an overview and results of a material layout optimization
   Problem that aimed at determining an enhanced RVE, that obtains the distribution
   of bio-resin in a nanocomposite RVE by minimizing the error between homogenized
   Parameters and experimental target properties.
- Finally, Chapter 10 provides concluding remarks, research needs and recommendations.

20



ODELING TOOLS

Quantum

Mechanics

Discrete Mc

Length Scale (m) 10<sup>-10</sup>

Time Scale (m)

10<sup>-15</sup> En 12 Computation 5 

#### 1.7 Tables and Figures



Figure 1-1. Schematic showing multiscale components and phase transitions





Compu G<sub>IVE</sub>, S

Figure 1

porresonant to

ATOMIC Scale

••••••••••

.....

Fig



Figure 1-3. Schematic of multiscale FE approach (Adapted from [1-10]).



Figure 1-4. Hierarchical Modeling and Evaluation Techniques





Figure 1-5. Overall approach of multiscale modeling for load bearing biocomposites



il References

[11] Mehanty AK, Misra Biocomposites: A: 276/277:1-24.

🔄 Nickel J, Riedel U. Ac

3. Donnell AO, Dweib resin Composites

 More SS, Wool RP. 1 a novel modified 407-146.

<sup>347</sup>, Burgueño R., Quag Sustainable cellui resin for housina 2005, 13:139-149

Myagawa H, Mohani from blends of Journal of Polyma

Miragawa H, Mohat biobased unsat Industrial and Err

Myagawa H, Mohar thermophysical nanocomposites.

199. Kouznetsova V, Br modeling of hete

of nonlinear he Computational r

<sup>(1)</sup> Burgueño **R,** Quag biofiber-based Applied Science

Herarchical ce Material Science

- 1.8 References
- [1-1]. Mohanty AK, Misra M, Hinrichsen G. Biofibers, Biodegradable Polymers and Biocomposites: An Overview. Macromolecular Materials and Engineering. 2000; 276/277:1-24.
- [1-2]. Nickel J, Riedel U. Activities in biocomposites. Materials Today. 2003, 6:44-48.
- [1-3]. Donnell AO, Dweib MA, Wool RP. Natural fiber composites with plant oil based resin. Composites Science and Technology. 2004, 64: 1135-1145.
- [1-4]. Morye SS, Wool RP. Mechanical properties of glass/flax hybrid composites based on a novel modified soyabean oil matrix material. Polymer Composites. 2005, 26: 407-146.
- [1-5]. Burgueño R., Quagliata MJ, Mehta GM, Mohanty AK, Misra M, Drzal LT. Sustainable cellular biocomposites from natural fibers and unsaturated polyester resin for housing panel applications. Journal of Polymers and Environment. 2005, 13:139-149.
- [1-6]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Novel biobased resins from blends of functionalized soyabean oil and unsaturated polyester resin. Journal of Polymer Science : Part B: Polymer Physics. 2007, 45:698-704.
- [1-7]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Development of biobased unsaturated polyester containing functionalized vegetable oils. Industrial and Engineering Chemistry Research. 2006, 45:1014-1018.
- [1-8]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Characterization and thermophysical properties of unsaturated polyester-layered silicate nanocomposites. Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology. 2006, 6:464-471.
- [1-9]. Kouznetsova V, Brekelmans WAM, Baaijens FPT. An approach to micro-macro modeling of heterogeneous materials. Computation Mechanics. 2001, 27:37-48.
- [1-10]. Smit RJM, Brekelmans WAM, Meijer HEH. Prediction of the mechanical behavior of nonlinear heterogeneous systems by multi-level finite element modeling. Computational methods in Applied Mechanical Engineering. 1998, 155: 181-192.
- [1-11]. Burgueño R, Quagliata MJ, Mohanty AK, Mehta GM, Drzal LT, Misra M. Hybrid biofiber-based composites for structural cellular plates. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2005, 36:581-593.
- [1-12]. Burgueño R, Quagliata MJ, Mohanty AK, Mehta GM, Drzal LT, Misra M. Hierarchical cellular designs for load bearing biocomposite beams and plates. Material Science and Engineering A. 2005, 390: 178-187.

Buyueño R, Quaglia; bearing natural fik Applied Science ar

Mohanty AK, Miyaga organoclay and bl ANTEC, Confere

35. Mishra S, Misra M, D Performance of Composites Scien

123] Haq M, Burgueñ polyester/lavered properties. Comp

[37] Rama D. Mechanic. modified epoxy n

Shengton III HW, W Hong C An A Construction. Pro Technology, Hon

W, Quagliata MJ. Devel and Plates for University, East I

"", Kinloch AJ, Moharr toughness of cart matrices. Journa'

All, Hsiao TK, Alms J. adhesives to join. 2003, 14:791-793

(전) Goiny FH, Wichma: modification on reinforced poly::

viii, Le Baron PC, Wang overview. Applic

Haq M, Burgueño F Unsaturated-Pol Limits. Compos

<sup>15</sup>, Bohm, HJ. A Short FMD Report, 3

- [1-13]. Burgueño R, Quagliata MJ, Mohanty AK, Mehta GM, Drzal LT, Misra M. Load bearing natural fiber composite cellular beams and panels. Composites part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing. 2004, 35:645-656.
- [1-14]. Mohanty AK, Miyagawa H, Burgueño R, Misra M. Biobased nanocomposites from organoclay and blends of unsaturated polyester and functionalized vegetable oil. ANTEC, Conference Proceedings. 2005, 4:52-56.
- [1-15]. Mishra S, Misra M, Tripathy SS, Nayak SK, Mohanty AK. Studies on Mechanical Performance of Bio fiber / Glass reinforced polyester hybrid composites. Composites Science and Technology. 2003, 63:1377-1385.
- [1-16]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Bio-based unsaturated polyester/layered silicate nanocomposites: characterization and thermo-physical properties. Composites Part A. 2009; 40:540-547.
- [1-17]. Ratna D. Mechanical properties and morphology of epoxidized soyabean oilmodified epoxy resin. Polymer International. 2001; 50:179-184.
- [1-18]. Shengton III HW, Wool RP, Hu B, Donnell AO, Bonnaille L, Can E, Chapas R, Hong C. An All-Natural composite Material Roof System for Residential Construction. Proceedings of International Conference on Advances of Building Technology, Hong Kong, China, December 2002.
- [1-19]. Quagliata MJ. Development and Characterization of Biocomposite Cellular Beams and Plates for Load-Bearing Components. Masters Thesis, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI; 2003.
- [1-20]. Kinloch AJ, Mohammed RD, Taylor AC, Sprenger S, Egan D. The interlaminar toughness of carbon fibre reinforced plastic composites using 'hybrid-toughened' matrices. Journal of Material Science. 2006, 41:5043-5046.
- [1-21]. Hsiao TK, Alms J, Advani SG. Use of epoxy/multiwalled carbon nanotubes as adhesives to join graphite fiber reinforced polymer composites. Nanotechnology. 2003, 14:791-793.
- [1-22]. Gojny FH, Wichmann MHG, Fiedler B, Bauhofer W, Schulte K. Influence of nanomodification on the mechanical and electrical properties of conventional fiberreinforced polymers. Composites Part A. 2005, 36:1525-1535.
- [1-23]. Le Baron PC, Wang Z, Pinnavaia TJ. Polymer layered silicate nanocmposites: an overview. Applied Clay Science. 1999, 15:11-29
- [1-24]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Processing Techniques for Bio-based Unsaturated-Polyester/Clay Nanocomposites: Tensile Properties, Efficiency, and Limits. Composites – Part A 2009; 40:394-403.
- [1-25]. Bohm, HJ. A Short Introduction to Basic Aspects of Continuum Mechanics." CDL-FMD Report, 3 (1998). Vienna Institute of Technology.

(1) Eshelby JD. The Proceedings (

Hishin Z. The Mechanics. 1

(12), Hashin Z, Shrik multiphase r 11:127-140,

3. HE R. A self-co and Physics (

(33) Duschlbauer D Composites Localization Materials 200

(31), Bensoussan A, Structures, 1

[132] Sanchez-Palencia in Physics, 19

33, Sheng N, Boyc micromechai clay particle.

34, Brune DD, Bice and compre exfoliation as

1457, Drown EK, Mo The surface poly(trimethy Technology,

996, Breuks RGM, Se local cell de element appr

<sup>(1)</sup> <sup>V</sup>an der Sluis O, heterogeneou Mechanics of

behvior of k Applied Mecl

- [1-26]. Eshelby JD. The determination of the field of an ellipsoidal inclusion and related. Proceedings of the Royal Soceity of London, Part A. 1957, 241:376-296.
- [1-27]. Hashin Z. The elastic modulii of heterogenous materials. Journal of Applied Mechanics. 1962, 29:143-150.
- [1-28]. Hashin Z, Shrikman S. A variational approach to the theory of elastic behavior of multiphase materials. Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids. 1963, 11:127-140,
- [1-29]. Hill R. A self-consistent mechanics of composite materials. Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids. 1965, 13: 213-222.
- [1-30]. Duschlbauer D, Bohm HJ, Petermann HE. Computational Simulation of Composites Reinforced by planar random fibers: Homogenization and Localization by Unit Cell and Mean Field Approaches. Journal of Composite Materials 2006, 40:2217-2234.
- [1-31]. Bensoussan A, Lionis JL, Papanicolau G. Asymptotic Analysis for Periodic Structures, 1978. North Holland, Amsterdam.
- [1-32]. Sanchez-Palencia E. Non-homogeneous Media and Vibration Theory. Lecture Notes in Physics, 1980. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- [1-33]. Sheng N, Boyce MC, Parks DM, Rutledge GC, Abes JI, Cohen RE. Multiscale micromechanical modeling of polymer/clay nanocomposites and the effective clay particle. Polymer 2004, 45:487-506.
- [1-34]. Brune DD, Bicerano J. Micromechanics of nanocomposites: Comparison of tensile and compressive elastic modulii, and prediction of effects of incomplete exfoliation and imperfect alignment on modulus. Polymer 2002, 43:369-387.
- [1-35]. Drown EK, Mohanty AK, Parulekar Y, Hasija D, Harte BR, Misra, M, Kurian JV. The surface characteristics of organoclays and their effect on the properties of poly(trimethylene terephtahalate) nanocomposites. Composites Science and Technology, 2007, 67:3168-3175.
- [1-36]. Breuls RGM, Sengers BG, Oomens CWJ, Bouten CVC, Baaijens FPT. Predicting local cell deformations in engineered tissue constructs: A multi-level finite element approach. Transactions of the ASME 2002; 124:198-207.
- [1-37]. Van der Shuis O, Schreurs PJG, Brekelmans WAM, Meijer HEH. Overall behavior of heterogeneous elastoviscoplastic materials: effect of microstructural modeling. Mechanics of Materials 2000, 32:449-462.
- [1-38]. Feyel F, Chaboche JL. FE2 multiscale approach for modeling the elastoviscoplastic behvior of long fiber SiC/Ti composite materials. Computational Methods in Applied Mechanical engineering. 2000, 183:309-330.

<u>Marsui K</u>, Tera solids with 666.

> :4:, Gates, T.S., C materials: Composite

.

- [1-39]. Matsui K, Terada K, Yuge K. Two-scale finite element analysis of heterogeneous solids with periodic microstructures. Computers and Structures 2004, 82:593-606.
- [1-40]. Gates, T.S., Odegard, G.M., Frankland, S.J.V., and Clancy, T.C., "Computational materials: Multiscale modeling and simulation of nanostructured materials" Composites Science and Technology. 65 (2005) 2416-2434.

# Chapter 2. Develo

- 11 Abstract
- Behased chy/polymer
- at pondized methyl
- For methods were
- appendion of high
- minmed using elect
- squerce, and sonication
- at composite quality:
- t morporation of hig
- N-TSIN added after sc
- nterolution, and hi
- where hed to enhanced
- 11 Introduction
  - Bio-based resir
- receim based resins
- <sup>r vizan</sup> novel, value
- itematives for petrole
- ivelled from an envi
- n pio-polum
- KAN Burgueño, R., M

## Chapter 2. Development of Bio-based Clay Nanocomposites<sup>1</sup>

## 2.1 Abstract

Bio-based clay/ polymer nanocomposites using blends of styrene-based unsaturated polyester and epoxidized methyl soyate were manufactured using solvent-based processing techniques. Four methods were evaluated to assess limitations related to solvent removal and incorporation of high clay and bio-resin content. Nanocomposite characterization was performed using electron microscopy and tensile tests. Solvent type, bio-resin addition sequence, and sonication energy were the key parameters governing processing efficiency and composite quality. Processes with bio-resin added after solvent removal show promise in incorporation of high bio-resin and nanoclay contents. Use of acetone as a solvent with bio-resin added after solvent removal led to nanocomposites with good nanoclay dispersion and exfoliation, and high tensile modulus. Direct sonication in the base resin diluted with styrene led to enhanced and balanced gains in stiffness and toughness.

## 2.2 Introduction

Bio-based resin systems obtained as blends of functionalized vegetable oils and petroleum based resins or vegetable oil based resin systems can be reinforced with nanoclays to obtain novel, value added applications for natural polymers [2-1]. The development of alternatives for petroleum derived materials with plant-based renewable materials has been propelled from an environmental viewpoint [2-1]-[2-4]. Mohanty et al. [2-2] provide a good <sup>Overview</sup> on bio-polymers, bio-fibers and bio-based composites, biocomposites. Bio-based

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Haq, M., Burgueño, R., Mohanty, A.K., and Misra, M., "Processing Techniques for Bio-based Unsaturated-Polyester/Clay Nanocomposites: Tensile Properties, Efficiency, and Limits," Composites - Part A. 2009; 40:394-403.

mm [25]2-6]. Thi ie swem, leading reiness senously a menties of the res azzeren and a prop ment has shown th menies of ngidity : miliation [2-1]. On nuite addition of b messing of nanoclay i mochy reinforced memory and thermal the processing issue messing techniques f Petroleum base icen to impart multif tings but improve Theses [2-8]. The rent nanoclays has yiel antivement due to ac Moreove are commonly us

mis defined as a con

an a secondary co:

resins defined as a combination of petroleum based resins as primary constituent and natural bio resize as secondary constituent, have shown to improve the toughness of the resulting resin system [2-5][2-6]. This increase in toughness is due to the reduction in cross-link density in the system, leading to increased plastic deformations [2-7]. However, this increase in toughness seriously affects the modulus [2-5]-[2-7], thermal [2-6][2-7] and barrier [2-6] properties of the resulting polymer. Stiffness and toughness are opposing performance parameters and a proper balance is required to develop an efficient biocomposite. Moreover, research has shown that use of plant-oil based polymeric materials do not show adequate properties of rigidity and strength for load-bearing applications by themselves and require modification [2-1]. One approach pursued by the authors is to recover the property losses from the addition of bio-resin by the addition of layered silicates or nanoclays. Although the processing of nanoclay reinforced polymers is well established, the solvent-based processing of nanoclay reinforced bio-based resin systems brings about new issues, such as phase separation and thermal degradation of the polymer constituents [2-6]. This work addresses these processing issues and summarizes the development of suitable solvent-based processing techniques for efficient production of nanoclay reinforced bio-based polymers.

Petroleum-based polymers reinforced with layered silicates, or nanoclays, have been shown to impart multifunctionality to the resulting polymers with enhancements not only on stiffness but improvements in thermal, barrier, flammability and ablation resistance properties [2-8]. The reinforcement of soy [2-1][2-9][2-10] and corn [2-11] based bio-resins with nanoclays has yielded similar results. In spite of the noted enhancements, stiffness improvement due to addition of nanoclay also increases the brittleness of the resulting Polymers [2-6]. Moreover, petroleum-based resins such as unsaturated polyesters (UPEs), which are commonly used due to their low cost, ease of handling and good balance of

retarial electrical, ch 22]2:13] As far as bi mind for structural a wien oil with petro innext [2-2][2-5][2-6 zrable resins has irmophysical characte a UPE with nanocla wing bio-resin and n accord bio-resin co titues. Partial recov mentes were achie zocomposites thus mginess) [2-1][2-5][2 xepohmer with incre It is commonly a muchy reinforced and in the matrix uphologies are expec uphologies is typicall <sup>xochy</sup> depends on Michy with the host manadon of nanocl phinenzation, meh in mechanical, electrical, chemical and fire resistance properties, are inherently brittle in nature [2-12][2-13]. As far as bio-resins, their mechanical and thermal properties are far lower than required for structural applications. Research has shown that the blending of functionalized soybean oil with petro-based resins (UPE) can increase toughness of the petro-based thermoset [2-2][2-5][2-6][2-13]. The substitution of non-renewable synthetic resins with renewable resins has been proposed and studied considerably [2-5][2-13]-[2-17]. The thermophysical characterization of bio-based resin systems using functionalized soybean oil and UPE with nanoclay has been performed by our group [2-6] by studying the effect of varying bio-resin and nanoclay content on tensile, impact, moisture and tensile properties. Increasing bio-resin content was shown to improve ductility and toughness but reduces stiffness. Partial recovery of lost stiffness and improvements in thermal and barrier properties were achieved with nanoclay reinforcement. The resulting bio-based nanocomposites thus showed multifunctional properties with improved mechanical (toughness) [2-1][2-5][2-6][2-15][2-16], thermal [2-1] and barrier properties [2-6] than the base polymer with increased environmental appeal.

It is commonly agreed that the enhancement of physical and mechanical properties of nanoclay reinforced polymers is dependent on the distribution and morphology of nanoclay in the matrix. In order to obtain maximum benefits from nanoclays, exfoliated morphologies are expected. However, in reality, a combination of intercalated and exfoliated morphologies is typically obtained [2-18][2-19]. The degree of exfoliation and intercalation of nanoclay depends on the processing technique and compatibility (functionalization) of nanoclay with the host polymer system. The four main processes currently used for the **Preparation** of nanoclay reinforced polymer systems are exfoliation-adsorption, in-situ **Polymerization**, melt intercalation, and template synthesis [2-8][2-20]. The exfoliation-

aximpion process is maky and polymer method or solution b n's reported to c invionalization, sol zuchy is exfoliated nimer is soluble. W the solvent. This pro It polymer is then a It nanocomposite r Considerable WE a variety of solve [2]]2-18]2-19]2-2 faundre and Dubo ad resulting proper atome as a solvi Ecomposites. The Par parcially exfoli mocomposites synt i solvent. Nanocor impared by simple r intersion of organo braten nanoclays a the studied by inter adsorption process is a solvent-based process in which a solvent compatible with both nanoclay and polymer is used. Hence, this process is also referred to as the common solvent method or solution based processing technique (SBPT). SBPT is a widely used technique and is reported to consistently give exfoliated morphologies provided that proper clay functionalization, solvent and blending conditions are met [2-21]. In this process, the nanoclay is exfoliated or separated into individual sheets using a solvent in which the polymer is soluble. When using an adequate solvent, the nanoclay can be easily dispersed in the solvent. This process is facilitated by stirring and the application of ultrasonic energy. The polymer is then added to the mixture for adsorption to the delaminated nanoclay sheets. The nanocomposite resin system is obtained upon solvent removal [2-20].

Considerable work on nanocomposites from solvent based processing techniques with a variety of solvents has been reported in the literature for both conventional polymers [2-12][2-18][2-19][2-21][2-23]-[2-26] and bio-based polymers [2-1][2-6][2-9][2-10][2-11][2-27]. Alexandre and Dubois [2-20] and Le Baron et al. [2-22] provide a good review on synthesis and resulting properties of a wide range of polymers. Miyagawa et al. [2-12][2-25] used acetone as a solvent in synthesizing epoxy/clay [2-25] and polyester/clay [2-12]nanocomposites. The resulting nanocomposites were well dispersed and clay morphologies were partially exfoliated and intercalated. Hutchinson et al. [2-24] compared epoxy/clay nanocomposites synthesized by simple direct mixing in virgin resin, and by using acetone as a solvent. Nanocomposites processed with acetone had better dispersion than those prepared by simple mixing. Burgentzle et al. [2-23] evaluated the parameters controlling the dispersion of organophillic nanoclays in various organic solvents by studying the interaction between nanoclays and solvent molecules at various scales. The interactions at nanoscale **were studied by interlayer spacing**, at microscale by studying the rheological behavior of clay

- scrensions, and iverved that high iz proper balance na essential for di when blending v physical using c ve obtained when to-based clay nano mowhskers on t reactes or alumin priv/vegetable o ungeneous disp n-based clay nar om benzene. activitologies. Liu ornized soybear Research ; Tanta polyes be been achieved,
- dry and bio-resin o
- iou problems of ity content requi

suspensions, and at macroscale by analyzing swelling of nanoclay in solvents. It was observed that high surface energy solvents were effective for gelation at the microscale, and that proper balance between the hydrophilic and hydrophobic parts of solvent molecules was essential for dispersion of organophilic clays. Morgan and Harris [2-21] investigated how solvent blending with and without high energy mixing dispersed two types of clay in polystyrene using chlorobenzene as a solvent. They found that a high degree of exfoliation was obtained when organo-montmorillonite clay and high energy sonication were used. For bio-based clay nanocomposites, Miyagawa et al. [2-27] studied the effect of clay and alumina nano-whiskers on the mechanical properties of epoxy/vegetable oil blends. In each case, the nanoclay or alumina whiskers were sonicated in acetone for 2 hours and then mixed with the epoxy/vegetable oil blend. The resulting nanoclay composites were reported to have homogeneous dispersion and exfoliated morphologies. Lu and Larock [2-11] synthesized bio-based clay nanocomposites by cationic polymerization of corn-oil with styrene and divinyl-benzene. The resulting nanocomposites were reported to have intercalated morphologies. Liu et al. [2-9], Uvama et al. [2-1], and Song et al. [2-10] synthesized epoxidized soybean oil/clay nanocomposites by direct sonication in soybean oil.

Research in our group [2-6] synthesized clay nanocomposites on blends of unsaturated polyester and soybean oil. While good dispersion and exfoliation of the nanoclay has been achieved, the standard SBPT restricts the incorporation of higher concentrations of clay and bio-resin content. One of the drawbacks of SBPT is the amount of energy required for solvent removal. The use of solvent based processing for bio-based resin systems brings about problems of phase separation and thermal degradation of polymers [2-6]. Increase of clay content requires an increase of the solvent solution for proper dispersion and content. This requires a large amount of energy to remove the solvent, which can cause

internation marintentored statual compone ien is a need for e The choice he an was to devi miaturing large warm assisted res interpreters and in Hence, the aim v d'other techniques v la this work. interpret of nanc masing methods t ased polymer/clay r TSaturated polyester item Four differen incoped by our gro torgations at failure tratenzation of nat at similar work with minication. The e Izamission electron the nanoclay. Scanni
thermal degradation of the polymers. Moreover, the research in our group aims in using nanoclay-reinforced bio-based resin systems for manufacturing large scale load-bearing structural components, and therefore large quantities of resin systems are required. Hence, there is a need for efficient processing that can also handle large quantities.

The choice of using SBPT to develop bio-based nanocomposites is two fold. First, the aim was to develop nanoclay reinforced thermoset resin systems that could be used in manufacturing large-scale bio-based structural components (such as sandwich panels) using vacuum assisted resin transfer molding (VARTM). And secondly, this work presents new developments and improvements to the recommendations from an earlier study using SBPT [6]. Hence, the aim was to develop improvements on the SBPT and a study on the feasibility of other techniques was not performed as it was beyond the scope of the research aim.

In this work, solvent based processing techniques were studied for efficient development of nanoclay-reinforced bio-based resin systems, by evaluating different processing methods that can maximize the amount of bio-resin and nanoclay content. Biobased polymer/clay nanocomposites were processed using SBPT for blends of styrene based unsaturated polyester (UPE) and epoxidized methyl soyate (EMS) with acetone as the solvent. Four different processing techniques were studied by modifying the baseline SBPT developed by our group [2-6]2-12]. Only tensile properties, namely: modulus, strength and elongations at failure were studied. Comprehensive thermophysical, mechanical and barrier characterization of nanocomposite resins with soy-based resins are reported elsewhere [2-6] and similar work with linseed oil based resins is in progress and will be forthcoming in future communication. The effects of sonication energy and styrene content were also studied. Transmission electron microscopy was used to study the features of the tensile

inture surfaces. A con mile amount of biomiel 13 Experimental Four different minted with nanox micomposites. In th menclature used, test 13.1 Materials The main comp I Reichhold Inc., N conduced methyl soya a nanoclay used in t minister (mixture of Sema Aldrich, MO) as Aconstant ratio by wei at all samples. The m momer and 1.50 parts <sup>Cior 2</sup> hours. For all p Atter 750 W utra-son

.

fracture surfaces. A comparison of the four processes with respect to processing time, feasible amount of bio-resin and clay content, drawbacks and overall efficiency is also provided.

#### 2.3 Experimental Methods

Four different processes were studied for the development of bio-based resin blends reinforced with nanoclay inclusions. Tensile properties were studied for the resulting nanocomposites. In the following sections, details on materials, description of processes, nomenclature used, testing and characterization details are provided.

#### 2.3.1 Materials

The main component was ortho unsaturated polyester resin (UPE, Polylite<sup>®</sup> 32570-00, Reichhold Inc., NQ, which contains 33.5 wt.% styrene. A bio-based modifier, epoxidized methyl soyate (EMS, Vikoflex<sup>®</sup> 7010, Arkema Inc, PA) replaced parts of UPE. The nanoclay used in this work was Cloisite 30B<sup>®</sup> (Southern Clay Products, Inc. TX). The resin system (mixture of UPE, EMS and organoclay) was processed with cobalt naphthenate (Sigma Aldrich, MO) as a promoter and 2-butanone peroxide (Sigma Aldrich) as an initiator. A constant ratio by weight of the resin system to the promoter and initiator was utilized to <sup>Cure</sup> all samples. The mixing ratio was 100 parts by weight of the resin system to 0.03 parts Promoter and 1.50 parts initiator. Samples were cured at 100 °C for 2 hours, followed by 160 <sup>°C</sup> for 2 hours. For all processes in this study, the sonication energy was applied using Cole – **Parmer** 750 W ultra-sonicator with a 25 mm diameter solid probe.

- 132 Testing & C
  - Tensile tests
- hity was 5 mm/n
- It ispersion and n
- rit musmission ele
- anted using a diamo
- z tik A JEOL 1
- itur bight field ima
- tion scanning elec
- met with a thin gold
- 14 Processing Te
  - Research in or
- mutural application
- er rarsfer moldi
- te processing tech
- in rould be requ
- izzle batch prov
- orient was 5 wit.
- Egof bio-resin (
- ren is based on i
- a comp to develop
- is addited with th
- is in arrasing the

#### 2.3.2 Testing & Characterization

Tensile tests were performed according to ASTM D638 standards. The rate of loading was 5 mm/min. Six tensile specimens were tested for each nanocomposite system. The dispersion and morphology of nanoclay inclusions in the nanocomposite were observed with transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Ultramicrotomy at room temperature was carried using a diamond knife with an included angle of 4° to produce sections around 70 nm thick. A JEOL 100CX TEM with LaB<sub>6</sub> filament with 120 kV acceleration was used to obtain bright field images. The tensile failure surfaces were observed with a JEOL 6400 field emission scanning electron microscope (SEM) at 10 kV acceleration voltage. Specimens were coated with a thin gold film prior to SEM observations.

# 2.4 Processing Techniques

Research in our group has been aimed at manufacturing of bio-based composites for structural applications using these nano-reinforced bio-based resins through vacuum assisted resin transfer molding (VARTM). As a result, in order to estimate the overall efficiency of the processing technique(s), the quantities of the resins used in this study were the same as that would be required during the manufacturing of large-scale biocomposite components. A single batch processed 500 g of resin (UPE+EMS). As discussed earlier, the bio-resin **content** was 5 wt.% and clay content was 3 wt.%. Hence, for a single batch, 475 g of UPE, **25** g of bio-resin (EMS) and 15.464 g of nanoclay were used. The processing study reported herein is based on modifications to a baseline solvent based processing technique used by was modified with the aim of increasing the feasible amounts of bio-resin and nanoclay while also increasing the overall efficiency of the process, thereby leading to four novel

mashes. A det Howing For all miet Protes A: T vin a magnetic st ndes, the quantity The actions + nar sentation probe fo meved and both mare (UPE + EN jæ z 55 ℃ until a acone was remove artial is that durin moved. The amou recore removal pro inied with the inn proper, and the cu hatas A is shown ir At higher cor Pricess A: 1) the res the separation betw mus during the acciav loading less 1 approaches. A detailed description of the baseline process (Process A) is explained in the following. For all other processing techniques the modifications made to Process A are provided:

**Process** A: This is the baseline processing technique. To a 2000 ml beaker equipped with a magnetic stir bar, nanoclay (3 wt.%) and acetone (750 ml) were added. From trial studies, the quantity of acetone was determined to be 50 ml acetone per gram of nanoclay. The acetone + nanoclay solution was continuously stirred, while it was sonicated using a sonication probe for the desired time or energy. After sonication, the ultrasonic probe was removed and both the UPE (475 g) and EMS (25 g) resins were added. The resulting mixture (UPE + EMS + acetone + nanoclay) was continuously stirred while placed on a hot plate at 55 °C until approximately 75% of the acetone was removed (3 hours). The remaining acetone was removed by vacuum extraction at 55 °C for 24 hours. A drawback of this method is that during the acetone removal process, the styrene present in the UPE is also removed. The amount of lost styrene was re-introduced to the blend after completing the acetone removal process. The processed solution was cooled to room temperature and blended with the initiator and promoter followed by curing. The amounts of initiator and **promoter**, and the curing temperature are provided in Section 2.3.1. A flow chart explaining Process A is shown in Figure 2-1.

At higher concentrations of EMS and nanoclay two problems were encountered in **Process** A: 1) the resin seemed to cross-link during the acetone removal process, and 2) **Phase** separation between EMS and UPE was observed, leading to instability at high vacuum **Pres** sures during the acetone extraction process. These problems were not observed at **Pres** sures during less than 1.5 wt.% and EMS contents of less than 10%. Hence, Process B

stored by making EVS: content. <u>Proces B</u>: I removed is removed Harss B solved th ezhed incorporat ing the acetone IPE present is rel transum of bio-The proble te solvent extracti Distres of excess impers the prop interpret to elimin Amers C. P UPE resin and bic men, the tempe Thus, son <sup>10 cool</sup> down to re at appying energ Priess. Additiona the sonica the resin sys evolved by making slight modifications to Process A to increase the nanoclay and bio-resin (EMS) content.

<u>Prozess B</u>: In this process (Figure 2-1) the bio-resin is not added until all of the acetone is removed. After acetone removal, the EMS is added along with the lost styrene. Process B solved the problems of phase separation and gelling during acetone removal and enabled incorporation of higher clay contents. Nonetheless, since only neat UPE is present during the acetone removal process, at high bio-resin and nanoclay contents, the amount of UPE present is relatively small, thereby making the resin system highly viscous and limiting the amount of bio-resin content that can be added.

The problems associated with in bio-nanocomposite processing are mainly due to the solvent extraction step. The common solvent used in this work was acetone. In addition to issues of excessive energy and time required for solvent removal, any residual acetone hampers the properties of the resulting resin system. Processes C and D were thus developed to eliminate the use of acetone.

Process C (Figure 2-1) consists of sonicating the nanoclay directly in the UPE resin and bio-resin is added after sonication. Due to the viscosity of the UPE resin System, the temperature of the solution increases rapidly even at very low sonication energies. Thus, sonication energy is applied in steps of 20 kJ and the resin system is allowed to cool down to room temperature before the next step is applied. The process of cooling and applying energy in steps does not allow high sonication energies to be achieved by this Process. Additionally, at high clay contents, the increased viscosity of resin system can damage the sonication equipment. As a result, Process D (Figure 2-1) was developed to reduce the resin system viscosity.

Prozes D: In this F strene solution izenty issues of residual ans synene is removed in appointuely 6 hours ing solven (i.e., acetor presses A and B. Noneti iz nanocomposites synth miliation, but the use of theney of such processes Process E: Process E vermuse for removal of trept that acctone is ret ing ie, not using a in sociated nanoclass adicting total removal I be end. In this work, a name process ior all processes, there tax the properties of itis processes can be d <u>Prozess</u> D: In this process the resin system viscosity is reduced by adding 50 wt.% additional styrene solution to the system. Styrene is an inherent component of neat UPE and thereby issues of residual solvent in the resin system are eliminated. After sonication, the excess styrene is removed by mechanical stirring and application of constant heat ( $\sim$ 55 °C) for approximately 6 hours. Processes C and D eliminate the use of vacuum to remove the foreign solvent (i.e., acetone), thereby improving the time and energy efficiency relative to processes A and B. Nonetheless, as shown later, it was found in microscopic observations that nanocomposites synthesized with acetone as solvent produced better dispersion and exfoliation, but the use of vacuum and heat in acetone removal was limiting overall efficiency of such processes. As a result, Process E was developed.

<u>Process E</u>: Process E (Figure 2-1) was developed with the goal of eliminating the vacuum use for removal of acetone in processes A and B. Process E is similar to process B, except that acetone is removed only through heating on a hot plate while mechanically stirring - i.e., not using a vacuum. Acetone removal is monitored by measuring the weight of the sonicated nanoclay/resin solution until no further decrease in weight is observed, indicating total removal of solvent. Any lost styrene and the target bio-resin content is added at the end.

In this work, after solvent removal, irrespective of the solvent, care was taken to maintain same processing conditions (amounts of promoter and initiator, curing time etc.,) for all processes, thereby minimizing the effects introduced due to varying cure conditions. Hence, the properties of the resulting nanocomposites and the nanoclay morphology from various processes can be directly compared.

38

15 Processing Varia 13.1 Styrene Content i The UPE used in 1 dUPE with EMS reduce assested that premature c mal styrene content. He ir overall styrene content stere level to the level or 32 Sonication Energy It is commonly agree nderivitation of the resu te nanoclay particles and firsty Moreover, using mentes while also achiev witation energy, levels of Tuesing techniques stud with that 60 kJ of en Hence processes <sup>targy of 300</sup> kJ was late attived viscosity of the r хр

# 2.5 Processing Variables

#### 2.5.1 Styrene Content in Resin System

The UPE used in this study had a styrene content of 33.5 wt.%. Partial replacement of UPE with EMS reduces the overall styrene content of the resulting resin system. It is suspected that premature curing during the acetone removal step was due to the reduction in overall styrene content. Hence, the effect of styrene content was studied by: a) maintaining the overall styrene content at 33.5 wt.% for the blended resin system, and, b) keeping the styrene level to the level originally present in the UPE part of the blended system.

#### 2.5.2 Sonication Energy

It is commonly agreed that increased sonication time, or energy, improves dispersion and exfoliation of the resulting nanocomposites. Nevertheless, excessive energy may break the nanoclay particles and reduce their aspect ratio, which reduces the reinforcement efficiency. Moreover, using optimum sonication energy would be essential to obtain desired **properties** while also achieving cost, time and energy efficiency. To assess the influence of **sonication** energy, levels of 60 kJ and 300 kJ were studied. Processes B and C were initial **Processing** techniques studied with 60 kJ of energy. Electron microscopy observations **showed** that 60 kJ of energy was insufficient for adequate dispersion of the nanoclay **Particles**. Hence processes D and E were sonicated only with 300 kJ of energy. A sonication **energy** of 300 kJ was later used for process B, but was infeasible for process C due to **increased** viscosity of the resin system, application of energy in steps and cooling after each **step**.

نزي Material Content In order to comp messes must have simil ders of variations in mmunication. Neverthe mous nanoclay and bio-36, A moderate amount sult and it is believed uncentrations. Similarly, re thosen to avoid the p z mate at EMS conter te anous parameters in D'The styrene weight I n's strene content in t Fight D is denoted by man obtained from Pro witation energy, and cor mainsm system at 33.5 erry of 60 kJ was applie <sup>ن ا</sup> ا معنود (\*) is m unizion energy. Since beetine near resins with i for near resins, the follo

## 2.5.3 Material Content and Nomenclature

In order to compare the various processing techniques in this study, each of the processes must have similar amounts of nanoclay and bio-resin. Detailed presentation of the effects of variations in clay and bio-resin content is beyond the scope of this communication. Nevertheless, work by our group on characterizing nanocomposites with various nanoclay and bio-resin contents obtained from Process A have already been reported [2-6]. A moderate amount of clay content (3 wt.%) was selected for all resin systems in this study and it is believed that conclusions of the study can be extended to other clay concentrations. Similarly, all processes were done with 5 wt.% bio-resin content. This level was chosen to avoid the problem of phase separation, as it was suspected that this problem can initiate at EMS contents beyond 10 wt.%. The following nomenclature is used to define the various parameters in this study: "Process ID/Clay Content/Sonication Energy/Styrene Weight ID." The styrene weight ID indicates whether additional styrene was added to maintain 33.5 wt.% styrene content in the total resin system. If additional styrene was added, the Styrene Weight ID is denoted by "A", else by "B." For example, "B/3/300/A" denotes a resin system obtained from Process B containing 3 wt.% of nanoclay processed with 300kJ of sonication energy, and containing additional styrene to maintain styrene concentration in the total resin system at 33.5 wt.%. In Process C, due to high viscosity issues, the sonication energy of 60 kJ was applied in two ways: a) steps of 20 kJ and b) continuous application of 60 kJ. An asterisk (\*) is marked next to 60 kJ to indicate continuous application of 60 kJ of sonication energy. Since the nanoclay resin systems contain 5% EMS, corresponding baseline neat resins with no nanoclay were processed with and without additional styrene. For neat resins, the following nomenclature is used: "NEAT-95/5-A". The term NEAT

mize no nanoclay is p It is term indicates the 16 Results A comparison of instopic characterizati muess, the results are class it rais system. Since th min indicate the effect trained from them. Result 141 Overall Processin Table 2-1 provides sub The overall efficience the following factors: proc stativ and cooling issu Terres). The factors missing technique (Sect in proces and (heat + stiming) d and is intend tractives of the resulting Reciperved that process

indicates no nanoclay is present and the resin system contains 95%UPE and 5% bio-resin. The last term indicates the styrene weight ID as explained earlier.

2.6 Results

A comparison of the various processing techniques, tensile test results and microscopic characterization of the nanocomposites are provided in this section. For each process, the results are classified with respect to the amount of sonication energy supplied to the resin system. Since the nanoclay and EMS content was the same for all processes, the results indicate the effect of the processing technique and the nanoclay morphologies obtained from them. Results are also compared with the properties of neat resin systems.

## 2.6.1 Overall Processing Efficiency

Table 2-1 provides a comparison of the processing techniques evaluated in this study. The overall efficiency of the processing system was determined by taking into account the following factors: processing time, relative energy demand, phase separation problems, viscosity and cooling issues, and most importantly the resulting material (i.e., tensile properties). The factors influencing the time and relative energy demand depend on processing technique (Section 3). The "relative energy demand" qualitatively compares the energy required in processing and includes the applied sonication energy and the energy applied (heat + stirring) during solvent removal. The relative energy demand parameter is qualitative and is intended for relative comparison of the various processes. Tensile properties of the resulting bio-nanocomposites are provided in following section. Overall, it was observed that processes B and D had good efficiency relative to other processes.

12 Tensile Propert The summary ( mission energies of stree content on tens it processing techniqu corpared separately fro mentes are compared <u>s Terrile Modulus</u> Tensile modulu Figure 2-3 for sonication I of applied energy of minutes that the son iverved that on ave moded higher tensile similar bio-resin acressed cross-linking The respect to neat m te censile modulus by  $\frac{1}{2}$  and by 13 o Nanocomposito  $^{19}$  % and 50 % highe Straty; Process D le her UPE resin for 30 totale of 15 % whe

### 2.6.2 Tensile Properties

The summary of tensile test results is provided in Table 2-2 and Table 2-3 for sonication energies of 60 kJ and 300 kJ, respectively. Effects of sonication energy and styrene content on tensile properties are provided in this section. For relative comparison of the processing techniques, the resin systems in which styrene weight was maintained are compared separately from those in which styrene content was not maintained. The tensile properties are compared to those of neat UPE.

#### <u>a) Tensile Modulus</u>

Tensile modulus results for the various processes are provided in Figure 2-2 and Figure 2-3 for sonication energies of 60 kJ and 300 kJ, respectively. Process C used only 60 KJ of applied energy due to viscosity issues. The asterisk (\*) in process C in Figure 2-2 indicates that the sonication energy was applied continuously and not in steps. It was observed that on average, nanocomposites from resin systems with additional styrene provided higher tensile modulus by about 20 % relative to their counterpart resin systems with similar bio-resin and clay contents but no additional styrene. This is attributed to increased cross-linking provided by styrene and reduction of the overall bio-resin content. With respect to neat resins, it was observed that the addition of bio-resin (5 wt.%) reduced the tensile modulus by an average of 4 % for resin systems in which styrene weight was maintained and by 13 % for resin systems with no additional styrene.

Nanocomposites from process B had tensile modulus values that were, on average 38 % and 50 % higher than neat UPE resin for sonication energies of 60 kJ and 300 kJ. Similarly, Process D led to nanocomposites with average tensile modulus 16 % higher than neat UPE resin for 300 kJ of sonication energy. Process C showed an average modulus increase of 15 % when 60 kJ of sonication energy was applied continuously, but showed

it charge in modulus mies which showed It is of sonication en 55221 Elimate Tensile S. Utimate tensile ni Figure 2-3 for son stilesized from all pro la autors attribute th zie relatively brittle p artiny. While there is apezlel effort to this some increases, the s string the ultimate te its reduces the ultima stored a decrease of ir nich sysene weight w r additional styrene. nengths, approximate ie bennal degradation acone removal proces <sup>at D</sup> had tensile stre ance with the second se little change in modulus when the same energy was applied in steps. Process E was the only process which showed a decrease in tensile modulus of about 50 % relative to neat UPE at 300 kJ of sonication energy. This is mainly attributed to the residual acetone in the resin system.

#### <u>b) Ultimate Tensile Stress</u>

Ultimate tensile stress results for the various processes are provided in Figure 2-2 and Figure 2-3 for sonication energies of 60 kJ and 300 kJ, respectively. Nanocomposites synthesized from all processes had lower ultimate tensile stresses than the neat resin systems. The authors attribute this to the stress concentrations created by the nanoclay reinforcement in the relatively brittle polymer matrix which in turn lead to lower tensile strength and lower ductility. While there is no general consensus on this point of view, computational studies by a parallel effort to this work [2-29] have shown evidence to this mechanism. As nanoclay content increases, the stiffness and brittleness of the resulting resin systems increases thus reducing the ultimate tensile strength and ductility [2-6]. Moreover, the addition of bio-resin also reduces the ultimate tensile strength. For example, neat bio-based resins (no nanoclay) showed a decrease of in ultimate tensile strengths by approximately 5 % for resin systems in which styrene weight was maintained and a reduction of about 14 % for resin systems with no additional styrene. Nanocomposites from processes B and E had the lowest tensile strengths, approximately 54 % and 70 % lower than the neat UPE resin. This is attributed to the thermal degradation of the resin system due to prolonged exposure to heat during the acetone removal process. Nanocomposites synthesized with direct sonication processes C and D had tensile strengths greater than those made with processes B and E, yet with approximately 40 % and 44 % lower strength than neat UPE, respectively.

# Elegation at Failure

The elongations at Figure 24 and Figure 2 rainsins, the addition of sens to make the system mess B had the lowest di zi # %, in ultimate tens in process C, the resin s eproximately 8 % higher refiel in steps. Thus, th any in steps seems to a im process E, which ca intered ductility relative t In summary, the masses, except process azer improvement. Pro-Francesses C and miation energy lead to 1 ribiation of clay partic! miling nanocomposites. timiques could be select

## c) Elongation at Failure

The elongations at failure for nanocomposites from various processes are provided in Figure 2-4 and Figure 2-5 for sonication energies of 60 kJ and 300 kJ respectively. For neat resins, the addition of EMS increases the ductility. Nevertheless, the additional styrene seems to make the system more brittle and reduces the ductility. Nanocomposites from process B had the lowest ductility, followed by process C, with an average reduction of 47 % and 44 %, in ultimate tensile strain respectively relative to neat UPE. For nanocomposites from process C, the resin systems in which sonication energy was applied continuously, had approximately 8 % higher failure strains than the resin systems processed with energy applied in steps. Thus, the alternating cooling and heating required to apply sonication energy in steps seems to affect the behavior of the resulting resin system. Nanocomposites from process E, which can lead to residual acetone showed poor stiffness properties but increased ductility relative to nanocomposites from other processes.

In summary, the tensile modulus due to addition of nanoclay increased for all processes, except process E (attributed to residual acetone), with Process B showing the largest improvement. Processes that led to high tensile modulus had lower ductility and strengths. Processes C and D had a balance of stiffness and toughness properties. Increased sonication energy lead to higher tensile modulus, which is attributed to better dispersion and exfoliation of clay particles. While various processes lead to different properties for the resulting nanocomposites, they are all considered viable and stable. Thus, the processing techniques could be selected depending on the application and desired tensile properties.

44

13 Morphology of Na Figure 2-6 and memory from vari iene of dispersion and ex Process B (Figure 2-6a a molation relative to other massing Process B is sir with the degree of exfo <u>estimed to be</u> similar New omposites from pro non showed relatively F Fyre 2-6b). This was muss C nanocompos sicked relatively bette ionication energy appli "SCOSILY with increase Then applying sonica Englishing before the <sup>the dop</sup> in temperatur a direct sonication me ie viscosity. Nanoco Priess C (Figure 2to an antiposites result that agglomer

#### 2.6.3 Morphology of Nanoclay Inclusions

Figure 2-6 and Figure 2-7 show transmission electron micrographs for nanocomposites from various processes at 60 kJ and 300 kJ of energy, respectively. The degree of dispersion and exfoliation was found to increase with increasing sonication energy. Process B (Figure 2-6a and Figure 2-7a) led to the highest degree of dispersion and exfoliation relative to other processes. This is due to the use of solvent for dispersion during processing. Process B is similar to process E, except for the solvent removal technique. As a result, the degree of exfoliation and dispersion of nanocomposites from process E are assumed to be similar to that obtained from process B, and thus not provided. Nanocomposites from process C, in which nanoclay was directly sonicated in the neat UPE resin showed relatively poor dispersion and agglomeration of clay particles (encircled in Figure 2-6b). This was due to the high viscosity of the resin system. Nevertheless, for process C, nanocomposites obtained from continuous application of sonication energy showed relatively better dispersion than nanocomposites from similar process with sonication energy applied in steps (Figure 2-6c). This could be due to the decrease in viscosity with increase in temperature during sonication, thus enabling better dispersion. When applying sonication energy in steps the resin system is cooled back to room temperature before the next energy step is applied. This increases the system viscosity due to the drop in temperature and affects the dispersion of nanoclay particles. Process D was also a direct sonication method, but the resin system was diluted with styrene, thereby reducing the viscosity. Nanocomposites from process D showed better dispersion than those from process C (Figure 2-7b). Also, the degree of exfoliation was considerably improved in nanocomposites resulting from process D relative to those obtained from process C. It seems that agglomerated clay particles resulting from process C (encircled in Figure 2-6)

prove into partial EM micrographs n mess B followed answer with the ivained from proce Spension and exfo mentabled nanoclay 264 Fractograph The roughne mpenies and critic. s zinbuted to bri mocomposites [2attentine the degr mocomposites from acture surf. intervations, samp] assum with relat tor 60 kJ and 3 tepersion, it follo mocomposites. T mocomposites fro <sup>succetter</sup> than thos : :acture surface roug improve into partially intercalated particles (Figure 2-7c) when using process D. Overall, TEM micrographs revealed better dispersion and exfoliation for the nanocomposites from process B followed by those from Process D. The enhanced nanoclay morphology is consistent with the relatively superior tensile modulus results of the nanocomposites obtained from processes B and D. The micrographs confirm a well known fact that good dispersion and exfoliation are beneficial for stiffness improvement (seen in B) while intercalated nanoclays are better for toughness improvement (seen in D).

#### 2.6.4 Fractographic Observations

The roughness of the fracture surface has generally been associated to fracture properties and critical strain energy release rates [2-28]. A smooth featureless fracture surface is attributed to brittle failures and rougher fracture surfaces are attributed to tougher nanocomposites [2-27]2-28]. Tensile fracture surfaces were evaluated to qualitatively determine the degree of dispersion and the improved fracture properties of resulting nanocomposites from different processing methods. Figure 2-8a shows the relatively smooth tensile fracture surface of a neat resin with 5% EMS content. As discussed for the TEM observations, samples from process B had the best dispersion of clay particles. This is consistent with relatively rougher fracture surfaces as observed in Figure 2-8b and Figure 2-8e for 60 kJ and 300 kJ respectively. If higher sonication energy produces better nanoclay dispersion, it follows that it should also lead to rougher surfaces in the resulting nanocomposites. This is supported by images in (Figure 2-8c and Figure 2-8d) for nanocomposites from process C that show rougher fracture surfaces than neat UPE but smoother than those obtained from Process B. There was no significant difference in fracture surface roughness due to variations in the way that sonication energy was applied:

uninuous (Figure 2-8J) meter surfaces than all 17 Discussion Processing plays messing technique she bu should also be effic therved that the solven ir ssem. The use of a zypanicles. Neverthele me cost and energy. N mentes of resulting n iom process E, which h at of the primary resin store and hence, styrer m the resin system. Th bace of stiffness and d The elimination mication of nanoclay in  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$  and  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$  of time and  $\mathbf{en} \in \mathbb{R}^{d}$ epication of sonication <sup>the feasibility</sup> of this F itizited due to the hi

continuous (Figure 2-8d) and in steps (Figure 2-8c). Nanocomposites from process D had rougher surfaces than all other samples except those from process B.

# 2.7 Discussion

Processing plays a vital role in the resulting properties of nanocomposites. The processing technique should not only produce nanocomposites with enhanced properties, but should also be efficient with respect to energy, cost and time. In this study, it was observed that the solvent played an important role in determining the overall efficiency of the system. The use of acetone as a solvent produced better dispersion and exfoliation of clay particles. Nevertheless, extraction of solvent foreign to the resin system is inefficient in time, cost and energy. Moreover, the residual foreign solvent produces adverse effects on properties of resulting nanocomposites. This was observed in nanocomposites obtained from process E, which had poor tensile properties. Therefore, a solvent that is an inherent part of the primary resin is preferred. In this study, the UPE resin contained 33.5 wt.% styrene and hence, styrene monomer was used to dilute the solution and sonicate directly into the resin system. The nanocomposites produced by such process (D) showed a good balance of stiffness and ductility.

The elimination of solvent was achieved in process C, which involved direct sonication of nanoclay in the resin system and no solvent extraction. It required the least amount of time and energy. Nevertheless, viscosity related issues, such as system cooling, application of sonication energy in steps, and excess load on the sonication probes hamper the feasibility of this process. Moreover, the desired degree of exfoliation may not be obtained due to the high viscosity and insufficient sonication energy. Overall, viscosity issues, poor dispersion and exfoliation and moderate improvements in the resulting properties limit the efficiency of Process C.

Tensile testing revealed superior tensile modulus, relative to neat UPE, for nanocomposites from process B, followed by those from process D. Samples obtained from processes C had only a moderate increase in tensile properties relative to neat UPE. Process E samples had a reduction in tensile modulus and this was attributed to the residual acetone. Regarding ductility or elongations at failure, of the resulting nanocomposites, those from process B had the least ductility, while those from processes C, D and E had moderate levels of ductility. Similarly, samples from process B had the lowest tensile strength, while those from process D had the highest. Overall, the effects of bio-resin and nanoclay complement each other, producing composites with a good stiffness-toughness balance [2-6]. Yet, in order to take the benefits of the hybridization of nanoclay and bio-resin blends, the processing technique must enable incorporation of high contents of nanoclay and bio-resin.

The TEM micrographs showed that the nanocomposites from process B had better degrees of dispersion and exfoliation followed by those from process D. The nanocomposites obtained from direct sonication (process C), had poor dispersion and agglomerated clay particles. The samples from process E were similar to those from process B, but had poor tensile properties due to the effects of residual acetone. Similarly, the fractographic observations of tensile failure surfaces using SEM showed rougher surfaces in samples with well dispersed nanoclay. The increased surface area from the rough surface can be associated with the higher energy necessary for crack propagation. Since the tougher clay particles deviate the crack propagation front around them, thus creating new surfaces. Thus, proper dispersion of clay particles would lead to rougher surfaces. Consequently, if fracture

- mixe roughness
- staned through p
  - Overall, the
- initiating nanoclay
- eizacements while
- usile properties. P
- niDused acetone
- Ering the use of p
- i any, affects the
- atoratory scale quar
- Process D is ideal fo
- maponents with a 1
- at applications en
- mocomposites.
- 28 Conclusions
  - Bio-based resi
- with natural polymers
- and toughness.
- ire been shown co
- processing of nanoclay.
- <sup>8</sup> plase separation, t
- Circum feasible bio-

surface roughness is indicative of better nanoclay dispersion, the best dispersion was obtained through process B followed by process D.

Overall, the study indicated that processes B and D are desirable methods for fabricating nanoclay reinforced bio-based resins. Process B leads to the best tensile modulus enhancements while process D allows obtaining nanocomposites with a good balance of tensile properties. Process D was more time and energy efficient than process B. Processes B and D used acetone and styrene as solvents, respectively. Solvent extraction is the major step limiting the use of process B as it is time and energy inefficient. Moreover, residual acetone, if any, affects the properties of the resulting nanocomposites. Process B is ideal for laboratory scale quantities and in applications wherein high modulus is the principal criteria. Process D is ideal for producing larger quantities of resin systems such as for large structural components with a reasonable balance of properties. Depending on the desired properties and applications either of the processes could be used to develop bio-based clay nanocomposites.

## 2.8 Conclusions

Bio-based resin systems from partial substitution of petroleum-based resins (primary) with natural polymers (secondary) provide environmental friendliness, cost-effectiveness and improved toughness. The drawbacks from the addition of bio-resins to the base polymer have been shown to be recoverable through nanoclay reinforcement. Solvent-based processing of nanoclay reinforced bio-based resin systems brings about new challenges, such as phase separation, thermal degradation of the resin system and limitations on the maximum feasible bio-resin and nanoclay content. This study was aimed at finding an efficient solvent-based processing technique for the synthesis of nanoclay reinforced bio-

used resin system scitation energy. I i the techniques ropenies of the re min after solvent i ize polymer and th if primary resin) as ni reduced the tin zzively large amou beer processing tim chency. Two proc efficiency. Process B bremion and exfo consists of direct so muess eliminates th withing nanocompo movement of stiffr ther of these proanocomposites. This ad evaluated tensile tisical characterizati it top and/or identition mocomposites can of

based resin systems by assessing and comparing four evolving methods. The effects of sonication energy, processing time, solvent type and the associated processing issues for each of the techniques were assessed by evaluating the nanoclay morphology and the tensile properties of the resulting polymer nanocomposites. It was found that the addition of bioresin after solvent removal avoids problems associated with phase separation between the base polymer and the bio-resin additive. Direct sonication and use of styrene (inherent part of primary resin) as a solvent resolved the drawbacks of foreign solvent (acetone) residue and reduced the time required for solvent removal. Processes that enable incorporation of relatively large amount of bio-resin and nanoclay content with minimal processing problems, lower processing time and desirable tensile properties were considered to have good overall efficiency. Two processes, namely processes B and D, were found to have good overall efficiency. Process B consists of using acetone as a solvent and led to the best nanoclay dispersion and exfoliation, resulting in samples with high tensile modulus. Process D consists of direct sonication of nanoclay in the resin system diluted with styrene. This process eliminates the use of a foreign solvent, thereby reducing processing time, and the resulting nanocomposites showed a good balance of tensile properties, namely a balanced improvement of stiffness and toughness. Depending on desired properties and applications, either of these processes is deemed suitable for effective production of bio-based nanocomposites. This study used electron microscopy for characterizing qualitative features and evaluated tensile properties only. A more comprehensive thermo-mechanical and physical characterization, along with processing constraints, would clearly be needed to develop and/or identify a processing technique that maximizes the benefits that bio-based nanocomposites can offer.

19 Tables and

Processing Parameters
Native Energy Demand
Time
Problems <sup>a</sup>
Mar nanoclay b
<u>Var bio-resin</u> b
Cooling need <sup>c</sup>
Vacuum use
Probe issues
Tensile properties
Efficiency
Problems of phase

Processing	Process ID				
Parameters	Α	В	С	D	E
Relative Energy Demand	high	high	moderate/low	v moderate	High
Time	high	high	low	moderate	moderate/high
Problems <sup>2</sup>	yes	no	no	no	no
Max. nanoclay <sup>b</sup>	1.5	5	3	5	5
Max. bio-resin <sup>b</sup>	10	20	30	30	20
Cooling need <sup>c</sup>	no	no	yes	none/moderate	no
Vacuum use	yes	yes	no	no	no
Probe issues	none	none	high	moderate/none	none
Tensile properties	N/A	high modulus, low strength	low modulus	modulus & strength balance	low modulus
Efficiency	poor	moderate/good	moderate	good	poor/moderate

Table 2-1. Comparison of processing techniques.

<sup>a</sup> Problems of phase separation and curing during processing; <sup>b</sup> In wt.%; <sup>c</sup> High viscosity requires application of energy in steps and cooling to room temp.
Ibe 2-2. Exp		
Process ID		
B/3/60/A		
B/3/6C/B		
C/3/60/B		
C/3/6C*/B		
NEAT UPE		
NEAT-95/5-		
NEAT-95/5-		
E Tensile Mod I: Average, $\sigma$ :		
Table 2-3. ]		
Process ID		
B/3/300/A		
B/3/300/B		
D/3/300/A		
D/3/30C/B		
E/3/300/A		
E/3/300/B		
<sup>E:</sup> Iensile Moduh I: Average, σ: S		

	Ε,	GPa	UTS,	, MPa	EF	,%
Process ID	Ŧ	σ	x	σ	x	σ
B/3/60/A	4.88	1.06	20.17	3.12	0.74	0.25
B/3/60/B	4.02	1.04	17.61	5.78	0.74	0.03
C/3/60/B	3.50	0.26	22.70	3.33	0.73	0.16
C/3/60*/B	4.05	0.51	26.93	2.80	0.79	0.06
NEAT UPE	3.53	0.43	43.86	1.03	1.41	0.01
NEAT-95/5-A	3.40	0.25	41.87	7.83	1.41	0.32
NEAT-95/5-B	3.08	0.81	37.52	7.91	1.59	0.39

Table 2-2. Experimental results for various processes at sonication energy of 60 kJ

E: Tensile Modulus, UTS: Ultimate Tensile Strength, EF: Elongation at Failure  $\bar{x}$ : Average,  $\sigma$ : Standard Deviation

Process ID	Ε,	GPa	UIS,	, MPa	EF	,%
	x	σ	Ŧ	σ	x	σ
B/3/300/A	5.32	2.08	11.54	3.30	0.44	0.07
B/3/300/B	4.95	1.32	9.94	3.21	0.64	0.22
D/3/300/A	4.10	0.67	24.41	2.10	0.84	0.14
D/3/300/B	3.42	0.14	26.82	5.62	1.14	0.11
E/3/300/A	1.75	0.51	12.51	1.76	1.06	0.33
E/3/300/B	1.16	0.23	9.05	2.89	1.29	0.36

Table 2-3. Experimental results for various processes at sonication energy of 300 kJ.

E: Tensile Modulus, UTS: Ultimate Tensile Strength, EF: Elongation at Failure

 $\overline{x}$ : Average,  $\sigma$ : Standard deviation



Figu



Figure 2-1. Schematic description of various processing techniques.



Figure 2-2. Tensile modulus and strength at sonication energy of 60 kJ.



Figure 2-3. Tensile modulus and strength at sonication energy of 300 kJ.



Figure 2-4. Tensile failure strains at sonication energy of 60 kJ.



Figure 2-5. Tensile failure strains at sonication energy of 300 kJ.



Figure 2-6. processed : process C v



Figure 2-6. TEM micrographs showing clay dispersion and exfoliation for nanocomposites processed at 60 kJ, a) process C with sonication energy applied in 3 steps, c) process C with 60 kJ applied continuously. Encircled regions reveal agglomerated stacks of clay particles.



Figure 2-7. TEM micrographs showing clay dispersion and exfoliation for nanocomposites processed at 300 kJ, a) process B, b) process D, c) High magnification of an intercalated particle from process D nanocomposite.



Figure 2-8. SEM images showing tensile fracture surface morphologies for the nanocomposites from various processes: a) neat UPE, b) process B at 60 kJ, c) process C with sonication energy applied in 3 steps, 60 kJ, d) process C at 60 kJ (continuous), e) process B at 300 kJ, and, f) process D at 300 kJ

110 References

Uyama H, nanocon Mater 2

[1] Mohanty A biocomp

[3] Burgueño R bearing 2004; 35

[14] Nickel J, Rie

[35] Miyagawa H, from ble Polym Sc

[1-6] Haq M, B polyester/ properties

M. Rama D. Me modified e

[28] Pinnavaia TJ, 2001.

<sup>[39]</sup> Liu Z, Erhan S epoxidized

[2:10]. Song B, Chen oil/clay nan

[211] Lu B, Larock I organoclay 292:863-872

[312] Miyagawa H, N thermophys nanocompo [313] Bakar M, Djaic unsaturated

[2:14], Ratna D, Bant! Sci Techno!

- [2-1]. Uyama H, Kuwabara M, Tsujimoto T, Nakano M, Usuki A, Kobayashi S. Green nanocomposites from renewable resources: Plant oil-clay hybrid materials. Chem Mater 2003; 15:2492-2494.
- [2-2]. Mohanty AK, Misra M, Hinrichsen G. Biofibers, Biodegradable polymers and biocomposites: an overview. Macromol Mater Eng 2000; 276/277:1-24.
- [2-3]. Burgueño R, Quagliata MJ, Mohanty AK, Mehta GM, Drzal LT, Misra M. Load bearing natural fiber composite cellular beams and panels. Composites Part A 2004; 35:645-656.
- [2-4]. Nickel J, Riedel U. Activities in biocomposites. Mater Today 2003; 6:44-48.
- [2-5]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Novel bio-based resins from blends of functionalized soyabean oil and unsaturated polyester resin. J Polym Sci, Part B: Polym Phys 2007; 45: 698-704.
- [2-6]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Bio-based unsaturated polyester/layered silicate nanocomposites: characterization and thermo-physical properties. Composites Part A, Communicated.
- [2-7]. Ratna D. Mechanical properties and morphology of epoxidized soyabean oilmodified epoxy resin. Polym Int 2001; 50:179-184.
- [2-8]. Pinnavaia TJ, Beall GW. Polymer-Clay Nanocomposites, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 2001.
- [2-9]. Liu Z, Erhan SZ, Xu J. Preparation, characterization and mechanical properties of epoxidized soybean oil/clay nanocomposites. Polymer 2005; 46:10119-10127.
- [2-10]. Song B, Chen W, Liu Z, Erhan S. Compressive properties of epoxidized soybean oil/clay nanocomposites. Int J Plast 2006; 22:1549-1568.
- [2-11]. Lu B, Larock RC. Bio-Based nanocomposites from corn oil and functionalized organoclay prepared by cationic polymerization. Macromol Mater Eng 2007; 292:863-872.
- [2-12]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Characterization and thermophysical properties of unsaturated polyester-layered silicate nanocomposites. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 2006; 6:464-471.
- [2-13]. Bakar M, Djaider F. Effect of plasticizers content on the mechanical properties of unsaturated polyester resin. J Thermoplast Compos Mater 2007; 20:53-64.
- [2-14]. Ratna D, Banthia AK. Epoxidized soybean oil toughened epoxy adhesive. J Adhes Sci Technol 2000; 14:15-25.

[215] Miyagawa H, properties C Macromol I

[1:16] Miyagawa H, properties o Macromol I

[217] Haq M, Burgu blends of u natural fibe

[218] Pourabas B, Ra solvent / no

[249] Ludueña LN, A nanocompo

[12] Alexandre M, properties a

[21] Morgan AB, Ha solvent blen

[12] Le Baron PC, V overview. A

[223] Burgentzle D, D coatings I. 1 Colloid Inter

(2.24) Hutchinson JM, resin in orga 3763.

[23] Miyagawa H, F processing a

<sup>[236]</sup> Tran NH, Den: RN. Disper Sci 2006; 29

III, Miyagawa H, nanowhiske from bio-bi 7009.

- [2-15]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty A, Misra M, Drzal LT. Thermo-physical and impact properties of epoxy containing epoxidized linseed oil, 1: Anhydride cured epoxy. Macromol Mater Eng 2004; 289:629-635.
- [2-16]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty A, Misra M, Drzal LT. Thermo-physical and impact properties of epoxy containing epoxidized linseed oil, 2: Amine cured epoxy. Macromol Mater Eng 2004; 289:636-641.
- [2-17]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Hybrid bio-based composites from blends of unsaturated polyester and soybean oil reinforced with nanoclay and natural fibers. Compos Sci Technol, Communicated.
- [2-18]. Pourabas B, Raeesi V. Preparation of ABS/montmorillonite nanocomposite using a solvent / non solvent method. Polymer 2005; 46: 5533-5540.
- [2-19]. Ludueña LN, Alvarez VA, Vazques A. Processing and microstructure of PCL/clay nanocomposites. Mater Sci Eng A 2007; 460-461:121-129.
- [2-20]. Alexandre M, Dubois P. Polymer-layered silicate nancomposites: preparation, properties and uses of a new class of materials. Mater Sci Eng R 2000; 28:1-63.
- [2-21]. Morgan AB, Harris JD. Exfoliated polystyrene-clay nanocomposites synthesized by solvent blending with sonication. Polymer 2004; 45:8695-8703.
- [2-22]. Le Baron PC, Wang Z, Pinnavaia, TJ. Polymer layered silicate nanocomposites: an overview. Appl Clay Sci 1999; 15:11-29.
- [2-23]. Burgentzle D, Duchet J, Gerard JF, Jupin A, Fillon B. Solvent based nanocomposite coatings I. Dispersion of organophilic montmorillonite in organic solvents. J Colloid Interface Sci 2004; 278:26-39.
- [2-24]. Hutchinson JM, Montserrat S, Roman F, Cortes P, Campos L. Intercalation of epoxy resin in organically modified montmorrillonite. J Appl Polym Sci 2006; 102:3751-3763.
- [2-25]. Miyagawa H, Rich MJ, Drzal LT. Amine cured epoxy/clay nanocomposites. I processing and chemical characterization. J Polym Sci B 2004; 42:4384-4390.
- [2-26]. Tran NH, Dennis GR, Milev AS, Kannaraga GSK, Williams P, Wilson MA, Lamb RN. Dispersion of organically modified clays with n-alcohols. J Colloid Interface Sci 2006; 297:541-545.
- [2-27]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty A, Drzal LT, Misra M. Effect of clay and aluminananowhisker reinforcements on the mechanical properties of nanocomposites from bio-based epoxy: a comparative study. Ind Eng Chem Res 2004; 43:7001-7009.

- [2-28]. Wang L, Wang K, Chen L, Zhang Y, He C. Preparation, morphology and thermal/mechanical properties of epoxy/clay nanoclay composite. Composites Part A. 2006; 37:1890-1896.
- [2-29]. Haq M, Burgueño R. Modeling and simulation of bio-based polymer/clay nanocomposites through a multi-level FE approach. In:Proceedings of Sixth International conference on Computation of Shell & Spatial Structures. New York, May, 2008. p.1-4.

## Chapter 3. Bio

It Abstract Proper stiffn properties can be obiefned as blends of polymer nanocomposty bean oil) content properties such as ter isorption, toughness morphologies and ch microscopy. The resul statural applications.

# 32 Introduction

Fiber reinforced bring high strength ar box density synthetic/ phrolic resins. Howev rai dependability on r syntad use of synthetic



## Chapter 3. Bio-based Polymer Nanocomposites: I - UPE / EMS<sup>1</sup>

## 3.1 Abstract

Proper stiffness-toughness balance along with enhancement in other thermo-physical properties can be obtained by incorporating layered silicates (nanoclay) in bio-based resins, defined as blends of functionalized vegetable oils and petroleum-based resins. Bio-based polymer nanocomposites with varying clay concentration and varying bio-resin (epoxidized soy bean oil) content in unsaturated polyester resins were manufactured. Thermo-physical properties such as tensile modulus and strength, coefficient of thermal expansion, moisture absorption, toughness, and glass-transition temperatures were studied. Fracture surface morphologies and characterization of nanocomposites were performed using electron microscopy. The resulting bio-blend nanocomposites exhibit promising results for use in structural applications.

#### 3.2 Introduction

Fiber reinforced polymer (FRP) composites are generally made of synthetic fibers having high strength and modulus such as carbon, glass, or aramid and are combined with low density synthetic/petroleum based resins made of unsaturated polyesters, epoxy or phenolic resins. However, environmental concerns such as biodegradability, recycling issues and dependability on non-renewable petroleum reserves are creating concerns on the wide spread use of synthetic FRP composites and propelled the development of alternatives for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Haq, M., Burgueño, R., Mohanty, A.K., and Misra, M., "Bio-based Unsaturated Polyester/Layered Silicate Nanocomposites: Characterization and Thermo-Physical Properties," Composites – Part A. 2009; 40:540-547.

both synthetic fibers and petroleum resins for the development of bio-based composites, or biocomposites [3-1]-[3-4].

Natural fiber composites or biocomposites are comprised of natural fibers (e.g. flax, hemp, jute, cellulose, kenaf, cotton, coir, bamboo etc.) and *petroleum based resirs* (unsaturated polyester, epoxy, poly urethane, phenolics, etc.) or *natural bio-resirs* (epoxidized vegetable oils, polyoles, maleinated triglycerides, animal fats, etc.) [3-4]-[3-6]. The use of all-natural bio-resins has been limited due to performance based concerns such as low mechanical and thermo-physical properties [3-7]-[3-9]. Bio-based resins obtained from partial replacement of non-renewable synthetic resins (in this case, petroleum based unsaturated polyester, UPE) with renewable resins, or bio-resins, such as functionalized vegetable oils (in this case, epoxidized methyl soyate, EMS) have been shown to improve the toughness of resulting resin system [3-1][3-7][3-8]. This increase in toughness is generally achieved by sacrificing stiffness [3-10], barrier and thermal properties of the resulting resin systems. However, these concerns caused by blending of EMS, can be overcome by introduction of layered silicates (nanoclay). Moreover, stiffness and toughness are opposing performance parameters and a proper balance is required to develop an efficient bio-based resin system.

Polymers reinforced with layered silicates or nanoclays have been shown to exhibit enhancements in modulus, thermal and barrier properties at low concentrations. Layered silicates or nanoclays consist of stacks of sheet like platelets with thickness of  $\sim 1$  nm and extremely large surface areas and aspect ratios. The platelets in the stacks are separated as the polymer/resin penetrates into these platelets. Depending on the degree of penetration of the polymer, intercalated and exfoliated clay morphologies are obtained. The intercalated morphologies allow penetration of the polymer in between clay platelets to an extent that the stacks/galleries of clay platelets expand but do not separate. The polymer penetration is observed by an increase in d-spacing (clay platelet interlayer spacing). Exfoliated clay morphology is obtained when the individual platelets in the stack are completely separated. Clays are generally treated or functionalized to be compatible with the host polymer. Depending on the functionalization and processing technique, different clay morphologies are obtained. The efficiency of the resulting polymer-clay resin system depends on the clay morphology. The enhancement of mechanical and barrier properties in polymers with addition of small concentrations of nanoclays is well established in literature. Le Baron et al. [3-11] provide a good review on polymer clay hybrid nanocomposites. Apart from the increase in stiffness, the inclusion of nanoclay particles introduces multifunctionality to the resulting nanocomposite resin system by enhancement in barrier properties, flammability and ablation resistance.

Among thermoset resins, petroleum-based unsaturated polyesters (UPE) are commonly used due to their low cost, ease of handling, and good balance of mechanical, electrical, chemical properties and fire resistance properties [3-7][3-12][3-13]. However, UPE resins are inherently brittle in nature. Research has shown the increase in modulus both below and above glass transition temperature of UPE resins reinforced with nanoclays. Nair et al. [3-10] show that the increase in stiffness is generally obtained by compromising toughness. They also report that the toughness of layered silicate composites is dependent on the morphology and concentration of clay content. At low concentrations, proper dispersion and exfoliation improves the toughness whereas at higher clay concentrations, mixtures of exfoliated and intercalated morphologies perform better [3-10].

The substitution of non-renewable synthetic resins (in this case petroleum-based UPE) with renewable resins such as functionalized vegetable oils (in this case EMS) has been proposed and studied [3-7][3-9][3-13]. Soybean oil is available abundantly across the United

irs, and varieti intionalized ve intever, more min to agricult The incre it stiffness of wighness but co bre a better stil misture absorpt with the enhance embination of n mittinctional acomporating the The impac The nanoclay ( a menno-physi Coste 30B<sup>2</sup> n thereby showing Tudy uses Cloisr and bio-resi Eperimental ev Experature (T) isorption prope States, and varieties of epoxidized soybean oils are already commercially available [3-9]. Such functionalized vegetable oils (FVO) have been found for coatings and plasticizer additives. However, more value-added applications of such epoxidized vegetable oils will give much return to agriculture, thereby reducing the burden of petroleum-based products [3-9].

The increase in stiffness due to the addition of nanoclay inclusions will thus increase the stiffness of the resin system and decrease toughness. Addition of EMS enhances toughness but compromises stiffness. It follows that the result of blended resin system could have a better stiffness-toughness balance than the original UPE. Similarly, the increase in moisture absorption in the bio-based resin due to addition of EMS can be circumvented with the enhanced barrier properties obtained from nanoclay reinforcement. Hence, the combination of nanoclay platelets with blends of EMS and UPE resins would result in novel multifunctional composites with superior properties to that of virgin resin systems incorporating the beneficial properties of both clay reinforcement and EMS blends.

The impact properties and dynamic mechanical analysis of EMS-UPE blend with 2.5 wt.% nanoclay (Nanomer<sup>®</sup> I.44PA) has been reported by our group [3-9]. Moreover, study on thermo-physical properties of UPE reinforced with various organo-clays had shown that Cloisite 30B<sup>®</sup> nanoclays produced higher degree of exfoliation than Nanomer<sup>®</sup> I.44PA, thereby showing better improvements in the thermo-physical properties [3-12]. Hence, this study uses Cloisite 30B<sup>®</sup> and reports on further efforts to evaluate the effect of varying the clay and bio-resin contents and expanding the set of measured thermo-physical properties. Experimental evaluation of tensile properties, toughness, storage modulus, glass transition temperature ( $T_g$ ), linear coefficient of thermal expansion above and below  $T_g$  and moisture absorption properties were studied. The degree of dispersion and exfoliation of nanoclay in

te resins systems was sinais were characteri 33 Experimental. Experimental diracterization were intisions. In the follo mitesting details are p 33.1 Materials The main cor usaurated polyester re 335 w1% styrene. A b hr. PA) replaced up to Southern Clay Product manoclay) was process <sup>2buranone</sup> peroxide (9 tin system to the pro ve 100 parts by weigh Samples were cured at 32 Experimental The amount of ntin component UPE nsia (no clay) systems unclay inclusions v

the resins systems was characterized using transmission electron microscopy. The fracture surfaces were characterized using scanning electron microscopy.

## 3.3 Experimental Methods

Experimental determination of thermo-physical properties and material characterization were performed on bio-based resin blends reinforced with nanoclay inclusions. In the following sections, details on materials, processing, parameters studied, and testing details are provided.

#### 3.3.1 Materials

The main component of the engineered bio-based resin system was ortho unsaturated polyester resin (UPE, Polylite<sup>®</sup> 32570-00, Reichhold Inc., NC), which contains 33.5 wt.% styrene. A bio-resin, epoxidized methyl soyate (EMS, Vikoflex<sup>®</sup> 7010, Arkema Inc, PA) replaced up to 20 wt.% of UPE. The nanoclay used in this work was Cloisite 30B<sup>®</sup> (Southern Clay Products, Inc. TX). The bio-based resin system (blend of UPE, EMS and organoclay) was processed with cobalt naphthenate (Sigma Aldrich, MO) as a promoter and 2-butanone peroxide (Sigma Aldrich) as an initiator. The constant ratio by weight of the resin system to the promoter and initiator was utilized to cure all samples. The mixing ratio was 100 parts by weight of the resin system to 0.03 part promoter and 1.50 part initiator. Samples were cured at 100°C for 2 hours, followed by 160°C for 2 hours.

### 3.3.2 Experimental Matrix and Nomenclature

The amount of bio-resin (epoxidized methyl soyate, EMS) that replaced the primary resin component UPE, was varied from 0% to 20%, in increments of 5%. A total of 5 neat resin (no clay) systems were obtained. Each of these resin systems were then reinforced with nanoclay inclusions varying from 0 wt.% to 1.5 wt.% in increments of 0.5 wt.%. For much reinforced re possible, as higher arm ner sistems were obt ir and ENS content sized to describe the T'represents the an rest fraction of nat D7m Table 1 is refe n's reinforced with Y m Table 3-1 indi 333 Polymer Na The bio-base UPE. For nanoclay 0175% and 10% F <sup>100/0/0</sup>,95/5/0 a <sup>12</sup> W. % and 1.5 METER were proc mocomposites. F 10 20%. The proce periously reported The nanoclay was of acetone to 1 ki tout of energy nanoclay reinforced resin systems, substitution of only 5% and 10% EMS in UPE was possible, as higher amounts caused processing problems. A total of 9 nanoclay reinforced resin systems were obtained. A summary of the experimental matrix describing the varying clay and EMS contents is provided in Table 3-1. In this report, the following nomenclature is used to describe the resin system: "A/B/C", where "A" refers to the amount of UPE and "B" represents the amount of EMS as percentage of the resin system, and "C" refers to the weight fraction of nanoclay inclusions in the polymer resin system. For example, Specimen ID 7 in Table 1 is referred as 95/5/0.5, indicating it has 95 parts of UPE and 5 parts of EMS and is reinforced with 0.5 wt.% of nanoclay platelets. The specimen identifications labeled "X" in Table 3-1 indicate processing problems and are described in the following section.

#### 3.3.3 Polymer Nanocomposite Processing

The bio-based resin system (UPE +EMS) had varying amounts of EMS that replaced UPE. For nanoclay reinforced resin systems, due to processing problems, substitution of only 5% and 10% EMS in UPE was possible resulting in three main polymer resin systems (100/0/0, 95/5/0 and 90/10/0). For every resin system, clay contents of 0 wt.%, 0.5wt. %, 1.0 wt. % and 1.5 wt.% were processed. A total of 9 sets of nanoclay reinforced resin systems were processed and thermo-physical properties were studied for the resulting nanocomposites. For neat resin systems (no clay), the amount of EMS was varied from 0% to 20%. The processing technique for nanoclay reinforced resin systems is similar to that previously reported by our group [3-9][3-12] and is described schematically in Figure 3-1. The nanoclay was sonicated in acetone using a solution concentration of more than 50 liters of acetone to 1 kilogram of clay, while it was constantly stirred by a magnetic stirrer. The amount of energy spent on sonication was maintained to be around 30 kJ for all resin

sistems. After son mad with a ma mining aceton hurs. At higher o ie resin seemed pizze separation actone removal aments of up to process, the styre bs symme was omen in the UP to resin reduces the prematur symme content. tion the over nd addition of t After proper mix tours followed by mided in Figure The comb ve the maximum abrementioned p process was also c ne overcome by a systems. After sonication, the UPE and EMS were added to the acetone-clay solution and mixed with a magnetic stirrer on a hot plate to remove a majority of the acetone. The remaining acetone was removed by vacuum extraction at approximately 55°C for 12-24 hours. At higher concentrations of both EMS and clay, two problems were encountered: (1) the resin seemed to cross-link (harden / gel) during the acetone removal process, and (2) phase separation between EMS and UPE was observed leading to problems during the acetone removal vacuum extraction process. These problems were not observed at clay contents of up to 1.5 wt.% and EMS blends of up to 10%. During the acetone removal process, the styrene present in UPE was also removed along with the acetone. Hence the lost styrene was added after the acetone removal process was completed. The styrene content in the UPE used in this study was 33.5 wt.%. Replacement of part of the UPE with bio-resin reduces the overall styrene content of the resulting resin system. It was suspected that the premature curing of resin blends during acetone removal was due to the reduction in styrene content. Hence, for bio-based resin systems, additional styrene was added to maintain the overall styrene content at 33.5 wt.% for the resin system. After acetone removal and addition of the lost styrene, the promoter and initiator were blended in the solution. After proper mixing of all components, the nanocomposites were cured at 100 °C for 2 hours followed by 160 °C for 2 hours. A flow chart explaining the processing technique is provided in Figure 3-1.

The combination of 10% EMS and 1.5 wt.% clay in UPE (resin system 90/10/1.5) was the maximum that could be achieved with the current processing technique. The aforementioned phase separation issue of EMS and UPE during acetone vacuum extraction process was also observed for this (90/10/1.5) resin system. The phase separation problem was overcome by adding EMS resin after the acetone removal process was completed. It will

's shown in later te atual proce mifunon in t tottetts. Althouş sope of this co zihriques on th ierhcoming in a 33.4 Testing 8 Tensile tes was measured us notulus and P resurements, wh The obtained from ze of resin syste demnined with a z in oscillation fre spectively. DMA d 22 mm x 15 mm oi 2'Umin. The gli te loss factor was performed only on k nation: 1, 3, 5, 12 above and below th be shown in later sections that this modification provides better barrier properties relative to the actual process, but has little or no influence on other parameters studied. This modification in the processing technique enables incorporation of higher clay and EMS contents. Although a detailed discussion on the effect of processing techniques is beyond the scope of this communication, a study that evaluated the effect of various processing techniques on thermo-physical properties of bio-based polymer nanocomposites will be forthcoming in a future communication.

#### 3.3.4 Testing & Characterization

Tensile tests were performed according to the ASTM D638 standard. Poisson's ratio was measured using a biaxial extensiometer. The rate of loading was 5 mm/min. Tensile modulus and Poisson's ratio measurements were made from the extensometer measurements, whereas the ultimate tensile strength and elongation at break measurements were obtained from the machine grip movement. Six tensile specimens were tested for each case of resin system in the study (see Table 3-1). Dynamic mechanical properties were determined with a TA Instruments DMA Q800 operating in the three-point bending mode at an oscillation frequency of 1.0 Hz. The amplitude and static force were 75 µm and 1.0 N, respectively. DMA specimens were in the form of rectangular bars with nominal dimensions of 2.2 mm x 15 mm x 50 mm. Data was collected from ambient to 150 °C at a scanning rate of 2°C/min. The glass transition temperature,  $T_g$  was determined as the temperature where the loss factor was maximum. Two specimens were tested per case studied. Tests were performed only on key specimens in the experimental matrix, namely specimen identification numbers: 1, 3, 5, 12 and 14 (see Table 3-1). The linear coefficient of thermal expansions above and below the glass transition temperature was obtained by thermo-mechanical raiss using a TA imperature to 14 irrughout the te continent of therm only on key specim 1.3, 5, 12 and 14 serples in an envir in wight of the sa n menvironment of approximate di mocomposite. T Eminate edge effe for first 4 days, fol res confirmed (~ a steady state. mencally integr 1555. The dispers TERMINISSION elect ung a diamond ! tick A JEOL 10 bright field in ELCOmposites minoscope (SEN im prior to SEN analysis using a TA instruments TMA 2940 apparatus. The samples were heated from room temperature to 140 °C at a rate of 3°C/min. Strain and temperature was measured throughout the test. The linear slope of strain-temperature curve is reported as the coefficient of thermal expansion. Two specimens were tested per case. Tests were performed only on key specimens in the experimental matrix, namely specimen identification numbers: 1, 3, 5, 12 and 14 (see Table 3-1). Moisture absorption testing was performed by storing samples in an environmental chamber at 30°C and 90% humidity and measuring the increase in weight of the samples. Moisture absorption testing was performed by storing the samples in an environmental chamber at 30 °C and 90% relative humidity. Two rectangular samples of approximate dimensions: 63.5 mm x 12.7 mm x 3.2 mm were used for each bio-based nanocomposite. The edges of samples were coated with a two-part impervious epoxy to eliminate edge effects. The weight increase of the samples was measured for every 24 hours for first 4 days, followed by once every week until steady state (no further increase in weight) was confirmed (~50 days). Moisture absorption was evaluated as the percent weight gained at steady state. The energy absorbed per unit volume (toughness) was obtained by numerically integrating the experimental stress-strain curves obtained from direct tensile tests. The dispersion and morphology of clay inclusions in resin systems was observed with transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Ultramicrotomy at room temperature was carried using a diamond knife with an included angle of 4° to produce sections approximately 70nm thick. A JEOL 100CX TEM with LaB, filament with 120kV acceleration was used to obtain bright field images. The failure surfaces from direct tensile testing of polymer nanocomposites were observed with a JEOL 6400 field emission scanning electron microscope (SEM) at 10 kV acceleration voltage. Specimens were coated with a thin gold film prior to SEM observations.

34 Results

j.4.1 Tensile T

Tensile m

trontents are

in thy) are prov

ansidered as the

amosites in this

rad suggests th

rixtion in avera

2% EMS blends

nerease the average

ansidering only t

asiting composit

The failu

mocomposites a

stems and ultimat

<sup>34.</sup> Considering o

contents, the tens

inter note, the

stengths and failur

Valation. This var

<sup>cliect</sup> of residual a

i statistical analys

#### 3.4 Results

#### 3.4.1 Tensile Tests & Properties

Tensile modulus results for unmodified and bio-based resin systems with varying clay contents are provided in Figure 3-2. Tensile Modulus and Poisson's ratio of neat resins (no clay) are provided in Figure 3-3. The virgin UPE composite (0% EMS, 0% nanoclay) is considered as the baseline composite and will be used to compare the performance of other composites in this study. Considering only the average values of tensile modulus, the overall trend suggests that the tensile modulus decreased with addition of bio-resin (EMS). The reduction in average tensile modulus values was approximately 25% and 40%, for 10% and 20% EMS blends, respectively. Similarly, the addition of nanoclay (1.5 wt.%) seems to increase the average tensile modulus by approximately 15%, relative to neat UPE. Similarly, considering only the average values, the overall trend suggests increase in Poisson's ratio of resulting composites with increasing EMS content (Figure 3-3).

The failure strains and ultimate tensile strengths of nanoclay reinforced nanocomposites are provided in Figure 3-4 and Figure 3-5, respectively. Also, the failure strains and ultimate tensile strengths of neat (no clay) resin systems are provided in Figure 3-6. Considering only the average values, the overall trend suggests that with increasing EMS contents, the tensile failure strains increased while the tensile strengths decreased. On a similar note, the nanoclay addition revealed increase in stiffness and reduction in tensile strengths and failure strains. The results of tensile strengths and failure strains showed a large variation. This variation may be due to many factors including processing issues, such as effect of residual acetone, EMS-UPE phase interactions, clay-matrix interaction, etc. Ideally, a statistical analysis considering these variations should be performed to ascertain

carriatively t considered bey arnot be conconstituents Of siffness due to (vighness) due 342 Dynam The stor rsin systems (n. mvided in Figr storage modulus recovered b The increasing I for the 90/10/1. te contrary was \$ 90/0/1.5 res see section on na 343 Thermal The linear <sup>nsin</sup> systems (nar moded in Figur name and the coeff quantitatively the effects of EMS and nanoclay on resulting parameters. Such a study was considered beyond the scope of this work, and hence precise effects of EMS and nanoclay cannot be concluded. Only an overall trend and approximate range of the effects of the constituents on resulting properties is provided. Overall, it seems that the increase in stiffness due to the addition of nanoclay inclusions was balanced by the increase in ductility (toughness) due to the addition of the EMS bio-resin.

#### 3.4.2 Dynamic Mechanical Analysis

The storage modulus and glass transition temperatures ( $T_g$ ) of key resin bio-based resin systems (namely specimen identification numbers: 1, 3, 5, 12 and 14, see Table 3-1) are provided in Figure 3-7. Similar to the tensile modulus, the average values suggests that the storage modulus of the resin systems decreased with increasing bio-content and this decrease was recovered by nanoclay inclusions. The glass transition temperatures seem to increase with increasing EMS and clay content. It was expected that the glass transition temperature for the 90/10/1.5 resin system to be higher than its neat resin counterpart 100/0/1.5, but the contrary was found. This is attributed to the modification in the processing technique of the 90/0/1.5 resin system, wherein the bio-resin was added after the acetone was removed (see section on nanocomposite processing).

#### 3.4.3 Thermal Mechanical Analysis

The linear coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) above and below  $T_g$  for the key resin systems (namely specimen identification numbers: 1, 3, 5, 12 and 14, see Table 3-1) is provided in Figure 3-8. The overall trend suggests that the addition of bio-resin (EMS) increased the coefficient of linear thermal expansion. Considering only the average values, it

sens that the value reproximate increas rsins. The addition we observed that th ian neat UPE, ner maive to the neat vientin the 20% E strem, the values o relizes of CTE with CTE value below T 15 w1% nanoclay signly higher than represented by an addition of nanoc monovements in th st thermal properti 34.4 Moisture A The moistu  $^{\circ}$  days and is she absorptic hours) in an envir o was of the mass of
seems that the values of CTE below  $T_g$  increased with increasing EMS content, with an approximate increase of around 20% for 10% EMS blends (no clay) relative to neat UPE resins. The addition of nanoclay seems to recover the lost CTE due to addition of EMS. It was observed that the 90/10/1.5 resin system had an average CTE value around 10% higher than neat UPE, nevertheless an approximate reduction in average value of around 10%, relative to the neat (no clay) 10% EMS resin system. Unlike the values of CTE below  $T_g$ wherein the 20% EMS resin system had average CTE values lower than the 10% EMS resin system, the values of CTE above  $T_g$  showed a more consistent trend of increase in average values of CTE with increasing EMS content. The addition of 20% EMS revealed that the CTE value below  $T_g$  was higher on average by around 5 %, relative to virgin UPE. By adding 1.5 wt.% nanoclay to the 10% EMS resin system, the average value of CTE below  $T_g$  was slightly higher than the virgin UPE composite. In both cases, the thermal properties lost (represented by an increasing CTE) due to addition of EMS were partially recovered by addition of nanoclay. At the same time, increasing the amount of clay content and improvements in the processing technique would enable larger recoveries and enhancement of thermal properties of the resulting composite.

#### 3.4.4 Moisture Absorption Tests

The moisture absorbed by the polymer resin systems was measured over a period of 50 days and is shown as a plot of percent weight absorbed versus time in Figure 3-9. The moisture absorption of all nanocomposites stabilized after approximately 35 days (800 hours) in an environmental chamber. The representative moisture absorption value for a resin system was obtained after the steady state was achieved. It was observed that moisture

- horpion increase
- re marrix bio resu
- no ENS blends),
- Ension barrier p
- Asimilar trend was
- increasing moist
- de 10 the addition
- reinique. As disc
- than other resin sy
- processing techniq
- to chy), the incr
- men relative to 1
- showed a decrease
- ssem. Thus the
- movered by nano
- tens to indicate b
- 345 Energy Al
  - The relativ
- mens used in th
- tensile tests. The
- abulated and is I
- rations of energy at
- Intrasing EMS co

absorption increased with increasing EMS content. The moisture absorption results for the test matrix bio resin systems in this study are provided inFigure 3-10. For UPE resin systems (no EMS blends), it was observed that an increase in clay content enhanced the moisture diffusion barrier properties, i.e. moisture absorption decreased with increasing clay content. A similar trend was not observed for EMS blend resin system. The effect of the EMS blend in increasing moisture absorption seems to overpower the enhancement of barrier properties due to the addition of clay. However this effect was observed to be dependent on processing technique. As discussed earlier, the 90/10/1.5 had a processing technique slightly different than other resin systems, in which the EMS bio-resin was added after acetone removal. This processing technique seems to give better moisture barrier properties. For neat resin systems (no clay), the increase in average moisture absorption values for a 10% EMS blend resin system relative to neat UPE was around 5%. The addition of 1.5 wt.% clay to the 10% EMS showed a decrease of around 5% in average moisture absorption, relative to the neat UPE system. Thus the loss in barrier properties due to addition of EMS content seems to be recovered by nanoclay inclusions. In this case, the 10% EMS resin system with 1.5 wt.% clay seems to indicate better barrier properties than the virgin UPE composite.

#### 3.4.5 Energy Absorbed per Unit Volume (Toughness)

The relative comparison of the toughness of various bio-blend nanocomposite resin systems used in this study was performed by integrating the stress-strain curves from direct tensile tests. The amount of energy absorbed per unit volume of the nanocomposite was calculated and is provided in Figure 3-11. The overall trend considering only the average values of energy absorbed suggests that that the toughness of the composites increased with increasing EMS content and decreased with increasing clay content. Research has shown that

the addition of 1

ipendent on th

monated clay m

zrally exfoliate

A large v

erier, detailed

precisely obtain t

considered and h

obtained. As the

cerry absorbed

considering only

absorbed (toughn

ikid The decre

butteness by add

the EMS bio-resi

mens, for the s

ad approximatel

METTS (no EMS

34.6 Transmis

Figure 3.

anocomposites.

The it was o

 $\frac{1}{2}$ 

the addition of nanoclay inclusions can enhance the toughness of the composite, but is dependent on the morphology of the clay platelets [3-10]. At low concentrations, the wellexfoliated clay morphology produces better toughness properties and at higher clay contents partially exfoliated and intercalated morphologies perform better in toughness [3-10].

A large variation was observed in the amount of energy absorbed. As mentioned earlier, detailed statistical analyses considering the variations should be performed to precisely obtain the effects of EMS and nanoclay. In this work, only the average values are considered and hence a qualitative effect and overall trends based on average values could be obtained. As the amount of energy absorbed was obtained from tensile tests, the variation in energy absorbed is due to the large variations in the tensile failure strains. Nevertheless, considering only the average values of energy absorbed the average values of energy absorbed (toughness) seems to be improved by around 40% for neat resins with a 10% EMS blend. The decrease in average energy absorbed values (toughness) due to the increase of brittleness by addition of nanoclay inclusions seems to be partially recovered by addition of the EMS bio-resin. The comparison of resin systems with 10% EMS and virgin UPE resin systems, for the same amount of clay revealed that, on average, the 10% EMS resin systems had approximately 75% better energy absorption than similar nanoclay reinforced UPE resin systems (no EMS).

### 3.4.6 Transmission Electron Microscopy

Figure 3-12 (a and b) shows the bright field TEM micrographs of clay/UPE nanocomposites. Figure 3-12 (a) shows a general view of clay platelets distributed in UPE matrix. It was observed that the clay platelets were partially exfoliated and partially intercalated and were well distributed in the resin matrix. Similar micrographs were observed

for EVB blends as th Fere 3-12 (b) show mphology of the iement. In order smiration process ( afciation of the cl 10 breaking of the saposite properti procedure should termo-physical pr automes will be p 347 Fractogram Figure 3-1 surfaces of neat missions, respect 10 fracture prope striace is attribut manocomposites | The SEM mi Fgut 3-13 (a)) "" chy inchus stads and incr they leads to for EMS blends as the same amount of energy was spent on all resin systems in processing. Figure 3-12 (b) shows a high magnification micrograph focusing on the stacked intercalated morphology of the clay particle. Three to four particles were observed in each intercalated element. In order to obtain better exfoliation, additional energy must be spent in the sonication process of clay. It is expected that higher sonication energies will provide better exfoliation of the clay platelets, at the same time; excessive sonication energy/time may lead to breaking of the clay platelets, thus reducing the aspect ratios and leading to inferior composite properties. Processing techniques with varying sonication energies and mixing procedure should be studied to better understand the resulting morphology and their thermo-physical properties of composites. Such a study is in progress by the authors and outcomes will be provided in future communications.

### 3.4.7 Fractographic Observations (Scanning Electron Microscopy)

Figure 3-13(a) and Figure 3-13 (b) show the SEM micrographs of tensile fracture surfaces of neat UPE composite and 10% EMS blend composite with 1.5wt.% clay inclusions, respectively. The roughness of the fracture surface has generally been associated to fracture properties and critical strain energy release rates. A smooth featureless fracture surface is attributed to brittle failures, and rougher fracture surfaces are attributed to tougher nanocomposites [3-14].

The SEM micrograph for neat UPE was found to be relatively smooth and featureless (Figure 3-13 (a)). Figure 3-13 (b) shows the SEM micrograph for 10% EMS blend with 1.5 wt.% clay inclusion. The roughness of the fracture surfaces increased with increasing EMS blends and increasing clay content. This suggests that the combination of EMS blend and clay leads to tougher composites. Research has shown that the change in fracture

miphology suggests A by concentratio mperies and at his periorn better in tou 10 toughness of the statural parameters the fracture and toug 35 Discussion The results composites show ; momer nanocomp mins) in UPE res orginal virgin T saties/variations abre-dependent surighs. Detail <sup>performed</sup> to qui Znoclay. In this and overall trend (w-resin) seem the addition of Men, ie., a n wetness bala morphology suggests different toughening mechanism at low and high clay loading [3-10]. At low concentrations, the well-exfoliated clay morphology produces better toughness properties and at higher clay contents partially exfoliated and intercalated morphologies perform better in toughness [3-10]. It is difficult to quantitatively relate the fracture surface to toughness of the composites [3-14] as this requires better understanding of microstructural parameters, such as crack propagation mechanisms and interface studies to relate the fracture and toughness to the surface morphologies.

## 3.5 Discussion

The results of the thermo-physical characterization of bio-blend layered silicate composites show a wide variety of multifunctional properties of the resulting bio-based polymer nanocomposites. It was observed that the combination of nanoclays and EMS (bioresins) in UPE resin systems lead to composites with similar or better properties than the original virgin UPE resin system. As expected, the experimental data revealed scatter/variations in measured parameters. These variations were specifically larger for failure-dependent parameters, such as tensile failure strains, tensile strengths and impact strengths. Detailed statistical analyses taking into account these variations should be performed to quantitatively and precisely obtain the effects of constituents, namely EMS and nanoclay. In this work, only the average values were considered and hence a qualitative effect and overall trends based on average values could be obtained. Overall, the addition of EMS (bio-resin) seems to increase toughness but reduces stiffness of the resin systems. Similarly, the addition of nanoclay seems to increase the stiffness along with brittleness of the resin system, i.e., a reduction in toughness and ductility. The study shows that a proper stiffnesstoughness balance can be obtained by controlling the amount of bio-resin and nanoclay

puents. Moreov mperies, like imp Direct tens mmd 25% and 4 ine, the average 15 wt% nano-cla ni nano-chy inc 10% lower than th due to addition of menmental mat communits and bett %/10/15 resin s 3% reduction in wen with no cla The redu movement in te <sup>of energy</sup> absorb decreased with ad <sup>na found</sup> to have NE UPE. The 10 <sup>3%</sup> better tough PE resin system DE resin syster contents. Moreover, the resulting nanocomposites show value added multifunctional properties, like improvements in barrier and thermal properties.

Direct tensile tests revealed a decrease of in the average values of tensile modulus by around 25% and 40% with blends of 10% and 20% EMS in neat UPE (no clay). At the same time, the average tensile modulus values increased by approximately 15% with addition of 1.5 wt.% nano-clay inclusions. The resin system that had the largest amount of EMS (10%) and nano-clay inclusion (1.5 wt.%) was found to have an average tensile modulus around 10% lower than the virgin UPE (no nanoclay, no EMS). Although, the average stiffness lost due to addition of EMS was not completely recovered by addition of nanoclay in this experimental matrix, the authors have confidence that this is possible with higher clay contents and better processing. Nevertheless, the lower average tensile modulus value for 90/10/1.5 resin system is not surprising, since it is an improvement from the approximate 30% reduction in average tensile modulus value observed for the 10% EMS neat resin system with no clay.

The reduction in stiffness due to addition of EMS was accompanied by an improvement in toughness of the resulting bio-based resin. Overall trend of averafge values of energy absorbed suggests that toughness increased with increasing EMS content and decreased with addition of nanoclay. The neat (no clay) 10% EMS bio-based resin system was found to have around 40% higher toughness (average energy absorbed value) relative to neat UPE. The 10% EMS bio-blend systems with varying clay contents had approximately 75% better toughness (average energy absorbed value) relative to similar nanoclay reinforced UPE resin systems. It was observed that the incorporation of EMS and nanoclay in to the UPE resin systems provided improved stiffness-toughness balance. At the same time,

measing technique the incorporation The thermal miar to the tensile CTE and moisture : absorption of the s etens of EMS b minanisms (tortu properties with the CTE and a decreas 2% with addition merage CTE belo this case, the ther EMS were partia thy content and chancement of properties which complete recove <sup>Exteased</sup> the av nsm system 1 ncisture absor intrase in mo ranoclay plate processing techniques and the functionalization of clays and resins need to be improved to enable incorporation of higher amounts of EMS and clay contents.

The thermal and barrier properties of the resin systems in the study showed trends similar to the tensile modulus values obtained from tensile tests. The overall trend of average CTE and moisture absorption values suggests that addition of EMS increased the moisture absorption of the resulting bio-based resin. Additionally, results indicate that the adverse effects of EMS blends on moisture absorption can be recovered through the barrier mechanisms (tortuous path) provided by the nanoclay particles. A reduction in thermal properties with the addition of EMS in bio-based resins was characterized by an increase in CIE and a decrease in  $T_g$ . The average CIE below  $T_g$  value was found to increase by around 20% with addition of 10% EMS, relative to neat UPE. By adding 1.5 wt.% nanoclay, the average CTE below  $T_g$  value was approximatley 10% higher than that of the virgin UPE. In this case, the thermal properties lost (represented by an increase in CTE) due to addition of EMS were partially recovered by addition of nanoclay. As before, increasing the amount of clay content and improvement of the processing methods would enable recovery and enhancement of thermal properties of resulting composite. Unlike the case of thermal properties which were only partially recovered, average moisture barrier properties suggest complete recovery at 1.5 wt.% nanoclay content. The addition of 10% EMS to neat UPE increased the average moisture absorption value by approximately 5% relative to virgin UPE resin system. The 10% EMS blend with 1.5 wt.% clay had around 5% lower average moisture absorption value relative to the virgin UPE resin system. Thus, it seems that the increase in moisture absorption due to addition of EMS was compensated by addition of nanoclay platelets.

Tensile fracture su ministrements were exial the most smooth a smiar scaled images associated the roughnee erry rates. This is su larger strain energy reco surface is indicative of of both EMS and man provide a tougher matter of UPE/EMS clay man some material propert intovered by the syner

3.6 Conclusions

The development polymers has many a supposed toughness duraterization of na binds, or bio-based was observed that suffiess/modulus of ENS was partially r sufforced UPE/EN Tensile fracture surfaces of the bio-based resin systems with and without nanoclay reinforcements were evaluated through a scanning electron microscope. Neat virgin UPE had the most smooth and featureless fracture surface. It was observed that the roughness of similar scaled images increased with increasing EMS and clay content. Research has associated the roughness of the fracture surface with fracture properties and critical strain energy rates. This is supported by the concept that the larger the fracture surface area, the larger strain energy required for the cracks to propagate [3-14]. Hence, a rougher fracture surface is indicative of a tougher material. The increase in surface roughness due to addition of both EMS and nanoclay suggests that the combination of EMS and clay composites provide a tougher material. Overall, the results of thermo-physical property characterization of UPE/EMS clay nanocomposites show multifunctional behavior wherein the decrease in some material properties due to the addition of EMS or clay was completely or partially recovered by the synergistic effect of the hybrid material system.

## 3.6 Conclusions

The development of bio-based resin systems from the blends of synthetic and natural polymers has many benefits including environmental friendliness, cost effectiveness and improved toughness of the resulting composites. Thermo-physical properties and characterization of nanoclay reinforced bio-based composites was performed on UPE/EMS blends, or bio-based resins, with varying contents of EMS and nanoclay reinforcements. It was observed that the addition of EMS increased the toughness and decreased the stiffness/modulus of the resulting composites. The decrease in modulus due to addition of EMS was partially recovered through nanoclay reinforcement. As a result, the nanoclay reinforced UPE/EMS composites showed improved stiffness-toughness balance. Similarly,

tenducion in therm. ni nanochy reinford EVS/UPE blends pr intar properties than At the same time, more iz higher amounts of maximize the multifun. 3.7 Acknowledge The presented Foundation under Gra ations are also than Ashland Specialty Ch indings and conclusio necessarily reflect the the reduction in thermal and barrier properties due to the addition of EMS were recovered with nanoclay reinforcement. Thus, the synergistic combination of nanoclay reinforced EMS/UPE blends produces hybrid multifunctional nanocomposites with enhanced or similar properties than the virgin resin and holds great promise for use in wide applications. At the same time, more work needs to be done in improving the processing techniques such that higher amounts of bio-resin content and nanoclay reinforcement can be incorporated to maximize the multifunctionality these bio-based hybrid nanocomposites can offer.

# 3.7 Acknowledgements

The presented material is based upon work supported by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. CMS-0409666, which the authors gratefully acknowledge. The authors are also thankful to Kemlite Inc., Joliet, IL, Arkema Inc., Philadelphia, PA and Ashland Specialty Chemical Co., Columbus OH, for supplying samples. Any opinions, findings and conclusions expressed in this material are those of the authors alone and do not necessarily reflect the views of the National Science Foundation.

38 Tables and Fis

Table 3-1. Experiment

Clay Content (wL%)	
0.0	
0.5	
10	
1.5	

Nomenclatur it has 95 parts of nanoclay. X current proces

## 3.8 Tables and Figures

Clay Content (wt.%)	Amount of EMS substituting UPE in UPE-EMS blend. (as % of UPE)				
	0%	5%	10%	15%	20%
0.0	1	2	3	4	5
0.5	6	7	8	X	X
1.0	9	10	11	X	X
1.5	12	13	14	X	X

Table 3-1. Experimental matrix showing specimen identification numbers and variation in clay and EMS contents

Nomenclature Example: Specimen ID 7 is referred as 95/5/0.5, indicating it has 95 parts of UPE and 5 parts of EMS and is reinforced with 0.5 wt.% of nanoclay. X – indicates resin systems that could not be achieved with current processing technique



PRE Cool, f first a

Figure 3-1



Figure 3-2. E



Figure 3-1. Processing technique of nanoclay reinforced EMS-UPE blends



Figure 3-2. Experimental tensile modulus of bio-blend resin systems with varying clay contents



Figure 3-3. Exper



0.00

Figure 3-4



Figure 3-3. Experimental tensile modulus and Poisson's ratio of neat resin (no clay) systems



Figure 3-4. Tensile strains at failure of bio-blend resin systems with varying clay contents



Figure 3-5. Ultim



Figure 3-6



Figure 3-5. Ultimate tensile strengths of bio-blend resin systems with varying clay contents



Figure 3-6. Ultimate tensile strengths and failure strains of neat resin (no clay) systems



Figure 3.-



Figure (



Figure 3-7. Storage Modulus and Glass Transition Temperature of Bio-blend Nanocomposites



Figure 3-8. Linear coefficient of thermal expansion above and below  $T_{g}$ 



Figure 3-9.



0.6

Figure 3.



Figure 3-9. Moisture absorption of neat resins (no clay). The inset plot compares the moisture absorption after steady state has been achieved



Figure 3-10. Moisture absorption of bio-blend resin systems with varying clay contents



Figure 3-11. Abs-





Figure 3-11. Absorbed energy per unit volume (toughness) of bio-blend resin systems with varying clay contents



Figure 3-12. Bright-field TEM micrographs revealing homogenous dispersion with partially exfoliated and intercalated clay particles in UPE matrix. a) Low magnification, scale bar = 1  $\mu$ m, b) High magnification, scale bar = 50 nm, approximately 3 to 4 particles per gallery of intercalated particle.





Figure 3-13. SEM micrographs of tensile failure surfaces, a) Neat UPE without inclusions, scale bar = 50  $\mu m,$  b) 10% bio-blend [EMS] in UPE with 1.5 wt.%. clay inclusions, scale bar = 50  $\mu m.$ 



39 References [4] Mohanty AK Biocompe [92] Burgueño R. Sustainab' resin for h [3]. Burgueño R, bearing n. 2004; 35:4 [4] Nickel J, Ried 35] Donnell AO, resin. Cor [36] Morve SS, W on a nove 146. 37] Miyagawa H biobased Chem Ré [38] Miyagawa H from ble Polym Sc [39] Mohanty AK organocl ANTEC [3:10]. Nair SV, Go -6,6 corr. <sup>3-11]</sup> Le Baron P( overview [12] Miyagawa H thermor nanocor <sup>[313]</sup>. Bakar M, D <sup>Unsatura</sup>

## 3.9 References

- [3-1]. Mohanty AK, Misra M, Hinrichsen G, Biofibers, Biodegradable Polymers and Biocomposites: An Overview. Macromol Mater and Eng. 2000; 276/277:1-24.
- [3-2]. Burgueño R, Quagliata MJ, Mehta GM, Mohanty AK, Misra M, Drzal LT. Sustainable cellular biocomposites from natural fibers and unsaturated polyester resin for housing panel applications" J Polym Environ 2005; 13:139-149.
- [3-3]. Burgueño R, Quagliata MJ, Mohanty AK, Mehta GM, Drzal LT, Misra M. Load bearing natural fiber composite cellular beams and panels." Composites Part A. 2004; 35:645-656.
- [3-4]. Nickel J, Riedel U. Activities in biocomposites. Mater Today 2003; 6:44-48
- [3-5]. Donnell AO, Dweib MA, Wool R.P. Natural fiber composites with plant oil based resin. Compos Sci Tech 2004, 64:1135-1145.
- [3-6]. Morye SS, Wool RP. Mechanical properties of glass /flax hybrid composites based on a novel modified soyabean oil matrix material. Polym Compos 2005, 26:407-146.
- [3-7]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Development of biobased unsaturated polyester containing functionalized vegetable oils. Ind Eng Chem Res. 2006; 45:1014-1018.
- [3-8]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Novel biobased resins from blends of functionalized soya bean oil and unsaturated polyester resin. J Polym Sci Part B: Polym Phys 2007; 45: 698-704
- [3-9]. Mohanty AK, Miyagawa H, Burgueño R, Misra M. Biobased nanocomposites from organoclay and blends of unsaturated polyester and functionalized vegetable oil. ANTEC, Conference Proceedings. 2005; 4: 52-56
- [3-10]. Nair SV, Goettler LA, Lysek, B.A. Toughness of nanoscale and multiscale polyamide -6,6 composites. Polym Eng Sci. 2002; 42:1872-1882.
- [3-11]. Le Baron PC, Wang Z, Pinnavaia TJ. Polymer layered silicate nanocomposites: an overview. Appl Clay Sci. 1999; 15:11-29
- [3-12]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Characterization and thermophysical properties of unsaturated polyester-layered silicate nanocomposites. J Nanoscience and Nanotech. 2006; 6:464-471.
- [3-13]. Bakar M, Djaider F. Effect of plasticizers content on the mechanical properties of unsaturated polyester resin. J Thermoplast Compos Mater. 2007; 20:53-64.

314] Wang L, Wa thermal/m Part A. 201 [3-14]. Wang L, Wang K, Chen L, Zhang Y, He C. Preparation, morphology and thermal/mechanical properties of epoxy/clay nanoclay composite. Composites Part A. 2006; 37:1890-1896
# Chapter 4. Bio-b

- 11 Abstract
  - Bio-based nar
- minformed with nan
- valuation of their p
- welve nanocomposit
- 10 5 w1% nanoclay
- actinique and experi
- mochy reinforcem
- EML content shows
- rationary show prom
- based nanocomposit
- 12 Introduction
  - Environmer.
- <sup>conventional</sup> polym peroleum and vege
- mance composité
- properties that are s
- Bio-based p the primary const



# Chapter 4. Bio-based Polymer Nanocomposites: II – UPE / EML<sup>1</sup>

## 4.1 Abstract

Bio-based nanocomposites, defined as blends of petroleum and vegetable oil resins reinforced with nanoclay, can lead to synergistic material property enhancement; and evaluation of their performance and limits can allow for their optimal design. An array of twelve nanocomposite designs with up to 30% epoxidized methyl linseedate (EML) and up to 5 wt.% nanoclay in unsaturated polyester were manufactured using a solvent-based technique and experimentally characterized. Recovery of most properties was possible with nanoclay reinforcement for EML contents up to 20%, whereas polymer blends with 30% EML content showed little improvement. Systems with up to 20% EML and 2.5 wt.% nanoclay show promise due to processing ease and balanced properties. The developed biobased nanocomposites have potential as sustainable multifunctional materials.

## 4.2 Introduction

Environmentally friendly composites with material properties that can compete with conventional polymers can be obtained by reinforcing nanoclay in polymer blends of petroleum and vegetable oil based resins. Such hybrid combinations have been found to produce composites that exhibit synergistic behavior with improvements to multiple properties that are superior or similar to the base petroleum polymer.

Bio-based polymer systems, defined as a combination of petroleum-based resins as the primary constituent and natural bio-resins as the secondary constituent, can be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Haq, M., Burgueño, R., Mohanty, A.K., and Misra, M., "Bio-based polymer nanocomposites from UPE/EML blends and nanoclay: Development, experimental characterization and limits to synergistic performance," Communicated - Composites: Part A

miniorced with nanoc i). The developmen mevable materials Mohanty et al. [4-2] amposites, or biocc ben shown to impro The increase in tough wincreased plastic de tre modulus [45][4-6 polymer. Stiffness a takince is required to we of plant-oil base strigh for load-be sproach pursued by is by the addition The reinforc tes been shown to thancements not G ablation resistance F bionesins like soy. Polymer/clay nance atules exist on thi monovement due phiners [4-6]. Mor

reinforced with nanoclay to obtain novel, value added applications for natural polymers [4-1]. The development of alternatives for petroleum-derived materials with plant-based renewable materials has been propelled from an environmental viewpoint [4-1]-[4-4]. Mohanty et al. [4-2] provide a good overview on bio-polymers, bio-fibers and bio-based composites, or biocomposites. The blending of bio-resin with petroleum-based resin has been shown to improve the toughness of the resulting polymer system [4-2][4-5][4-6][4-7]. This increase in toughness is due to the reduction in cross-link density in the system, leading to increased plastic deformations [4-7]. However, this increase in toughness seriously affects the modulus [4-5][4-6][4-7], thermal [4-6][4-7] and barrier [4-6] properties of the resulting polymer. Stiffness and toughness are opposing performance parameters and a proper balance is required to develop an efficient biocomposite. Moreover, research has shown that use of plant-oil based polymeric materials do not show adequate properties of rigidity and strength for load-bearing applications by themselves and require modification [4-1]. One approach pursued by the authors is to recover the property losses from the addition of bioresin by the addition of layered silicates, or nanoclays.

The reinforcement of petroleum-based polymers with layered silicates, or nanoclays, has been shown to impart multifunctionality to the resulting polymer nanocomposite with enhancements not only on stiffness but improvements in thermal, barrier, flammability and ablation resistance properties [4-8]. Nanoclay reinforcement has also been used with natural bio-resins like soy- [4-1]4-9]4-10] and corn-based [4-11] resins with similar enhancements. Polymer/clay nanocomposites are well understood and considerable literature and review articles exist on this topic [4-8]4-12]-[4-14]. In spite of the noted enhancements, stiffness improvement due to addition of nanoclay also increases the brittleness of the resulting polymers [4-6]. Moreover, petroleum-based polymers such as unsaturated polyesters (UPEs),

which are commonly nechanical, electrical. 16]. The use of all-nat such as low mechanic por-renewable synth studied considerably hybrid combinations strengistic behavior milifunctional prop bo-based nanocom; te recovered by add: The initial at unsaturated polyest poxidized methyl s mochy (Cloisite incorporation of bi manoclay and bio-re materials with impro stifness, thermal a addition resulted in <sup>recovery</sup> of stiffn ntcommendations: <sup>higher</sup> amounts of <sup>i detailed</sup> characte which are commonly used due to their low cost, ease of handling and good balance of mechanical, electrical, chemical and fire resistance properties, are inherently brittle[4-15][4-16]. The use of all-natural bio-polymers has been limited due to performance based concerns such as low mechanical and thermo-physical properties [4-5][4-17][4-18]. The substitution of non-renewable synthetic polymers with renewable polymers has been thus proposed and studied considerably [4-5][4-16]-[4-24]. As discussed earlier, composites obtained from the hybrid combinations of petro-based resin, bio-resin and nanoclay have been found to exhibit synergistic behavior with balanced stiffness-toughness properties along with other multifunctional properties. Hence, the hypothesis of the work presented here was to obtain bio-based nanocomposites wherein the reduction in properties due to bio-resin addition can be recovered by addition of nanoclay.

The initial attempt at this hypothesis was performed by blending petroleum based unsaturated polyester (UPE) with functionalized vegetable oil as the bio-resin, namely epoxidized methyl soyate (EMS) [4-6]. The resulting bio-based resins were processed with nanoclay (Cloisite  $30B^{\circ}$ ). The processing technique used allowed only a limited incorporation of bio-resin (10%) and nanoclay (1.5 wt.%). In spite of low amounts of nanoclay and bio-resin, the results showed promise in the synergistic behavior of these materials with improvements in toughness due to addition of bio-resin and enhancements in stiffness, thermal and moisture barrier properties due to nanoclay addition. The nanoclay addition resulted in complete recovery of moisture barrier properties but only partial recovery of stiffness and other properties. This study [4-6] led to the following recommendations: a) improve the processing technique such that incorporation of relatively higher amounts of bio-resin (>10%) and nanoclay (>1.5 wt.%) were possible, b) to perform a detailed characterization of an array of nano-reinforced bio-based polymer systems to

sult the effects of material combination helavior. Moreover, rig UPE with EN inseedate) [4-17] fou: ligher in EMS-based iteads should perfor: In this work. JPE/EMS nanocon Ret made. First, an remined from a det NW% EML and amounts of nanocla ints on the effect abwing the identifi d properties along modulus, strengths mear coefficient of The degree of r anocomposites wa tsin and nanoclay / scanning electron proves not provi

study the effects of constituents on the synergistic behavior, and c) to find optimized material combinations that have ease of processing along with enhanced synergistic behavior. Moreover, studies by Miyagawa et. al [4-5][4-17] on neat resin (no clay) blends, using UPE with EMS (epoxidized methyl soyate) [4-5] and EML (epoxidized methyl linseedate) [4-17] found that stiffness loss due to addition of functionalized vegetable oil was higher in EMS-based resin systems. This suggests that nanocomposites from UPE/EML blends should perform better than those from UPE/EMS blends.

In this work, the shortcomings and recommendations from the above-mentioned UPE/EMS nanocomposites study [4-6] were taken into consideration and improvements were made. First, an EML bio-resin was used. Secondly, an improved manufacturing method identified from a detailed processing study [4-25], and which allowed incorporation of up to 30 wt.% EML and 5.0 wt.% was used. Since it was possible to incorporate relatively large amounts of nanoclay and EML contents, this study was also aimed at finding performance limits on the effects of EML and nanoclay on the resulting nanocomposites, thereby allowing the identification of optimized material combinations that would result in a balance of properties along with ease of processing. Experimental evaluation of tensile properties (modulus, strengths and failure strains), impact strengths, glass transition temperature  $(T_{o})$ , linear coefficient of thermal expansion and moisture diffusivity properties was performed. The degree of nanoclay dispersion and morphology of the different bio-based nanocomposites was assessed using transmission electron microscopy. The effect of bio resin and nanoclay on the surface morphology of resulting tensile fracture was studied using scanning electron microscopy and is reported in an earlier work [4-6], and for brevity purposes not provided here. Results indicate synergistic behavior of bio-resin blends and

nnoclay with c		
show balanced r		
43 Experim		
Experime		
textenzation		
inclusions. In t		
and testing are 1		
43.1 Materia		
The ma		
isin (UPE, Po		
bic-based mod		
replaced up to		
compositions t		
noknate epox		
™ % methyl p		
Course 30B° (		
and nanoclay)		
and 2-butanon,		
to isstem to		
Tas 100 parts		
Samples were c		

nanoclay with complete to partial recovery of most properties. Material combinations that show balanced multifunctional properties along with ease of processing were also identified.

# 4.3 Experimental Methods

Experimental determination of thermo-physical properties and material characterization were performed on bio-based polymer blends reinforced with nanoclay inclusions. In the following sections, details on materials, processing, parameters studied, and testing are provided.

## 4.3.1 Materials

The main component of bio-based polymer systems was ortho unsaturated polyester resin (UPE, Polylite<sup>•</sup> 32570-00, Reichhold Inc., NC), which contains 33.5 wt.% styrene. A bio-based modifier, epoxidized methyl linseedate (EML, Vikoflex<sup>•</sup> 9010, Arkema Inc., PA) replaced up to 30 wt.% of UPE. EML is a mixture of methyl esters of fatty acid compositions that construct the linseed oil. The detailed composition is 40-50 wt. % methyl linolenate epoxy, 24-26 wt. % methyl oleate epoxy, 17-22 wt. % methyl linoleate epoxy, 4-7 wt. % methyl palmitate, and 2-5% wt.% methyl stearate. The nanoclay used in this work was Cloisite 30B<sup>•</sup> (Southern Clay Products, Inc., TX). The resin system (mixture of UPE, EML and nanoclay) was processed with cobalt naphthenate (Sigma-Aldrich, MO) as a promoter and 2-butanone peroxide (Sigma-Aldrich) as an initiator. A constant ratio by weight of the resin system to the promoter and initiator was utilized to cure all samples. The mixing ratio was 100 parts by weight of the resin system to 0.03 part promoter and 1.50 part initiator. Samples were cured at 100 °C for 2 h, followed by 160 °C for 2 h.

432 Experimenta The amount many resin compo of four neat resin (n miored with nano evaluated by varying ued to describe the j ad "B" represents t to the weight fractio aferred to as 80/20 of EML and is n corresponding to Co considered the basel 433 Polymer na The techniq <sup>follows</sup> the findings <sup>based</sup> clay/polyme: consists of sonicatin concentration of aFther sonication, or med continuous) actione. The remain is acetone remov

#### 4.3.2 Experimental matrix and nomenclature

The amount of bio-resin (epoxidized methyl linseedate, EML) that replaced the primary resin component UPE, was varied from 0% to 30%, in increments of 10%. A total of four neat resin (no clay) systems were obtained. Each of these resin systems were then reinforced with nanoclay inclusions of 2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.%. Twelve polymer systems were evaluated by varying clay and EML contents as summarized in Table 4-1. The nomenclature used to describe the polymer systems is: " $\Lambda/B/C$ ", where " $\Lambda$ " refers to the amount of UPE and "B" represents the amount of EML as a percentage of the resin system, and "C" refers to the weight fraction of nanoclay inclusions. For example, Specimen ID 7 in Table 4-1 is referred to as 80/20/2.5, indicating that the resin system has 80 parts of UPE and 20 parts of EML and is reinforced with 2.5 wt.% of nanoclay platelets. The resin system corresponding to 0% EML content and 0% nanoclay corresponds to virgin UPE and is considered the baseline material system and was used for comparison.

#### 4.3.3 Polymer nanocomposite processing

The technique used for processing the nanoclay reinforced bio-based resin systems follows the findings from our group's study on solvent-based processing techniques for biobased clay/polymer nanocomposites [4-25]. The technique found to be most efficient consists of sonicating the nanoclay in acetone to an energy level of 300 kJ, using a solution concentration of approximately 50 l of acetone to 1 kg of clay, while it is constantly stirred. After sonication, only the UPE solution is added. The acetone + nanoclay + UPE solution is mixed continuously on a hot plate at approximately 55 °C to remove a majority of the acetone. The remaining acetone is removed by vacuum extraction at 55 °C for 24 h. During the acetone removal process the styrene present in the UPE is also removed. Thus, after

retone removal the whition is cooled t iollowed by curing. A 43.4 Testing and Tensile tests speed of 5 mm/min the study (Table 4orresponding to the Also, it was suspec Moreover, the rese components using included in the theri terrification numb apansion above a mechanical analysis nom temperature throughout the te coefficient of therr mensection of the lested per case stud Moisture at the state all maintained at 50

acetone removal the bio-resin, EML, is added along with the lost styrene. The processed solution is cooled to room temperature and blended with the initiator and promoter followed by curing. A flow chart depicting the process is shown in Figure 4-1.

## 4.3.4 Testing and characterization

Tensile tests were performed according to ASTM D638 standards with a testing speed of 5 mm/min. Six tensile specimens were tested for each case of polymer system in the study (Table 4-1). Experimental thermal tests were performed only on key designs corresponding to the extreme bio-resin (0 and 30%) and nanoclay (0 and 5 wt.%) contents. Also, it was suspected that the phase separation starts beyond 10% bio-resin content. Moreover, the research in our group aims at manufacturing large scale load bearing components using 10% bio-resin content. Hence, samples with 10% EML were also included in the thermal studies. Overall, thermal tests were performed on six specimens with identification numbers 1, 2, 4, 9, 10 and 12 (Table 4-1). The linear coefficient of thermal expansion above and below the glass transition temperature was obtained by thermomechanical analysis using a TA Instruments TMA 2940. The samples were heated from room temperature to 140 °C at a rate of 4°C/min. Strain and temperature was measured throughout the test. The linear slope of strain-temperature curve is reported as the coefficient of thermal expansion. The glass transition temperature was obtained from the intersection of the two linear portions of the strain-temperature curve. Two specimens were tested per case studied.

Moisture absorption testing was performed using a Fisher Scientific Versa bath<sup>•</sup>-138 equipment that allows immersion of samples in a distilled water bath with temperature maintained at 50 °C. The nanocomposites samples used for moisture measurements were

ntangular bars and specimens were coate ad limit the diffusio 10 ensure flat and pa & 'C for 24 h to rer 2h for the first 3 attieved Moisture d plus for various bio arched Izod tests achisions in resultir (TEM). Ultramicrot included angle of 4° with LaB6 filament 1.4 Results The polyme  $^{\text{trgin}}$  UPE and  $_{\text{is}}$ sections are compar 44.1 Tensile tes In the matilies Tensile mo contents are provid <sup>of the baseline</sup> UI nationced bio-bas

rectangular bars and had average dimensions of 75.0 mm x 12.5 mm x 3.0 mm. The specimens were coated with impervious two-part epoxy on all edges to eliminate edge effects and limit the diffusion only through the thickness of the sample. All samples were polished to ensure flat and parallel surfaces. The polished samples were placed in a vacuum oven at 80 °C for 24 h to remove residual moisture. The weight of the samples was measured every 12 h for the first 3 days, followed by once every week until steady state (equilibrium) was achieved. Moisture diffusivity coefficients were obtained from the moisture-gain versus time plots for various bio-based nanocomposites. Impact strength was obtained by performing notched Izod tests as per ASTM D256. The dispersion and morphology of nanoclay inclusions in resulting polymer systems was assessed with transmission electron microscopy (TEM). Ultramicrotomy at room temperature was carried using a diamond knife with an included angle of 4° to produce sections approximately 70 nm thick. A JEOL 100CX TEM with LaB6 filament with 120 kV acceleration was used to obtain bright field images.

## 4.4 Results

The polymer system corresponding to 0% EML and 0% nanoclay corresponds to virgin UPE and is considered the baseline material system. All results in the following sections are compared to this baseline.

#### 4.4.1 Tensile tests and properties

## Tensile modulus

Tensile modulus for virgin (UPE) and bio-based polymer systems with varying clay contents are provided in Figure 4-2. A dashed horizontal line corresponding to the modulus of the baseline UPE is also shown to highlight the relative performance of the nanoclay reinforced bio-based polymer systems. As expected the trend of average tensile modulus ntes suggests redu EML). The average I and 30% EML s nnese in average t ad 5.0 wt.% nanoci 3 and 55%, respect Similarly, for both 25 wi% and wenzee by 25%. Fo 11% nanoclay led The reduction in av 3% for neat polyr 3%. This indicates hily recover the lo 37% EML the av serimental effect of gains provided by observed. L'imate torsile strong The ultima plotted in Figure resin (EML) reduc <sup>iow strength</sup> of t Was observed that values suggests reduction in average tensile modulus values with addition of bio-resin (EML). The average reduction was approximately in the range of 10, 50 and 65% for the 10, 20 and 30% EML systems, respectively. The addition of nanoclay inclusions revealed an increase in average tensile modulus values. For virgin UPE (no EML), the addition of 2.5 and 5.0 wt.% nanoclay revealed improvements in the average tensile modulus in the range of 25 and 55%, respectively.

Similarly, for UPE/EML blends with 10% EML content, the addition of nanoclay (both 2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.%) seems to have improved the tensile modulus values on an average by 25%. For UPE/EML blends with 20% EML content, the addition of 2.5 and 5.0 wt.% nanoclay led to an approximate reduction of 20% in average tensile modulus values. The reduction in average tensile modulus value due to the addition of 20% EML was around 50% for neat polymers and the enhancement due to 5 wt.% nanoclay was in the range of 30%. This indicates a partial recovery and that the amount of nanoclay was insufficient to fully recover the lost properties due to the addition of EML. Similarly, for bio-blends with 30% EML the average improvement due to nanoclay addition was insignificant. The detrimental effect of bio-resin (EML) on stiffness at 30% EML content was larger than the gains provided by nanoclay reinforcement and hence no significant improvement was observed.

#### <u>Ultimate tensile strength</u>

The ultimate tensile strengths (UTS) of the developed bio-based nanocomposites are plotted in Figure 4-3. The trend of average UTS values suggests that the addition of bioresin (EML) reduces the ultimate tensile strength of the composite. This is attributed to the low strength of the bio-resin and the reduced cross-link density of the bio-blend polymer. It was observed that the addition of EML reduced the average UTS values by approximately 40

al 60% for polyme is observed that na This is attributed to rigin UPE (no bionduction in the aver with 10%, 20% and nt%) revealed a n respectively. For EN regnificant, as the with respect to th returns the UTS nanoclay seems to pohmer nanocomp Emption at failure The ultimat anocomposite svi unsile failure stra composites more average value of t system was lower t  $E_{M}$ , increase in t pecimen, which oncentration (8C <sup>x break</sup> due to ad

and 60% for polymer systems with 20 and 30% EML content, respectively. Additionally, it ws observed that nanoclay inclusions also reduced the average ultimate tensile strengths. This is attributed to the embrittlement of the polymer due to the addition of nanoclay. For virgin UPE (no bio-resin), the addition nanoclay (both 2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.%) revealed a reduction in the average UTS values by approximately 50 to 60%. Similarly for resin systems with 10%, 20% and 30% EML contents, the addition of nanoclay (both 2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.%) revealed a reduction in average UTS values by approximately 55, 70 and 80%, respectively. For EML contents up to 10%, the reduction of UTS due to EML content was insignificant, as the average UTS values of 10% EML composites had only a minor variation with respect to the neat UPE nanocomposites. EML plays a more significant role in reducing the UTS for its content is beyond 10%,. The combination of bio-resin and nanoclay seems to produce a detrimental effect that significantly reduces the UTS of the polymer nanocomposite.

## Elongation at failure

The ultimate tensile strains (elongation at tensile test failure) for the tested bio-based nanocomposite systems are shown in Figure 4-4. The overall trend considering the average tensile failure strain values suggests that the addition of bio-resin makes the resulting composites more ductile and hence increased elongations at failure were observed. The average value of the ultimate tensile strain for the neat (no nanoclay) 20% EML polymer system was lower than its 10% EML counterpart. This deviation from the trend (increase in EML, increase in tensile strains) is attributed to the presence of shrinkage cracks in the test specimen, which occur while curing and were found to be prominent only at this concentration (80/20/0). Nonetheless, the overall trend indicates increase in the elongation at break due to addition of bio-resin.

The trend of average tensile strain values suggests that the addition of nanoclay reduced the elongations at failure. For virgin UPE (no EML), the addition of 2.5 and 5.0 wt.% nanoclay reduced the average failure elongations by a range of approximately 50 to 75%. For nanoclay reinforced UPE/EML blends (considering both 2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.%), the addition of nanoclay seems to reduce the average tensile failure strains by approximately 50 and 35% for 10% and 20% EML contents, respectively. For UPE/EML/clay blends with 30% EML content, the average tensile strain values were observed to be equal or better than the baseline virgin UPE composite, indicating complete recovery of the lost ducitility due to addition of nanoclay by addition of 30% EML.

#### 4.4.2 Thermal properties

The linear coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) above and below the glass transition temperature  $(T_g)$  are provided in Figure 4-5 and Figure 4-6, respectively for the key polymer systems, namely specimen numbers: 1, 2, 4, 9, 10 and 12 (see Table 4-1). For structural applications, the CTE above  $T_g$  is not of much importance, as the load carrying capacity is considerably reduced past  $T_g$  As a result, only the CTE results below  $T_g$  are discussed next. Nonetheless, CTE values above and below  $T_g$  follow similar trends and hence the discussions of CTE trends below  $T_g$  are valid for CTE values above  $T_g$ .

The trend of the average values of CTE below  $T_g$  suggests that the addition of bioresin (EML) increased the average values of CTE. The average CTE values below  $T_g$ increased by approximately 10 and 15% for polymer systems with 10 and 30 % EML, respectively. The addition of 5 wt.% clay to virgin UPE (no EML) seems to reduce the

THETAGE CIE value polymens with 10 a approximately 10% adaction in thermal were partially recover The variatio machy content is gass transition temp boresin (EML) cor nduction in the rat decrease of  $T_g$  is art Send [417]. Additie UPE (3% EMIL) ar 1%. The polymer the similar to that blend with no nance <sup>IPE.</sup> Overall, it se <sup>to addition</sup> of bio-r

average CTE value by approximately 20%. The addition of 5 wt.% clay to bio-based polymers with 10 and 30% EML content reveals average CTE values below  $T_g$  of approximately 10% higher than baseline UPE, respectively. Overall trends suggest that the reduction in thermal properties (represented by the increased CTE) due to addition of EML were partially recovered by the addition of nanoclay.

The variation of average  $T_g$  values for nanocomposites with varying EML and nanoclay content is shown in Figure 4-7. The  $T_g$  of virgin UPE was 98.5 °C. The average glass transition temperature values were observed to decrease proportionally with increasing bio-resin (EML) content. The average  $T_g$  values for neat polymers (no clay) revealed average reduction in the range of 5-10% with the addition of 10 to 30% EML, respectively. The decrease of  $T_g$  is attributed to the reduction in cross-link density of the bio-based polymer blend [4-17]. Addition of 5 wt.% nanoclay revealed increase in average  $T_g$  values of both neat UPE (0% EML) and the 10% EML bio-based polymers, on an average by approximately 10%. The polymer system with 5 wt.% nanoclay and 30% EML content had an average  $T_g$ value similar to that of the baseline UPE. This is an improvement from similar neat resin blend with no nanoclay, which had approximately 10% lower average  $T_g$  value than baseline UPE. Overall, it seems that the addition of 5 wt.% nanoclay helped recover the  $T_g$  lost due to addition of bio-resin (EML).

4.4.3 WERE DC 25 2003 amei **11**70 367 ] bo-r The M<sub>11</sub> aber State, 21255 98 2621 бh Dist . 1 (j

#### 4.4.3 Moisture absorption

Moisture absorption properties for the nanoclay reinforced bio-based composites were obtained by water immersion tests where the weight gain at any given time (M) was measured until steady state was achieved. Due to thickness variations in the specimens the amount of moisture absorbed by each was different. Thus, instead of simply assessing the amount of moisture absorbed, the speed of moisture absorption in polymers and nanocomposites was quantitatively compared by determining their diffusion coefficient [4-26]. Hence, moisture diffusivity coefficient was used as the parameter to assess the effect of bio-resin (EML) and nanoclay content on the different bio-based polymer nanocomposites. The diffusivity coefficient, D, was computed from the initial slope of the moisture gain,  $M_t/M_{\infty}$  versus time ( $\sqrt{t}/d$ ) as:

$$D = \frac{\pi}{16} \left( \frac{M_t / M_\infty}{\sqrt{t/d}} \right)^2 \tag{4-1}$$

where  $M_t$  is the mass gain at any time t,  $M_{\infty}$  is the maximum mass gain at equilibrium/steady state, and d is the thickness of the specimen.

Figure 4-8 shows the plots of moisture gain versus time for neat (no clay) polymer systems. The experimental data is shown in symbols and exponential fits (average  $R^2$  value = 0.98) are superimposed as solid lines. The diffusivity coefficients were obtained by substituting the initial slope from the curves in Figure 4-8 into Equation (4-1). The variation of the diffusivity coefficients D, with increasing bio-resin (EML) content are shown as an inset in Figure 4-8. The diffusion coefficients indicate the effect of bio-resin (EML) content in virgin UPE. The diffusivity coefficient of virgin UPE was found to be  $3.67 \times 10^{-12} \text{ m}^2/\text{s}$ .

Pricha skii 25 30 approx ಕುಣಾಂ with a e thi :06::.K ntır in. R. 6 ₩6r ----0 LPE di s RIG 2.615 ¥\_% âut. arêna 30% ďť.u the b ÐŢ Pritchard [4-27] reports a value of  $3.0 \times 10^{-12}$  m<sup>2</sup>/s for ortho-unsaturated polyester. The slightly higher value obtained in this work may be due to the differences in the resins and test conditions. The average values of the diffusivity coefficients show an increase of approximately 70, 115 and 250% with the addition of 10, 20 and 30% EML. This is essentially a linear increase with EML content, as confirmed by a linear regression analysis with an R<sup>2</sup> value of 0.96.

The diffusivity coefficients of all the nanoclay-reinforced bio-based nanocomposites in this study are summarized in Figure 4-9. The study of average values of diffusion coefficients reveals that addition of nanoclay improved the barrier properties, observed as a reduction in the average diffusion coefficient values. A reduction in average values of diffusion coefficients of approximately 35 and 20% was observed due to addition of 2.5 wt.% nanoclay to neat UPE and 10% EML/UPE blend, respectively. For resin system with 20% EML and 2.5 wt.% nanoclay, the average diffusivity coefficients were similar to baseline UPE composite. Similar to resin systems with 2.5 wt.% nanoclay, a reduction in average diffusivity coefficients of approximately 70, 45 and 30% was observed due to 5 wt.% nanoclay inclusions in polymer systems with 0, 10, and 20% EML content, respectively. The average diffusion coefficient values for polymer systems with 30% EML reinforced with 5 wt.% nanoclay were approximately 130% higher than the value for the baseline UPE composite. Nonetheless, this is an improvement of approximately 120% considering that the average diffusivity coefficient for the neat UPE/EML blend (no clay) with 30% EML was 250% more than that of the baseline UPE. Thus, the loss in barrier properties (increased diffusivity) due to the adding bio-resin (EML) was recovered by the addition of nanoclay for the bio-based polymer systems using up to 20% EML. For bio-based polymers with 30% EML the detrimental effect of the bio-resin on diffusion properties was greater than the

cha ię. 4,4,4 NC. SIRI **12**56 COLI trag At 1 ۲۰: نح ين. سيراز Шų 11: E. , VUS AL. E- 3

----

12 al

-

enhancement provided by nanoclay reinforcement and hence only partial recovery of the degraded property was possible.

## 4.4.4 Impact strength

The relative comparison of toughness for the various bio-based polymer nanocomposites in this study was performed by notched Izod impact tests. The impact strength test results are shown inFigure 4-10. It can be observed that toughness of the nanocomposites increased with increasing EML content and decreased with increasing clay content. Research has shown that the addition of nanoclay inclusions can enhance the toughness of nanocomposites, but it depends on the morphology of the clay platelets [4-28]. At low nanoclay contents well-exfoliated clay morphology leads to increased toughness properties; while at higher loading partially exfoliated and interacted clay morphologies have better toughness performance [4-28].

The overall trend considering only the average values of the impact strengths suggests that the addition of bio-resin increased the impact strength, and thereby the toughness, of the resulting polymer systems. It was observed that the average Izod impact strength values increased in the range of 2 – 10% for EML contents of 10 - 30%. Additionally, there seems to be little improvement in impact strengths on bio-based polymers with 20 and 30% EML contents. The addition of nanoclay seems to increase the stiffness and reduce the toughness (impact strength) of the polymer nancomposites. For virgin UPE (no EML), the average impact strengths seem to reduce by approximately 5% with addition of nanoclay (both 2.5 and 5.0 wt%). In general, it was expected that the average impact strength values of nanoclay would be lower than those with 2.5 wt.% loading, since the increase in nanoclay content generally found to

reduces toughness. Nevertheless, the average impact strength values of the 2.5 and 5.0 wt.% bio-based polymer/clay nanocomposites were reasonably similar. This could be due to the nanoclay morphology. Since a similar processing technique (equal sonication energy) was used for all clay contents, increased clay concentration (in this case 5 wt.%) would result in more intercalated particles. It is commonly accepted that intercalated particles increase toughness [4-28]. As a result, the impact strength lost due to the increased clay content seems to be balanced by the enhancement due to the presence of intercalated galleries. Such a balance may not occur for all clay contents, but seems to coincide for the processing technique used in this study and for the specific nanoclay loading cases considered. Overall, the average impact strength of nanoclay-reinforced bio-based polymer systems was 4 and 2% lower than that of the baseline UPE for 10 and 20% EML content, respectively. The average impact strength of nanoclay reinforced bio-based polymers containing 30% EML was lower than its counterparts with 10 and 20% EML contents. A reason behind this result could be the processing method. Polymer systems with high bio-resin content have a relatively lower amount of UPE and higher clay content. This requires higher amount of solvent for processing, leading to prolonged exposure to heat for solvent removal. This may finally cause thermal degradation of the polymer and thus a decrease in strength. The improvement in average impact strength values due to addition of 20% EML in UPE was around 10% while addition of 5 wt.% clay in neat UPE reduced the average impact strength values by 5%. Thus, the combination of 20% EML and 5 wt.% nanoclay seems to provide a synergistic stiffness-toughness balance in the performance of the bio-based polymer nanocomposite.

## 4.4.5 Nanoclay dispersion and morphology

Figure 4-11 shows the bright field TEM (transmission electron microscopy) micrographs of representative nanoclay bio-based reinforced polymer systems. Overall, the morphologies displayed in the images indicate excellent nanoclay dispersion with a combination of exfoliated and intercalated arrangement. As expected, nanocomposites with low nanoclay concentrations (2.5 wt.%) revealed a better degree of exfoliation (Figure 4-11a), while those with higher loading (5 wt.%) revealed an increased degree of intercalation.(Figure 4-11 d). It was also observed that the degree of intercalation seemed to increase with bio-resin content (compare Figure 4-11 a and Figure 4-11b). One of the reasons for such increased intercalation may be due to the lower amount of UPE available during the processing of bio-nanocomposites with high bio-resin contents, as bio-resin is added at the final step of process (Figure 4-1).

The roughness of the fracture surface has generally been associated to fracture properties and critical strain energy release rates. A smooth featureless fracture surface is attributed to brittle failures, and rougher fracture surfaces are attributed to tougher nanocomposites [4-29]. Thus, the effect of bio-resin and nanoclay loading on fracture toughness can be supported by studying the fracture surfaces from the tensile tests through scanning electron microscopy (SEM) imaging. This has been shown and discussed by the authors in a study of bio-based polymer/clay nancomposites using epoxidized methyl soyate (EMS) as the bio-resin [2-6]. Although that prior study used EMS instead of EML, the SEM images had similar features and are thus not repeated here. Nonetheless, the knowledge gained from that study is still relevant here. Overall, it has been shown [2-6] that fracture surfaces roughness increased with increasing bio-resin and increasing clay content. This suggests that the combination of bio-resin and clay will provide tougher composites. Veventh bubses, nzpus 45 L ISAL EML, rreale aperir specific মল্লে FET ALL (01511 COLISIO or an сл Proper ju Pe Proces r: . iereb Telen D.Dbe Nevertheless, further understanding of micro-structural parameters, such as crack propagation mechanisms and interface studies, is still required to relate fracture and toughness measures to surface morphologies.

## 4.5 Discussion

Experimental characterization of bio-based nanocomposites obtained from blends of unsaturated polyester (UPE, primary petro-based resin) and epoxidized methyl linseedate (EML, secondary bio-resin), and reinforced with layered silicates (Cloisite 30B<sup>•</sup>, nanoclay) revealed a wide variety of improvements in multiple properties. As expected, the experimental data revealed scatter/variations in measured parameters. These variations were specifically larger for failure-dependent parameters, such as tensile failure strains, tensile strengths and impact strengths. Detailed statistical analyses taking into account these variations should be performed to quantitatively and precisely obtain the effects of constituents, namely EMS and nanoclay. In this work, only the average values were considered and hence a qualitative effect and overall trends based on average values could be obtained. Overall, it was observed that the combination of bio-based resin and nanoclay result in synergistic behavior of constituents producing bio-based nanocomposites with properties similar or superior than the virgin UPE (0% EML, 0% nanoclay). An earlier study by the authors [2-6] could incorporate only 10% bio-resin and 1.5 wt.% nanoclay due to processing limitations. This study used an improved processing technique that enabled incorporation of high amounts of bio-resin (30% EML) and nanoclay (5 wt.%) content, thereby increasing the environmental appeal of the resulting composites. A test array of 12 material compositions allowed studying effects of individual constituents on various material properties and finding limits to the synergistic behavior offered by these materials.

**4**5.1 ENL vih I recovi **V**2 ( nev EVI pron ENE υb 10 D хņ ¥25 ædu IC5.1 भ्राह . 1 ದಿರ hav

## 4.5.1 Properties and synergistic behavior

Direct tensile tests revealed a decrease in tensile modulus due to the addition of EML, and a recovery of lost stiffness with the addition of nanoclay. For polymer systems with EML contents up to 10 wt.%, the loss of stiffness due to EML addition was not only recovered but enhanced by nanoclay addition. Significant enhancement in tensile modulus was observed with nanoclay addition for resin systems with 20% EML. However, full recovery of the losses from EML addition was not possible. Finally, the detrimental effect of EML on stiffness properties at 30% EML contents was higher than the enhancement provided by nanoclay and hence limited improvement was observed at this high level of EML content.

The ultimate tensile strength (UTS) results revealed a reduction in UTS due to addition of both EML and nanoclay. The reduction in UTS due to EML addition was found to be minimal for EML contents up to 10 wt.%, as the UTS results were found to be similar to neat UPE counterparts. This may be due to good crosslink density and absence of phase separation between UPE and EML. For EML contents higher than 10% a reduction in UTS was observed with increasing EML content. Additionally, nanoclay inclusions were found to reduce the UTS. Nanoclay addition improves the stiffness but also the brittleness of the resulting nanocomposites, thereby reducing toughness. The authors attribute this to the stress concentrations created by the stiff nanoclay sheets in the brittle polymer matrix, which in turn leads to lower tensile strength and lower ductility. While there is no general consensus on this point of view, computational studies by a parallel effort to this work [4-30] have shown evidence to this mechanism.
The ductility (tensile failure strains) and toughness of nanoclay reinforced bio-based composites increased with addition of bio-resin and reduced with increasing nanoclay content. This increase in ductility and toughness is due to the reduction in cross-link density in bio-based polymer, leading to increased plastic deformations [2-7]. Results of tensile strengths and failure strains showed a large variation. This may be due to several factors, including processing issues such as the effect of residual acetone, EML-UPE phase interaction, nanoclay-matrix interaction, etc. Nonetheless, it was observed that the increase in brittleness due to nanoclay inclusions could be balanced by the increase in ductility due to EML addition. Stiffness and toughness are opposing performance parameters and a proper balance is required for an efficient composite. The combination of bio-resin and nanoclay provides a synergistic effect producing bio-based nanocomposites with good stiffnesstoughness balance. The advantage of hybrid combinations (UPE + EML + nanoclay) is not limited to mechanical performance, as similar enhancements were observed in thermal and moisture properties.

The thermal and barrier properties of the polymer systems in the study showed trends similar to the tensile elastic modulus results. The addition of EML increased the moisture diffusivity of the resulting bio-based composite. However, results indicate that the adverse effects of EML blends on moisture absorption can be recovered through the enhanced barrier properties provided by the nanoclay inclusions in bio-based polymer systems with up to 20% EML content. Similarly, a reduction in thermal properties with the addition of EML was observed, by considering increased CTE values and a decrease in  $T_g$ . In this case, the thermal property lost (represented by an increase in CTE) due to the addition of EML was partially recovered by the nanoclay loading. Similarly, with respect to glass transition temperature, the degraded thermal property (indicated by a reduction in  $T_g$ )

due to blending of 30% EML was essentially recovered (~2% lower relative to the baseline UPE) by the addition of 5.0 wt.% nanoclay. While the thermal properties (specifically CTE) of bio-based polymers where only partially recovered with nanoclay reinforcement; moisture diffusion properties showed complete recovery for EML contents up to 20%. This could be explained by considering the physical aspects of the transient phenomena. In the diffusion process the clay platelets are impervious barriers to permeant molecules, thereby forcing a tortuous diffusion path that improves moisture barrier properties. Use of a similar analogy to CTE suggests that the expansion of the polymer due to heat is higher than restraining action provided by the nanoclay, which results in the nanoclay platelets moving along with the polymer under temperature expansion. Thus, although the nanoclay platelets provide resistance to thermal-induced strains, the effect is not as pronounced as its role in curtailing moisture diffusion. Hence only partial recovery in CTE was possible for the bio-based polymers.

#### 4.5.2 Performance limits and optimized material design

The test matrix allowed studying the effect of EML and nanoclay on the resulting properties for EML and nanoclay contents up to 30 and 5 wt.%, respectively. Optimal material combination(s) that result in a balance of multiple properties, along with ease in processing were thus identified. In general, nanoclay reinforcement had little or no effect on bio-based polymers with 30% EML content. This suggests that the detrimental effects of EML blending were beyond the recovery offered by the nanoclay. Complete recovery by nanoclay reinforcement was possible in most properties for bio-based polymers with EML contents up to 10%. Similarly, partial recovery of most properties was possible bio-based polymers with EML contents of 20%. It should be noted that aforementioned comments are made in a general sense. For instance, moisture diffusivity was fully recovered in 20% EML nanocomposites reinforced with 5 wt.% clay. Yet such recovery was not possible for other properties. Overall, bio-based nanocomposites with up to 20% EML content and reinforced with 2.5% clay (90/10/2.5 and 80/20/2.5) were identified as optimized material compositions as they show promise in their processing ease and balanced properties.

Overall, results from the experimental characterization of UPE/EML/clay nanocomposites revealed synergistic behavior of constituents with improvements in multiple properties; wherein the decrease in some properties due to the addition of bio-resin or clay was completely or partially recovered by the synergistic effect of the hybrid material system. The effect of EML or nanoclay on the resulting thermo-mechanical properties was found to compliment the other, such that the detrimental effect on performance due an individual constituent was overcome by the enhancement provided by the other. Hence, the hypothesis of this work to develop eco-friendly bio-based nanocomposites by recovering the properties lost due to bio-resin addition by nanoclay inclusions was found to be feasible, efficient and promising.

### 4.6 Conclusions

Results from this study indicate that synergistic behavior of material constituents can be used to produce novel bio-based nanocomposites with properties similar or better than the virgin base petroleum-based polymer. In this work, blends of unsaturated polyester (UPE, petro-resin) and epoxidized methyl linseedate (EML, bio-resin) were reinforced with nanoclay inclusions. Improved processing enabled incorporation of up to 5 wt.% nanoclay and 30% EML in virgin UPE, thereby considerably improving the environmental appeal of the nanocomposite. Detailed experimental characterization and the effect of material constituent concentrations on the resulting properties were studied. Material combinations that produced overall balanced or enhanced properties, including proper stiffness-toughness balance, were identified. The degradation of thermo-mechanical properties (e.g., stiffness, thermal, diffusion) due to addition of EML were completely and partially recovered for EML contents of 10 and 20%, respectively; indicating excellent synergistic behavior of the constituents. However, such synergy was not observed for bio-based nanocomposites with 30% EML content, as they showed little or no improvement in most properties due to nanoclay reinforcement. This indicates that the adverse effects of EML were beyond the enhancements offered by nanoclay reinforcement. Including ease of processing along with the resulting balanced or enhanced properties, bio-based polymers with EML contents of 10 and 20% reinforced with 2.5 wt.% nanoclay were identified as optimal designs. The synergistic behavior of the showcased bio-based polymer nanocomposites shows promise for optimized high-performance materials with an environmentally conscious appeal.

# 4.7 Tables and Figures

Table 4-1. Experimental matrix sho	wing specimen	identification	numbers and	variation in			
clay and EMS contents							

Clay Content	Amount of EML replacing UPE in UPE-EML blend. (as % of UPE)					
(wt.%)	0	10	20	30		
0.0	1	2	3	4		
2.5	5	6	7	8		
5.0	9	10	11	12		



Figure 4-1. Processing of nanoclay reinforced bio-based (UPE/EML) resins.



Figure 4-2. Experimental tensile modulus of bio-based polymer systems with varying nanoclay content.



Figure 4-3. Experimental ultimate tensile stresses for various bio-based polymer/clay nanocomposites.



Figure 4-4. Experimental tensile test elongations at failure for various bio-based polymer/clay composites.





Figure 4-5. Variation of CTE below  $T_g$  with varying bio-resin (EML) and nanoclay content.



- .

Figure 4-6. Variation of CTE above  $T_g$  with varying bio-resin (EML) and nanoclay content.



Figure 4-7. Variation of glass transition temperature  $(T_g)$  with varying EML and nanoclay content.



Figure 4-8. Moisture diffusivity of neat resins (no clay).



Figure 4-9. Experimental diffusivity coefficients for all bio-based polymer/clay nanocomposites in study.



Figure 4-10. Variation of Izod Impact strength with varying bio-resin (EML) and nanoclay concentration.



Figure 4-11. TEM micrographs showing degree of dispersion and morphology: a) 100/0/2.5well dispersed, partially exfoliated and intercalated (scale = 1 $\mu$ m), b)70/30/2.5 – well dispersed, but higher degree of intercalation relative to 100/0/2.5 (scale = 1 $\mu$ m), c) 100/0/5 – Well dispersed, partially exfoliated and intercalated (scale = 2 $\mu$ m), and d) 100/0/5.0 – high magnification of an intercalated gallery (scale = 50 nm).

#### 4.8 References

- [4-1]. Uyama H, Kuwabara M, Tsujimoto T, Nakano M, Usuki A, Kobayashi S. Green nanocomposites from renewable resources: Plant oil-clay hybrid materials. Chem Mater 2003; 15:2492-2494.
- [4-2]. Mohanty AK, Misra M, Hinrichsen G. Biofibers, Biodegradable polymers and biocomposites: an overview. Macromol Mater Eng 2000; 276/277:1-24.
- [4-3]. Burgueño R, Quagliata MJ, Mohanty AK, Mehta GM, Drzal LT, Misra M. Load bearing natural fiber composite cellular beams and panels. Composites Part A 2004; 35:645-656.
- [4-4]. Nickel J, Riedel U. Activities in biocomposites. Mater Today 2003; 6:44-48.
- [4-5]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Novel bio-based resins from blends of functionalized soyabean oil and unsaturated polyester resin. J Polym Sci, Part B: Polym Phys 2007; 45:698-704.
- [4-6]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Bio-based unsaturated polyester/layered silicate nanocomposites: characterization and thermo-physical properties. Composites Part A 2009; 40:540-547.
- [4-7]. Ratna D. Mechanical properties and morphology of epoxidized soyabean oilmodified epoxy resin. Polym Int 2001; 50:179-184.
- [4-8]. Pinnavaia TJ, Beall GW. Polymer-Clay Nanocomposites, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 2001.
- [4-9]. Liu Z, Erhan SZ, Xu J. Preparation, characterization and mechanical properties of epoxidized soybean oil/clay nanocomposites. Polymer 2005; 46:10119-10127.
- [4-10]. Song B, Chen W, Liu Z, Erhan S. Compressive properties of epoxidized soybean oil/clay nanocomposites. Int J Plast 2006; 22:1549-1568.
- [4-11]. Lu B, Larock RC. Bio-Based nanocomposites from corn oil and functionalized organoclay prepared by cationic polymerization. Macromol Mater Eng 2007; 292:863-872.
- [4-12]. Alexandre M, Dubois P. Polymer-layered silicate nancomposites: preparation, properties and uses of a new class of materials. Mater Sci Eng R 2000; 28:1-63.
- [4-13]. Le Baron PC, Wang Z, Pinnavaia, TJ. Polymer layered silicate nanocomposites: an overview. Appl Clay Sci 1999; 15:11-29.
- [4-14]. Hussain F, Hojjati M, Okamoto M, Gorga RE. Polymer-matrix Nanocomposites, Processing, Manufacturing and Application: An Overview. J Comp Mats 2006; 17: 1511-1575.

[415]. [416] [417]. [+18] [419] [420] [421] [4<u>2</u>2 [42] [4.24 [4.2 [42] . .+2

A REAL PROPERTY AND INC.

- [4-15]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Characterization and thermophysical properties of unsaturated polyester-layered silicate nanocomposites. J Nanosci Nanotechnol 2006; 6:464-471.
- [4-16]. Bakar M, Djaider F. Effect of plasticizers content on the mechanical properties of unsaturated polyester resin. J Thermoplast Compos Mater 2007; 20:53-64.
- [4-17]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Development of biobased unsaturated polyester containing functionalized vegetable oils. Ind Eng Chem Res. 2006; 45:1014-1018.
- [4-18]. Mohanty AK, Miyagawa H, Burgueño R, Misra M. Biobased nanocomposites from organoclay and blends of unsaturated polyester and functionalized vegetable oil. ANTEC, Conference Proceedings. 2005; 4: 52-56.
- [4-19]. Ratna D, Banthia AK. Epoxidized soybean oil toughened epoxy adhesive. J Adhes Sci Technol 2000; 14:15-25.
- [4-20]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty A, Misra M, Drzal LT. Thermo-physical and impact properties of epoxy containing epoxidized linseed oil, 1: Anhydride cured epoxy. Macromol Mater Eng 2004; 289:629-635.
- [4-21]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty A, Misra M, Drzal LT. Thermo-physical and impact properties of epoxy containing epoxidized linseed oil, 2: Amine cured epoxy. Macromol Mater Eng 2004; 289:636-641.
- [4-22]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Hybrid bio-based composites from blends of unsaturated polyester and soybean oil reinforced with nanoclay and natural fibers. Compos Sci Technol 2008; 68(15-16):3344-3351.
- [4-23]. Shabeer A, Chandrashekhara K, Schuman T, Phan N, Nguyen T. Mechanical, thermal and flammability properties of pultruded soy -based nanocomposites. SAMPE, Conference Proceedings. 2007; 52:71/1-71/12.
- [4-24]. Shabeer A, Sundaraman S, Chandrashekhara K, Dharani LR. Physicochemical properties and fracture behavior of soy-based resin. J Appl Polym Sci 2007; 105(2):656-663.
- [4-25]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Processing Techniques for Bio-based Unsaturated-Polyester/Clay Nanocomposites: Tensile Properties, Efficiency, and Limits. Composites – Part A 2009; 40:394-403.
- [4-26]. Vlasveld DPN, Groenewold J, Bersee HEN, Picken SJ. Moisture absorption in polyamide-6 silicate nanocomposites and its influence on mechanical properties. Polymer 2005; 46:12567-12576.
- [4-27]. Pritchard, G., Reinforced Plastics Durability. CRC Press, FL, USA. 1999.

- [4-28]. Nair SV, Goettler LA, Lysek, B.A. Toughness of nanoscale and multiscale polyamide -6,6 composites. Polym Eng Sci. 2002; 42:1872-1882.
- [4-29]. Wang L, Wang K, Chen L, Zhang Y, He C. Preparation, morphology and thermal/mechanical properties of epoxy/clay nanoclay composite. Composites Part A. 2006; 37:1890-1896.
- [4-30]. Haq M, Burgueño R. Modeling and simulation of bio-based polymer/clay nanocomposites through a multi-level FE approach. In: Proceedings of Sixth International conference on Computation of Shell & Spatial Structures. New York, May, 2008. SessionT-2-E.

Cha

5.1

indu vtile

ISZ

ωŋ

۹Ü

) Million

sije

0.£1 . . .

. Emp

拙

and

5.2

J2.

01 I

Lat

/

## Chapter 5. Multiscale Hybrid Biocomposites: I – HF / UPE / EMS<sup>1</sup>

## 5.1 Abstract

Hybrid bio-based composites that exploit the synergy between natural fibers (industrial hemp) in a nano-reinforced bio-based polymer can lead to improved properties while maintaining environmental appeal. Bio-based resins obtained by partial substitution of unsaturated polyester (UPE) with epoxidized soybean oil (EMS) increase toughness but compromise stiffness and hygro-thermal properties. Reinforcement of the bio-based resin with nanoclays permits to retain stiffness without sacrificing toughness, while also improving barrier and thermal properties. Characterization of different hybrid composites verified this synergistic behavior in which systems with 10 % EMS and 1.5 wt. % nanoclay retained the original stiffness, strain to failure, and hygrothermal properties of the original resin while improving toughness. Optimum designs that maximize the synergy of the constituents are thus possible and the presented results provide an initial benchmark to identify such balance, and thus increase the potential applications of bio-based composites.

#### 5.2 Introduction

Environmental concerns related to the use of synthetic, or petroleum-based, polymer matrix composites has propelled the development of composite materials based on natural or renewable sources [5-1][5-2]. Biocomposites, composed of natural fibers in synthetic or natural polymer matrices have recently gained much attention due to their low cost, environmental friendliness, and their potential to compete with synthetic composites [5-3]-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Haq, M., Burgueño, R., Mohanty, A.K., and Misra, M., "Hybrid Bio-based Composites from blends of Unsaturated Polyester and Soy Bean Oil Reinforced with Nanoclay and Natural Fibers," Composites Science and Technology. 2008; 68:3344-3351

[5-7]. Nonetheless, the use of bio-based composites has been limited due to their lower mechanical and thermo-physical properties compared to synthetic composites and conventional structural materials [5-6][5-7].

A promising compromise between environmental friendliness and performance are bio-based resins, or bio-blends, obtained by replacing part of a petroleum-based resin with natural bio-resin. In addition to higher natural content, bio-based resins improve toughness of the resulting resin blend [5-8][5-9]. However, this increase in toughness compromises stiffness, barrier and thermal properties [5-8][5-9]. Stiffness and toughness are opposing performance parameters and a proper balance is required for an efficient composite. One way to attain this balance is the addition of layered silicates, or nanoclays.

Polymers reinforced with nanoclays have been shown to exhibit enhancements in mechanical, thermal and barrier properties at low concentrations [5-10]. Nanoclays consist of stacks of sheet like silica platelets with thickness of  $\sim 1$  nm and extremely large surface areas and aspect ratios. The enhancement of mechanical and barrier properties in polymers with addition of small concentrations of nanoclays is well reported, and a good review on polymer clay hybrid nanocomposites is provided by Le Baron et al. [5-10]. The reinforcement of bio-based polymers with nanoclays has been shown to recover the decrease in stiffness, thermal and barrier properties due to the addition of bio-resin and can lead to improved stiffness-toughness balance [5-11][5-12]. Thus, the synergy between nanoclay reinforcement in a bio-blend produces a polymer nanocomposite with similar or enhanced properties than the virgin polymer and holds great promise for use in wide applications.

The true value of layered silicate nanocomposites is, however, not solely the enhancement of the neat resin but rather the value-added properties it provides to a fiberreinforced composite. Thus, in a biocomposite, natural fibers must remain as the main į rni( ndis ni. or ev ñe: 1210 wile ban fer **The second** ωm D et ę<u>r</u>zz ST. [4] Ц. ¢þ0 <u>S</u>ud द्य ĒĿ bee bic 50 reinforcement for stiffness and strength. Natural fibers such as flax, industrial hemp, jute and kenaf have been found to have specific strengths comparable to E-glass; and the elastic modulus and specific modulus of natural fiber composites has been found to be comparable or even superior to E-glass composites [5-1]. The incorporation of nanoclays and natural fibers in resin systems thus provides reinforcements to resin systems at two scales. The nanoclay enhances the bio-based polymer system in stiffness and hygrothermal properties, while the natural fibers provide the main stiffness and strength. In addition, the enhanced barrier properties of the nano-reinforced resin retard moisture from reaching the natural fibers, thereby providing a synergetic effect between scales for an efficient bio-based composite. Similar multiscale reinforcement concepts have been studied for synthetic fibers to enhance mechanical and electrical properties [5-13]-[5-16]. Tsai and Wu [5-13] reinforced glass/epoxy composites with nanoclay and found a reduction in longitudinal tensile strengths and mode I fracture toughness with increasing nanoclay content. Kinloch et al. [5-14] report improvement in the interlaminar toughness of a carbon-fiber composite with multiphase toughened epoxy matrix. The epoxy matrix was reinforced with nanosilica and microsized rubber particles. Kinloch et al. [5-15] report that this multiphase toughened epoxy matrix provides increase in toughness without significant loss in modulus and thermal properties. Gojny et al. [5-16] reinforced the epoxy matrix of glass fiber composites with carbon black and carbon nanotubes and report improvements in electrical conductivity and interlaminar shear strength. Thus, while different concepts of multiscale reinforcement have been studied for synthetic composites, the study of multiscale/multiphase reinforcements on bio-based composites is limited.

This work provides an overview of a study aimed at developing and characterizing novel multiscale hybrid biocomposites from bio-based polymer blends of unsaturated polyester (UPE) and epoxidized methyl soyate (EMS) reinforced with nanoclay and chopped industrial (unprocessed) hemp. An optimum or synergistic balance of the various constituents in the resulting hybrid biocomposites is essential to achieve increased environmental friendliness and proper stiffness-toughness balance, along with the other tailorable features that they offer, such as enhanced and/or controlled moisture and thermal properties. This work aims at demonstrating that this synergistic balance can be achieved. Material systems that varied the bio-resin (EMS) content in UPE and the concentration of nanoclay while maintaining a constant amount of natural fibers were fabricated by compression molding. Mechanical and thermophysical properties were evaluated through standard tests. The degree of dispersion and exfoliation of nanoclay in the resins systems was characterized using transmission electron microscopy and the features of fracture surfaces were characterized using scanning electron microscopy. The results provide a benchmark to identify the synergistic balance of the constituents such that efficient, novel and multifunctional hybrid biocomposites can be designed.

## 5.3 Experimental methods

The developed hybrid bio-based composites were compared in terms of basic thermo-physical properties and qualitative material distribution features. Details on materials, processing, parameters studied and testing are provided in this section.

## 5.3.1 Materials

Industrial unprocessed raw hemp (Stemergy Inc, London, Ontario, Canada) was used as natural fiber reinforcement. The fibers were hand chopped to an average length of 25 mm. The primary component of the resin blend was ortho unsaturated polyester resin (*UPE*, Polylite<sup>•</sup> 32570-00, Reichhold Inc., NC), which contains 33.5 wt. % styrene. The secondary

component that replaced parts of the UPE was a bio-based modifier: epoxidized methyl soyate (EMS, Vikoflex<sup>•</sup> 7010, Arkema Inc, PA). EMS is a mixture of methyl ester of fatty acid compositions that construct soybean oil. The detailed composition is 5-11% methyl epoxy linolenate, 43-56% methyl epoxy linoleate, 24-26% methyl epoxy oleate, and 7-11% methyl epoxy palmitate. The nanoclay used to reinforce the resin system was Cloisite 30B<sup>•</sup> (Southern Clay Products, Inc. TX). The nanoclay was chosen by trial and error to be compatible with EMS and no detailed study on surfaces and interfaces of the constituents was performed. Compatibility is assumed to be due to the carbonyl groups of UPE/EMS and free hydroxyl group of organic modifier part (methyl tallow bis-2-hydroxyethyl quaternary ammonium) in the organoclay Cloisite 30B°. The resin blend was processed with cobalt naphthenate (Sigma Aldrich, MO) as a promoter and 2-butanone peroxide (Sigma Aldrich) as an initiator. A constant mixing ratio of 0.03 parts promoter and 1.50 parts initiator to 100 parts of resin system was used for all resin systems. Table 1 provides the nomenclature, composition, concentration of constituents and densities of the five biocomposite systems studied. Biocomposite A, manufactured of only virgin UPE (no EMS and no nanoclay) is considered the benchmark biocomposite and hence, the performance of all biocomposites is compared with this benchmark composite.

## 5.3.2 Nanocomposite processing

The resin system (UPE +EMS +nanoclay) had varying amounts of nanoclay and EMS content that replaced UPE. For nanoclay reinforced resin systems, the processing technique is similar to that reported in references [5-11][5-12]. Nanoclay was sonicated in acetone using a solution concentration of approximately 50 liters of acetone to 1 kilogram of clay, while it was constantly stirred by a magnetic stirrer. The amount of energy spent on sonication was

maintained at 30 kJ for all resin systems. The UPE and EMS were then added to the acetone-clay solution and mixed with a magnetic stirrer on a hot plate for 3 to 4 hours to remove the majority of acetone. The remaining acetone was removed by vacuum extraction at approximately 55 °C for 12-24 hours. During the acetone removal process, along with acetone, the styrene present in resin system was also removed. The lost styrene was thus added after the acetone removal process. During vacuum extraction of the acetone, and at higher concentrations of EMS and clay, processing issues such as phase separation in UPE/EMS blend and cross linking were observed. The above mentioned problems were not observed at nanoclay contents of 1.5 wt. % or less and bio-blends of 10% EMS or less. Hence, nanoclay reinforced resins with 20 % EMS was not feasible in this study. Studies by our group on bio-based nanocomposite processing have shown that the aforementioned issues can be overcome by modifications in the above process [5-17].

The styrene content in the UPE used in this study was 33.5 wt. %. The replacement of parts of UPE with bio-resins reduced the overall styrene content of the resulting resin blend. It was suspected that premature curing of the resin blend during acetone removal was due to the reduced styrene content. Hence, styrene was added to the bio-based blend to maintain the overall styrene content at 33.5 wt. % for the resin system. The processed polymer nanocomposite (UPE + EMS + nanoclay) was used as the matrix for natural fibers in hybrid biocomposite material systems.

#### 5.3.3 Manufacturing of hybrid biocomposite plates

Flat biocomposite plates for five material systems described in Table 5-1 were manufactured using compression molding. Before use, the fibers were dried in vacuum oven at 80 °C and 100 kPa of pressure for 12 hours. The nano-reinforced resin system (UPE +

EV II; щ fix άu ΨĽ 1 ÷C <u>)</u>;; ۲à۲) SIG Db () Īŕ fto h 4 Ŋ, ĴΓ Q Ŀ M EMS + nanoclay) was mixed with the promoter and initiator. The fibers were then impregnated with the resin system by hand until the material was consistent. The impregnated fibers were then placed in a frame mold. Care was taken to evenly distribute the fiber material in the mold to ensure a uniform sample, since natural fibers have a tendency to clump and tangle together. The frame mold was placed between two steel plates covered with Teflon paper. The sample was then cured in a press under 550 kPa of pressure at 100 °C for 2 hours, followed by 150 °C for 2 hours.

## 5.4 Testing & characterization

Testing and characterization of the hybrid bio-based composites was performed on samples taken from the compression molded plates. The tensile properties (modulus, strength and elongation at failure) were measured on six to eight samples as per ASTM D638, while impact strength was measured on five samples as per ASTM D256. The coefficient of thermal expansion was measured on two to three samples by thermomechanical analysis using TA instruments TMA 2940 analyzer. The specimens were heated from room temperature to 140 °C at a rate of 4 °C/minute. The strain and temperature of the samples were measured throughout the test. The coefficient of thermal expansion was taken as the linear slope of the strain-temperature curve. The glass transition temperature was obtained from the intersection of the two linear portions of the strain-temperature curve. Moisture absorption testing was performed by storing the samples in an environmental chamber at 30 °C and 90 % relative humidity. Two rectangular samples of approximate dimensions: 63.5 mm x 12.7 mm x 3.2 mm were used for each biocomposite. The weight increase of the samples was measured until steady state was reached (~50 days). Moisture absorption was evaluated as the percent weight gained at steady state. The

dispersion and morphology of clay inclusions in the resin systems was assessed with transmission electron microscopy (TEM). A JEOL 100CX TEM with LaB<sub>6</sub> filament and 120 kV acceleration was used to obtain bright field images from sections approximately 70 nm thick. Tensile failure surfaces of biocomposites were pre-coated with a thin gold film and observed in a JEOL 6400 field emission scanning electron microscope (SEM) at 10 kV acceleration voltage.

## 5.5 Results

The addition of EMS or nanoclay may have a beneficial or detrimental effect depending on the parameter studied. All results in the following sections are thus relative to benchmark biocomposite A, consisting of 100 % UPE (0 % EMS and 0 % nanoclay).

## 5.5.1 Tensile modulus and ultimate tensile strength

Results for tensile modulus and strength are provided in Figure 5-1. The overall trend considering only the average values suggests that the addition of bio-resin in UPE reduced tensile modulus and ultimate tensile strength of reslting biocomposites, which is attributed to the low stiffness of the bio-resin. The average values of tensile modulus for biocomposites B (10 % EMS) and C (20 % EMS), were reduced by approximately 5 % and 40 %, respectively. Similarly, for biocomposites B and C, the average tensile strengths values decreased around 5 % and 20 %, respectively. Tensile modulus is primarily dependent on the micro-scale natural fiber reinforcement and hence a major increase in tensile modulus due to 1.5 wt. % of nanoclay was not expected. Nevertheless, biocomposite D, which had 1.5 wt. % nanoclay in UPE (no EMS) showed an increase in the range of 5% in the average tensile modulus. A similar increase for biocomposite materials with 10 % EMS (B, E) was expected. Nevertheless, it seems that the reduction in tensile modulus due to addition of 10 % EMS

was more than the recovery provided by adding 1.5 wt. % nanoclay. Regarding strength, the addition of nanoclay in the resin blends showed a decrease in the average values of ultimate tensile strength in the range of 20 % and 25 % for biocomposites D and E, respectively. This decrease may be attributed to the embrittlement of the resin system. It can be seen from Figure 5-1 that there is large variance in test results. The variance could be due to many reasons including processing, presence of voids and impurities, improper fiber distribution, variation in fiber lengths, distribution of nanoclay etc. Detailed statistical analyses taking into account these variations should be performed to quantitatively and precisely obtain the effects of constituents, namely EMS and nanoclay. In this work, only the average values were considered and hence a qualitative effect and overall trends based on average values could be obtained. Overall, the addition of bio-resin reduces the tensile modulus and strength of the composite. The addition of nanoclay leads to a recovery in modulus but reduces the tensile strength.

#### 5.5.2 Elongation at failure and notched Izod impact strengths

Figure 5-2 summarizes the results of elongations at failure from tensile tests and notched Izod impact strengths. The overall trend considering only the average values suggests that the addition of EMS increased the toughness of the biocomposites, which was observed experimentally as increase in average values of elongations at failure and impact strengths. For resin blends with no nanoclay inclusions an average increase in ultimate strain values of approximately 30 % and 65 % was observed for biocomposites B (10 % EMS) and C (20 % EMS), respectively. Similarly, the average impact strength values increased by approximately 10 % and 15 % for biocomposites B and C, respectively. The addition of nanoclay seems to make the resin blends more brittle and hence reduces the ductility,

00

. مطل

te

10

bio

ur.

513

20

ũ

5

correspondingly the elongations at failure and impact strengths. The average values of ultimate strains and impact strengths showed an approximate reduction of around 25 and 20% in ultimate tensile strains and impact strengths, respectively for biocomposite D due to the addition of 1.5 wt. % clay in neat UPE. Biocomposite E, which has a combination of 10% EMS and 1.5 wt. % nanoclay showed a synergistic effect. The overall performance of biocomposite E was very similar to baseline composite A, with the average values of ultimate strains and the impact strengths within 5% of those of baseline bicomposite A. This suggests that the combination of bio-resin and nanoclay can balance individual deficiencies and the resulting hybrid composites will have the beneficial effects of each of the constituents resulting in good stiffness-toughness balance.

#### 5.5.3 Thermal properties and moisture absorption

Figure 5-3 summarizes the results of coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) and moisture absorption (MA) tests. The overall trend considering the average values suggests that both CTE and MA increased with increasing bio-resin (EMS) content and decreased with the addition of nanoclay. The increase in average CTE values due to addition of 10 % EMS (biocomposite B) and 20 % EMS (biocomposite C) was around 10 % and 25 %, respectively. The average glass transition temperature ( $T_g$ ) value of virgin UPE was approximately 98 °C. The average  $T_g$  values of hybrid biocomposites D (100/0/1.5) and E (90/10/1.5) were 102 °C and 84 °C, respectively. The  $T_g$  of hybrid biocomposites was dominated by the properties of the resin system, and as such, the effect of nanoclay on the  $T_g$  of bio-based resins is reported in reference [5-12]. Similar to CTE, the increase in average moisture absorption value for biocomposite C was around 20 %. The addition of 1.5 wt. % nanoclay reduced the average values of *MA* of biocomposite D by approximately 10 %. Biocomposite E, with 10 % EMS and 1.5 wt. % nanoclay, showed results similar to benchmark biocomposite A. Overall, it was observed that the reduction of average thermal and barrier properties due to the addition of bio-resin were recovered by addition of nanoclay.

#### 5.5.4 Nanoclay dispersion and exfoliation.

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) was used to observe the dispersion and morphology of nanoclay in the resin system (no fibers). Figure 5-4 shows the bright field TEM micrographs of UPE/clay nanocomposites. It was observed that the nanoclay platelets were well distributed with partially exfoliated and intercalated morphologies. Figure 5-4a shows a general view of clay platelets distributed in UPE matrix and, Figure 5-4b shows an intercalated gallery containing three to four platelets. Similar micrographs were obtained for bio-based matrices (EMS blends) as the same amount of sonication energy was spent on all resin systems. Improved nanoclay exfoliation can be achieved with increased sonication energy. Nonetheless, excessive sonication energy/time can break the clay platelets and reduce their aspect ratios, leading to inferior composite properties. A study on the effect of processing techniques, with varying sonication energies and solvents, on the resulting morphology and properties of bio-based polymer nanocomposites is reported in reference [5-17].

### 5.5.5 Fracture surface observations.

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was used to observe the features of tensile fracture surfaces and interfacial fiber-matrix. This approach has been used by others to evaluate the stiffness strength and toughness performance of biocomposites [2-4]-[2-6]. Three types of failure mechanisms have been identified in literature for natural fiber reinforced polymers: matrix failure, fiber fracture, and fiber-matrix interfacial failure [2-6]. A weak interface or improper compatibility between fiber and matrix may lead to fiber pull-out instead of fracture, and may reduce the resulting mechanical properties. In this study, combinations of these failures were observed depending on the composition of the biocomposite. Figure 5-5d shows a representative SEM micrograph corresponding to biocomposite E with 10 % EMS in UPE and 1.5 wt. % nanoclay. The encircled region shows fiber pull-out and the boxed region shows fiber fracture. It was observed that the interfacial gaps around pulled-out fibers increased with increasing bio-resin content, suggesting weaker adhesion characteristics between fiber and the bio-based matrix.

The interfacial characteristics of pullout failures were thus studied. Figure 5-5a and Figure 5-5b show that the interfacial gap increases with increasing bio-resin contents for 10 % EMS (biocomposite B) and 20 % EMS (biocomposite C), respectively. The interface gap for biocomposite E, with 10 % EMS and 1.5 wt. % clay revealed a similar interface gap as its counterpart neat resin biocomposite B, with 10 % EMS and no clay (Figure 5-5c). This would indicate that nanoclay reinforcement does not seem to alter the adhesion features between fiber and matrix. Tensile test results support the hypotheses that weaker interface leads to a more pronounced pull-out phenomenon, as reduction in tensile modulus and strength were observed with an increase of bio-resin. Fiber pull-out enables dissipation of more energy along the interface, which is consistent with higher impact strength and ductility values obtained when increasing bio-resin content.

The final study in tensile fracture morphologies was the study of the matrix surface. Figure 5-6 shows matrix morphologies in the tensile fracture surfaces of biocomposites A, B, D and E (see Table 5-1 for nomenclature). The roughness of a fracture surface has generally been associated with fracture properties and critical strain energy release rates [5-18]. Smooth featureless fracture surface is attributed to brittle failures and rougher fracture surfaces are attributed to tougher nanocomposites [5-18]. SEM micrographs for biocomposites A (Figure 5-6a) and B (Figure 5-6b), with no nanoclay, revealed fracture surfaces that were relatively smooth and featureless. The roughness of the fracture surfaces increased with increasing bio-resin and nanoclay content. For neat resins (no clay), an increase in bio-resin content resulted in increased surface roughness in the form of reduced spacing of the fractal planes. Increase in surface roughness due to addition of clay (Figure 5-6c and Figure 5-6d) was more obvious. The increase in surface roughness due to combination of bio-resin and nanoclay suggests resulting hybrid biocomposites are tougher than benchmark biocomposite A. Research has shown that changes in fracture morphologies suggest different toughening mechanism at low and high clay loading [5-18]. It is difficult to quantitatively relate the fracture surface to toughness of the composites [5-18]. This requires better understanding of micro-structural parameters, crack propagation mechanisms and interface studies to relate fracture and toughness measures to the fracture surface morphologies.

## 5.6 Discussion

The characterization of hybrid biocomposites made of natural fibers, petroleum based resin (UPE), bio-resin (EMS) and nanoclay inclusions (Cloisite 30B<sup>•</sup>) showed a variety of multifunctional properties. As expected, the experimental data revealed scatter/variations in measured parameters. These variations were specifically larger for failure-dependent parameters, such as tensile failure strains, tensile strengths and impact strengths. Detailed statistical analyses taking into account these variations should be performed to quantitatively and precisely obtain the effects of constituents, namely EMS and nanoclay. In this work, only the average values were considered and hence a qualitative effect and overall trends based on average values could be obtained. It was observed that the combination of layered silicates and bio-based resin systems provide biocomposites with similar or better properties than the benchmark biocomposite manufactured from natural fibers and UPE. Mechanical testing revealed a decrease in stiffness-related parameters such as tensile modulus and ultimate tensile stress, and an increase in toughness related parameters, such as ductility (elongation at failure) and impact strengths, with increasing bioresin content. The addition of nanoclay increased stiffness but reduced toughness of the composites. The improvement in toughness of the resulting biocomposites was thus compromised with the addition of nanoclay. The advantages of combining EMS and nanoclay provides a synergistic effect that is not limited to only achieving a stiffnesstoughness balance for the resulting bio-based composites, as similar enhancements were observed in barrier and thermal properties.

The addition of EMS increased moisture absorption and the coefficient of thermal expansion of the resulting biocomposite. However, results indicate that the adverse effects of bio-resin on permeability and thermal properties can be recovered with the enhancement provided by the nanoclay. The moisture absorption results also show that the biocomposite material systems absorb less moisture than the natural fibers alone. Biocomposite A (benchmark) absorbed approximately 3 % moisture, while the hemp fibers alone are reported to absorb 8 % moisture [5-7]. The matrix thus serves as a barrier, reducing the moisture absorbed by the natural fibers. In a bio-based polymer, bio-resin is more permeable than its synthetic counterpart. The incorporation of nanoclay inclusions introduces a tortuous path for moisture movement thereby enhancing barrier properties of the matrix and enabling the recovery of the negative effects from bio-resin addition.

The enhancements provided by nanoclay were more pronounced in UPE biocomposites than UPE/EMS biocomposites. This indicates that the negative effect from EMS addition was larger than the benefit provided by nanoclay and raises questions on the compatibility of EMS and nanoclay. The authors believe that the compatibility was adequate. In a parallel numerical study, material layout optimization of the three-phase system (UPE, EMS, and nanoclay) was carried out to identify their distribution by matching the numerically homogenized tensile modulus to experimental data. Results indicate that the bioresin tends to accumulate around the nanoclay platelet, suggesting affinity between them. This deposition of the more complaint EMS around the clay platelet affects the stress transfer and hence supports the lower degree of enhancements in mechanical properties.

Transmission electron microscopy on the matrix revealed partially exfoliated and intercalated galleries. Improvements in nanocomposite processing can enable better exfoliation thereby leading to better stiffness and barrier properties [5-17]. Meanwhile, an intercalated morphology gives better toughness properties [5-17]. This suggests that a balance of exfoliation and intercalation is best suited for stiffness/toughness balance of the nanocomposite. However, since mechanical properties are governed by macro-fibers, exfoliated nanoclay morphology is preferred as it enhances barrier and thermal properties.

Scanning electron microscopy lead to interesting observations related to the toughness and the adhesion between the natural fibers and the nanoclay reinforced biobased resin. While the effects of nanoclay and bio-resin additives on fiber adhesion are not fully understood, the interfacial properties can be improved by surface treatment of the fibers. Industrial raw (unprocessed) fibers were used in this work to characterize an initial benchmark towards a synergistic balance of the constituents. In this way, a lower performance bound for this type of hybrid bio-based composite was obtained.
Improvements in nanocomposite processing, incorporation of higher amounts of nanoclay and bio-resin along with the use of "engineered," or treated, fibers would lead to environmentally friendly composites with competitive thermo-mechanical properties.

#### 5.7 Conclusions

Results from this study indicate that novel multiscale hybrid bio-based composites can be obtained from a combination of industrial hemp and blends of unsaturated polyester with epoxidized methyl soyate and nanoclay inclusions. The properties of the resulting biocomposites are tailorable and dictated by the amount and distribution of the constituents. Experimental characterization studies showed that the addition of bio-resin lowers mechanical parameters, such as stiffness and ultimate tensile stress, but increases toughness parameters, such as impact strengths and ductility. The addition of nanoclay enhances stiffness but seems to decrease toughness. Thus, the study shows that a proper stiffness/toughness balance can be obtained by controlling the amount of bio-resin and nanoclay content. Moreover, the multiphase hybrid biocomposites have multifunctional properties, such as improved barrier and thermal properties. Incorporation of higher concentrations of bio-resins and nanoclay along with improvements in processing will enable maximizing the multifunctional properties that the hybrid biocomposites offer. The study shows that bio-based composites with proper stiffness/toughness balance can be obtained while preserving environmental friendliness and cost effectiveness. The improved multifaceted features possible for these sustainable bio-based materials are likely to increase their appeal for use in transportation and housing structural applications.

140

## 5.8 Tables and Figures

Specimen - Identification	Composition (%)			Fiber Fi (%	ractions 6)	Density (g/cc.)		
	UPE	EMS	Clay	Weight Fraction	Volume Fraction	Resin	Composite	
				Wf	$V_{f}$	$\rho_m$	ρ <sub>c</sub>	
Α	100	0	0	21	18	1.177	1.257	
В	90	10	0	21	17	1.161	1.234	
С	80	20	0	21	17	1.157	1.157	
D	100	0	1.5	22	18	1.196	1.245	
E	90	10	1.5	21	17	1.178	1.201	

#### Table 5-1. Biocomposite material identification and composition.

Density of Fiber ( $\rho_f$ ) = 1.48 g/cc [7].

The nomenclature is also referred as: [UPE / EMS / Clay /  $W_f$  /  $V_f$ ], For example, specimen ID "D" can be referred as [100 / 0 / 1.5 / 22 / 18].



Figure 5-1. Tensile modulus and ultimate tensile strengths.



Figure 5-2. Impact strengths from notched Izod tests and tensile strains at failure.



Figure 5-3. Linear coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) and moisture absorption (MA).



Figure 5-4. Bright-field TEM micrographs revealing homogenous dispersion with partially exfoliated and intercalated clay particles in UPE matrix. a) low magnification, scale bar = 1  $\mu m$ , b) high magnification, scale bar = 50 nm, approximately 3 to 4 particles per gallery of intercalated particle



Figure 5-5. SEM micrographs of tensile fracture surfaces showing interfacial gaps between fiber and matrix. (a) biocomposite B: 10 % EMS and no nanoclay in UPE, (b) biocomposite C: 20 % EMS and no nanoclay in UPE, (c) biocomposite E: 10 % EMS and 1.5 wt. % nanoclay in UPE, and (d) representative fracture surface showing both pull-out (circled region) and fracture (boxed region) of fibers, scale bar = 100 µm. Images (a) to (c): scale bar =10 µm.



Figure 5-6. SEM micrographs showing matrix region in tensile fracture surface of biocomposites. Micrographs (a), (b), (c) and d represent biocomposites A, B, D, E, respectively. All images have a magnification scale bar of 10  $\mu$ m.

#### 5.9 References

- [5-1]. Mohanty, A.K, Misra M, Hinrichsen, G. Biofibers, Biodegradable Polymers and Biocomposites: An Overview. Macromol Mater Eng 2000; 276/277:1-24.
- [5-2]. Nickel J, Riedel U. Activities in biocomposites. Mater Today 2003; 6:44-48.
- [5-3]. O'Donnell A, Dweib MA, Wool RP. Natural fiber composites with plant oil based resin. Compos Sci Technol 2004, 64:1135-1145.
- [5-4]. Shibata M, Ozawa K, Teramoto N, Yosomiya R, Takeishi H. Biocomposites made from short abaca fiber and biodegradable polyesters. Macromol Mater Eng 2003; 288:35-43.
- [5-5]. Morye SS, Wool RP. Mechanical properties of glass /flax hybrid composites based on a novel modified soyabean oil matrix material. Polym Compos 2005, 26:407-146.
- [5-6]. Bodros E, Pillin I, Montrelay N, Baley C. Could biopolymers reinforced by randomly scattered flax fibers be used in structural applications. Compos Sci Technol 2007; 67:462-470.
- [5-7]. Burgueño R, Quagliata, MJ, Mohanty AK, Mehta GM, Drzal LT, Misra M. Load bearing natural fiber composite cellular beams and panels. Composites: A 2004; 35:645-656.
- [5-8]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Novel bio-based resins from blends of functionalized soyabean oil and unsaturated polyester resin. J Polym Sci, Part B: Polym Phys 2007; 45: 698-704
- [5-9]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Development of biobased unsaturated polyester containing functionalized vegetable oils. Ind Eng Chem Res 2006; 45:1014-1018.
- [5-10]. Le Baron PC, Wang Z, Pinnavaia TJ, Polymer layered silicate nanocomposites: an overview. Appl Clay Sci. 1999; 15:11-29
- [5-11]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Characterization and thermophysical properties of unsaturated polyester-layered silicate nanocomposites. J Nanosci Nanotech 2006; 6:464-471.
- [5-12]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Bio-based unsaturated polyester/layered silicate nanocomposites: characterization and thermo-physical properties. Composites: A, Communicated.
- [5-13]. Tsai JL, Wu MD. Organoclay effect on mechanical responses of glass/epoxy nanocomposites. J Compos Mater 2008; 42:553-568.

- [5-14]. Kinloch AJ, Mohammed RD, Taylor AC, Sprenger S, Egan D. The interlaminar toughness of carbon fibre reinforced plastic composites using 'hybrid-toughened' matrices. J Mater Sci 2006; 41:5043-5046.
- [5-15]. Kinloch AJ, Mohammed RD, Taylor AC, Sprenger S, Egan D. The effect of silica nano particles and rubber particles on the toughness of multiphase thermosetting epoxy polymers. J Mater Sci 2005; 40:5083-5086.
- [5-16]. Gojny FH, Wichmann MHG, Fiedler B, Bauhofer W, Schulte K. Influence of nanomodification on the mechanical and electrical properties of conventional fiberreinforced polymers. Composites: A 2005; 36:1525-1535.
- [5-17]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Processing techniques for bio-based unsaturated-polyester/clay nanocomposites: tensile properties, efficiency and limits. Polymer, Communicated.
- [5-18]. Wang L, Wang K, Chen L, Zhang Y, He C. Preparation, morphology and thermal/mechanical properties of epoxy/clay nanoclay composite. Composites: A 2006; 37:1890-1896.

# Chapter 6. Multiscale Hybrid Biocomposites: II - HF / UPE / EML<sup>1</sup>

#### 6.1 Abstract

Environmentally friendly bio-based composites with enhancements in multiple properties can be obtained by harnessing the synergy offered by hybrid constituents such as multiscale (nano- and micro- scale) reinforcement in bio-based polymers composed of blends of synthetic and natural resins. Multiscale reinforcement offers synergy of constituents at various length scales, and when combined with bio-based resins provide stiffness-toughness balance, improved thermal and barrier properties, and increased environmental appeal to the resulting composites. Bio-based composites consisting of unsaturated polyester (UPE, petroleum-based resin), epoxidized methyl linseedate (EML, bio-resin), natural fibers (industrial hemp), and nanoclay inclusions were developed. The effects of EML and nanoclay content, and optimal material compositions that maximize synergy of resulting biocomposites were studied through experimental characterization of 12 biocomposites with EML and nanoclay contents of upto 30% and 5 wt.%, respectively. Results show synergistic behavior of resulting biocomposites with the effects of bio-resin addition being complimented by nanoclay, and vice versa. Moreover, these hybrid materials are tailorable in performance and in environmental impact, and show potential for wide applications.

#### 6.2 Introduction

Hybrid bio-based composites consisting of multiscale reinforcements, namely natural fibers and nanoclay embedded in blends of petroleum based (unsaturated polyester) and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Haq, M., Burgueño, R., Mohanty, A.K., and Misra, M., "Multifunctional Biocomposites from Hybrids of Hemp fibers, Nanoclay, Linseed oil and Unsaturated Polyester." Draft – to be submitted to Journal of Biobased Materials and Bioenergy.

A CONTRACT OF A

vegetable oil based resins (derivatives of vegetable oils, e.g soybean, linseed oil etc.), were found to produce composites that exhibit synergistic behavior, including stiffness-toughness balance, improvements in thermal and barrier properties, and increased environmental appeal [6-1]. Biocomposites, composed of natural fibers in synthetic or natural polymer matrices have recently gained much attention due to their low cost, environmental friendliness, and their potential to compete with synthetic composites [6-2]-[6-6]. Nonetheless, the use of bio-based composites has been limited due to their lower mechanical and thermo-physical properties compared to synthetic composites and conventional structural materials [6-5][6-6]. Nanoclay reinforcement in matrices of biocomposites enhances the thermal and barrier properties, and prevents moisture from reaching the natural fibers, thereby help maintain the integrity of the biocomposites and enhance its durability. The advantage of multiscale reinforcement is not limited to barrier properties, but when combined with bio-based resins provide stiffness-toughness balance, increase environmental appeal and provide multi-property improvements of resulting biocomposites [6-1].

Environmental concerns related to the use of synthetic, or petroleum-based, polymer matrix composites has propelled the development of composite materials based on natural or renewable sources [6-8][6-9]. Bio-based resins, or bio-blends, obtained by replacing part of a petroleum-based resin with natural bio-resin have been found to be a promising compromise between environmental friendliness and performance [6-1], as the use of all natural bio-resins has been limited due to performance concerns [6-7]. In addition to higher natural content, bio-based resins improve toughness of the resulting resin blend [6-1][6-8][6-10]. However, this increase in toughness compromises stiffness, barrier and thermal properties [6-8][6-10]. Stiffness and toughness are opposing performance parameters and a proper balance is required for an efficient composite. Hence, one way pursued by the authors to obtain stiffness-toughness balance and recover the lost barrier and thermal properties due to bio-resin addition is by addition of layered silicates (nanoclay).

The reinforcement of petroleum-based polymers with nanoclay has been shown to impart multifunctionality to the resulting polymers with enhancements not only on stiffness but improvements in thermal, barrier, flammability and ablation resistance properties [6-11]. Polymer-clay nanocomposites are well understood and considerable literature and review articles [6-11]-[6-14] exist on this topic. The advantage of nanoclay reinforcement in biobased polymers is that it enables the recovery of the properties lost due to bio-resin addition, and produce bio-based nanocomposites with improved stiffness-toughness balance [6-15]6-16]. Thus, the synergy between nanoclay reinforcement in a bio-blend produces a polymer nanocomposite with similar or enhanced properties than the virgin polymer and holds great promise for use in wide applications [6-16]. The application of nanoclay reinforced bio-based polymers to fiber reinforced composites provides value added properties to resulting biocomposites [6-1]. Thus, in a biocomposite, natural fibers remain the main reinforcement for stiffness and strength, while the nanoclay enhances the resin properties thereby improving the transient properties [6-1]. The incorporation of nanoclay and natural fibers in resin systems thus provides reinforcements to resin systems at two scales. Although, different concepts of multiscale reinforcement have been studied for synthetic composites [6-17]-[6-20], similar studies on multiscale/multiphase reinforcements of bio-based composites are limited [6-1].

An initial attempt to use the multiscale reinforcements for biocomposites and to evaluate the synergy of the constituents was performed on bio-based resins containing blends of unsaturated polyester (UPE) and epoxidized methyl soyate (EMS), reinforced with hemp fibers and nanoclay [6-1]. The study incorporated up to 10% of EMS, 1.5 wt.% of nanoclay and an average volume fraction of 17% of short hemp fibers. The study showed promising results but was limited by the nanocomposite processing that allowed relatively less amounts of bio-resin (10%) and nanoclay (1.5 wt.%). In order to exploit the synergy offered by these materials and improve the environmental appeal, higher amounts of bioresin and nanoclay were recommended [6-1]. Also, a study on blends of neat resins (no clay), by replacing parts of UPE with EMS [6-16] and EML [6-21] suggests UPE/EML composites perform relatively better than similar composites from UPE/EMS blends.

In this work, the shortcomings and recommendations from the UPE/EMS nanocomposites study [6-16] were addressed and improvements were made. Firstly, the bioresin used in this work is EML instead of EMS, as it has been reported to perform better [6-21]. Secondly, an improved manufacturing method identified from a detailed processing study [6-22], and which allowed incorporation of up to 30 wt.% EML and 5.0 wt.% nanoclay was used. Thirdly, the average volume fraction of natural fibers (hemp fibers) used in this work (27%) was higher than that from UPE/EMS study (17%) [6-1]. Finally, the possibility of incorporating relatively large amounts of nanoclay and bio-resin allowed detailed experimental characterization on 12 biocomposites, unlike UPE/EMS study wherein only five biocomposite systems were studied. Such detailed characterization allowed studying the effects of constituent materials on resulting biocomposite properties and enabled finding optimized material designs that maximize the synergy of these constituents. Biocomposites with material systems that varied the bio-resin (EML) content in UPE and the concentration of nanoclay while maintaining a constant amount of natural fibers were fabricated by compression molding. Mechanical and thermo-physical properties were evaluated through standard tests. The degree nanoclay dispersion and morphology in the resin systems was

characterized using transmission electron microscopy and the features of fracture surfaces were characterized using scanning electron microscopy. Results show synergistic behavior of constituents in the biocomposite with improved stiffness-toughness balance and enhancements in multiple properties of resulting environmental friendly and cost effective biocomposites. The resulting biocomposites are tailorable both in performance and in environmental impact and have potential for wide applications.

## 6.3 Experimental methods

Experimental determination of thermo-physical properties and material characterization was performed on biocomposite plates made from bio-based resin blends and reinforced with nanoclay inclusions and natural fibers. In the following sections, details on materials, processing, parameters studied, and testing are provided.

#### 6.3.1 Materials

Industrial unprocessed raw hemp (Stemergy, Ontario, Canada) was used as natural fiber reinforcement. The fibers were hand chopped to an average length of 25mm. The primary component of the resin blend was ortho unsaturated polyester resin (*UPE*, Polylite<sup>®</sup> 32570-00, Reichhold Inc., NC), which contains 33.5 wt.% styrene. The secondary component that replaced parts of UPE was a bio-based modifier, epoxidized methyl linseedate (*EML*, Vikoflex<sup>®</sup> 9010, Arkema Inc, PA). . EML is a mixture of methyl esters of fatty acid compositions that construct the linseed oil. The detailed composition is 40-50 wt % methyl linolenate epoxy, 24-26 wt % methyl oleate epoxy, 17-22 wt % methyl linoleate epoxy, 4-7 wt % methyl palmitate, and 2-5% methyl stearate. The nanoclay used to reinforce the resin system was Cloisite 30B<sup>®</sup> (Southern Clay Products, Inc. TX). The resin blend was processed with cobalt naphthenate (Sigma Aldrich, MO) as a promoter and 2-butanone peroxide (Sigma Aldrich) as an initiator. A constant ratio by weight of the resin system to the promoter and initiator was utilized to cure all of the biocomposites. The mixing ratio was 100 parts by weight of the resin system to 0.03 parts promoter and 1.50 part initiator.

#### 6.3.2 Experimental matrix and nomenclature

All biocomposite material systems were composed of natural fibers and a set of UPE-EML bio-based resin blends. The amount of bio-resin (epoxidized methyl linseedate, EML) that replaced the primary resin component UPE, was varied from 0% to 30%, in increments of 10%. A total of 4 neat resin (no clay) systems were obtained. Each of these resin systems were then reinforced with nanoclay inclusions of 0 wt.%, 2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.%. A total of 12 resin systems were obtained which were then reinforced with natural hemp fibers. A summary of the experimental matrix including nomenclature, composition, concentration of constituents and densities of the 12 biocomposite material systems studied are provided in Table 3-1.

#### 6.3.3 Polymer nanocomposite processing

The technique used for processing the nanoclay reinforced bio-based resin systems follows the findings from our group's study on solvent-based processing techniques for biobased clay/polymer nanocomposites [6-22]. The technique found to be most efficient consists of sonicating the nanoclay in acetone to an energy level of 300 kJ, using a solution concentration of approximately 50 l of acetone to 1 kg of clay, while it is constantly stirred. After sonication, only the UPE solution is added. The acetone + nanoclay + UPE solution is mixed continuously on a hot plate at approximately 55 °C to remove a majority of the acetone. The remaining acetone is removed by vacuum extraction at 55 °C for 24 h. During the acetone removal process the styrene present in the UPE is also removed. Thus, after acetone removal the bio-resin, EML, is added along with the lost styrene. The processed solution is cooled to room temperature and blended with the initiator and promoter followed by curing. A flow chart depicting the process is shown in Figure 6-1. The processed resin system with UPE, EML and nanoclay was used in the manufacturing of biocomposite plates.

#### 6.3.4 Manufacturing of hybrid biocomposite plates

Flat biocomposite plates for the twelve biocomposite material systems as described in Table 3-1 were manufactured using compression molding. The natural fibers were chopped to an average length of approximately 25 mm. These fibers were washed in distilled water and dried at room temperature for 12 hours. The fibers were then dried in a vacuum oven at 80°C and 100 kPa of pressure for at least 12 hours before compression molding. The resin system obtained from nanocomposite processing as described in earlier section was mixed with cobalt naphthenate (Sigma Aldrich, MO) as a promoter (0.03% by weight of resin blend) and 2-butanone peroxide (Sigma Aldrich) as an initiator (1.5 wt.% of resin blend). The measured quantity of fibers were then impregnated with resin system (UPE + EML + nanoclay + initiator + promoter) by hand mixing until the material was consistent (by visual evaluation). The impregnated fibers were then placed in a frame mold. Care was taken to evenly distribute the fiber material in the mold to ensure a uniform sample since natural fibers have a tendency to clump and tangle together when mixed. The frame mold was placed between two steel plates covered with Teflon paper. The sample was then cured in a press under 550 kPa of pressure for a total of 4 hours using a time-temperature profile of 100 °C for 2 hours, followed by 150 °C for 2 hours. An overview of biocomposite manufacturing is provided inFigure 6-2.

#### 6.3.5 Testing and characterization

Characterization of the biocomposite material systems was done through ASTM testing of coupon samples taken from the compression molded plates. The tensile properties (modulus, strength and elongation at failure) were measured on 6 to 8 samples as per ASTM D638. The impact strength was measured on 5 samples using notched Izod tests as per ASTM D256. Moisture absorption testing was performed using Fisher Scientific Versa bath -138 equipment that allowed immersion of samples in a distilled water bath with temperature maintained at 50 °C. The samples used for moisture measurements were rectangular bars and had average dimensions of 60.0 mm x 12.5 x 3.0 mm. The specimens were coated with impervious two-part epoxy on all edges to eliminate edge effects and limit the diffusion only through the thickness of the sample. All samples had flat and parallel surfaces as obtained from compression molded plate. The samples were placed in a vacuum oven at 80 °C for 24 hours to remove any residual moisture. The initial dry weights were recorded and the samples were immersed in water. The weight of the samples was measured every 12 hours for the first 3 days, followed by once every week until steady state (equilibrium, no further increase in weight of sample) was achieved. Moisture diffusivity coefficients were obtained from the moisture gain versus time plots for various biocomposites. The dispersion and morphology of clay inclusions in the resin systems was assessed with transmission electron microscopy (TEM). A JEOL 100CX TEM with LaB6 filament and 120 kV acceleration was used to obtain bright field images from sections approximately 100 nm thick. Tensile failure surfaces of biocomposites were pre-coated with a thin gold film and observed in a JEOL 6400 field emission scanning electron microscope (SEM) at 10 kV acceleration voltage.

### 6.4 Results

The incorporation of EML and nanoclay may have a beneficial or detrimental effect on the resulting biocomposite properties, depending on the property considered. Since the amount of natural fibers were relatively similar (Weight fraction of ~32%), the effects of bio-resin (EML) and nanoclay could be directly compared. All results in the following section are thus compared to benchmark biocomposite A, containing 100% UPE (0% EML and 0% nanoclay). Also, in the relative comparison in the following results, the biocomposite under consideration is provided in parentheses (See Table 3-1 for nomenclature).

#### 6.4.1 Material characterization study

(a) *Tensile modulus:* Results for the tensile modulus are provided in Figure 6-3. Considering only the average values, the overall trend suggests that the modulus of biocomposite materials decreased with increasing bio-resin content. The average tensile modulus of biocomposites B (10% EML), C (20% EML) and D (30% EML) was reduced approximately by 5, 30 and 50%, respectively. The addition of nanoclay enhances the properties of the resin system thereby increasing the overall composite properties. A major enhancement in modulus due to addition of nanoclay was not observed in our previous work as only 1.5 wt.% of nanoclay could be processed [6-1]. In this work, nanoclay content of up to 5 wt.% was used and hence relatively, a more pronounced effect of nanoclay was observed. The sole effect of nanoclay was studied by comparing virgin UPE (no EML) biocomposites reinforced with nanoclay (E and I) with benchmark biocomposite. The average tensile modulus values improved approximately by 20% (E) and 30% (I) for nanoclay contents of 2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.%, respectively.

Similarly, for biocomposites containing 2.5 wt.% nanoclay, the biocomposite F (10% EML) had an average tensile modulus value approximately 5% higher than benchmark bicomposite. Similarly biocomposites with 20% (G) and 30% (H) EML contents showed reduction in average tensile modulus values of approximately 10% (G) and 45% (H), respectively. Finally, for biocomposites containing 5.0 wt.% nanoclay, biocomposites with 10% EML blend (J) showed an enhancement in average tensile modulus values of approximately of 15% (J), while addition of 20% (K) and 30% (L) EML contents showed reduction in average tensile modulus values by approximately 5% (K) and 30% (L), respectively. The biocomposites containing 10% EML and reinforced with nanoclay, revealed not only a complete recovery, but improvement in lost stiffness due to EML addition. Overall trend considering the average values of tensile modulus suggests that the addition of bio-resin (EML) reduces the tensile modulus and addition of nanoclay improves the tensile modulus.

(b) Ultimate tensile strength: Results for the ultimate tensile strength are summarized in Figure 6-4. Similar to modulus, the sole effect of nanoclay on UTS was studied by comparing virgin UPE (no EML) biocomposites reinforced with nanoclay (E and I) with benchmark biocomposite. The biocomposite E, had average tensile strengths similar to baseline biocomposite A. Nevertheless, biocomposite I, showed an average reduction of approximately 20%. The effect of EML was studied by comparing neat resin (no clay) biocomposites. The biocomposites B (10% EML) and C (20% EML) showed an improvement in average UTS values by approximately 20% (B) and 30% (C), respectively. Similarly for biocomposites reinforced with 2.5 wt.% nanoclay, improvements in average UTS values of approximately 20% (both F and G) was observed. Also, for biocomposites reinforced with 5.0 wt.% nanoclay, improvement in average UTS values of approximately 20% (both F and G) was observed. Also, for biocomposites

10% (J) and 20% (K) were observed. Finally, biocomposites with 30% EML content revealed reduction in average UTS values relative to counterparts with 10% and 20% EML contents but were higher than the baseline biocomposite (A). Biocomposites with 30% EML, namely, D (0% nanoclay) had average UTS values higher by approximately 10%, while biocomposites H (2.5 wt.% nanoclay) and L (5.0 wt.% nanoclay), on average had UTS values similar to benchmark biocomposite.

Overall, the addition of nanoclay seems to reduce the UTS values of resulting biocomposites while addition of bio-resin (EML) seems to enhance the UTS values. Nevertheless, reduction in average UTS values was observed for biocomposites with EML contents beyond 20%. Finally, all hybrid biocomposites that had both EML and nanoclay, showed average UTS values similar or higher than baseline biocomposite (A), indicating that the lost UTS properties due to nanoclay addition were recovered by EML addition, suggesting a synergistic behavior of the hybrid constituents.

(c) *E longation at failure*: The summary of tensile elongation at failure results is provided in Figure 6-5. The overall trend considering the average values of tensile failure strains suggests that the EML addition increases the ductility of the resulting biocomposite. For neat resin (no nanoclay) biocomposites, increase in average tensile failure elongation values of approximately 45% (B), 110% (C), and 150% (D) was observed. The nanoclay addition seems to make the resin systems more brittle, thereby reducing the ductility and corresponding tensile failure elongations. A reduction in average tensile failure elongations of approximately 20% was observed for nanoclay reinforced neat UPE (no EML) biocomposites (E and I). For biocomposites containing 2.5 wt.% nanoclay, the average tensile failure elongations improved by approximately 20% (F), 55% (G) and 130% (H).

Similarly for biocomposites containing 5.0 wt.% nanoclay, the average tensile failure elongations increased by approximately 15% (J), 75% (K) and 90% (L).

Overall nanoclay addition seems to make the resin system brittle and reduces the elongations at tensile failure of resulting biocomposites. The loss of ductility due to the addition of nanoclay seems to not only be recovered but improved by addition of EML in all biocomposites in this study.

(d) Notched Izod impact strength: Figure 6-6 summarizes the results from the notched Izod impact strength testing. The overall trend considering the average impact strength values suggests that impact strengths of resulting biocomposites increased with increasing EML content and decreased with the nanoclay addition. The increase in average impact strength values of neat resin (no clay) biocomposites due to addition of EML was approximately 70% (B), 105% (C) and 125% (D). The addition of nanoclay reduced the average impact strengths, as observed in virgin UPE (no EML) biocomposites reinforced with nanoclay. The impact strengths of biocomposites E and I, on an average reduced by approximately 20% due to addition of nanoclay.

For biocomposites containing 2.5 wt.%, EML addition revealed enhancements in average impact strength values by approximately 65% (F), 90% (G) and 100%(H). Similarly for biocomposites containing 5.0 wt.% nanoclay, EML addition revealed increase in average impact strength values by approximately 60% (J), 80% (K) and 95% (L). Overall, the loss in impact strengths (toughness) due to addition of nanoclay seems to not only be fully recovered but enhancements were obtained by addition of EML content. A summary of the experimental tensile and impact strength results are provided in Table 6-2. (f) Moisture absorption (MA): Moisture absorption properties for the biocomposites were obtained by water immersion tests where the weight gain at any given time (M) was measured until steady state was achieved. Due to thickness variations in the specimens the amount of moisture absorbed by each was different. Thus, instead of simply assessing the amount of moisture absorbed, the speed of moisture absorption in polymers and nanocomposites was quantitatively compared by determining their diffusion coefficient [6-23]. Hence, moisture diffusivity coefficient was used as the parameter to assess the effect of bio-resin (EML) and nanoclay content on the different bio-based polymer nanocomposites. The diffusivity coefficient, D, was computed from the initial slope of the moisture gain,  $M_t/M_{\infty}$  versus time ( $\sqrt{t}/d$ ) as:

$$D = \frac{\pi}{16} \left( \frac{M_t / M_\infty}{\sqrt{t} / d} \right)^2 \tag{6-1}$$

where  $M_t$  is the mass gain at any time t,  $M_{\infty}$  is the maximum mass gain at equilibrium/steady state, and d is the thickness of the specimen.

Figure 6-7 shows the plots of moisture gain versus time for neat (no clay) resin systems. The experimental data is shown in symbols and the exponential fits are superimposed as solid line. The diffusivity coefficients were obtained by substituting the initial slope from the curves in Figure 6-7 into Equation (6-1). The variation of the diffusivity coefficients D, with increasing EML content are shown as an inset in Figure 6-7. Due to the absence of nanoclay, the diffusion coefficients obtained show the effect of blending bio-resin (EML) in virgin UPE. The overall trend considering the average values of diffusivity coefficients of biocomposites suggests increase in diffusivity with increasing EML content. For neat resins (no nanoclay), the average diffusivity coefficient values increased by approximately 20% (B), 85% (C) and 200% (D).

The addition of nanoclay seems to improve the barrier properties, thereby reducing the diffusion coefficient values. For neat UPE (no EML) biocomposites, the addition of 2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.% nanoclay show reduction in average diffusion coefficient values by approximately 25% (E) and 35% (I), respectively. It is clear that the increase in moisture diffusivity coefficients due to addition of EML is higher than the reduction offered by nanoclay. For biocomposites containing 2.5 wt.% nanoclay, the average diffusivity coefficients values were higher by approximately 5% (F), 65% (G) and 190% (H) for EML contents of 10% (F), 20%(G), and 30%(H), respectively. The barrier properties lost due to addition of EML were only partially recovered by addition of 2.5 wt.% nanoclay. Nevertheless, for biocomposite J (10% EML, 5.0 wt.% nanoclay), average diffusion coefficient values were reduced by approximately 5%, indicating recoveryof loast barrier properties. Similarly, for biocomposites containing 5 wt.% nanoclay, the addition of 20% and 30% EML contents revealed increase in average diffusion coefficient values by approximately 20% (K) and 160% (L), respectively, thereby offering only partial recovery. Considerable enhancement in moisture diffusion properties were observed due to the addition of nanoclay. Nevertheless, the detrimental effect of EML was more than the enhancement provided by nanoclay. As a result a partial recovery was obtained in all biocomposites with EML contents more than 10%. Full recovery of lost barrier properties due to EML addition was observed only in biocomposite J(10%EML, 5 wt.% nanoclay). The diffusivity coefficients of all biocomposites in this study are summarized in Figure 6-8.

(g) Nanoday dispersion and exfoliation: Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) was used in this study to observe the dispersion and morphology of nanoclay in the polymer system (no fibers). Figure 6-9 (a) and (b) shows the bright field TEM micrographs of clay / UPE composites. Figure 6-9 (a) shows a general distribution of nanoclay particles in UPE matrix. It was observed that the clay platelets were well distributed and had partially exfoliated and intercalated morphologies. Figure 6-9 (b) shows a high magnification micrograph of an intercalated clay gallery in a UPE matrix containing 5 wt.% nanoclay. Similar micrographs were observed for UPE/EML blends reinforced with nanoclay. In order to obtain better exfoliation, additional energy must be spent in sonication of clay along with improvements in the functionalization of the nanoclay and the polymer.

(h) Fracture surface observations: Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) was used to observe the features of tensile fracture surfaces and fiber-matrix interfaces. Such an approach has been used by others to study the fiber-distribution, stiffness and toughness performance of biocomposites [6-3][6-4][6-5]. Three types of failure mechanisms have been identified in literature for natural fiber reinforced polymers: matrix failure, fiber fracture and fiber-matrix interfacial failure [6-5]. Similar failure morphologies were observed in the tensile fracture surfaces of the biocomposites in this study.

The natural fibers used for all biocomposites in this study had same fiber quantity, average lengths, surface characteristics and manufacturing procedures. Hence, the observed distribution of fibers was similar for all biocomposites. Figure 6-10 (a) and (b) show epresentative tensile fracture surfaces from biocomposite A. Figure 6-10 (a) is a low magnification (scale = 200  $\mu$ m) fracture surface showing the distribution of fibers and the various failure types. The fiber pull-out failure is observed by cavities left in the matrix (encircled regions) and fiber fracture is observed by loose fiber ends in the fracture surface (arrow regions). Similarly, Figure 6-10 (b) shows the failure morphologies such as pull-out

(encircled), fiber fracture (boxed) and fiber-matrix interface (arrow). Also, clumping / bunching of some fibers was observed. This may be due to two reasons: a) natural fibers have an inherent tendency to clump together, and b) the fibers used were not surface-treated, and hence may have relatively poor adhesion characteristics with the polymer. Improvements of surface characteristics may avoid clumping of fibers and lead to better enhancement in material properties. Many studies have been performed to study the effect of surface treatments and a good review of the same is provided by Mohanty et. al [6-24].

SEM micrographs have also been used to observe interfacial performance or pullout characteristics of the fiber [6-3]. A weak interface, weaker matrix, improper compatibility between natural fiber and the matrix and/or improper adhesion characteristics may lead to fiber pull-out instead of fracture and may reduce the resulting mechanical properties. In short random fiber composites, a fracture surface may generally show a combination of fiber pull-out, fiber fractures and fracture of matrix regions. The fiber pull-out is observed in tensile fracture surfaces by three main characteristics: a) observation of cavity with shape and diameter of the fiber indicating fiber pull-out, b) existence of long pulled-out fibers, which may have pulled out of the other half of the tensile specimen not viewed in SEM, and c) the interface gap - the gap between the fiber and the matrix in pulled-out fibers. It is generally possible to see the first two factors, (a) and (b) in all short-fiber composite tensile fracture surfaces. The pull-out strength of the fibers depends mainly on the embedment length of the fibers. In all randomly oriented short fiber composites, it is possible that at the cross section of failure, there are some fibers that do not have enough embedment length and hence may pull out of the resin. This embedment length depends mainly on fiber-matrix adhesion property. Hence surface treatments may enhance the adhesion property and reduce the embedment length and corresponding pull-out type failure. A well embedded fiber may have

adequate bonding and lead to tensile fracture of the fiber. In general, SEM micrographs of tensile fracture surface will hence show a combination of the above mention failure mechanisms.

In an earlier study by our group the interfacial gap (gap between the fiber and matrix) was studied for varying contents of bio-resin and nanoclay [6-1]. A similar study was performed in this work by comparing the interfacial characteristics of specific biocomposites in the experimental matrix. The biocomposites with extreme values of bio-resin and nanoclay content within the experimental matrix under consideration (A, D, I and K) were selected. Figure 6-10 (c) shows the interfacial gap for the benchmark biocomposite A with no clay and no EML. Figure 6-10 (d) shows the increase in interfacial gap due to addition of 30% EML (D). The interface gap for biocomposite (I) with 0% EML and 5 wt.% clay is shown in Figure 6-10 (e) and was observed to be similar or better (smaller interfacial gap) than benchmark biocomposite (A). A larger interface gap would have been expected if the nanoclay used and its morphology was having an adverse effect on interfacial properties. Also, the addition of nanoclay improves the overall matrix properties, thereby enabling fiber fracture instead of fiber pull-out and hence reduction in fiber-matrix interfacial gap. Finally, the biocomposite (L) with 30%EML and 5.0 wt.% nanoclay showed increase in interfacial gap relative to its counterpart biocomposite (I) and the benchmark composite (A). The study of interface and the effect of clay on fiber-matrix adhesion are not fully established and are beyond the scope of this work and hence no definite conclusions can be drawn at this time. The experimental tensile test results support this weaker interface and pull-out phenomena, as reduction in tensile modulus and strength was observed. The pull-out phenomena enables dissipation of more energy along the interface and hence higher impact strengths and higher ductility was observed for increasing bio-resin content.

The final study in tensile fracture morphologies was the study of matrix in biocomposites. The roughness of fracture surface has generally been associated fracture properties and critical strain energy release rates. A smooth featureless fracture surface is attributed to brittle failures and rougher fracture surfaces are attributed to tougher nanocomposites [6-25]. The matrix region in the fracture surface for biocomposite A (0% EML, 0% nanoclay), was found to be relatively smooth and featureless (Figure 6-11 a). Figure 6-11 (b) shows the well-blended (UPE/EML) matrix region of biocomposite D (30%EML, 0% clay). Figure 6-11 (c) shows the phase-separated, EML enriched matrix region of biocomposite D. Such phase separation was observed only in biocomposite (D) and not it other biocomposites in this study. Overall, the roughness of the fracture surfaces increased with increasing bio-resin (EML) content. Figure 6-11 (d) and (e) shows the matrix region of biocomposites with 5 wt.% nanoclay containing 0% EML (I) and 30% EML (L), respectively. The addition of nanoclay also increased the surface roughness of the matrix region. This suggests that the combination of EML blend and clay will provide tougher composites. Research has shown that change in fracture morphologies suggest different toughening mechanism at low and high clay loading. It is difficult to quantitatively relate the fracture surface to toughness of the composites [6-25]. This requires better understanding of micro-structural parameter, crack propagation mechanisms and interface studies to relate the fracture and toughness to the surface morphologies.

#### 6.5 Discussion

Experimental characterization of hybrid biocomposites containing multiscale reinforcements of nanoclay and natural fibers (unprocessed hemp) in bio-based resins (blends of petroleum based UPE and bio-resin, EML) reveal synergistic behavior and multifunctional properties. As expected, the experimental data revealed scatter/variations in measured parameters. These variations were specifically larger for failure-dependent parameters, such as tensile failure strains, tensile strengths and impact strengths. Detailed statistical analyses taking into account these variations should be performed to quantitatively and precisely obtain the effects of constituents, namely EMS and nanoclay. In this work, only the average values were considered and hence a qualitative effect and overall trends based on average values could be obtained. Overall, it was observed that hybrid combination of layered silicates and bio-based resin systems provide biocomposites with similar or better properties than the baseline biocomposite containing natural fibers and virgin UPE (0% EML, 0% nanoclay).

This work was an improvement of an earlier study [6-1] that had limitations on the amounts of bio-resin (EMS, 10%) and nanoclay (1.5 wt.%) used. The study [6-1] showed promise with respect to synergistic behavior of biocomposites and recommended incorporation of high amounts of bio-resin and nanoclay to fully exploit the benefits offered by these biocomposites. This work used improved processing that allowed incorporation of 30% of bio-resin (EML) and 5 wt.% nanoclay, thereby allowing to find limits to the synergistic performance of these materials. Mechanical testing revealed enhancement in toughness related parameters such as impact strengths and ductility, and reduction of stiffness related parameters such as tensile modulus, with addition of bio-resin. Similarly, the nanoclay addition increased stiffness but reduced toughness of resulting biocomposites. An interesting observation was made in tensile strength results: the study on neat resins (no reinforcements) revealed decrease in tensile strengths with addition of bio-resin in UPE, which was attributed to the inherent weak nature of the bio-resin [6-16]. A similar trend was expected when such bio-based resins were used for biocomposites. Nevertheless, the biocomposites evaluated in this work showed increase in tensile strengths for EML contents up to 20%, and then a drop in tensile strengths for EML contents of 30%. This trend was consistent for nanoclay reinforced resin systems (Figure 6-4). Additonally, the nanoclay reinforced biocomposites had lower strengths than respective neat resin (no clay) counterparts. Similar reduction in tensile strengths was also observed for nanoclay reinforced (no natural fibers) resins. The authors believe that the failure initiates in the flaws and imperfections in the matrix and thus attribute the reduction in tensile strengths and ductility of nanoclay reinforced bio-based composites to the stress concentrations created by the nanoclay reinforcement in the relatively brittle polymer matrix. While there is no general consensus on this point of view, computational studies by a parallel effort to this work [6-26] have shown evidence to this mechanism.

It should be noted that most mechanical properties are governed primarily by the macro-reinforcement, (hemp fibers). Also, the fiber content in all the biocomposites was similar and the increase in tensile strengths due to increase in EML contents (up to 20%) suggests better synergy of the constituents. The addition of bio-resin makes the resin system ductile and less brittle. Such compliance offered by bio-resin addition allows the natural fibers to take more stresses and hence the improvement in strengths. Finally, the decrease in tensile strengths at 30% EML content is attributed to phase separation of UPE and EML, thereby creating EML rich regions that lead to premature failure due to their inherent weak nature. Moreover, large variations in tensile strength values were observed which may be due to many factors including manufacturing defects like fiber-distribution or voids, impurities such as the wood-like core material present in the untreated natural fibers which may lead to premature tensile failure and cause scatter in the results. These defects and impurities may act as crack initiators, or lead to poor fiber-matrix adhesion. In spite of the scatter,

consistent trends (Figure 6-4) were observed with variations of nanoclay and bio-resin addition. Overall, mechanical characterization revealed that addition of EML enhanced toughness but reduced stiffness, while nanoclay improved stiffness but compromised toughness of the resulting biocomposites. The combination of nanoclay and EML provides a synergistic effect such that the detrimental effects of each constituent are complimented by the other and beneficial properties are revealed in resulting biocomposites. The advantages of hybrid combinations of EML and nanoclay and the synergy they offer is not limited to stiffness-toughness balance but similar enhancements were observed in barrier properties.

The study on moisture diffusion of biocomposites revealed that addition of EML increased moisture diffusivity while excellent barrier properties enhancements provided by nanoclay inclusions helped in recovering the barrier properties lost due to EML addition. However, the increase in moisture diffusivity due to addition of EML was higher than the barrier resistance offered by nanoclay. Hence, complete recovery was possible only in biocomposites with 10% EML contents with 5 wt.% nanoclay. Nevertheless, nanoclay inclusions resulted in partial recovery in all other biocomposites. Also, it was observed that biocomposite material systems absorb less moisture than natural fibers alone. Similar results were reported in an earlier study [6-1]. The matrix serves as a barrier for the moisture reaching the natural fibers. Hence, the merit of using nanoclay in the biocomposites is that it improves the barrier properties of the matrix by preventing/delaying the moisture from reaching the natural fibers by introducing a tortuous path for moisture movement, thereby help maintaining integrity of biocomposites and improving its durability.

The improved processing and incorporation of high amounts of EML (30%) and nanoclay (5 wt.%) allowed to obtain limits to synergistic performance and the effects of each of the constituents on the resulting properties of the hybrid biocomposites. It was found that biocomposites with EML contents beyond 30% showed least synergy among constituents. Although partial recovery was observed in most properties, the loss in properties due to the addition of EML was beyond the recovery provided by nanoclay. Biocomposites with 10% EML contents and nanoclay showed complete recovery with superior properties than the baseline biocomposites. Finally, biocomposites with 20% EML and nanoclay showed balanced properties, with properties similar or lower than baseline biocomposites. Considering ease of nanocomposites processing and synergistic performance of resulting biocomposite, EML contents of 10% and 20% EML reinforced with nanoclay (2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.%) have been identified as optimized material layouts.

The nanocomposites processing technique used in this work were found to produce nanoclay platelets with a combination of exfoliated and intercalated morphologies with excellent dispersion. Exfoliated morphologies lead to better stiffness and barrier properties, while intercalated morphology gives better toughness properties. A proper balance of exfoliation and intercalation would be suggested for the desired stiffness - toughness balance. However, in biocomposites, and in general fiber reinforced composites, since mechanical properties are mostly governed by fibers, exfoliated nanoclay morphologies are preferred for non-mechanical enhancements such as barrier and thermal properties. The study of tensile fracture surfaces of biocomposites revealed interesting observations on toughness and adhesion between natural fibers and hemp. The addition of bio-resin (EML) led to increased fiber pull-outs and increased fiber-matrix interfacial gap, resulting in increased toughness and ductility. The addition of nanoclay and its effect on fiber-matrix adhesion is beyond the scope of this work. Overall, the fracture surface observations support the experimental observation of synergistic behavior and the resulting stiffnesstoughness balance due to the combination of EML and nanoclay. Meanwhile, the interfacial

properties and resulting properties of biocomposites can be improved by surface treatment of the fibers [6-1]. Unprocessed industrial raw fibers were used in this work to characterize the resulting biocomposites such that lower performance bounds were obtained. The use of "engineered," or treated, fibers with nanoclay reinforced bio-resins would lead to novel environmentally friendly hybrid biocomposites with competitive and improvements in multiple properties.

#### 6.6 Conclusions

Results from this study indicate that novel environmentally friendly bio-based composites with improvements in multiple properties can be obtained from combination of multiscale reinforcements of nanoclay and industrial hemp fibers in resin blends of unsaturated polyester (UPE) and epoxidized methyl linseedate(EML). Experimental characterization revealed addition of EML increases toughness parameters like impact strengths and ductility, but reduces stiffness. Addition of nanoclay improves stiffness but decreases toughness. Thus synergistic behavior of the hybrid biocomposite constituents resulted in excellent stiffness-toughness balance. Similar synergistic behavior was observed in moisture barrier properties where barrier properties lost due to bio-resin addition of EML were recovered by nanoclay. The incorporation of large amounts of bio-resin (30%) and nanoclay (5 wt.%) enabled finding optimized material layouts that maximize the synergy of these materials and also find the effect of the constituents resulting properties. It was found that biocomposites with EML contents beyond 30% showed least synergy, and properties lost due to bio-resin addition were not reasonably recovered by nanoclay inclusions. Biocomposites with 10% EML contents and nanoclay showed complete recovery with superior properties than the baseline biocomposites. Finally, biocomposites with 20% EML

and nanoclay showed balanced properties, with properties similar or slightly lower than baseline biocomposites. Considering ease of nanocomposite processing and synergistic performance of resulting biocomposite, EML contents of 10% and 20% EML reinforced with nanoclay (2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.%) were identified as optimized material layouts. The mechanical properties of biocomposites are governed mostly by natural fibers while nanoclay inclusions improve matrix properties, thereby enhancing transient properties like moisture diffusion and thermal properties. Thus the use of multiscale reinforcements provides enhancements and synergistic behavior at different scales resulting in efficient bio based materials. Finally, these materials are tailorable in performance and environmental impact by controlling the constituent concentrations. Such tailorable nature along with the use of "engineered," or treated, fibers with nanoclay reinforced bio-resins would lead to novel, environmentally friendly hybrid biocomposites with enhanced and competitive properties, thereby increasing the potential applications of such composites.

## 6.7 Tables and Figures

Specimen - Identification	Composition (%)			Fiber F (%	ractions %)	Density (g/cc.)	
	UPE	Weight Vo PE EML Clay Fraction Fr		Volume Fraction	Resin	Composite	
				Wf	Vf	$\rho_m$	ρ
Α	100	0	0.0	33	29	1.221	1.255
В	90	10	0.0	29	24	1.194	1.239
С	80	20	0.0	33	28	1.167	1.161
D	70	30	0.0	32	27	1.140	1.227
Ε	100	0	2.5	33	29	1.234	1.229
F	90	10	2.5	32	28	1.207	1.214
G	80	20	2.5	32	27	1.180	1.209
Н	70	30	2.5	32	27	1.153	1.194
Ι	100	0	5.0	29	25	1.247	1.277
J	90	10	5.0	32	28	1.220	1.227
K	80	20	5.0	31	27	1.194	1.214
L	70	30	5.0	32	27	1.167	1.179

Table 6-1. Biocomposite material properties, Composition and Identification

Density of Fiber  $(\rho_f) = 1.48 \text{ g/cc.}$ 

The nomenclature is also referred as: [UPE / EML / Clay /  $W_f$  /  $V_f$  ], For example, specimen ID "6" can be referred as [90 / 10 / 2.5 / 32 / 28].

Material	MOE (GPa)		UIS (MPa)		EF (%)		IS (J/m)	
ID-[UPE / EML / Clay / $W_f$ / $V_f$ ]	x x	σ	Ŧ	σ	Ŧ	σ	Ŧ	σ
A-[100 / 0 / 0.0 / 33 / 29]	6.11	1.52	19.85	2.12	0.37	0.02	26.11	5.50
<b>B-[90 / 10 / 0.0 / 29 / 24]</b>	5.75	0.50	25.53	2.41	0.54	0.08	44.73	6.33
C-[80 / 20 / 0.0 / 33 / 28]	4.26	0.53	28.45	3.21	0.77	0.08	53.60	11.08
<b>D-</b> [70 / 30 / 0.0 / 32 / 27]	3.18	0.61	22.37	4.49	0.92	0.14	58.22	3.28
E-[100 / 0 / 2.5 / 33 / 29]	7.45	0.34	20.55	1.04	0.28	0.05	21.02	5.08
F-[90 / 10 / 2.5 / 32 / 28]	6.55	2.23	24.47	1.85	0.45	0.08	43.48	4.79
G-[80 / 20 / 2.5 / 32 / 27]	5.57	1.17	25.27	1.50	0.58	0.03	49.94	5.29
H-[70 / 30 / 2.5 / 32 / 27]	3.45	0.60	19.53	2.12	0.85	0.18	52.67	19.82
I-[100 / 0 / 5.0 / 29 / 25]	7.95	1.93	16.40	3.17	0.32	0.14	20.24	3.14
<b>J</b> -[90 / 10 / 5.0 / 32 / 28]	6.88	0.66	21.89	3.24	0.42	0.08	42.12	7.53
<b>K-[80 / 20 / 5.0 / 31 / 27]</b>	5.70	0.72	25.31	1.79	0.64	0.09	46.52	5.57
L-[70 / 30 / 5.0 / 32 / 27]	4.43	0.17	20.34	2.15	0.71	0.07	50.92	2.49
E : Tensile modulus, $\sigma_u$ : IS: Impact Strength	Ultim	ate ter	nsile st	rength,	E <sub>u</sub> :	Elonga	tion at	failure,

Table 6-2. Measured properties of biocomposite material systems


Figure 6-1. Schematic of processing technique of nanoclay reinforced UPE + bio-resin blends



Figure 6-2. Manufacturing of nanoclay reinforced biocomposites



Figure 6-3. Experimental tensile modulus of biocomposite.



Figure 6-4. Experimental ultimate tensile strengths of biocomposites



Figure 6-5. Experimental elongations at tensile failure of biocomposites



Figure 6-6. Impact strengths of biocomposites from notched Izod tests



Figure 6-7. Moisture diffuisivity of neat resin (no nanoclay) biocomposites.



Figure 6-8. Summary of diffusion coefficients of various biocomposites.



Figure 6-9. TEM micrographs showing nanoclay dispersion and morphology. a) Nanocomposite resin in Biocomposite E (100/0/2.5) showing good dispersion with partially exfoliated and intercalated morphology in a resin system (scale = 1µm), and b) High magnification image of an intercalated gallery in nanocomposite resin of Biocomposite I (100/0/5.0) (scale = 50 nm).

-

The second second



Figure 6-10. Tensile fracture surface analysis: a) Generic low magnification failure surface showing fiber-pull-out (encircled) and fiber fracture (arrows) regions, (scale bar = 200 µm), b) Magnified regions showing fiber-pull-out (encircled), fiber fracture (boxed) regions and fiber-matrix interfacial gap (arrows), (scale bar = 50 µm). Fiber-matrix interfacial gap: c) Biocomposite A (100/0/0), d) Biocomposite I (00/0/50), and f) Biocomposite I (00/0/50).



Figure 6-11. Matrix regions of Tensile fracture surfaces: a) Biocomposite A (100/0/0), b) Biocomposite D (70/30/0), well blended UPE/EML region, c) Biocomposite D (70/30/0), phase-separated, bio-resin enriched region, d) Biocomposite I (100/0/5.0), and f) Biocomposite I (70/30/5.0).

#### 6.8 References

- [6-1]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK. Misra, M. Hybrid Bio-based Composites from blends of Unsaturated Polyester and Soy Bean Oil Reinforced with Nanoclay and Natural Fibers," Compos Sci Technol 2008, 68:3344-3351.
- [6-2]. O'Donnell A, Dweib MA, Wool RP. Natural fiber composites with plant oil based resin. Compos Sci Technol 2004, 64:1135-1145.
- [6-3]. Shibata M, Ozawa K, Teramoto N, Yosomiya R, Takeishi H. Biocomposites made from short abaca fiber and biodegradable polyesters. Macromol Mater Eng 2003; 288:35-43.
- [6-4]. Morye SS, Wool RP. Mechanical properties of glass /flax hybrid composites based on a novel modified soyabean oil matrix material. Polym Compos 2005, 26:407-146.
- [6-5]. Bodros E, Pillin I, Montrelay N, Baley C. Could biopolymers reinforced by randomly scattered flax fibers be used in structural applications. Compos Sci Technol 2007; 67:462-470.
- [6-6]. Burgueño R, Quagliata, MJ, Mohanty AK, Mehta GM, Drzal LT, Misra M. Load bearing natural fiber composite cellular beams and panels. Composites: A 2004; 35:645-656.
- [6-7]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Novel bio-based resins from blends of functionalized soyabean oil and unsaturated polyester resin. J Polym Sci, Part B: Polym Phys 2007; 45: 698-704
- [6-8]. Mohanty, A.K., Misra M, Hinrichsen, G. Biofibers, Biodegradable Polymers and Biocomposites: An Overview. Macromol Mater Eng 2000; 276/277:1-24.
- [6-9]. Nickel J, Riedel U. Activities in biocomposites. Mater Today 2003; 6:44-48.
- [6-10]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Development of biobased unsaturated polyester containing functionalized vegetable oils. Ind Eng Chem Res 2006; 45:1014-1018.
- [6-11]. Pinnavaia TJ, Beall GW. Polymer-Clay Nanocomposites, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., 2001.
- [6-12]. Le Baron PC, Wang Z, Pinnavaia TJ, Polymer layered silicate nanocomposites: an overview. Appl Clay Sci. 1999; 15:11-29
- [6-13]. Alexandre M, Dubois P. Polymer-layered silicate nancomposites: preparation, properties and uses of a new class of materials. Mater Sci Eng R 2000; 28:1-63.

- [6-14]. Hussain F, Hojjati M, Okamoto M, Gorga RE. Polymer-matrix Nanocomposites, Processing, Manufacturing and Application: An Overview. J Comp Mats 2006; 17: 1511-1575.
- [6-15]. Miyagawa H, Mohanty AK, Burgueño R, Drzal LT, Misra M. Characterization and thermophysical properties of unsaturated polyester-layered silicate nanocomposites. J Nanosci Nanotech 2006; 6:464-471.
- [6-16]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Bio-based unsaturated polyester/layered silicate nanocomposites: characterization and thermo-physical properties. Composites: A 2009; 40:540-547.
- [6-17]. Tsai JL, Wu MD. Organoclay effect on mechanical responses of glass/epoxy nanocomposites. J Compos Mater 2008; 42:553-568.
- [6-18]. Kinloch AJ, Mohammed RD, Taylor AC, Sprenger S, Egan D. The interlaminar toughness of carbon fibre reinforced plastic composites using 'hybrid-toughened' matrices. J Mater Sci 2006; 41:5043-5046.
- [6-19]. Kinloch AJ, Mohammed RD, Taylor AC, Sprenger S, Egan D. The effect of silica nano particles and rubber particles on the toughness of multiphase thermosetting epoxy polymers. J Mater Sci 2005; 40:5083-5086.
- [6-20]. Gojny FH, Wichmann MHG, Fiedler B, Bauhofer W, Schulte K. Influence of nanomodification on the mechanical and electrical properties of conventional fiberreinforced polymers. Composites: A 2005; 36:1525-1535.
- [6-21]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Development and Thermophysical Characterization of Clay Nanocomposites from Blends of Linseed oil and Unsaturated Polyester. Composites: A Communicated.
- [6-22]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Processing techniques for bio-based unsaturated-polyester/clay nanocomposites: tensile properties, efficiency and limits. Composites: A 2009; 40:394-403.
- [6-23]. Vlasveld, D.P.N., Groenewold, J., Bersee, H.E.N., Picken, S.J. Moisture absorption in polyamide-6 silicate nanocomposites and its influence on mechanical properties. Polymer 2005; 46:12567-12576.
- [6-24]. Mohanty AK, Misra M, Drzal LT. Surface Modifications of Natural Fibers and Performance of the Resulting Biocomposites: An Overview. Compos Interfaces 2001; 8:313-343.
- [6-25]. Wang L, Wang K, Chen L, Zhang Y, He C. Preparation, morphology and thermal/mechanical properties of epoxy/clay nanoclay composite. Composites: A 2006; 37:1890-1896
- [6-26]. Haq M, Burgueño R. Modeling and simulation of bio-based polymer/clay nanocomposites through a multi-level FE approach. In:Proceedings of Sixth

International conference on Computation of Shell & Spatial Structures. New York, May, 2008. SessionT-2-E.

## Chapter 7. Analytical and Numerical Modeling of Mechanical and Barrier Properties of Clay/Polymer Nanocomposites

#### 7.1 Introduction

Polymeric materials are often reinforced by stiff fillers to improve mechanical properties. The efficiency of reinforcement depends on the filler aspect ratio, the filler mechanical properties and the adhesion between the matrix and the filler [7-1]. Nanocomposites consisting of highly anisotropic clay platelets (layered alumino silicates, LAS) dispersed in polymeric matrix material are of interest for many important industrial applications [7-2]. Clays, or LAS, are composed of extremely thin (~1 nm) sheet like platelets that possess very large specific surface areas (SSA) and high aspect ratios. In addition, these platelets have an exceptionally high modulus in tension relative to most polymers and even many other types of fillers. Such properties enable the platelets, when dispersed in a polymer matrix, to carry a significant component of the applied load. Because of the high surface area and the small inter-particle distances, the platelets can, in principle, significantly alter the properties of the polymer matrix [7-3]. Research has shown that at very low concentrations  $(\sim 5\%$  by weight) the modulus has been increased by 100%. Considerable research has been performed on polymer/clay nanocomposites and apart from an increase in modulus, it has been observed that clay nanocomposites exhibit multi-functionality by exhibiting enhancement in many other physical properties including thermal, barrier, flammability resistance and tribological performance.

In order to efficiently exploit all the benefits that clay/polymer nanocomposites can offer it is important to understand the challenges that are faced relative to conventional fillers. The challenges include:

- a) Appropriate dispersion of reinforcements in the resin systems
- b) Interfacial issues: bonding, modeling, prediction of properties in the interfacial regime, interactions and functionalizations etc, and
- c) Obtaining nano-structural influences and representative information about the clay structure property relationship and nano-mechanical mechanisms. Issues include stress transfer mechanisms and theoretical predictions to validate or explain the experimental results taking into considerations possible mechanisms at the nanoscale.

As discussed earlier, one of the major attractions of clay in polymers is the high SSA that provides exceptional enhancement of mechano-physical properties due at lower concentrations. At the same time, high SSA can induce undesirable effects. It introduces strong attractive forces between the clay particles, leading to excessive agglomeration. Hence, it becomes essential to separate them for the resin to penetrate/infiltrate between them. On the contrary, if the clay particles are not completely exfoliated, it may lead to intercalated morphologies that have lower aspect ratios and less SSA relative to an exfoliated case. Due to the lower aspect ratios and lower SSA, intercalated clay particles have relatively less ability to effectively transfer stresses and hence lead to lower mechanical properties. Hence the role of dispersion is essential to obtain proper SSA and high aspect ratios that increase the efficiency of the system. In this work, the dispersion is performed by using an ultra-sonnicator.

The next main issue in clay based composites is the interfacial adhesion between the matrix and clay particles. Sufficient stress transfer needs to take place to efficiently exploit the potential of clay as structural reinforcement. The interfacial bonding can be improved by proper functionalization of the clay surface. The choice of resin system and its compatibility with the nanoinclusion (in this case clay) is very essential to obtain the benefits offered by the nano-dimension. Research has shown that the surface modification of clay surface provides compatibility with resin systems and helps in efficient interfacial strengths [7-4].

The third main issue is the need nano-mechanical models or theories that can address the outstanding issues of the polymer – clay interface. Although several theories have been developed, it is important to efficiently relate the nano-mechanical mechanisms to the experimental results. This would help in optimizing mechanical performance and the development of tailorable materials.

The polymer nanocomposites used in this research have four major components: polyester based resin, bio-based resin, natural fibers, and nano-clay inclusions. Bio-based resin is included as it enhances the toughness of the resulting composite. More importantly, it is added as a replacement to the conventional petroleum based resins so as to make the resulting composites more eco-friendly. The purpose of this research is the development of load bearing components made of such biocomposites. In order to achieve this goal, it becomes essential to have a fundamental understanding of each component, its arrangement, proportion, and its effect on each of the mechanical parameter (stiffness, hygro-thermal properties, flammability, etc.) considered. Hence, it is required to find an optimal balance between the components that exhibit the best collective properties while hiding their intrinsic bad behavior. This understanding can be made possible by analytical and computational modeling.

As discussed earlier, the interfacial region plays an important role in the enhancement of the mechanical and physical properties of the resulting composite. The addition of bio-resin is suspected to introduce a layer around the nano-inclusions thereby reducing the efficiency of the stress transfer and hence a reduction in the overall mechanical properties. It is thus essential to have proper modeling techniques to efficiently model, design and optimize such materials.

In this study the modeling of biocomposites can be classified into two main categories: a) modeling of polymer nanocomposites (clay + resin system and no natural fibers), and b) modeling of natural fiber reinforced biocomposites.

Prediction of the mechanical properties of discontinuous fiber/flake composite materials has been a subject of extensive study. As discussed earlier, the modeling of heterogeneous materials (in our case, resin system and clay particles) involves many complexities that should take into account the morphologies of the inclusion and resin system. The models should also take into account the various physico-chemical mechanisms at the various scales. Numerous micromechanical models have been proposed to predict the elastic constants of discontinuous fiber/flake composites. These models generally depend on parameters including particle/matrix stiffness ratio  $E_p/E_m$ , particle volume fraction  $f_p$ , particle aspect ratio l/t, and orientation.  $E_p$  and  $E_m$  denote the elastic modulii of the particle and the matrix, respectively. The prediction of homogenized properties of heterogeneous materials has been widely discussed in literature, and good overview is provided by Bohm [7-5]. Various theories and models have been proposed, and each of these models has its own advantages and limitations. Overall, the homogenization techniques can be classified into [7-5]: mean field approaches (MFA), variational bound methods, periodic microfield approaches (PMA's) / unit cell methods (UCM), embedded cell approaches (ECA), windowing approaches (WA), rules of mixtures and empirical formulae, such as Halpin-Tsai (H-T) methods etc.

In this chapter, section 7.2 will focus on micromechanical modeling of PNC's using MFA's and empirical methods. Section 7.3 will focus on modeling of these PNCs with UCM

or Finite Element homogenization schemes, RVE studies etc. Lastly, Section 7.4 will compare some experimental results

## 7.2 Micromechanical Modeling of PNC's

As discussed earlier, it is essential to obtain the overall properties of a heterogeneous material. Various homogenization techniques exist and have been used widely in the past. The process of homogenization involves finding the average properties at a lower scale due to the macroscopic homogeneous deformations. In other words, it involves finding elastic constants and stress-strain (constitutive) relations that relate the two scales. Homogenization procedures aim at finding a volume element's (local) response to prescribed mechanical loads (macroscopic). The resulting homogenized behavior is idealized as statistically isotropic or statistically transversely isotropic. The classification of different models is based on the way they analyze / treat the local microscopic responses and then relate it with the macroscopic behavior.

The most commonly used analytical models are Halpin-Tsai and Mori Tanaka (Tandon-Weng and Hui-Shia) models. In this section, these models are briefly compared and discussed. These theories/models differ in regard to their treatment of the filler geometry; however, they show analogous responses to how composite modulus responds to the filler properties.

#### 7.2.1 Mori Tanaka Estimates

Mori-Tanaka (M-T) estimates are popular micromechanical modeling techniques quite successful for conventional composites based on the mean field approach (MFA), namely the Eshelby Equivalent Inclusion method [7-6]. M-T average stress theory was derived on the principles of Eshelby's inclusion model for predicting an elastic field in and around an ellipsoidal particle in an infinite matrix [7-3]. To account for finite filler concentrations, Mori and Tanaka, however, considered a non-dilute composite consisting of many identical spheroidal particles that cause the matrix to experience an average stress different from that of the applied stress. To satisfy equilibrium conditions the volume average over the entire composite was forced to equal the applied stress [7-3].

One way for achieving the accountability of inter-particle interaction/stresses consists of approximating the stresses acting on an inclusion, which may be viewed as the perturbation stresses caused by the presence of other inclusions superimposed on the applied far field stress, by an appropriate average matrix stress. Effective field theories of this type are generically called Mori-Tanaka (M-T) methods or Equivalent Inclusion Average Stress (EIAS) approaches [7-5].

Although M-T model is successful, it has some concerns regarding its application to nanocomposites. The first is that although the M-T method is predominantly an energy method, it is based on the Eshelby equivalent inclusion method which assumes a dilute suspension of particles; that is, the particles do not interact. Thus, particle interactions are accounted for only at high volume fractions, but are effectively ignored for low volume fractions. For clay polymer nanocomposites (CPNC)s, although reinforcement volume fractions are very low, the large number of particles with high aspect ratio suggests that particle interactions will have a significant influence on mechanical properties. Another concern is that the assumption of a completely random flake orientation suggests that the nano-composite is isotropic, which is not often the case [7-6].

The Tandon – Weng model and Hui-Shia models are the two most commonly cited methods in the literature which are based on the Mori-Tanaka estimates and are briefly discussed in the following sections.

u uçtarılı a ançılan a 

#### <u> Tandon - Weng Model</u>

As discussed earlier, Tandon-Weng used the average stress assumption and Eshleby's solution to derive complete analytical solutions for the elastic moduli of an isotropic matrix filled with aligned spheroidal inclusions [7-3]. With the inclusions aligned along the  $x_7$  direction, there are five independent elastic constants associated with the transversely isotropic composites. These are the longitudinal elastic modulus  $E_{11}$ , the transverse elastic modulus  $E_{22}$ , the in-plane shear modulus  $G_{12}$ , the out of plane shear modulus  $G_{23}$ , and the plane strain bulk modulus  $K_{23}$ , Their results for the five elastic constants are as follows [7-7]:

a) Longitudinal Elastic Modulus  $(E_{11})$ 

$$\frac{E_{11}}{E_m} = \frac{A}{A + \phi_f (A_1 + 2\nu_m A_2)}$$
(7-1)

b) Transverse Elastic Modulus ( $E_{22}$ )

$$\frac{E_{22}}{E_m} = \frac{2A}{2A + f_p[-2\nu_m A_3 + (1 - \nu_m)A_4 + (1 + \nu_m)A_5A]}$$
(7-2)

c) In-plane Shear Modulus  $(G_{12})$ 

$$\frac{G_{12}}{G_m} = 1 + \frac{f_p}{\frac{G_m}{G_p - G_m} + 2(1 - f_p)S_{1212}}$$
(7-3)

d) Out of-plane Shear Modulus  $(G_{23})$ 

$$\frac{G_{23}}{G_m} = 1 + \frac{f_p}{\frac{G_m}{G_p - G_m} + 2(1 - f_p)S_{2323}}$$
(8-4)

e) Plane Strain Bulk Modulus  $(K_{23})$ 

$$\frac{K_{23}}{K_m} = \frac{(1+v_m)(1-2v_m)}{1-v_m(1+2v_{12}) + f_p\{2(v_{12}-v_m)A_3 + [1-v_m(1+2v_{12})]A_4\}/A}$$
(7-5)

f) Major direction Poisson's ratio of the composite  $(v_{12})$ 

The major direction Poisson's ratio  $v_{12}$  of the composite is not an independent modulus; it is related to the other elastic constants by:

$$v_{12}^{2} = \frac{E_{11}}{E_{22}} - \frac{E_{11}}{4} \left( \frac{1}{G_{23}} + \frac{1}{K_{23}} \right)$$
 (7-6)

After finding  $E_{11}$ ,  $E_{22}$  and  $G_{23}$  from the above equations,  $v_{12}$  is directly related to  $K_{23}$  and hence Equation (7-5) is implicit and can be solved by a simple iterative procedure.

In the above equations,  $f_p$  is the filler volume fraction,  $v_m$  is the poisson's ratio of the matrix,  $v_{12}$  is the major Poisson's ratio of the composite and  $A_1, A_2, A_3, A_4, A_5$ , and A are the functions of the Eshelby's tensor and the properties of the filler. It is obvious that in the above equations when  $f_p$  is equal to zero the effective modulus of the composite reduce to that of the matrix and when  $f_p = 1$  each quantity reduces to that of the inclusions. Equations (7-1) and (7-2) are dependent upon the shape of the filler, e.g., fiber-like versus disk like ellipsoids, which are accounted for in Eshelby's tensor. Moreover, Equation (7-2) is used instead of Equation (7-1) when predicting modulus parallel to either major axis of a disk-like spheroid. Figure 7-1 shows the Mori–Tanaka physical representation of glass fibers and disk-like platelets and Table 7-1 lists the different equations used to calculate composite modulii along the three principal orthogonal directions.

#### <u>Hui - Shia Model</u>

Hui-Shia's model was derived from the Tandon-Weng model. Although Tandon-Weng model provides exact solution, it is rarely used in practice, perhaps due to its complexity [7-8]. Hui and Shia [7-8] developed simplified expressions for the effective moduli of unidirectionally aligned two-phase composites from Tandon and Weng's exact solution by making the assumptions that the Poisson's ratios of the inclusion and the matrix are the same and are equal to 0.5. Of the five independent elastic constants, only  $E_{11}$ ,  $E_{22}$  are given here; since these are the most complex equations. For other constants, the same equations of the Tandon-Weng model are used as they are already very simple.

All modulii depend on a geometrical parameter g, which depends on the aspect ratio  $\alpha$ . The geometrical parameter g is given by:

$$g = \begin{cases} \frac{\alpha}{(\alpha^{2} - 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left[ \alpha(\alpha^{2} - 1)^{\frac{1}{2}} - \cosh^{-1}(\alpha) \right] & \alpha \ge 1 \\ \frac{\alpha}{(\alpha^{2} - 1)^{\frac{3}{2}}} \left[ -\alpha(1 - \alpha^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}} - \cos^{-1}(\alpha) \right] & \alpha \le 1 \end{cases}$$
(7-7)

It can be shown that  $g(\alpha = 1) = 2/3$ . The case of  $\alpha \succ 1$  corresponds to fiber like inclusions whereas  $\alpha \prec 1$  corresponds to flake like or disc-shaped inclusions (see Figure 7-1). The simplified Hui-Shia equations for longitudinal and transverse tensile modulii are as follows:

Longitudinal Tensile Modulus  $(E_{11})$ 

$$\frac{E_{11}}{E_m} = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{f_p}{\xi}}$$
(7-8)

where

$$\xi = f_p + \frac{E_m}{E_p - E_m} + 3(1 - f_p) \left[ \frac{(1 - g)\alpha^2 - (g/2)}{\alpha^2 - 1} \right]$$
(7-9)

Transverse Tensile Modulus  $(E_{22})$ 

$$\frac{E_{22}}{E_m} = \frac{1}{1 - \frac{f_p}{4} \left[ \frac{1}{\xi} + \frac{3}{\xi + \Lambda} \right]}$$
(7-10)

where

$$\Lambda = (1 - f_p) \left[ \frac{3(\alpha^2 + 0.25)g - 2\alpha^2}{\alpha^2 - 1} \right]$$
(7-11)

The formulae used for the derivation of the above modulii are similar to Tandon-Weng's and are described in detail in the literature [7-7]7-8].

# Empirical Models - Halpin Tsai Models

Halpin and Tsai developed a well known composite theory for predicting the stiffness of unidirectional composites as a function of aspect ratio. This theory is based on the early micromechanics works of Hermans and Hill [7-5]. Hermans generalized the form of Hill's self-consistent theory by considering a *single fiber* encased in a cylindrical shell of matrix that is embedded an infinite medium assumed to possess the average properties of the composite. Halpin and Tsai reduced Hermans' results into a simpler analytical form adapted for a variety of reinforcement geometries, including discontinuous filler reinforcement [7-3]. The material properties by Halpin-Tsai (H-T) model are as follows:

a) Stiffness estimate in the fiber direction  $(E_{11})$ 

$$\frac{E_{11}}{E_m} = \frac{1 + \zeta \eta f_p}{1 - \eta f_p}$$
(7-12)

where  $E_{11}$  and  $E_m$  represent the Young's modulus of the composite and matrix, respectively;  $\zeta$  is a shape parameter dependent upon filler geometry and loading direction,  $f_p$  is the volume fraction of filler; and  $\eta$  is given by:

$$\eta = \frac{\frac{E_p}{E_m} - 1}{\frac{E_p}{E_m} + \zeta}$$
(7-13)

where  $E_p$  represents the Young's modulus of the filler, and the shape parameter  $\zeta$  is related to the aspect ratio (Ut), where, I and t are the length and thickness of the fiber respectively:

$$\zeta = 2\left(\frac{l}{t}\right) \tag{7-14}$$

The longitudinal modulus  $E_{11}$  is very sensitive to the aspect ratio (see Figure 7-2) relative to other properties.

# b) In-plane shear modulus estimate $(G_{12})$

 $G_{12}$  is estimated by noting that it must lie between the shear stiffness of the filler  $(G_p)$  and the shear stiffness of the matrix  $(G_m).G_{12}$  is not sensitive to the (1/2) ratio and hence may be approximated as [7-9]:

$$\frac{G_{12}}{G_m} = \frac{1 + \zeta \eta f_p}{1 - \eta f_p}$$
(7-15)

where,

$$\eta = \frac{\frac{G_p}{G_m} - 1}{\frac{G_p}{G_m} + \zeta}$$
(7-16)

$$\zeta = 1 \tag{7-17}$$

Hence, the modulus perpendicular to the fiber direction (transverse to the fiber direction)  $E_{22}$ , in-plane Shear Modulus  $G_{12}$ , and in-plane Poisson's ratio are insensitive to the aspect ratio and are obtained from Equations (7-12) to (7-15) by substituting the aspect ratio of ( $\ell/t = 1$ ).

# c) Stiffness estimate transverse to the fiber direction $(E_{22})$

Similar to  $G_{12}$ ,  $E_{22}$  is least dependent on aspect ratio and can be obtained from Equations (7-12) to (7-15) by substituting the aspect ratio (l/t = 1).

## c) Poisson coefficient estimate ( $v_{12}$ )

Similar to the discussion of  $G_{12}$ ,  $v_{12}$  is bounded between the filler  $(v_p)$  and matrix  $v_m$ ) Poisson ratios. For large values of  $(\sqrt{t})$ ,  $v_{12}$  is close to the rules of mixtures,

(Equation (7-18)) but probably above this estimate. Errors introduced by this estimate are not critical as most lamination calculations are not sensitive to  $v_{12}$ [7-9]

$$\boldsymbol{v}_{12} \sim \boldsymbol{v}_p \boldsymbol{f}_p + \boldsymbol{v}_m \boldsymbol{f}_m \tag{7-18}$$

where  $f_p$  and  $f_m$  are the volume fractions of the filler and the matrix respectively.

It should be noted that in the Halpin-Tsai equations, the parameters least sensitive to the shape factor  $\zeta$  are obtained by making the shape factor  $\zeta = 1$ . It should be noted as  $\zeta$  tends to zero, the Halpin-Tsai theory converges to inverse rule of mixtures (lower bound) and as  $\zeta$  tends to infinity, the theory reduces to the rule of mixtures (upper bound). Furthermore, the Halpin-Tsai equations retain the same form for discontinuous cylindrical fibers and lamellar shape reinforcements, such as ribbons or rectangular platelets. However, when calculating elastic moduli  $E_{11}$  and  $E_{22}$  in the case of ribbons or rectangular platelets,  $\zeta$  is equal to ( $\ell/\tau$ ) and ( $\mathfrak{w}/\tau$ ) respectively, where  $\ell'$  is the length,  $\mathfrak{w}$  is the width and  $\mathfrak{r}'$ is the thickness of the dispersed phase. Figure 7-1 shows the two types of fillers examined in this work, their orientation with respect to orthogonal axes and their corresponding Halpin-Tsai quantities. Dispersed clay platelets are expected to resemble disks as depicted in Figure 7-1, where  $\mathbf{E} \mid \mathbf{I}$  and  $\mathbf{E} \, \mathbf{\hat{1}}$  are the composite modulus parallel (longitudinal) and perpendicular (transverse) to the major axis of the filler.

#### Comparison of Models, Limitations

A number of assumptions are inherent to both M-T estimates and HT methods. The filler and matrix are linearly elastic, isotropic, and firmly bonded. The filler is perfectly aligned, asymmetric, and uniform in shape and size. Particle – particle interactions are not explicitly considered. Of course, for all composite theories the properties of the matrix and filler are considered to be identical to those of the pure components. In addition to these assumptions, there are number of differences between the two theories that are worth noting. First, the Mori-Tanaka theory treats fibers and disks as ellipsoidal particles, whereas the Halpin-Tsai equations treat a fiber as a fiber and disk as a rectangular platelet; the later disparity in the Halpin-Tsai equations is of some concern, since the length and, in turn, aspect ratio across a disk is not constant as shown in Figure 7-3. Second, the Halpin-Tsai equations for  $E_{11}$  and  $E_{22}$  are independent of the Poisson's ratio of the filler or the matrix. Third, the Halpin-Tsai equations for transverse modulus, i.e., perpendicular to the filler's major axis, are independent of aspect ratio. Last, it is important to emphasize that numerous complexities arise when comparing composite theories to experimental data, particularly for polymer layered silicate nanocomposites. Table 7-2 summarizes some of the issues involved. In addition to physical disparities between theory and experiment, the choice of composite theory will also dictate how well the predicted and observed properties agree [7-3].

#### Comparison of Theoretical Models & Validation:

The following section compares / validates the existing models by recreating the models in the literature. This was done by writing custom algorithms in Matlab<sup> $\bullet$ </sup> and recreating the plots in the literature, thereby validating the code. The validation of the algorithms enable comparison of analytical model predictions with experimental and FE models. Since the validation of the algorithm was done with results from the literature [7-7], the material properties of the constituents were taken from the literature [7-7] as well. Figure 7-4 to Figure 7-15 provide some results from the algorithm. The predicted results agreed well with published results [7-7]. For brevity, the plots from the literature [7-7] are not

provided, but are exactly the same as those provided here. The properties used in the validation of the model are as follows [7-7]:

$E_m$ = Elastic Modulus of Matrix	=	2.76 Gpa,
$E_p$ = Elastic Modulus of Inclusion	=	72.4 Gpa,
$v_m$ = Poisson's Ratio of Matrix	=	0.35,
$v_p$ = Poisson's Ratio of Inclusion	=	0.20.

### Sub-Condusions of A natyrical Modeling

The analytical models of Halpin- Tsai and Mori-Tanaka theories have been widely used in the literature and these theories have been found to satisfactorily capture the clay characteristics. The two theories differ in regard to their treatment to filler geometry; however, they both show analogous responses to how the composite modulus responds to filler aspect ratio, modulus and orientation [7-3].

## 7.3 Unit Cell Methods / FE - RVE based method

As discussed in earlier sections, various homogenization techniques exist and have been used widely in the past. With the advancement and availability of computational power unit cell methods (UCM) or periodic microfield approaches (PMA) are gaining importance. In UCM, the real inhomogeneous material is approximated by an infinitely extended model material with a periodic phase arrangement. The corresponding periodic microfields are usually evaluated by analyzing unit cells also known as representative volume elements (RVEs). These RVEs may describe microgeometries that may be rather simplistic or highly complex and are solved via analytical, numerical or finite element methods [7-5]. "Unit cell methods are typically used for performing materials characterization of inhomogeneous materials in the nonlinear range, but they can also be employed as micromechanically based constitutive models. The high resolution of the microfields provided by PMAs can be very useful for studying the initiation of damage at the microscale. However, because they inherently give rise to periodic configurations of damage, PMAs are not well suited for investigating phenomena such as the interaction of the microstructure with macroscopic cracks. Periodic microfield approaches can give detailed information on the local stress and strain fields within a given unit cell, but they tend to be computationally expensive [7-5]."

Moreover, the concept of homogenization in the MFA's has certain limitations due to the inherent assumptions like the particles being perfectly aligned, perfectly bonded, etc. The unit cell (RVE) methods allow for an easier account of complex micro structural morphology and enabling the investigation of the influence of different geometrical features of the overall response. In discrete microstructures, homogenization is carried out by selecting a local Representative Volume Element (RVE) that closely represents the actual structure. The macroscopic properties are then derived from proper analyses of the RVE

In this work RVEs of polymer nanocomposites were created and analyzed. The initial task was to validate the results from these analyses with results from literature [7-1]. RVE selection is very important for the efficiency of the analyses. Initially, RVEs from literature were replicated [7-1] and validated. The following sections summarizes these studies.

#### 7.3.1 Representative Volume Element (RVE)- Selection and Boundary Conditions

As discussed in the previous section, RVE analyses assume a periodic repetition of the RVE itself in an infinite media to replicate the macroscopic behavior. Hence, it is essential to select a proper RVE as the success of a micro mechanical model depends on the selection of RVE. The RVE should be selected such that the local microscopic material structure can be considered as the RVE is surrounded by copies of itself. Adjacent RVE's should not overlap. No voids (discontinuities) should exist between boundaries of adjacent RVE's. Most importantly, the RVE should be large enough to represent the microstructure with enough detail and small enough to allow efficient computational modeling.

#### Periodic Boundary Conditions (PBCs)

In this work periodic boundary conditions (PBCs) are assumed for micromechanical modeling of polymer/clay nanocomposites. For micromechanical modeling through RVE analyses, proper boundary conditions should be provided to the RVE's such that they represent the actual loading conditions of the macroscopic state. BC's should be provided in such a way that all deformation modes appropriate for the load cases can be attained in the RVE.

For periodic boundary conditions, the following compatibility demands with respect to opposite edges should be met. Two adjacent RVES should show identical deformations without overlapping or separation. Compatibility implies that the shape of both boundaries remain identical and stresses acting along boundaries are opposite in sign (stress equilibrium). The deformation boundary conditions are represented schematically in Figure 7-16 [7-5].

For heterogeneous materials, as in the case of most composite materials, the distribution of the materials is mostly random. For the present case, the clay particles are randomly distributed in the RVE. Although the particles are randomly distributed, the volume fraction of the RVE is maintained. A series of analyses with same volume fractions is performed with different random distributions and the average of such analyses was taken as the representative result for the particular reinforcement volume fraction.

As discussed earlier, a RVE must closely describe the composite. During the random distribution, the particles may be placed closed to the edge of the RVE, in which case, part of the inclusions are lost (Figure 7-17a). This causes reduction in the particle volume fraction inside the RVE. In order to overcome this problem, the inclusions that are randomly generated, and which are truncated at the edges, need to be placed back in to the RVE. This is done by bringing back the truncated part of the inclusion in to the RVE at the same level (y-axis) of the RVE (Figure 7-17b). This process ensures that the desired volume fraction is achieved and introduces periodicity in the particle distribution. Figure 7-18 shows the particle periodicity applied to the RVEs studied in this work (encircled regions in Figure 7-18).

The RVEs similar to those shown in Figure 7-18 were created and analyses were performed to obtain thermo-mechanical properties. The studies and results are described in the following section.

#### **RVE Studies & Limitations**

As discussed in earlier sections, proper selection of RVE is essential for the success of the analyses performed. Also, the RVE should be selected in a way that it is large enough to represent the actual structure and small enough to have computational efficiency. In this work, the initial RVE size was obtained from literature [7-1], wherein plane-strain analyses were performed on a rectangular RVE having dimensions of length and breadth that were 1000 and 500 times of the thickness of the clay particle, respectively. A sample RVE used in the work is shown in Figure 7-19. Creation of the RVE with random distribution of clay particles, periodicity in distribution and associated modeling was done in a custom program written in Matlab<sup>®</sup> environment. Also, the program generated an input file for the respective clay distribution for a finite element program (ABAQUS<sup>®</sup>). The generated input file was used to perform plane strain finite element (FE) analyses on different distributions and volume fractions. Figure 7-19a shows the RVE generated from the custom Matlab program and its associated FE model is shown in Figure 7-19b.

#### 7.3.2 RVE Analyses

The objective of the RVE analyses is to obtain the homogenized properties or the elastic tensor of the resulting composite. Apart from the mechanical stresses, the RVE analyses could also be used to obtain thermal and barrier properties. The following parameters (in 2D, plane strain) were sought from the RVE analyses:

- a) Longitudinal Modulus ( $E_{11}$ )
- b) Transverse Modulus  $(E_{22})$
- c) Poisson's ratio ( $v_{12}$ ) and resulting Shear modulus ( $G_{12}$ )
- d) Linear Coefficient of thermal expansion in principal directions ( $\alpha_{11}$  and  $\alpha_{22}$ )
- e) Diffusion / permeability parameters.

The modulus parameters have been extensively studied and the results from RVE analyses were found to compare reasonably with those in literature [7-1]. Figure 7-20 shows the stress contours of one of the RVE analyses.

As discussed earlier, the RVE must represent the actual composite as close as possible. The polymer/clay morphologies can be broadly classified into four types: a)

agglomerated b) exfoliated, c) intercalated and d) partly exfoliated and intercalated. The agglomerated case is not considered as it does not offer the benefits of PNCs.

The exfoliated case offers the highest enhancement of the properties and is achieved with proper processing techniques, especially at low concentrations. The RVEs corresponding to exfoliated cases have been discussed and shown in Figure 7-18 to Figure 7-20. At the same time, at higher concentrations it is difficult to obtain exfoliated morphologies. In most cases, there is a combination of exfoliated and intercalated morphologies. Hence, the RVE should be capable of modeling and analyzing a combination of exfoliated and intercalated morphologies.

Figure 7-19 shows an RVE for the exfoliated case. Similarly, Figure 7-20 shows FE model for an intercalated case. It can also be seen in Figure 7-20, the mesh used in FE model is very fine compared to that shown in Figure 7-19. In the RVE studies, mesh thickness was also studied. Finer mesh thickness will reduce FE associated problems of element distortion etc. (see Figure 7-21 to Figure 7-24).

The next main concern in the modeling of RVEs for PNCs is the modeling of interface. Research has shown that interfacial region plays a vital role in the stress transfer from the particle to the matrix. Research has also shown that the greatest difficulty in modeling PNCs comes in modeling these interfaces as the properties of the interfacial zone are questionable [7-1].

Moreover in this research, the addition of bio-based resin to petroleum based resin introduces a third phase into already existing two phase heterogeneous system. Also, research from our group has shown lower mechanical properties for bio based resins [7-10]. It is hypothesized that the bio-resins form a rubbery layer around the clay particles thereby affecting the stress transfer between the clay reinforcement and the polymer matrix. Even in the absence of the bio-resin, research has shown concerns about the anonymity of properties in the interface region [7-1]. It's commonly agreed that the properties in the interface are lower than that of the pristine resin in itself [7-1].

In order to model the interface of the PNCs, a third phase was introduced around the existing clay particles. The properties of the interface were modified as a function of the pristine polymer and the effect of interface properties. The results of the interface studies are shown in Figure 7-27

#### 7.3.3 Results of RVE Analyses

Although, the RVE size analyses were performed, the study did not provide insight as linear elastic materials were used. Hence the RVE used by Sheng et al. [7-1] was used and the models were validated with results from this study. Not all RVE analyses and results are shown in this work, instead a few results on parameters of stiffness, effect of interface and coefficient of thermal expansion are provided.

Figure 7-25 shows the comparison of the stiffness obtained from RVE analyses and Mori-Tanaka (MT) estimates. MT estimates is used as the literature shows that MT methods provide a better comparison with experimental results. Figure 7-26 shows the variation of longitudinal stiffness with varying aspects ratios. Figure 7-27 shows the effect of interface properties on the longitudinal modulus of the resulting composite. The interface properties were varied as a percentage of the virgin matrix properties. It was observed that a reduction in the resulting stiffness of the composite occurs when the interface stiffness is lower that 20% of that of the virgin polymer. Although more studies need to be performed on this, it is clear that the interface properties of the bio-based polymer/clay nanocomposites being studied here are much lower than the actual resin system, as suggested by experimental results [7-10]. Similarly, Figure 7-28 shows the variation of thermal expansion with varying clay volume fraction.

The study on micromechanical modeling through RVE analyses was validated with results from reference [7-1] and the results were found to agree very well. Hence it can be concluded that RVE analyses such as those presented here can be used in future for prediction of mechanical and hygro-thermal properties of PNCs.

# 7.4 Comparison of Tensile Modulus Results with Theoretical and FE predictions.

As discussed earlier, the theoretical predictions by mean field approaches (Mori-Tanaka estimates) and empirical methods (Halpin-Tsai) have been used extensively and have been well documented [7-5]. Also, the unit cell method / RVE analysis using finite element has been gaining importance due to the availability of computational power and the ability to overcome the limitations of MFA and the assumptions in the theory [7-5].

In this work, the experimentally obtained tensile modulus was compared with the theoretical predictions of and RVE-FE results. For theoretical calculations, the modified Halpin-Tsai model was used. It has been shown and observed that the modified H-T model agrees very well with M-T models. The modified H-T model is mainly used for random inclusion composites. Figure 7-29 shows the comparison of the experimental results with theory and FE predictions for neat UPE (no bio-resin) with varying concentration. It can be observed that the experimental results are well predicted by our current RVE analyses.

## 7.5 Theoretical Models for Diffusion / Heat Transfer Problems

The mechanism of moisture diffusion in polymer-clay nanocomposites has been extensively studied [7-14]-[7-17][7-20][7-22]. Chen et al. [7-23] provide a good review of

barrier properties of flake-filled membranes. In this work a brief theoretical background on the computation of diffusivity coefficients is explained.

The moisture absorption speed in polymers and nanocomposites can be compared quantitatively by determining the diffusion coefficient [7-15]. Moisture diffusion in a polymer with constant diffusivity, D, can be represented by Fick's second law, which describes the non-steady state diffusion of a substance, and can be represented in Cartesian coordinates x, y, z as [7-14]:

$$\frac{\partial c}{\partial t} = D \left( \frac{\partial^2 c}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2 c}{\partial y^2} + \frac{\partial^2 c}{\partial z^2} \right)$$
(7-19)

where c, is the concentration of the permeant, and t is the time. For one dimensional diffusion problem of an infinite plate with thickness a', Equation (7-19) reduced to:

$$\frac{\partial c}{\partial t} = D \frac{\partial^2 c}{\partial x^2} \tag{7-20}$$

The analytical solution of Equation (7-20) with constant boundary conditions and expressed in terms of moisture uptake (increase in sample mass) can be expressed as [7-14]7-16]:

$$\frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} = 1 - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{8}{(2n+1)^2 \pi^2} \operatorname{x} \exp\left[\frac{-D(2n+1)^2 \pi^2 t}{d^2}\right]$$
(7-21)

where  $M_t$  is the mass gain at any time  $\xi$  and  $M_{\infty}$  is the maximum mass gain at equilibrium/steady state. At initial stages of diffusion, up to approximately  $M_t/M_{\infty} \cong 0.5$ , the increase in mass shows a linear relationship with the square root of time [7-15]. Also, at initial stages, Equation (7-21) can be approximated as [7-14][7-16]:

$$\frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} = 4\sqrt{\frac{Dt}{\pi d^2}}$$
(7-22)

Therefore, the diffusivity coefficient, D, can be computed from the initial slope of the moisture gain,  $M_t/M_\infty$  versus time  $(\sqrt{t}/d)$  as:

$$D = \frac{\pi}{16} \left( \frac{M_t / M_\infty}{\sqrt{t/d}} \right)^2 \tag{7-23}$$

The diffusion coefficients, D, can be used to compare the diffusion speed in neat polymers and nanoclay reinforced resin systems [7-15]. When diffusion takes place through a polymer containing nanoclay platelets, or in general, flake like impervious particles, the diffusing molecules have to go around these platelets. The morphology that is likely to be most efficient is when these platelets are well exfoliated, aligned parallel to the thickness and the moisture diffusion takes place perpendicular to these platelets [7-16]. Using such simplifications, many models have been developed to predict moisture permeability in platelet filled polymers. Chen et al. [7-23] provide a good overview and comparison of these models. Nielsen [7-24] derived the relationship of diffusivity coefficient with the increased path the molecules have to travel due to the presence of impervious platelets [7-15]7-23]:

$$\frac{D_c}{D_0} = \frac{1}{1 + (L/2W)V_f}$$
(7-24)

where  $D_c$  and  $D_0$  represent the diffusion coefficient of composite and resin, respectively; L/W indicates the aspect ratio of the platelets and  $V_f$  is the volume fraction of platelets in the composite. The factor  $(1 + (L/2W)V_f)$  is termed as the tortuousity factor and denotes the extra distance to be travelled by the permeant [7-14]. In Equation (7-24), the solubility is assumed to be constant and hence, permeability coefficients can be replaced by diffusion coefficients [7-23]. Nielsen's model has been widely used but has many simplifications and
hence its accuracy is limited to low volume fractions [7-15][7-23]. Nielsen's model assumes two-dimensional particle arrangement, with the platelets extending infinitely in the third direction. Moreover, the platelets are well-aligned and perfectly overlapped. Therefore Nielsen's model is conservative and provides diffusion coefficients that are lower than actual measurements [7-15]. In real nanocomposites, the platelets are randomly oriented, and do not exhibit perfect overlaps. Van Es [7-20] addressed the issue of overlap in twodimensional composites by incorporating a overlap factor,  $\gamma$ :

$$\frac{D_0}{D_c} = \left(V_f \beta + 1 - V_f\right) \left[V_f \beta \gamma \left(1 - \gamma\right) + 1\right]$$
(7-25)

$$\beta = \frac{8}{5\pi} \frac{L}{W}; \quad \frac{L}{W} = \text{length/thickness} = \text{aspect ratio} \quad (7-26)$$

where  $\gamma$  is the overlap factor with  $\gamma = 0.5$  for perfect overlap,  $\gamma = 0$  for no overlap and  $\gamma = 0.25$  for random oriented composites. Equation (7-25) still assumes impenetrable platelets parallelly aligned in a polymer matrix with varying overlap factors. Equation (7-25) has been found to agree reasonably for a larger range of particle concentration [7-15]. Moreover, it has been found that random placement of sheets leads to an overlap factor $\gamma$  of 0.25 in Equation (7-25) [7-15]. In this work, the diffusivity coefficients of various biobased nanocomposites were compared with the Van Es model as given in equation (7-25).

### 7.6 FE-RVE based Diffusion Modeling and Comparison with Experiments

The RVEs developed to model mechanical properties as explained in earlier sections were used to compute diffusivity coefficients. In this study, diffusion models for only neat UPE (no EML) were considered. Experimental data reveals considerable increase in diffusivity due to bio-resin addition. Hence in order to accurate model the diffusion behavior of nanoclay reinforced bio-based resins, the individual phases of UPE and bio-resin (EML) is essential. An optimization-based material layout study that determines the bio-resin distribution by matching effective model properties with presecribed thermo-elastic properties was performed (see Chapter 9). In the current work, the moisture properties were not used in the determination of material layout, and hence diffusion properties of only neat UPE polymer is modeled. The same approach can easily be extended to bio-based nanocomposites by using an enhanced RVEs that models three distinct phases, namely petro-, bio-resins and nanoclay.

### 7.7 Moisture Diffusion Results

The moisture diffusivity of nanoclay reinforced bio-based composites with varying bio-resin [EML] and nanoclay contents as described in Table 7-3 were studied. As described in Chapter 4, in order to accelerate the diffusion process the samples were placed at 50 °C instead of room temperature. Hence the resulting diffusion coefficient will be slightly larger than those observed at room temperature. Nevertheless, since all the bio-based nanocomposites were maintained at the same condition, the relative comparison and trends are assumed to remain the same and hence valid. The resin system corresponding to 0% EML content and 0% nanoclay corresponds to virgin UPE and is considered the baseline composite. Hence, results were compared relative to the baseline UPE. Table 7-4 summarizes the values of diffusion coefficients of the various nanocomposites in this study. Table 7-5 provides the comparison of moisture diffusion coefficients of various nanoclay reinforced bio-based composites (in %) in this study relative to virgin UPE.

#### 7.7.1 Moisture diffusivity through neat resins (no clay)

Figure 7-31 shows the plots of moisture gain  $M_t/M_\infty$  versus time  $\sqrt{t}/d$  for neat (no clay) resin systems. The experimental data is shown in symbols and the exponential fit is superimposed. The diffusivity coefficients were obtained by substituting the initial slope in Equation (8-23). The variation of the diffusivity coefficients D, with increasing bio-resin (EML) content are shown as an inset in Figure 7-31. Due to the absence of nanoclay, the diffusion coefficients obtained show the effect of blending bio-resin in virgin UPE. The diffusivity coefficient of virgin UPE was found to be 3.67x10<sup>-12</sup> m<sup>2</sup>/s. Pritchard [7-25] reports a lower value of diffusivity coefficient (3.0 x10<sup>-12</sup> m<sup>2</sup>/s) for ortho-unsaturated polyester. The slightly higher experimental diffusion coefficient obtained in this work may be due to the differences in the resins and test conditions. The diffusivity coefficients increased with increasing bio-resin content. The increase in D due to increase in EML content followed a linear relationship. This was confirmed with a linear regression analysis that fit a line with a good  $R^2$  value (0.96). The diffusivity coefficients increased by approximately 70%, 115% and 250% with addition of 10%, 20% and 30% EML content in UPE, relative to virgin UPE.

#### 7.7.2 Moisture diffusivity in virgin UPE reinforced with nanoclay

The addition of nanoclay to virgin UPE, without addition of bio-resin (EML), was taken to represent the effect of nanoclay on diffusion properties. Figure 7-32 shows the plots of moisture gain  $M_t/M_{\infty}$  versus time  $\sqrt{t}/d$  for neat (no clay) resin systems. The experimental data is shown in symbols and the exponential fit is superimposed in Figure 7-32. As expected, the diffusivity coefficients decreased with increasing nanoclay content. The diffusivity coefficients decreased by approximately 35% and 70% with addition of 2.5

wt.% and 5 wt.% nanoclay respectively. The reduction in diffusion coefficients indicates enhanced barrier properties due to the addition of nanoclay.

#### 7.7.3 Moisture diffusivity in UPE/EML blends reinforced with nanoclay

Similar to the results of the neat UPE explained in previous section, the results of UPE/EML blends are presented here by studying the effect of nanoclay on different UPE/EML blends.

#### UPE/EML blend, 10%EML:

Figure 7-33 shows the plots of moisture  $gain M_t/M_{\infty}$  versus time  $\sqrt{t/d}$  for UPE/EML blends containing 10% EML. The diffusion coefficient of 10% EML blend resin with no clay was approximately 70% higher relative to virgin UPE. Nevertheless, the addition of 2.5 wt.% and 5 wt.% nanoclay resulted in diffusion coefficients lower than virgin UPE by approximately 20% and 45% respectively. In other words, the nanoclay inclusions not only recovered the lost barrier properties due to the addition of 10% EML blend but enhanced it by approximately 44% at 5 wt.% nanoclay content.

#### UPE/EML blend, 20%EML:

Figure 7-34 shows the plots of moisture  $gain M_t/M_{\infty}$  versus time  $\sqrt{t}/d$  for UPE/EML blends containing 20% EML. The diffusion coefficient of 20% EML blend resin with no clay was approximately 115% higher relative to virgin UPE. The addition of 2.5 wt.% nanoclay had diffusion coefficient similar to virgin UPE, while addition of 5 wt.% nanoclay resulted in diffusion coefficient lower than virgin UPE by approximately 30%. Similar to 10% EML blends, nanoclay reinforcements recovered the lost barrier properties due to the addition of 20% EML.

#### UPE/EML blend, 30%EML:

Figure 7-35 shows the plots of moisture gain  $M_t/M_{\infty}$  versus time  $\sqrt{t}/d$  for UPE/EML blends containing 30% EML. The diffusion coefficient of 30% EML blend resin with no clay was approximately 250% higher relative to virgin UPE. The addition of 2.5 wt% and 5 wt.% nanoclay resulted in diffusion coefficients 235% and 130% higher than virgin UPE. Although an improvement in barrier properties was observed with the addition of nanoclay, the enhancement was insufficient to recover the lost barrier properties from the addition of 30% EML.

## 7.8 Comparison of Diffusion Results: Experiment and Theory

The diffusion coefficients of various nanoclay reinforced bio-based composites in this study are summarized in Table 7-3 and Figure 7-36. The experimental diffusion coefficients were compared with the theoretical model by Van Es [7-20] as given in Equation (7-25). The experimental values of diffusion coefficients for neat resins (no clay) were used for  $D_o$  values in Equation (7-25). An aspect ratio of 130 obtained from transmission electron microscopy observation, was used in theoretical predictions. Results indicated a large variation in model predictions and experimental results for samples with EML content of 30%. For better schematic representation, results corresponding to 30% EML content are not shown in figures, but are summarized in respective tables.

Figure 7-37 and Figure 7-38 provide a comparison of experimental results with the model predictions for clay contents of 2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.%, respectively, for various particle overlap factors. The particle overlap factor,  $\gamma$ , takes values of 0.5, 0.25 and 0, representing perfect overlap, random orientation and no overlap, respectively. In this

section, results corresponding to  $\gamma = 0.25$  and representing random orientation are discussed. For clay concentrations of 2.5 wt.%, theoretical prediction of diffusion coefficients for neat UPE, and 10% and 20% EML blends were lower by approximately 35%, 10% and 5% respectively. This Van Es theoretical model [7-20] assumes perfectly exfoliated and aligned clay morphology, whereas in reality, partially exfoliated and intercalated morphologies with random orientation exist. Hence the experimental diffusion coefficients are generally higher than theoretical predictions. Similarly for 5 wt.% clay, the theoretical predictions were lower by approximately 13%, 24% and 22% for neat UPE, 10% EML and 20% EML blends, respectively.

The experimental diffusion coefficients for 30% EMS blends were much higher than theoretical predictions and this discrepancy is attributed to the phase separation of the resins in the blend. The bio-resin seems to facilitate faster transport of water molecules through them and hence for phase-separated resins (30% EML), the experimental diffusivities were found to be much higher. The comparison of diffusion coefficients with theoretical predictions for all nanocomposites, including 30% EML blends are provided in Table 7-6 and Table 7-7 for clay contents of 2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.% respectively. Overall, up to 20% EML blends, the barrier properties lost due to addition of bio-resin were not only recovered, but enhanced by addition of nanoclay.

# 7.9 Discussion of Diffusion Results

Bio-based resins reinforced with nanoclay produce nanocomposites with synergistic, multifunctional properties [7-10][7-26]. It is preferred to increase the amount of bio-resin that can be blended with petroleum based resin, in order to make environmentally friendly composites. Nevertheless, the addition of bio-resin reduces stiffness, thermal and barrier properties [7-10][7-26]. As a result, the global objective of the research is to recover the properties lost due to the addition of bio-resin by reinforcing the resin blends with nanoclay. This work focused on moisture diffusion properties of nanoclay reinforced UPE/EML blends. Relative to virgin UPE, the addition of bio-resin increased the moisture diffusion, while addition of nanoclay reduced the moisture diffusion. The combination of bio-resin and nanoclay provides a synergy between the bio-resin and nanoclay.

The increase in the value of diffusion coefficient due to the addition of bio-resin (EML) was linear for EML contents up to 20% (Figure 7-36). For EML contents up to 20%, the barrier properties were not only recovered but enhanced by addition of nanoclay. Nevertheless, for EML contents of 30% phase separation of UPE/EML blend seems to dominate the moisture diffusion properties. Due to phase separation, the bio-resin (EML) acts as a weak material and a plasticizer, allowing faster path for the permeant molecules to travel. As a result, a sudden increase in diffusion coefficients was observed at 30% EML contents. Enhancement due to nanoclay reinforcement was observed on samples with 30% EML contents, but the adverse effect of bio-resin dominated the enhancement provided by the nanoclay and hence total recovery was not possible.

The experimental results were compared with the theoretical Van Es model [7-20] as governed by Equation (7-25). Equation (7-25) assumes impenetrable platelets aligned parallel in a polymer matrix with varying overlap factors. In spite of these limitations, Van Es model [7-20] was chosen as it was reported to be valid for a wide range of clay concentrations [7-15], unlike Nielsen's model [7-24] which is valid for low nanoclay contents [7-15][7-23]. The theoretical model in equation (7-25) includes a particle overlap factor  $\gamma$  that defines the platelet morphology. The particle overlap factor takes values of 0.25, 0.5 and 0 corresponding to random orientation, perfect overlap and no overlap, respectively. In this work, experimental diffusivity coefficients were compared with all three values of  $\gamma$ . Figure 7-37 and Figure 7-38 provide the comparison of theoretical predictions and experimental results for clay contents of 2.5 wt.% and 5.0 wt.% respectively.

Theoretical predictions with perfect particle overlap ( $\gamma = 0.5$ ) were farthest away from experimental results. The perfect overlap suggests that the permeant molecule has the greatest tortuous path, leading to lower diffusivity. In actual nanocomposites, perfect particle overlap does not exist and hence experimental results are generally higher than those predicted by the model. For randomly oriented particles in two dimensions, a particle overlap factor of 0.25 has been reported [7-15]. The theoretical predictions with  $\gamma = 0.25$ were slightly lower than experimental values. In reality, the nanocomposites have a combination of both exfoliated and intercalated morphologies, but the model assumes exfoliated, aligned and randomly overlapped morphologies. Hence, experimental results are slightly higher than the model.

Finally, the theoretical predictions with  $\gamma = 0$  showed relatively good agreement with experimental results compared to  $\gamma = 0.25$  and 0.5, especially for high bio-resin contents (>10% EML). A particle overlap factor  $\gamma = 0$ , suggests that no overlap occurs, indicating that through paths consisting of only polymer exists in between the particles. Although such morphology does not exist in reality, it seems that the presence of bio-resin allows the permeant molecules to travel faster. Moreover, the presence of intercalated morphologies, considerably reduces the particle overlap and tortuous path. The combination of intercalation and the presence of a faster permeant path due to the presence of bio-resin seems like a through path analogous to a no particle overlap. This is supported by the good agreement between theoretical predictions and experimental results for bio-based nanocomposites. Moreover, for particle overlap  $factor \gamma = 0$ , the model predictions were higher than experimental results for all nanocomposites except neat UPE with 2.5 wt.%. The theoretical model used does not hold for EML contents of 30% or more. The Van Es model [7-20] is not intended to model nanoclay reinforced bio-blends. Nevertheless, understanding the tortuous path and the effect of bio-resin addition on the permeant path can help in understanding diffusion phenomena taking place in the bio-based nanocomposites.

Overall, the diffusion study showed promise in the use of environmental friendly bio-based resin systems reinforced with nanoclay. The loss in barrier properties due to incorporation of bio-resin were not only recovered but enhanced by addition of nanoclay. Moreover, the results are indicative that the barrier properties of resulting nanocomposites can be tailored by controlling the concentrations of bio-resin and nanoclay content. The ability to recover the lost barrier properties due to bio-resin addition by incorporating nanoclay can allow the use of higher amounts of bio-resin, making the resulting nanocomposites more environmental friendly without sacrificing performance.

### 7.10 Conclusion

Modification of polymers at the nanoscale by addition of nano-inclusions has been shown to enhance mechanical properties and provide multifunctionality to the resulting polymer nanocomposites . However, quantitative evaluation of the mechanisms leading to these property enhancements as well as those that limit the performance of polymer nanocomposites is still limited due to experimental constraints. Computational simulation seems to be a good way to fill this gap. However, the simulation approach must be able to account for features of these materials at the nano- and micro- scales. New rest and a second

Mechanics-based models have proved to be successful in predicting homogenized properties where the filler length scale is in the order of tens of microns or larger. In nanoclay reinforced composites, depending on the processing, the clay morphology varies significantly. Exfoliated clays may be in range of nanometers and highly intercalated clay agglomerations may be in the order of micrometers. Moreover, it is commonly agreed that polymer clay nanocomposites exhibit both exfoliated hierarchical morphologies. Clearly, mechanics-based models cannot handle this complexity. The final and most important issue in modeling of polymer/clay nanocomposites is the particle-polymer interface. Depending on the chemical compatibility / functionalization of the nanoclay and polymer, the resulting interfacial properties will vary considerably. Additionally, in intercalated clay morphologies the properties of the material in galleries is not fully understood. The above mentioned issues specific to polymer/clay nanocomposites make modeling of such composites challenging. Finite element (FE) based modeling and simulation can address some of these issues and enable modeling of interfaces, different particle sizes and morphologies, nonlinear material properties and complex loading.

In this chapter, the analytical models were implemented and finite element models were developed to model polymer clay nanocomposites. Simulations were compared with experimental results for mechanical and diffusion properties. The accuracy of the simulations and the analytical model depends upon the detailed modeling of the microstructure. The models with least assumptions and most realistic modeling, as expected yielded better agreement with experiments.

#### 7.11 Tables & Figures

Direction of Applied Load	Mori Tanaka Composite Modulus			
-	Fibers	Platelets		
1	$E_{11}=E \mid \mid Equation (7-1)$	$E_{11} = E\hat{1}$ Equation (7-2)		
2	E <sub>22</sub> =Eî Equation (7-2)	E <sub>22</sub> =E   Equation (7-12)		
3	E <sub>33</sub> =Eî Equation (7-2)	$E_{33} = E   $ Equation (7-12)		

Table 7-1. Modulus along different filler orientations (fibers and platelets) - Mori - Tanaka

Table 7-2. Important issues limiting ability to model the nanocomposites [7-3]

ISSUE	THEORY	EXPERIMENTAL
Filler Shape and Size	<ul><li>Uniform shape</li><li>Constant dimensions</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Non-uniform shape</li> <li>Distribution of lengths and thickness</li> <li>Imperfect exfoliation</li> </ul>
Filler Orientation	<ul> <li>Unidirectional</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Some degree of misalignment</li> </ul>
Filler Interface	<ul> <li>Filler and matrix are well bonded</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Imperfect bonding between filler and matrix</li> </ul>
Filler Modulus	<ul> <li>Assumes filler modulus is same in all directions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Filler is anisotropic</li> </ul>
Matrix considerations	<ul> <li>Assumes matrix is isotropic</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Polymer chain orientation</li> <li>Presence of polymer crystallites</li> </ul>
Filler concentration Effects	<ul> <li>No particle – particle interactions</li> <li>Ignores changes in viscosity</li> <li>No particle agglomeration</li> </ul>	Particle – particle interactions and agglomerations     Changes in viscosity can alter morphology during injection molding     Changes in crystalline morphology

Clay Content	Amount of EML replacing UPE in UPE-EML blend. (as % of UPE)				
(wt.%)	0	10	20	30	
0.0	1	2	3	4	
2.5	5	6	7	8	
5.0	9	10	11	12	

Table 7-3. Experimental matrix showing specimen identification numbers and variation in clay and EML contents

Table 7-4. Diffusivity coefficients of UPE/EML nanoclay composites.

Diffusivity Coefficients, D x $10^{-12}$ m <sup>2</sup> /s						
Clay Content	Amount of EML replacing UPE in UPE-EML blend. (as % of UPE)					
(wt.%) <b>-</b>	0	10	20	30		
0.0	3.666	6.350	7.965	12.781		
2.5	2.458	3.019	3.714	12.341		
5.0	1.050	2.071	2.522	8.385		

Table 7-5. Comparison of diffusivity coefficients of various nanocomposites with virgin UPE, expressed in percentage. Highlighted region shows nanocomposites that had equal or better barrier properties than virgin UPE.

Percentag	e increas relativ	e of Diffusi ve to virgin	ivity Coeffi UPE	cients, D
Clay Amount of EML replacing UPE in Content UPE-EML blend. (as % of UPE)				
(wt.%) -	0	10	20	30
0.0	0	73	117	249
2.5	-33	-18	1	237
5.0	-71	-44	-31	129

.

Table 7-6. Comparison of experimental results and theoretical predictions for various
particle overlap factors, at nanoclay content of 2.5 wt.%

Diffusivity Coefficients, D x 10 <sup>-12</sup> m <sup>2</sup> /s Clay Content = 2.5 wt.%, aspect ratio=130									
	Amount of EML replacing UPE in UPE-EML blend (as % of UPE)								
-	0	10	20	30					
Experiments	2.458	3.019	3.714	12.341					
Theory, $\gamma = 0.25$	1.583	2.742	3.439	5.519					
Theory, $\gamma = -0.50$	1.505	2.608	3.271	5.249					
Theory, $\gamma = = 0.00$	Theory, $\gamma = 0.00$ 1.872 3.242 4.067 6.526								

Table 7-7. Comparison of experimental results and theoretical predictions for various particle overlap factors, at nanoclay content of 5 wt.%

Diffusivity Coefficients, D x 10 <sup>-12</sup> m <sup>2</sup> /s Clay Content = 5.0 wt.%, aspect ratio=130								
	Amount of EML replacing UPE in UPE-EML blend (as % of UPE)							
	0	10	20	30				
Experiments	1.050	2.071	2.522	8.385				
Theory, $\gamma = 0.25$	0.912	1.580	1.982	3.180				
Theory, $\gamma = = 0.50$	0.837	1.450	1.818	2.918				
Theory, $\gamma = = 0.00$ 1.248 2.162 2.712 4.352								



fiber-like Figure 7-1. Physical representations, coordinate systems, Mori-Tanaka model – filler orientations [7-3]



Figure 7-2 Variation of Longitudinal Modulus with Aspect ratio.



Figure 7-3. Variation in length and subsequently aspect ratio, across a dish-like platelet [7-3].



Figure 7-4. Variation of Longitudinal Modulus ( $E_{11}$ ) with variation in  $f_p$  and (L/t) [7-7].



Figure 7-5. Variation of Transverse Modulus ( $E_{22}$ ) with variation in  $f_b$  and (L/t) [7-7]



Figure 7-6. Variation of In-Plane Shear Modulus (G<sub>12</sub>) with variation in  $f_b$  and (L/t) [7-7]



Figure 7-7. Variation of Out of-Plane Shear Modulus (G<sub>23</sub>) with variation in  $f_p$  and (L/t)[7-7]



Figure 7-8. Variation of Plane Strain Bulk Modulus (K<sub>23</sub>) with variation in  $f_p$  and (L/t) [7-7].



Figure 7-9. Variation of Major Poisson's Ratio ( $v_{12}$ ) with variation in  $f_b$  and (L/t) [7-7]



Figure 7-10. Variation of Longitudinal Modulus  $(E_{11})$  with variation in  $f_p$  and (L/t)- Hui-Shia Fiber Like inclusions, (L/t = 10, 50) [7-7].



Figure 7-11. Variation of Transverse Modulus  $(E_{22})$  with variation in  $f_p$  and (L/t)- Hui-Shia Fiber Like inclusions, (L/t = 10, 50) [7-7].



Figure 7-12. Variation of Longitudinal Modulus  $(E_{11})$  with variation in  $f_p$  and (L/t)- Hui-Shia Flake Like inclusions, (L/t = 0.01, 0.1) [7-7].



Figure 7-13. Variation of Transverse Modulus ( $E_{22}$ ) with variation in  $f_p$  and (L/t)- Hui-Shia Flake Like inclusions, (L/t = 0.01, 0.1) [7-7]



Figure 7-14. Variation of  $E_{11}$  with respect to particle volume fraction $(f_p)$  – Halpin-Tsai model [7-7]



Figure 7-15. Variation of  $E_{11}/E_m$ . Halpin –Tsai model [7-1]



Figure 7-16. Kinematic Periodic Boundary Conditions



a) Truncated inclusion at the edge of RVE

b) Applying the particle periodicity by including the truncated particle on the other edge

Figure 7-17. Schematic Representation of Particle Periodicity in RVE



Figure 7-18. Particle Periodicity. Circled regions show the inclusions of the truncated particles. RVE dimension of 500 x1000 nm





(b)

Figure 7-19. a) Sample RVE with 2% wt. clay concentration, and, b) equivalent FE model



Figure 7-20. Resulting stress contours (S11-Von-Mises) from RVE FE analyses



Figure 7-21. Partly exfoliated and partly intercalated RVE model

	the second s		
the same of the	and the second se		
and the second division of the second divisio			

Figure 7-22. RVE with Mesh thickness = 1 element per clay particle (RED)

and the second se	and the second se	and the second se	and the second se		
-					the second se
-					
_					
-					
			the second se		
_					
-					
and the second se	the second se		the second s	the second se	and the second division of the second divisio
-					
-					
-					and the second se
-					-
-					
-					
-					
_					
-					
-					
-					
-					

Figure 7-23. RVE with interface, Mesh thickness = 1 element per clay Particle (RED) and Interface (green) shown above



Figure 7-24. RVE with Interface, Mesh thickness= 4 elements per Clay Particle and Interface (red)



Figure 7-25. Comparison of RVE Analyses with theory, Variation of Longitudinal Stiffness with varying  $E_p/E_m$ 



Figure 7-26. Comparison of RVE Analyses with theory, Variation of Longitudinal Stiffness with varying aspect ratios



Figure 7-27. Study of Interface properties through RVE Analyses



Figure 7-28. Study of CTE through RVE analyses



Figure 7-29. Comparison of Tensile Modulus from theory, FEA – UCM and Experimental Results for 100% Neat UPE with varying clay content



Figure 7-30. Diffusion modeling using FE-based RVEs. a) concentration contours showing diffusion of water from bottom to top, b) tortuous flow path simulation, low magnification, c) tortuous flow path simulation, high magnification, and d) Simulation and Experimental results comparison.



Figure 7-31. Diffusivity plots  $(\mathbf{M}_t/\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{w}} vs. \sqrt{t}/d)$  of neat resins (no clay). Symbols indicate experimental data and solid lines the exponential fit. Inset shows, the initial slope / diffusivity coefficients (D x 10<sup>12</sup> m<sup>2</sup>/s) as a function of bio-resin content



Figure 7-32. Diffusivity plots  $(M_t/M_{\infty} \text{ vs.} \sqrt{t}/d)$  of UPE (no EML) with varying clay contents. Symbols indicate experimental data and solid lines the exponential fit.



Figure 7-33. Diffusivity plots  $(M_r/M_{\infty} vs. \sqrt{t}/d)$  of UPE/EML blend containing 10%EML, with varying clay contents. Symbols indicate experimental data and solid lines the exponential fit.



Figure 7-34. Diffusivity plots  $(M_t/M_{\infty} vs. \sqrt{t}/d)$  of UPE/EML blend containing 20%EML, with varying clay contents. Symbols indicate experimental data and solid lines the exponential fit.


Figure 7-35. Diffusivity plots ( $M_t/M_{\infty}$  vs.  $\sqrt{t}/d$ ) of UPE/EML blend containing 30% EML, with varying clay contents. Symbols indicate experimental data and solid lines the exponential fit.



Figure 7-36. Summary of diffusivity coefficients of all bio-based nanoclay composites in this study



Figure 7-37. Comparison of experimental results and theoretical predictions for various particle overlap factors, corresponding to clay content of 2.5 wt. %.



Figure 7-38. Comparison of experimental results and theoretical predictions for various particle overlap factors, corresponding to clay content of 5 wt. %.

#### 7.12 References

- [7-1] Sheng N, Boyce MC, Parks DM, Rutledge GC, Abes JI, Cohen RE. Multiscale micromechanical modeling of polymer/clay nanocomposites and the effective clay particle. Polymer 2004, 45:487-506.
- [7-2] Brune DA, Bicerano J. Micromechanics of nanocomposites: comparison of tensile and compressive elastic modulii and prediction of incomplete exfoliation and imperfect alignment modulus. Polymer. 2002, 43:369-387.
- [7-3] Fornes TD, Paul DR. Modeling properties of nylon6 / clay nanocomposites using composite theories. Polymer. 2003, 44:4993 5013.
- [7-4] Le Baron PC, Wang Z, Pinnavaia TJ. Polymer layered silicate nanocomposites: an overview. Applied Clay Science 1999; 15:11-29
- [7-5] Bohm HJ. A short introduction to basic aspects of continuum micromechanics, A CDL-FMD Report 3-1998, Vienna Institute of Technology, Italy (1998).
- [7-6] Fertig III RS, Garnich MR. Influence of constituent properties and microstructural parameters on the tensile modulus of a polymer / clay nanocomposite. Composite Science and Technology. 2004, 64:2577-2588.
- [7-7] Tandon GP, Weng GJ. The effect of aspect ratio of inclusions on the elastic properties of unidirectionally aligned composites. Polymer composites. 1984, 5:327-333.
- [7-8] Hui CY Shia D. Simple Formulae for the Effective Modulii of Unidirectional Aligned Composites. Polymer Engineering and Science. 1998, 38:774-782.
- [7-9] Halpin JC. Stiffness and expansion estimates for oriented short fiber composites. Journal of Composite Materials. 1969, 3:732-735.
- [7-10] Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Bio-based unsaturated polyester/layered silicate nanocomposites: characterization and thermo-physical properties." Composites – Part A. 2009; 40:540-547Gusev AA. Representative volume element size for elastic composites: a numerical study. Journal of Mechanics and Physics of Solids1997, 45:1449-1459.
- [7-11] Feyel F. A multilevel finite element method (FE<sup>2</sup>) to describe the response of highly nonlinear structures using generalized continua. Computational Methods in Applied Mechanical Engineering. 2003, 192: 3233-3244.
- [7-12] Smit RJM, Brekelmans WAM, Meijer HEH. Prediction of the mechanical behavior of nonlinear heterogeneous systems by multi-level finite element modeling. Computational methods in Applied Mechanical Engineering. 1998, 155: 181-192.
- [7-13] Olson GB. Computational design of hierarchically structured materials. Science. 1997, 277:1237-42.

- [7-14] Kim JK, Hu C, Woo RSC, Sham ML. Moisture barrier characteristics of organoclayepoxy nanocomposites. Composites Science and Technology. 2005; 65:805-813.
- [7-15] Vlasveld DPN, Groenewold J, Bersee HEN, Picken SJ. Moisture absorption in polyamide-6 silicate nanocomposites and its influence on mechanical properties. Polymer 2005; 46:12567-12576.
- [7-16] Rana HT, Gupta RK, GangaRao HVS, Sridhar LN. Measurement of moisture diffusivity through layered-silicate nanocomposites. Materials, Interfaces, and electrochemical phenomena, AIChE Journal. 2005; 51:3249-3256.
- [7-17] Gorassi G, Tortora M, Vittoria V, Galli G, Chiellini E. Transport and mechanical properties of blends of poly (ε-caprolactone) and a modified montmorillonite poly (ε-caprolactone) nanocomposites. Journal of Polymer Science; Part B: Polymer Physics. 2002; 40:1118-1124.
- [7-18] Pourabas B, Raeesi V. Preparation of ABS/montmorillonite nanocomposite using a solvent / non solvent method. Polymer. 2005; 46: 5533-5540.
- [7-19] Ludueña LN, Alvarez VA, Vazques A. Processing and microstructure of PCL/clay nanocomposites. Materials Science and Engineering A. 2007; 460-461:121-129.
- [7-20] Van Es MA, Polymer clay nanocomposites. The importance of particle dimensions. PhD Thesis. Delft Institute of Technology; 2001.
- [7-21] Haq M, Burgueño R., Mohanty AK, Misra M. Processing techniques for bio-based unsaturated-polyester/clay nanocomposites: tensile properties, efficiency, and limits. Composites: A, 2009, 40:540-547.
- [7-22] Drozdov AD, Christiansen J deC, Gupta RK, Shah AP. Model for Anomalous Moisture Diffusion through a Polymer-Clay Nanocomposite. Journal of Polymer Science: Part B: Polymer Physics. 2003; 41:476-492.
- [7-23] Chen X, Papathanasiou TD. Barrier Properties of Flake-Filled Membranes: Review and Numerical Evaluation. Journal of Plastic Film and Sheeting. 2007; 23:319-346.
- [7-24] Nielsen LE. Models for the Permeability of Filled Polymer Systems. Journal of Macromolecular Science, Part A. 1967; 1(5):929-942.
- [7-25] Pritchard G. Reinforced Plastics Durability. CRC Press, FL, USA. 1999.
- [7-26] Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Hybrid Bio-based Composites from blends of Unsaturated Polyester and Soy Bean Oil Reinforced with Nanoclay and Natural Fibers. Composites Science and Technology. 2008, 68:3344-3351.

## Chapter 8. FE-based Multiscale Homogenization<sup>12</sup>

## 8.1 Abstract

Multi-level finite element (FE) methods have gained importance for modeling heterogeneous materials as they offer the ability to model microgeometries in detail and permit incorporating nonlinear material behavior. A multi-level FE computation does not require any constitutive equations to be written at the macroscopic scale as all non-linearites are obtained from separate FE analyses at lower hierarchical (micro/nano) scales. In this work, a multi-level FE algorithm was implemented to model the tensile response of hybrid bio-based materials. A two-level (nano-micro) multi FE scheme was used to predict the tensile response of two-phase (nanoclay + matrix) and three-phase (nanoclay + petro-resin + bio-resin) bio-based nanocomposites. Also, a three-level multi-FE (nano-micro-macro) algorithm was implemented to predict the tensile behavior of biocomposites (natural fiber + nanoclay + petro-resin + bio-resin). The nanocomposite geometry was modeled as realistic as possible using a FE based representative volume element (RVE) taking into account random nanoclay distribution and hierarchical nanoclay morphologies. The three-level multi-FE scheme modeling the hybrid fiber-reinforced composite was aimed to show the robustness of the multi-FE approach and not necessarily to model the material with high accuracy, and hence a simplified RVE was used. The multi-FE simulations agreed very well with the average experimental response in the initial stiffness regime and seem to deviate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Partial results from this chapter were presented in a conference proceeding: Haq, M. and Burgueño, R. "Modeling and simulation of bio-based polymer/clay nanocomposites through a multilevel FE approach," Computation of Shell & Spatial Structures, Spanning Nano to Mega, IASS-IACM 2008. Ithaca, New York, USA. May 2008.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Complete results to be submitted to Journal of Composites Science and Technology.

away near ultimate, for nanocomposiets (two-level) and hybrid composites (three-level). The RVEs that depict the material more realistically, namely intercalated morphologies and threephase idealized RVEs, performed better than exfoliated and two-phase RVEs. One of the main drawbacks of the multi-FE algorithm is that it basically is a sophisticated homogenization/averaging scheme, which can account for non-linearities but cannot model damage. Once damage occurs the periodicity of the RVE ceases to exist and violates the assumptions of multi-FE method. Also, stress-concentration and numerical anomalies (if any) are averaged out and hence the scheme may over-predict the response. Overall, multi-FE algorithms hold great promise in modeling different length scales within the continuum regime.

## 8.2 Introduction

Modification of polymers at the nanoscale, by addition of nano-inclusions has been shown to enhance mechanical properties and provide multifunctionality to the resulting polymer nanocomposites [8-1]. However, quantitative evaluation of the mechanisms leading to these property enhancements as well as those that limit the performance of polymer nanocomposites is still limited due to experimental restrictions. Computational simulation seems to be a good way to fill this gap. However, the simulation aiming to determine overall macro-scale properties must be able to account for features of these materials at the nanoscale.

The enhancement gained from nanoscale fillers (e.g. nanotubes, silica, layered silicates, etc.) is experimentally well established. Many analytical and numerical models are available to predict the overall effective/homogenized properties of these heterogeneous polymer-filler systems. It is commonly accepted that the overall effective physico-mechanical

properties of a polymer-filler material depends on the type of the filler, its aspect ratio, modulus of the filler, modulus of the matrix, concentration of the filler, etc. Hence, prediction of the homogenized properties of heterogeneous materials is widely documented in literature. Various theories and models have been proposed, each with their own advantages and limitations. Overall, homogenization techniques can be classified into [8-2]: mean field approaches, variational bound methods, periodic microfield approaches /unit cell methods, embedded cell approaches, windowing approaches, rules of mixtures and semiempirical formulae such as Halpin-Tsai methods, etc.

The simplest method of homogenization is the rule of mixtures wherein the overall properties are calculated as an average over the respective properties of the constituents weighed by their volume fractions. Clearly, this method takes into account only one microstructural property, the volume fraction, and is applicable for simple geometries and linear material properties [8-1][8-2]. A more sophisticated method is the self-consistent or effective-medium theories developed by Eshelby [8-3]. Eshelby's theory was further developed by various researchers including Hashin [8-4], Hashin and Shtrikman [8-5], Hill [8-6], and others [8-7]. Effective overall properties are obtained as an analytical solution of a boundary value problem for a spherical/ellipsoidal particle in an infinite matrix. In order to take into account for the particle-particle interactions, Mori-Tanaka [8-2] modified the Eshelby inclusion theory. Mori-Tanaka estimates are commonly used to estimate elastic properties of particulate composites and are found to agree reasonably with experimental results. Extended, or modified, Mori-Tanaka schemes have been proposed that also take into account variations in fiber orientations and fiber lengths using probability distribution functions [8-2][8-8].

Another mathematical approach is the asymptotic homogenization method reported by Bensoussan et al. [8-9] and Sanchez [8-10]. In this method "natural length parameter," which is the ratio of characteristic size of the heterogeneities to a measure of macrostructure, is used in an asymptotic expansion of the displacement and stress fields. Variational principles are then used to create a link between the scales [8-2][8-7]. Among the computational methods, unit cell methods have become widely used. The success of these methods depends on the selection of the unit cell or the representative volume element (RVE). The RVE should be selected such that it is large enough to represent the microstructure and small enough to allow efficient computational modeling. The corresponding RVE's are then analyzed with proper loading and boundary conditions via analytical or numerical methods. Unit cell methods allow modeling of micro-scale geometries in great detail (specifically in finite element based unit cell methods) and enable investigation of the influence of different geometrical features, interfaces, interparticle interactions, etc., on the overall material response. However, since these approaches formulate the macroscopic constitutive relations based on the behavior of a single RVE subjected to a given loading history, they are in fact successful only for small deformations [8-2**]**8-7].

Unlike most conventional fillers, the modeling of nanoclays, or layered silicates, pose new and unique modeling issues such as: a) particle size, b) hierarchical modeling, and c) interface and gallery properties [8-11]. Analytical micromechanical models have proved to be successful in predicting homogenized properties of conventional composites where the filler length scale is in the order of tens of microns or larger [8-11]. In nanoclay reinforced composites, depending on the processing, the clay morphology varies significantly. Exfoliated clays may be in range of nanometers and highly intercalated clay agglomerations

may be in the order of micrometers. Moreover, it is commonly agreed that polymer/clay nanocomposites exhibit both exfoliated and intercalated (hierarchical) morphologies. Clearly, most micromechanical models cannot handle this complexity [8-11]. More importantly, it shows the limitation in modeling hierarchical morphologies that can vary by orders of magnitudes. The concepts of "matrix" and "particle" that are well-defined in micromechanical models can no longer be directly applied to polymer-clay nanocomposites. Researchers have tried to address this issue by defining an "effective particle" or a "pseudo inclusion." Sheng et al. [8-11] employ an "effective particle" in analytical and numerical (finite element) micromechanical models. Similarly, Brune and Bicerano [8-12] developed a pseudo inclusion model using the Halpin-Tsai empirical model by substituting the effective pseudo inclusion size. Miyagawa et al. [8-13] used the same concept in Mori-Tanaka models. The aforementioned studies with the concept of "effective particle" have shown to model the hierarchical nature of polymer/clay nanocomposites successfully and have reported good agreement with experimental data [8-11][8-12][8-13]. The final and most important issue in modeling of polymer/clay nanocomposites is the particle-polymer interface. Depending on the chemical compatibility, or functionalization, of the nanoclay and polymer the resulting interfacial properties will vary considerably [8-14]. Additionally in intercalated clay morphologies, wherein the clay platelets are in stacks (called galleries), the properties of the material in the galleries is not fully understood [8-11].

The above mentioned issues specific to polymer/clay nanocomposites make modeling of such composites challenging. Finite element (FE) based modeling and simulation address these issues and enable modeling of interfaces, different particle sizes and morphologies, non-linear material properties and complex loading [8-2]. Due to the complex hierarchical nature of polymer/clay nanocomposites multiscale models are considered in this work. Not limited to polymer/clay nanocomposites, multiscale models or direct micromacro methods have been used for homogenization of different heterogeneous materials[8-7][8-15]-[8-19]. These models have also been termed as "multiscale methods[8-15][8-16][8-17]," "FE<sup>2</sup> methods [8-18]," "integrated methods[8-19]," and "multi-level methods[8-18]". These methods do not use a material model for the macrostructure, but rather estimate the relevant macroscopic stress-strain relationship by performing numerical homogenization on representative volume elements (RVEs) that define lower scale heterogeneities. The link between the macro and micro behavior is then obtained by volume averaging [8-7][8-15][8-16]. Thus, computational multi-level approaches using finite element procedures offer the ability to model micro- and nano-scale geometries in greater detail and incorporate nonlinear material behavior with minimal assumptions of inter-particle behavior or macro-scale constitutive response.

In the multi-level FE approach presented here, a unique RVE is assigned to each macroscopic finite element integration point. The macroscopic deformation gradient at the respective integration point is applied as boundary conditions to the associated RVE. The tangential stiffness matrix is also derived from the RVE using a computational homogenization procedure as presented by Breuls et al. [8-15]. This multi-level approach has been validated for a perforated sheet of hypoelastic material by Smit et al [8-16], bending of porous aluminum by Kouznetsova et al. [8-7] and study of local tissue deformations by Breuls et al.[8-15]. In this study, two types of composites, namely: a) nanocomposites, consisting of petro-resin (unsaturated polyester, UPE), bio-resin (epoxidized methyl linseedate, EML) and nanoclay (Cloisite 30 B<sup>®</sup>), and b) hybrid biocomposites, consisting of micro-sized (~25 mm long) industrial hemp fibers and nanoclay in blends of petro- (UPE) and bio-resin (EML), were modeled using the multi-level FE approach. The non-linear

material behavior of bio-based polymers used in this work is defined in the form of hyperelastic models (obtained from experimental data) at the nanoscale RVEs. The tensile behavior of nanoclay reinforced bio-based polymer systems and fiber reinforced hybrid biocomposites is evaluated using this multi-level finite-element approach and its performance is compared with experimental data.

## 8.3 Multi-level Approach

#### 8.3.1 Materials

The nanocomposite under consideration is an environmentally friendly material that aims at replacing parts of a petroleum based polymer (unsaturated polyester, UPE) with natural bio-resin (epoxidized linseed oil, EML) [8-20]. The resulting bio-based resin system has been shown to attain increased toughness but its stiffness is reduced [8-20]. The lost stiffness was improved by addition of nanoscale layered silicates (nanoclay), which are sheetlike layers approximately 1 nm thick and with aspect ratios of 50-1000. Depending on the processing technique, the nanoclay in the nanocomposite exists as exfoliated (well separated), intercalated (stacks of layers with equal spacing) and a combination of both. The FE based RVE for microstructures in this study modeled these morphologies based on observations from transmission electron microscopy (TEM) images of manufactured nanocomposites, which indicated common occurrence of three platelets stacked in an intercalated gallery(see Figure 8-4c). This morphology was thus used in the RVEs(Figure 8-4b, d). Two types of composites, namely: a) nanocomposites, consisting of petro-resin (unsaturated polyester, UPE), bio-resin (epoxidized methyl linseedate, EML) and nanoclay (Cloisite 30 B<sup>(a)</sup>), and b) hybrid biocomposites, consisting of micro-sized (~25 mm long) industrial hemp fibers and nanoclay in blends of petro- (UPE) and bio-resin (EML), were

modeled using the multi-level FE approach. Additionally, the nanocomposites were modeled as two-phase material (nanoclay + effective matrix) and three-phase material (nanoclay + petro-resin + bio-resin). Experimental data is based on bio-based clay/polymer nanocomposite (Chapter 4), and hybrid biocomposites (Chapter 6), with 20% bio-resin (EML) and 2.5 wt. % nanoclay. The material layout study (Chapter 9) also resulted in idealized RVE for nanocomposite with 10% EML and 2.5 wt.% nanoclay, and was hence used as an additional comparison for the nanocomposite example. This material composition was not used for hybrid biocomposites. Also, for the hybrid biocomposites, the idealized RVE (Chapter 9) with three-phase materials was used to describe the properties of the matrix. The properties of the natural fiber were back-calculated from the experimental data using rules of mixtures. Experimental tensile tests were performed according to ASTM D638 standards (See Chapter 4 and Chapter 6 for details).

#### 8.3.2 Computational Homogenization Hypotheses

The material considered in this work is a polymer nanocomposite consisting of layered silicates (nanoclay) embedded in a polymer matrix. The material is considered to be macroscopically homogeneous, such that continuum mechanics theory is applicable at that scale. At the microscale the material is heterogeneous and consists of distinguishable components, namely nanoclay platelets with varying spatial distribution. Also, the microscopic length scale considered is much larger than the molecular dimensions, such that continuum approach is applicable to all components at that scale, but much smaller than the characteristic length of macroscopic sample considered, and hence periodicity of the microstructure is acceptable [8-7]. The assumption of local periodicity follows the work of Breuls et al. [8-15] and Kouznetsova [8-7]. Instead of assuming global periodicity of the microstructure, wherein the whole macroscopic material consists of spatially repeated unit cells, a more realistic assumption of local periodicity is followed. The microstructure can have different morphologies corresponding to different macroscopic points, while it repeats itself in the vicinity of the each individual macroscopic point [8-7][8-15]. This assumption allows us to model the random nanoclay morphology in a more realistic manner. The repetitive microstructural deformations suggest that the macroscopic stresses and strains around a macroscopic point can be obtained by averaging microstructural stresses and strains in a small representative part of the microstructure assigned to the macroscopic material point. In this work, a two-dimensional (2D) representative volume element (RVE) is used to model the microstructure. The use of periodic constraints and stress/strain averaging for 2D models used in this work follow the derivation provided by Breuls et al. [8-15] and are briefly presented in the following section.

#### 8.3.3 Periodic Boundary Conditions (PBC)

A two-dimensional (2D) representative volume element defining the local microstructure of an assigned macroscopic material point is considered (Figure 8-1). For a 2D RVE, throughout the deformation processes, the PBCs indicate: a) shapes of any two opposite edges remain identical, and b) stress vectors on opposite edges are equal and opposite in direction to satisfy stress continuity. In Smit et al. [8-16], appropriate derivations of the boundary conditions are presented and were later used by Breuls et al. [8-15] and Kouznetsova [8-7]. The final expressions:

$$\vec{y}_{14} = \vec{y}_{23} - \vec{y}_2 + \vec{y}_1 \tag{8-1}$$

$$\vec{y}_{43} = \vec{y}_{12} - \vec{y}_1 + \vec{y}_4 \tag{8-2}$$

where  $\vec{y}_{ij}$  is the displacement vector for any material point on the corresponding boundary  $\Gamma_{ij}$  and  $\vec{y}_i$  is the displacement vector for corresponding vertex  $\vec{z}$ . In addition, for vertex 3, a constraint equation is formulated, such that the vertex 3 displacements are tied with the other vertices [8-17]:

$$\vec{y}_3 - \vec{y}_2 = \vec{y}_4 - \vec{y}_1 \tag{8-3}$$

The rigid body motions can be eliminated by enforcing  $\vec{y}_i = 0$ , for either  $i \in \{1,2,4\}$ . In this work, displacements on vertex 1 were enforced to be zero, i.e.  $\vec{y}_1 = 0$ . From the periodicity Equations (8-1) to (8-3) it can be observed that variables  $\vec{y}_{12}, \vec{y}_{23}, \vec{y}_1, \vec{y}_2$  and  $\vec{y}_4$  are independent, where as  $\vec{y}_{14}, \vec{y}_{43}, \vec{y}_3$  are tied (dependent). Hence it is sufficient to prescribe displacements on the three vertices  $\vec{y}_1, \vec{y}_2$  and  $\vec{y}_4$  [8-15].

#### 8.3.4 Coupling Macrostructure and Microstructure

<u>Deformation</u>: According to the homogenization assumption stated above, the local macroscopic deformation gradient tensor  $F_{macro}$  equals the averaged deformation gradient tensor over the RVE volume ( $F_{RVE}$ ). The volume averaging is performed over the initial volume ( $V_0$ ), since the deformation tensor is computed from the undeformed RVE configuration [8-15]:

$$F_{macro} = F_{RVE} = \frac{1}{V_0} \int_{y_0 \in V_0} (\vec{\nabla}_0 \vec{y}) dV_0$$
(8-4)

where  $(\vec{\nabla}_0 \vec{y})$  denotes the deformation tensor at any point  $\vec{y}_0$  of the undeformed RVE. Equation (8-4) also states that the strain energy in the macroscopic point equals the strain energy of the corresponding RVE. The volume integral in Equation (8-4) can be transformed into a surface integral using Gauss divergence theorem, and can be simplified for a 2D RVE. For implementation in finite element program it is written as [8-15]:

$$\{u\}_{RVE} = \begin{bmatrix} u_1 & u_2 & u_4 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} F_{RVE} - I \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} y_{01} & y_{02} & y_{04} \end{bmatrix}$$
(8-5)

where  $u_i$  denotes the displacement of RVE vertex point *i*. Using the equality condition from Equation (8-4), the RVE vertex point displacements due to macroscopic loads can be obtained directly from  $F_{macro}$ .

<u>Stress</u>: Similar to the deformation assumption, the stress at any macroscopic material point equals the volume averaged RVE stresses. Stress averaging is done over the current volume (*V*) of the RVE [8-15].

$$\sigma_{macro} = \sigma_{RVE} = \frac{1}{V} \int_{y \in V} \sigma(\vec{y}) dV$$
(8-6)

Using Gauss divergence theorem, and simplifying for a 2D RVE, the average stresses can be obtained as [8-15]:

$$\sigma_{RVE} = \frac{1}{A} sym\left[\left(\overrightarrow{y_4} - \overrightarrow{y_1}\right)\overrightarrow{f_4} + \left(\overrightarrow{y_2} - \overrightarrow{y_1}\right)\overrightarrow{f_2}\right]$$
(8-7)

Equation (8-7) relates the vertex forces  $(f_i)$  acting on vertex point *i* to the vertex displacements  $y_i$  Since  $\sigma_{macro} = \sigma_{RVE}$ , Equation (8-7) is taken as a constitutive equation at the corresponding macroscopic material point [8-7][8-15]. Overall, the macroscopic deformation gradients at any macroscopic material point are transferred to a 2D RVE as

vertex displacements, and the RVE averaged stresses are utilized as the resulting stress at the respective material point (Figure 8-3).

#### 8.3.5 FE Implementation

The macroscopic homogenized tensile behavior is of interest and is decoupled with the micro structural heterogeneities in a computational sense by using two separate finite element models at each scale (Figure 8-3)[8-7][8-15]. These two models are linked using the concepts of local periodicity of the microstructure and stress/strain averaging as described in 8.3.4.

The macroscopic body is discretized into finite elements. A RVE, representing the heterogeneous microstructure, is modeled in detail as a separate FE model and assigned to each integration point in the macroscopic finite element mesh. It should be noted that a unique RVE can be assigned to each integration point, depending on the heterogeneity and morphology at that point. A step by step explanation of the computational approach to multi-level FE problem is given in the following

- The external macroscopic loads are applied in an incremental manner and the macroscopic FE problem is solved with an incremental procedure. The solution of the macroscopic FE problem yields macroscopic deformation gradients at respective integration points (ip),  $F_{macro,ip}$ .
- For each macroscopic integration point, the deformation gradient  $F_{macro,ip}$  RVE vertex displacements  $\{u\}_{RVE}$ , corresponding to vertices 1, 2 and 4 are computed using Equation (8-5). These vertex displacements combined with the periodic boundary

constraints complete the set of boundary conditions required to solve the micro/nano-FE model [8-15].

- Each RVE is solved using a separate incremental iterative procedure. After convergence, the macroscopic stresses,  $\sigma_{macro}$ , and macroscopic tangential stiffness matrix,  ${}^{4}S_{macro}$ , are returned to the respective integration point. The macroscopic stress,  $\sigma_{macro}$ , is obtained using Equation (8-7) and  ${}^{4}S_{macro}$  is obtained from the variation of the averaged RVE stress using a computational homogenization approach and is explained briefly in the Appendix (Section 8.8) to this chapter. The RVE solution also provides the local stresses and strains inside the RVE, thereby enabling to study the effect of heterogeneities in detail.
- The macroscopic stresses assigned to each macroscopic integration point are used to compute the internal nodal forces. If these internal forces are in balance with the externally applied macroscopic loads, convergence has occurred and the next load step is applied. If convergence has not yet been reached, the macroscopic iteration continues with updated macroscopic deformations.

A schematic explaining the iterative multi-level FE procedure is provided in Figure 8-2. A detailed description of microscopic morphologies, micro and macro FE models, and numerical aspects are explained in the following section.

# 8.4 Multi-level FE Model of bio-based Polymer/Clay Composites

The tensile behavior of nanoclay reinforced bio-based polymer composite was simulated using the multi-level FE approach. Two-dimensional plane strain RVEs were used at the nanoscale to model the nanocomposites. The success of the computational scheme depends on detailed modeling such that the FE based RVEs represent the microstructure in a realistic manner. Hence, actual transmission electron microscopy imaging was used to observe the nanoclay morphology, which revealed random dispersion of nanoclay with a combination of exfoliated and intercalated particles. The intercalated galleries had around 3 silicate layers in each gallery (Figure 8-4c and Figure 8-4d). As a result, two types of nanoclay morphologies were studied: a) completely exfoliated (Figure 8-4a), and b) partially exfoliated (50%) and partially intercalated (50%) nanoclay particles (Figure 8-4b). A unique RVE, with different random clay distributions, was assigned to each macroscopic integration point, with the intent of better representing the actual microstructure. Ideally, the matrix consists of blends of bio-resin and petro-resin. In this study, two RVEs were used to model the biobased polymer nanocomposites. One containing two phases namely nanoclay and matrix; while the other consists of three-phases, namely: nanoclay, petro-resin and bio-resin. A brief description of the models is provided in the following.

## 8.4.1 Macromesh, RVE (micromesh), Material Models and Computational Aspects

The macroscopic tensile behavior of polymer/clay nanocomposites is of interest. The multi-level approach used in this work, and presented earlier, can be applied to any number of macroscopic elements under arbitrary loads. Yet, for simplicity, in this study the macro mesh was assumed to represent a region within the gauge length of a tensile coupon with dimensions of 1 mm x 1 mm (Figure 8-3), and hence assumed to be subjected to pure tension. This could then be modeled by a single plane strain quadrilateral element with four integration points.

#### Material Models & Assumptions:

<u>Nanoclay</u>: The nanoclay sheets were modeled as a linear elastic material (E=170 GPa [8-21][8-22]) with exfoliated sheets having aspect ratios of 130. Electron microscopy revealed partially exfoliates and partially intercalated galleries, with approximately three platelets per gallery and inter-platelet spacing of 3 nm. Figure 8-4c and Figure 8-4d show the TEM micrograph of an intercalated gallery and its corresponding model in an RVE, respectively.

#### Matrix Properites:

<u>a) Neat UPE:</u> Tensile tests showed that neat UPE (no clay and no bio-resin) had essentially a linear elastic response. Addition of bio-resin makes the resulting bio-based polymer more ductile and non-linear, while addition of nanoclay makes the resulting nanocomposite stiffer and less ductile. Neat UPE was thus modeled as a linear elastic material (E = 3.65 GPa [8-20]).

b) Two-phase models (nanoclay + bio-based matrix): The initial attempt of multi-FE algorithm was applied using two-phase models wherein the bio-based matrix was assumed to be a homogeneous, effective matrix. In this case, the neat bio-based polymer (UPE/EML blend without nanoclay) was modeled as a hyperelastic material using an Ogden strain energy potential with parameters determined from experimental data. Figure 8-4a and Figure 8-4b show sample two-phase RVEs for exfoliated and intercalated morphologies, respectively.

c) Three-phase models (nanoclay + UPE + bio-resin). The experimental characterization of bio-based nanocomposites revealed reduction in stiffness parameters due to addition of bio-resin [8-20]. It was hypothesized that bio-resin addition affects the stress-transfer between the stiff nanoclay particle and the matrix. Additionally visual observation of manufactured nanocomposites and scanning electron images of tensile fracture surfaces revealed phase-separation of petro-resin and bio-resin. The distribution of the bio-resin around a nanoclay

platelet could not be observed experimentally and hence an adhoc approach was adopted to determine the bio-resin distribution (Chapter 9). In order to model the material realistically at the lower/nano-scale, three phase RVEs having distinct clay, petro-resin and bio-resin phases were used. The three phase RVES were obtained from the material layout optimization study, as discussed in Chapter 9. The three-phase idealized RVEs were used in the multi-FE algorithms. Since the RVEs developed through the material layout procedure (Chapter 9) have only one clay particle, the concept of an idealized RVEs was used in a random way to better represent the nanoclay distribution. Figure 8-5 shows: a) the single platelet idealized RVE, (b) an RVE containing randomly distributed platelets with exfoliated platelets and c) an RVE with random intercalated clay morphology for three-phase material modeling for compositions of 10% EML and 2.5 wt.% nanoclay. Similar models for 20% EML and 2.5 wt.% nanoclay are shown in Figure 8-6. The next challenge was the determination of properties of pure bio-resin (100% EML), which are not available, as blends of only up to 30% EML content in UPE could be manufactured. Additionally, the properties of 100% bio-resins found in literature cannot be used as they do not match the chemical compositons of the bio-resin used in this work. Nevertheless, the experimental tensile modulus data studying the effect of EML concentration in UPE revealed a sigmoidal trend. Figure 8-7 shows the tensile modulus data and the sigmoidal fit ( $R^2$  value = 1). This suggests that beyond 30% bio-resin content, the reduction in tensile properties would be minimal. Hence, experimental data of bio-based resin with 30% EML content was used to model pure bio-resin. It should be noted that this assumption may lead to an over-estimation of properties as the pure bio-resin properties will be lower than 30% bio-blend. The commercial FE program Abaqus<sup>®</sup> [8-23] allows fitting non-linear hyperelastic models for any given experimental data. For the provided data, a hyper-elastic Marlow model was found

to be the most stable fit for all strains and hence was used to model the bio-resin. The model was validated by comparing the simulated response with experimental data for a neat RVE (no nanoclay), and, as expected, was found to be an exact match.

#### d) RVE Description:

The selection of an RVE plays a vital role in the effectively modeling the heterogeneous material. The RVE should be selected such that it is large enough to represent the microstructure realistically and small enough to allow efficient computations. The bio-based nanocomposites in this work were modeled in two ways: a) two-phase RVEs (nanoclay + effective matrix), and b) three-phase RVEs (nanoclay + petro-resin +bio-resin). All RVEs were modeled using plane strain elements. The two-phase RVEs had dimensions of 500 nm x 250 nm and each element having a size of 1nm x 1nm. For a clay content of 2.5 wt.%, and exfoliated clay aspect ratios of 130, approximately 13 particles were randomly dispersed in the RVE. For three-phase models idealized RVEs were obtained from a material layout study (Chapter 9). In order to facilitate the computational speed, the RVE size was reduced to 500 nm x 125 nm with element size of 1 nm x 1 nm. These RVEs resulted in 7 particles for a clay content of 2.5 wt.%. This reduction in size was found to have no influence on resulting tensile predictions.

A custom Matlab<sup>®</sup> algorithm was used to create RVEs with randomly distributed clay platelets and generate the input file for its analysis using the general purpose FE program ABAQUS<sup>®</sup>[8-23]. The macro FE analysis was performed by a custom FE code in Matlab<sup>®</sup> and the nanoscale RVE FE analysis was performed in ABAQUS<sup>®</sup>[8-23]. A schematic of the implemented multi-level FE approach with an exfoliated RVE is shown in Figure 8-3.

# 8.5 Multi-level FE Model of Hybrid Biocomposites:

The macroscopic tensile behavior of hybrid biocomposites was modeled similarly to the nanocomposites, as discussed in the earlier section. A simplified model assumed to be within the gage length of the tensile coupon was used at the macroscopic scale, and a unique lower-scale RVE was assigned to each macroscopic integration point. The macroscopic model consists of nine plane strain quadrilateral element with four integration points each (Figure 8-8). The dimension of the fiber element was assigned as half the diameter of the raw industrial hemp fiber [8-24]. The dimensions of the matrix elements were assigned such that it satisfied the volume fraction of fiber/matrix, of the material test used for validation. The material under consideration has an average volume fraction of natural fibers of 21% with 20% EML content in UPE and 2.5 wt.% nanoclay.

As discussed earlier, in the multi-level FE approach no constitutive relationship is defined at the macroscale, instead all nonlinearities are obtained from the lower scale. The material properties of the nanocomposite models were described in the earlier section. In order to facilitate computational speed, a single particle RVE with three-phase material (Figure 8-8) was used. The material properties of natural hemp fiber were back-calculated from experimental results (Chapter 6), and using rule of mixtures. The average elastic modulus of the fibers was computed to be 12.5 GPa with a standard deviation of 3.0 GPa. The modulus of hemp fiber has been reported to be 70 GPa [8-24] whereas the average back-calculated modulus value was only 12.5 GPa. The lower value of computed modulus was expected as the experiment data represents short fibers while reported modulus uses aligned/single hemp fiber [8-24]. The efficiency of short fibers is considerably lower than aligned fully bonded fiber composites thereby supports the lower computed values of the modulus. Also, it should be noted that the modulus of natural fibers generally have significant scatter due to varying fiber quality. Finally, the hemp fiber was modeled as a linear elastic material with a modulus of 12.5 GPa.

## 8.6 Results and Discussion

Tensile behavior of bio-based nanocomposites (UPE+EML+clay) and hybrid biocomposites (hemp fiber+UPE+EML+clay) was simulated through the multi-FE approach and the simulations were compared with experimental data. The comparison of the predictions and the experiments was performed by studying the following parameters: a) initial stiffness, b) strain deviation parameter ( $\varepsilon_d$ ), and c) stresses at average experimental ultimate strain. These parameters are schematically represented in Figure 8-9 and are explained in the following.

The strain deviation parameter ( $\varepsilon_d$ ), or the strain level at which simulations starts to significantly deviate from the experimental response ( $\varepsilon_d$ ) is computed as:

$$\varepsilon_d = \frac{\varepsilon_{d,start}}{\varepsilon_{u,exp}} \,(\%) \tag{8-8}$$

where  $\varepsilon_{d,start}$  is the value of the strain at which the start of significant deviation of simulation and average experimental response was observed, and  $\varepsilon_{u,exp}$  is the average experimental ultimate tensile strain. Additionally,  $\sigma_{u,exp}$ , which is the average experimental stress corresponding to  $\varepsilon_{u,exp}$ , is compared with the stress-predictions from multi-FE models ( $\sigma_{\max,FE}$ ) corresponding to  $\varepsilon_{u,exp}$ . The FE simulations in this study do not model damage and hence the simulations were terminated at  $\varepsilon_{u,exp}$ .

#### 8.6.1 Bio-based Polymer Nanocomposites

#### Two-phase models:

Figure 8-10 compares the simulated and experimental tensile stress-strain responses for two-phase RVEs. A nomenclature of A(%)/B(%)/C(wt.%) is used to indicate the concentration of UPE/bio-resin/clay content. The high correlation between simulated and experimental responses for neat resins (no nanolay) in Figure 8-10a simply shows that the assumptions of information transfer (deformation gradient and effective stiffness) between the micro and macro levels is adequate. Two material compositions namely 100/0/2.5 and 90/10/2.5 were studied. The 100/0/2.5 material composition represents neat UPE (no bioresin) reinforced with nanoclay, and has a linear average experimental response (Figure 8-10b). Since both UPE and nanoclay were modeled as linear elastic, the simulated response was also linear elastic. The main purpose of performing this analysis was to study the effect of nanoclay morphology. It was observed (Figure 8-10b) that models with partially intercalated and exfoliated morphologies exactly matched average experimental response. Additionally, transmission electron imaging revealed that the actual microstructure had partially exfoliated and intercalated nanoclay morphology. This supports the good agreement of the simulations from partially intercalated model with experimental data, conversely indicating the need to realistically model the microstructure.

Similar to material composition 100/0/2.5, the models with exfoliated and partially intercalated morphologies were studied for material composition 80/20/2.5. As described in earlier section, the bio-based matrix was modeled as a non-linear hyperelastic material. The simulations for 80/20/2.5 material compositions from both exfoliated and partially intercalated models seem to capture the non-linear behavior (Figure 8-10b). Both models

(exfoliated and partially intercalated) match the average experimental data in initial stiffness. The exfoliated model had a strain deviation value of 35% while the partially intercalated model had a strain deviation value of 50%. This indicates better agreement of the partially intercalated model with average experimental data, as similarly observed with material composition of 100/0/2.5. At  $\varepsilon_{u,exp}$  the exfoliated model prediction exceeds the average ultimate experimental stress ( $\sigma_{u,exp}$ ) by approximately 45%, while the partially intercalated model exceeds it by only 35%. Additionally, the experimental ultimate stress values ( $\sigma_{u,exp}$ ) have a deviation of around 10%. Overall, it was found that the multi-FE simulations agree well with the average experimental response in initial stiffness, and the intercalated RVE models gave better predictions compared to the models with exfoliated morphology.

#### <u>Three-phase models:</u>

The single particle idealized RVE obtained from the material layout study (Chapter 9) was used along with random distribution in exfoliated and intercalated morphologies. Additionally, since two idealized RVEs for 10% and 20% EML contents were obtained from the material layout study, both RVEs were used in the multi-FE simulations. Hence, for a given material composition, three models were studied, namely: a) single-particle idealized RVE, b) RVE with multi-particles and exfoliated morphology, and c) RVE with multiparticles and intercalated morphology. Figure 8-11 and Figure 8-12 compare the average experimental response of the multi-FE simulated tensile response of the aforementioned three models for bio-resin contents of 10% and 20% EML, respectively.

The comparison of multi-FE simulations for material composition 90/10/2.5 and the average experimental response is provided in Figure 8-11. The initial stiffness of all three

models (single-particle idealized RVE, multi-particle+exfoliated and multi-particle+ intercalated) matched the average experimental data. The simulations from the single-particle idealized model and the multi-particle intercalated model were found be very similar. The exfoliated platelets model had a strain deviation value around 20%, while the intercalated and single-particle idealized models had strain deviation values of 60%. This suggests that the single-particle idealized and intercalated platelet models performed better than the exfoliated platelet model. Finally, the stresses at  $\mathcal{E}_{u,exp}$  for the intercalated platelets model were approximately 30% higher than  $\sigma_{u, exp}$ . For the single-particle idealized RVE and the intercalated platelets model, the predictions exceeded  $\sigma_{u, \exp}$  by around 15%. It should be noted that the  $\sigma_{u,exp}$  value has a deviation of around 15%. The above-mentioned comparisons were made only with respect to the average experimental data and the deviations were not considered. This suggests that in spite of the simulations appearing to deviate slightly from the average experimental response at ultimate, consideration of the deviation in the data would indicate reasonable agreement with experiments. Additionally, the material compositions with 10% bio-content are relatively brittle, which is what is thought to lead to the larger deviations near ultimate. Considering these variations and the assumptions made in the idealized RVE, it can be concluded that, overall, the simulations perform well and that the results reasonably agree with the average experimental response. Specifically, the models matched the average experimental response in initial stiffness, and both single-particle idealized RVE and the intercalated platelets models gave better predictions relative to the exfoliated platelet model.

The comparison of multi-FE simulations for material composition 80/20/2.5 and average the experimental response is provided in Figure 8-12. . The initial stiffness of the

three models (single-particle idealized RVE, multi-particle + exfoliated and multi-particle + intercalated) matched the average experimental data. The strain deviation values were approximately 15, 40, and 70% for the exfoliated, intercalated and single-platelet idealized models, respectively. The model predicted stress values at  $\mathcal{E}_{u,exp}$  were approximately 62, 50 and 15% higher than  $\sigma_{u,exp}$ . These results suggest that the single-particle idealized RVE performed the best, followed by the intercalated model. The exfoliated model did not show good agreement beyond the initial stiffness and strain deviation values of 15%. Additionally, the single-particle model had strain deviation values of 70% or more, suggesting that the model predicted the response reasonably well for more than 70% of the average experimental response. Finally,  $\sigma_{u,exp}$  value has a deviation of around 10% and the singleparticle model exceeded it by only 15%. The reasons attributed for the single-particle idealized RVE performing better than the multi-particle models are discussed in the following section. The above comparisons were made only with respect to the average experimental data and the deviations were not considered. Considering the data deviations and the assumptions made in the idealized RVE, it can be concluded that, overall, the simulations performed well and that the results agree reasonably well with the average experimental response. Specifically, the models matched the average experimental response in initial stiffness, and both the single-particle idealized RVE and the intercalated platelets models gave better predictions compared to the exfoliated platelets model.

#### Comparison of two-phase and three-phase models:

Figure 8-13 shows the comparison of the simulations using two-phase and threephase RVEs. Only models with intercalated morphology and 20% EML content were compared, as intercalated morphologies were found to agree better with experiments. Additionally, since the initial stiffness from all models matched the experimental response reasonably well, only the stresses at  $\varepsilon_{u,exp}$  are compared. The two-phase and three –phase models exceed  $\sigma_{u,exp}$  by 35% and 50%, respectively. It appears that for multi-platelet RVEs, the two-phase model performed better than the three-phase RVE. However, this observation should be dealt with carefully. The model is as good as the assumptions at the lower scale. In the two-phase model the non-linear behavior of the bio-based matrix was modeled as a homogenized hyperelastic material fitted to the experimental data. In the threephase models, UPE was assumed to be linear elastic and an upper-estimate of bio-resin material properties was assumed (refer to Section 8.4.1). Improved accuracy in material properties for each constituent would improve the performance of three-phase models, which additionally have more versatility by not requiring the fitting of a material model to the homogenized bio-based polymer.

The three-phase single-particle model had better agreement with the average experimental response with strain deviation values beyond 70% and stresses at  $\mathcal{E}_{u,exp}$  exceeding  $\sigma_{u,exp}$  by approximately 15%. For three-phase models, the multi-particle intercalated model would be expected to perform better than the single-particle model, as it seemingly models the material more realistically. Nevertheless, the single-particle idealized RVE was obtained by matching elastic experimental properties with the effective properties from the model (see Chapter 9). The material layout study in Chapter 9 was not performed with multiple platelets, as it would require large models that would be computationally too expensive to perform the material layout optimization. Additionally, the multi-particle distribution obtained as an extension of idealized RVEs violates the periodicity assumption used in the actual development of such idealized single particle RVE. For the same reason,

the single-particle idealized RVE performed better than other models, as it was obtained by fitting experimental data.

#### 8.6.2 Hybrid Bio-based Composites.

The multi-level FE approach used to model the bio-based nanocomposites as described in earlier sections of this chapter was extended to model hybrid biocomposites (hemp fiber + UPE + EML + nanoclay. The objective of modeling hybrid biocomposites in this study was mainly to show the feasibility and robustness of the multi-level FE scheme and not to accurately predict the response. Hence, simplified bio-based nanocomposite RVEs (with linear elastic UPE, hyperelastic discrete EML and linear elastic nanoclay) were used along with a simplified segment of a linear elastic fiber (hemp). The comparison of multi-FE simulations and average experimental data was evaluated similar to the bio-based nanocomposites (see Section 8.6.1). Figure 8-14 compares the tensile response from multi-FE simulations and experiments for virgin UPE biocomposites (0% EML, 0% clay). The response is linear elastic as all the properties were assumed to be linear elastic. As expected, the initial stiffness matched the experiments. The strain deviation value was approximately 25%. The model predicted stress value at  $\varepsilon_{u,exp}$  was approximately 40% higher than  $\sigma_{\mu,exp}$ . Figure 8-15 compares the tensile-response of a hybrid biocomposite with 20% EML and 2.5 wt.% nanoclay. Similar to a virgin UPE biocomposite, the predicted initial stiffness agrees well with the experimental data. The strain deviation value was approximately 35%. The model predicted stress value at  $\mathcal{E}_{u,exp}$  was approximately 30% higher than  $\sigma_{u,exp}$ . The models that had 20% bio-resin used a non-linear material model for bio-resin, and seem to agree average experimental response for up to 35%, while similar linear elastic model (100/0/0) agreed only up to 25% of respective  $\varepsilon_{u,exp}$ . This suggests that material non-linearity helps in capturing the non-linear behavior, but is not the only source of non-linearity. The deviation of the simulation from the experimental data is due to many factors, including material non-linearity, random distribution of the short hemp fibers, interaction of the short-fibers, fiber pull-out, straightening of the curved fibers, interfacial properties, etc. Hence, relying purely on material non-linearity will still be unable to capture the non-linear response accurately, particularly near ultimate response. Nonetheless, properly designed multiscale FE simulations can shed light in understanding the aforementioned complexities and sources of non-linearity. Again, the accuracy of the model is as good as the assumptions and modeling of the actual phenomena. If all sources of non-linearities are properly modeled at the lower-scale, these multi-level schemes hold great promise for use in hierarchical materials.

### 8.7 Conclusion

A multi-level finite element approach was implemented and evaluated for simulating the tensile behavior of both bio-based-polymer/clay nanocomposites and biocomposites (fiber+bio-blend+nanoclay). The approach derives macro-scale constitutive relations from numerically homogenized micro/nano-scale behavior. Two-phase and three-phase models, each having a) a single-particle idealized RVE, b) an exfoliated multi-platelet RVE, and c) intercalated multi-platelet RVE were studied. All simulations were in good agreement with the initial stiffness. The intercalated platelet models performed better than the exfoliated platelet models (at ultimate). The idealized single-particle model had the best performance of all models with good agreement up to 70% of the ultimate strain observed from average experimental response. Also, considering the deviations in the experimental data, the stresses predicted by the single-particle idealized RVE, corresponding to the average experimental ultimate tensile strain, were within 5% of the average experimental ultimate tensile stresses. Overall, the simulated responses agreed reasonably well with experimental results and were able to capture the nonlinear response. The models can be improved by more accurate definition of the material properties at the micro- and nano-scale level. The approach holds great promise in understanding the behavior of polymers reinforced with nano-particles and, in general, the behavior of hybrid hierarchical materials.

# 8.8 Appendix-Derivation of Tangential Stiffness Matrix

The objective of the appendix is to briefly report the derivation of the tangential stiffness matrix used in the multi-level FE scheme used in this work. The material that follows is directly from the work of Breuls et al. [8-15].

The effective macroscopic behavior for the problem at hand is computed in the form of the tangential stiffness matrix, which provides the relationship between infinitesimal stress and incremental strain variations as follows:

$$\delta \sigma_{macro} = {}^{4}S_{macro} : \delta \varepsilon_{macro} \tag{8-9}$$

where,  ${}^{4}S_{macro}$  is the fourth order macroscopic tangential stiffness matrix, consisting of three terms, which are obtained from the linearization of the geometrical nonlinear deformation tensor, the volume ration factor and the constitutive equation. Linearization of the constitutive equation yields to the extra stress term,  ${}^{4}S_{extra}$ . This extra stress term,  ${}^{4}S_{extra}$ , is obtained by a computational homogenization procedure as follows: The extra-stress term  ${}^{4}S_{extra}$  to the macroscopic tangential stiffness matrix relates the macroscopic stress variations to strain variations

$$\delta \sigma_{macro} = {}^{4}S_{extra} : \left( \overrightarrow{\nabla} \, \overrightarrow{\delta x} \right)^{T} \tag{8-10}$$

wherein  $\vec{x}$  is the position vector of the macroscopic integration point. The macroscopic stress tensor at any integration point equals the averaged stress tensor in the corresponding RVE, as per Equation (8-7):

$$\sigma_{macro} = \sigma_{RVE} = \frac{1}{A} sym\left[\left(\overrightarrow{y_4} - \overrightarrow{y_1}\right)\overrightarrow{f_4} + \left(\overrightarrow{y_2} - \overrightarrow{y_1}\right)\overrightarrow{f_2}\right]$$
(8-7)

in which, A is the current RVE area,  $\overrightarrow{y_i}$ , the local position vector of RVE vertex point  $\overrightarrow{z}$ and  $\overrightarrow{f_i}$  is the local force vector acting in vertex point  $\overrightarrow{z}$ . Taking the variation of Equation (8-7) yields:

$$\delta \vec{\sigma}_{RVE} = \underbrace{-\sigma_{RVE} \frac{\delta A}{A}}_{I} + \underbrace{\frac{1}{A} sym \left[\delta \left(\vec{y}_{4} - \vec{y}_{1}\right) \vec{f}_{4} + \delta \left(\vec{y}_{2} - \vec{y}_{1}\right) \vec{f}_{2}\right]}_{II} + \underbrace{\frac{1}{A} sym \left[\left(\vec{y}_{4} - \vec{y}_{1}\right) \delta \vec{f}_{4} + \left(\vec{y}_{2} - \vec{y}_{1}\right) \delta \vec{f}_{2}\right]}_{III}$$
(8-11)

Parts I, II and III in the above equation are re-written in forms of deformation tensor  $\delta F$ . Also, in order to store the three components of the three parts in the r.h.s of the above equation, the following are used:

$$\delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE}^{I} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,xx}^{I} \\ \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,yy}^{I} \\ \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,xy}^{I} \\ \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,yx}^{I} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE}^{II} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,xx}^{II} \\ \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,yy}^{II} \\ \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,xy}^{II} \\ \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,yx}^{II} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,xy}^{III} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,xx}^{III} \\ \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,xy}^{III} \\ \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,xy}^{III} \\ \delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE,yx}^{III} \end{bmatrix}; \quad (8-12)$$

Similarly, we create vectors  $\delta F$  and  $F^{-1}$  to store the components of the deformation tensor.

$$\delta \widetilde{F} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta F_{xx} \\ \delta F_{yy} \\ \delta F_{xy} \\ \delta F_{yx} \end{bmatrix}; \quad F^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} F_{xx}^{-1} \\ F_{yy}^{-1} \\ F_{xy}^{-1} \\ F_{xy}^{-1} \\ F_{yx}^{-1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(8-13)

## PART – I

Part I can be re-written as:

$$-\overline{\sigma}_{RVE}\frac{\delta A}{A} = -\overline{\sigma}_{RVE}tr(\delta F \cdot F^{-1})$$
(8-14)

Equation (8-14) can be elaborated to

$$\widetilde{\sigma}^{I}_{RVE} = B_{I} \delta F \tag{8-15}$$

with

$$B_{I} = \begin{bmatrix} -\sigma_{xx} \cdot F_{xx}^{-1} & -\sigma_{xx} \cdot F_{yy}^{-1} & -\sigma_{xx} \cdot F_{yx}^{-1} & -\sigma_{xx} \cdot F_{xy}^{-1} \\ -\sigma_{yy} \cdot F_{xx}^{-1} & -\sigma_{yy} \cdot F_{yy}^{-1} & -\sigma_{yy} \cdot F_{yx}^{-1} & -\sigma_{yy} \cdot F_{xy}^{-1} \\ -\sigma_{xy} \cdot F_{xx}^{-1} & -\sigma_{xy} \cdot F_{yy}^{-1} & -\sigma_{xy} \cdot F_{yx}^{-1} & -\sigma_{xy} \cdot F_{xy}^{-1} \\ -\sigma_{yx} \cdot F_{xx}^{-1} & -\sigma_{yx} \cdot F_{yy}^{-1} & -\sigma_{yx} \cdot F_{yx}^{-1} & -\sigma_{yx} \cdot F_{xy}^{-1} \end{bmatrix}$$
(8-16)

The components  $\sigma_{ij}$  are the components of the macroscopic stress tensor  $\sigma_{macro}$  as

obtained from Equation (8-7).

## PART – II

To rewrite part II in terms of  $\delta F$  the following is used:

$$\vec{\delta y_i} = \delta F \cdot \vec{y_i}^0 \tag{8-17}$$

in which  $\vec{y}_i^{0}$  is the vertex position of the RVE in the reference configuration.

Then,

$$\delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE}^{II} = B_{II} \delta F \tag{8-18}$$

with

$$B_{II} = \begin{bmatrix} p_1 & 0 & p_2 & 0\\ 0 & p_4 & 0 & p_3\\ \frac{1}{2}p_3 & \frac{1}{2}p_2 & \frac{1}{2}p_4 & \frac{1}{2}p_1\\ \frac{1}{2}p_3 & \frac{1}{2}p_2 & \frac{1}{2}p_4 & \frac{1}{2}p_1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(8-19)

and

$$p_{1} = \frac{1}{A} \left[ f_{2,x} \left( y_{2,x}^{0} - y_{1,x}^{0} \right) + f_{4,x} \left( y_{4,x}^{0} - y_{1,x}^{0} \right) \right]$$

$$p_{2} = \frac{1}{A} \left[ f_{2,x} \left( y_{2,y}^{0} - y_{1,y}^{0} \right) + f_{4,x} \left( y_{4,y}^{0} - y_{1,y}^{0} \right) \right]$$

$$p_{3} = \frac{1}{A} \left[ f_{2,y} \left( y_{2,x}^{0} - y_{1,x}^{0} \right) + f_{4,y} \left( y_{4,x}^{0} - y_{1,x}^{0} \right) \right]$$

$$p_{4} = \frac{1}{A} \left[ f_{2,y} \left( y_{2,y}^{0} - y_{1,y}^{0} \right) + f_{4,x} \left( y_{4,y}^{0} - y_{1,y}^{0} \right) \right]$$
(8-20)

In which  $f_{i,x}$  is the x component of the vertex force, acting on the vertex i,  $y^{0}_{i,x}$  denotes the x component of the reference position of point  $\dot{z}$ 

# PART – III

Part III is reformulated to:

$$\frac{1}{A}sym\left[\left(\overrightarrow{y_{4}}-\overrightarrow{y_{1}}\right)\delta\overrightarrow{f_{4}}+\left(\overrightarrow{y_{2}}-\overrightarrow{y_{1}}\right)\delta\overrightarrow{f_{2}}\right]$$
$$=\frac{1}{2A}\left(\overrightarrow{y_{1}}\delta\overrightarrow{f}_{1}+\delta\overrightarrow{f}_{1}\overrightarrow{y_{1}}+\overrightarrow{y_{2}}\delta\overrightarrow{f}_{2}+\delta\overrightarrow{f}_{2}\overrightarrow{y_{2}}+\overrightarrow{y_{4}}}\delta\overrightarrow{f}_{4}+\delta\overrightarrow{f}_{4}\overrightarrow{y_{4}}\right)^{(8-21)}$$

By making use of
$$\delta \vec{f}_1 = -\delta \vec{f}_4 - \delta \vec{f}_2 \tag{8-22}$$

Equation 8-22 is written in matrix form as:

The vertex force variations  $\delta f$  are rewritten in terms of displacement variations as:

$$\delta f = K_{RVE} \delta u_{vertex} \tag{8-24}$$

The reduced RVE stiffness matrix  $K_{RVE}$  is found by partitioning the RVE stiffness matrix:

$$\begin{bmatrix} K_{rr} & K_{rp} \\ K_{pr} & K_{pp} \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} \delta u_r \\ \delta u_p \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \delta f_p \end{bmatrix}$$
(8-25)

wherein  $\delta u_p$  refers to the iterative displacements of prescribed vertices 1, 2, and 4, and  $\delta u_r$ denotes the iterative displacements of the remaining nodes in the RVE. The vertex force variation  $\delta f_p$  is expressed in terms of prescribed displacements as:

$$\delta f_p = K_{RVE} \delta u_p \tag{8-26}$$

with

$$K_{RVE} = K_{pp} - K_{pr} K_{rr}^{-1} K_{rp}$$
(8-27)

The displacement  $\delta u_p$  is written in terms of  $\delta F$ 

$$\delta u_{p} = \begin{bmatrix} y_{1,x}^{0} & 0 & y_{1,y}^{0} & 0 \\ 0 & y_{1,y}^{0} & 0 & y_{1,x}^{0} \\ y_{2,x}^{0} & 0 & y_{2,y}^{0} & 0 \\ 0 & y_{2,y}^{0} & 0 & y_{2,x}^{0} \\ y_{4,x}^{0} & 0 & y_{4,y}^{0} & 0 \\ 0 & y_{4,y}^{0} & 0 & y_{4,x}^{0} \end{bmatrix} \delta F$$

$$(8-28)$$

Hence,

$$\delta \sigma_{RVE}^{III} = CK_{RVE} \delta F \tag{8-29}$$

Combining the terms from part I to III yields:

$$\delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{RVE} = \left[ B_I + B_{II} + CK_{RVE} D \right] \delta F \tag{8-30}$$

Finally,  $\delta F$  is rewritten in terms of  $(\overrightarrow{\nabla} \ \overrightarrow{\delta x})^T$  using

$$\delta F = GH \tag{8-31}$$

with

$$G = \begin{bmatrix} F_{xx} & 0 & F_{yx} & 0\\ 0 & F_{yy} & 0 & F_{xy}\\ F_{xy} & 0 & F_{yy} & 0\\ 0 & F_{yx} & 0 & F_{xx} \end{bmatrix}; \ \mathbf{H} = \begin{bmatrix} \left( \overrightarrow{\nabla} \, \overrightarrow{\delta x} \right)_{xx}^T \\ \left( \overrightarrow{\nabla} \, \overrightarrow{\delta x} \right)_{yy}^T \\ \left( \overrightarrow{\nabla} \, \overrightarrow{\delta x} \right)_{xy}^T \\ \left( \overrightarrow{\nabla} \, \overrightarrow{\delta x} \right)_{xy}^T \end{bmatrix}$$
(8-32)

Hence, the matrix representation of the extra stress term contribution  ${}^{4}S_{extra}$ , to the macroscopic tangential stiffness matrix  ${}^{4}S_{macro}$  can be written as:

$$\delta \widetilde{\sigma}_{macro} = \left[ B_I + B_{II} + CK_{RVE} D \right] \cdot GH \tag{8-33}$$



Figure 8-1. A schematic of a typical 2D periodic RVE used in the current multiscale approach. Adapted from [8-15].



Figure 8-2. Schematic of Iterative Computational Procedure. Adapted from [8-19]







(c) Figure 8-4. a) A FE-RVE showing 100% exfoliated nanoclay morphology, b) A FE-RVE Solver a stoliated and 50% intercalated nanoclay particles, c) actual TEM micrograph attraction of the intercalated gallery in FE based RVE model.



Figure 8-5. Three phase RVEs for materials with 10% EML (red) in UPE (green) with 2.5 wt.% nanoclay (black), (a) Single platelet idealized RVE, b) multi-particle, exfoliated morphology RVE c) multi-particle, intercalated morphology RVE



	-		
-		_	

(c)



Figure 8-6. Three phase RVEs for materials with 20% EML (red) in UPE (green) with 2.5 wt.% nanoclay (black), (a) Single platelet idealized RVE, b) multi-particle, exfoliated morphology RVE c) multi-particle, intercalated morphology RVE



Figure 8-7. Experimental tensile modulus for neat bio-blends (no clay). The dotted line is a sigmoidal fit to the experimental data.



Figure 8-8. Schematic of multi-FE model used for fiber-reinforced hybrid composites.



Figure 8-9. Parameters considered to compare simulations and average experimental response



Figure 8-10. Tensile stress-strain response of two-phase RVEs: a) Neat (no clay) resins, b) Nanocomposite with 2.5 wt.% clay.



Figure 8-11. Comparison of tensile response from multi-FE simulations and experiments for biocomposites with 10% EML and 2.5wt.% nanoclay in UPE



Figure 8-12 Comparison of tensile response from multi-FE simulations and experiments for biocomposites with 20% EML and 2.5 wt.% nanoclay in UPE



Figure 8-13. Comparison of tensile response from multi-FE simulations using two-phase and three-phase RVEs. All models have intercalated morphologies



Figure 8-14. Comparison of tensile response from multi-FE simulations and experiments for virgin UPE (0% bio-resin and 0% nanoclay) biocomposites



Figure 8-15. Comparison of tensile response from multi-FE simulations and experiments for hybrid composites with 20% EML and 2.5 wt.% nanoclay.

## 8.10 References

- [8-1]. Le Baron PC, Wang Z, Pinnavaia TJ. Polymer layered silicate nanocomposites: an overview. Applied Clay Science 1999; 15:11-29
- [8-2]. Bohm, HJ. A Short Introduction to Basic Aspects of Continuum Mechanics." CDL-FMD Report, 3 (1998). Vienna Institute of Technology.
- [8-3]. Eshelby JD. The determination of the field of an ellipsoidal inclusion and related. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Part A. 1957, 241:376-296.
- [8-4]. Hashin Z. The elastic modulii of heterogenous materials. Journal of Applied Mechanics. 1962, 29:143-150.
- [8-5]. Hashin Z, Shrikman S. A variational approach to the theory of elastic behavior of multiphase materials. Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids. 1963, 11:127-140,
- [8-6]. Hill R. A self-consistent mechanics of composite materials. Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids. 1965, 13: 213-222.
- [8-7]. Kouznetsova V, Brekelmans WAM, Baaijens FPT. An approach to micromacro modeling of heterogeneous materials. Computational Mechanics 2001; 27:37-48.
- [8-8]. Duschlbauer D, Bohm HJ, Petermann HE. Computational Simulation of Composites Reinforced by planar random fibers: Homogenization and Localization by Unit Cell and Mean Field Approaches. Journal of Composite Materials 2006, 40:2217-2234.
- [8-9]. Bensoussan A, Lionis JL, Papanicolau G. Asymptotic Analysis for Periodic Structures, 1978. North Holland, Amsterdam.
- [8-10]. Sanchez-Palencia E. Non-homogeneous Media and Vibration Theory. Lecture Notes in Physics, 1980. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- [8-11]. Sheng N, Boyce MC, Parks DM, Rutledge GC, Abes JI, Cohen RE. Multiscale micromechanical modeling of polymer/clay nanocomposites and the effective clay particle. Polymer 2004, 45:487-506.
- [8-12]. Brune DD, Bicerano J. Micromechanics of nanocomposites: Comparison of tensile and compressive elastic modulii, and prediction of effects of incomplete exfoliation and imperfect alignment on modulus. Polymer 2002, 43:369-387.
- [8-13]. Miyagawa H, Rich MJ, Drzal LT. Amine-cured epoxy/clay nanocomposites. II. Effect of the nanoclay aspect ratio. Journal of Polymer Science PartB: Polymer Physics, 42:4391-4400.

- [8-14]. Drown EK, Mohanty AK, Parulekar Y, Hasija D, Harte BR, Misra, M, Kurian JV. The surface characteristics of organoclays and their effect on the properties of poly(trimethylene terephtahalate) nanocomposites. Composites Science and Technology, 2007, 67:3168-3175.
- [8-15]. Breuls RGM, Sengers BG, Oomens CWJ, Bouten CVC, Baaijens FPT. Predicting local cell deformations in engineered tissue constructs: A multi-level finite element approach. Transactions of the ASME 2002; 124:198-207.
- [8-16]. Smit RJM, Brekelmans WAM, Meijer HEH. Prediction of the mechanical behavior of nonlinear heterogeneous systems by multi-level finite element modeling. Computational methods in Applied Mechanical Engineering 1998, 155:181-192.
- [8-17]. Van der Sluis O, Schreurs PJG, Brekelmans WAM, Meijer HEH. Overall behavior of heterogeneous elastoviscoplastic materials: effect of microstructural modeling. Mechanics of Materials 2000, 32:449-462.
- [8-18]. Feyel F, Chaboche JL. FE<sup>2</sup> multiscale approach for modeling the elastoviscoplastic behvior of long fiber SiC/Ti composite materials. Computational Methods in Applied Mechanical engineering. 2000, 183:309-330.
- [8-19]. Matsui K, Terada K, Yuge K. Two-scale finite element analysis of heterogeneous solids with periodic microstructures. Computers and Structures 2004, 82:593-606.
- [8-20]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. Bio-based polymer nanocomposites from UPE/EML blends and nanoclay: Development, experimental characterization and limits to synergistic performance," Composites: Part A. Communicated.
- [8-21]. Miyagawa H, Misra M, Drzal LT, Mohanty AK. Biobased Epoxy/Layered Silicate Nanocomposites: Thermophysical Properties and Fracture Behavior Evaluation. Journal of Polymers and the Environment. 2005, 13:87-96.
- [8-22]. Luo JJ, Daniel IM. Characterization and modeling of mechanical behavior of polymer/clay nanocomposites. Composites Science and Technology. 2003, 63:1607-1616.
- [8-23]. ABAQUS Documentation (Version 6.8) Dassault Systèmes Simulia Corp., Providence, RI, USA, 2009.
- [8-24]. Mohanty AK., Misra M, Drzal LT., Natural Fibers, Bio-polymers, and Biocomposites, 2005. CRC, Taylor & Francis Group.

## Chapter 9. Modeling of Three-phase Bio-based Nanocomposites: Determining Bio-resin Distribution using an Optimizationbased Material Design Problem

## 9.1 Abstract:

Environmentally friendly composites with material properties that can compete with conventional composites can be obtained by reinforcing blends of petroleum- and vegetableoil-based polymers (bio-resin) with layered silicates. Such hybrid combinations have been found to produce composites that exhibit synergistic behavior with properties that are superior or similar to the primary petroleum-based polymer while the addition of bio-resin addition reduces stiffness and barrier properties of the resulting composites. The lost properties have been shown to be recoverable by the addition of nanoparticles (nanoclay). Nevertheless, the enhancement efficiency provided by the nanoclay is reduced by the presence of bio-resin. It was hypothesized that the bio-resin forms an interface around the clay particle affecting the stress transfer between the reinforcing clay particle and the polymer matrix, thereby supporting the experimental reduction of stiffness due to bio-resin addition. The distribution of bio-resin depends on its concentration and compatibility with other constituents. In order to provide a quantitative insight on the effect of bio-resin on resulting properties, the distribution of bio-resin was sought. The available experimental data on thermo-elastic parameters was used along with topology optimization to determine the distribution of bio-resin and develop an enhanced RVE for modeling the three-phase material.

The formulation of the problem followed a topology optimization method in which the objective function was minimization of the error between the model predictions and the prescribed experimental thermo-elastic parameters subjected to constraints on bio-resin concentration. The effective properties were determined through a numerical homogenization method based on finite element discretization of the base cell. The optimization problem was solved using the method of moving asymptotes. Two-dimensional linear elasticity (small strains), perfect bonding between material phases, uniform temperature distribution and constant material properties were assumed. This chapter presents the challenges of modeling polymer-blend nanocomposites, the approach taken to address the problem, the formulation of a three-phase material layout problem, a parametric study of the optimization problem, case-studies with experimental data and the resulting material layouts for various bio-resin contents. Simplified RVEs were developed from the resulting material layout study and were used in multi-FE analyses to predict the macroscopic response. The multi-level FE simulated tensile response using the simplified RVEs from this study matched the average experimental data in initial stiffness. Additionally, the idealized RVE corresponding to 20% bio-resin content and 2.5 wt.% nanoclay, agreed reasonably with experimental data for up to 70% of the average experimental ultimate strains, and deviated from average experimental ultimate stress marginally ( $\sim$ 5%), while the two-phase model deviated by approximately 35%. The response of this model was better than corresponding two-phase model which deviated considerably (at ultimate) by approximately 45%. This emphasizes the need to model materials as realistic as possible. Overall, the approach of validating computational models with experiments shows promise in developing models rationally, and thereby confidence in using such models in multiscale simulations linking the nanostructure with macroscopic properties.

## 9.2 Introduction:

Novel eco-friendly bio-based nanocomposites obtained from reinforcing layered silicates (nanoclays) in blends of petroleum and natural polymers (bio-resin) have been shown to exhibit properties that are superior or similar to base petroleum-polymer [9-1]-[9-3]. The addition of bio-resin has shown to reduce stiffness and barrier properties. The distribution of nanoclay can be observed experimentally through electron microscopy. However, similar observations on distribution of petro/bio blends are infeasible. In order to understand and model these materials efficiently, the distribution of bio/petro resin is sought. The material layout problem used in this work was aimed to develop an enhanced three-phase RVE by using experimental data along with topology optimization in an attempt to provide insight to the distribution of bio-resin in the RVE, and not necessarily to accurately solve the material design problem.

The motivation for this work follows from the desire to improve the modeling of hybrid multiscale eco-friendly composites. Environmental concerns related to the use of petroleum-based polymer matrix composites have propelled the development of composite materials based on natural or renewable sources. Bio-based resins, or bio-blends, obtained by replacing part of a petroleum-based resin with natural bio-resin increase environmental appeal along with but reduces stiffness and barrier properties of the resulting composites. A recent study [9-1]-[9-3] has shown that the property degradations due to bio-resin addition can be recovered by the addition of nanoparticles (nanoclay) [9-1]-[9-3]. Nevertheless, the enhancement efficiency provided by the nanoclay is reduced by the presence of bio-resin. It is hypothesized that the bio-resin forms an interface around the clay particle affecting the stress transfer, thereby supporting the observed reduction of stiffness due to bio-resin addition. The distribution of bio-resin depends on its concentration and compatibility with the host polymer [9-4]. In order to provide a quantitative insight on the effect of bio-resin on the resulting properties, the distribution of bio-resin is sought. Experimental data was used along with a topology optimization method to determine the mostl likely distribution of bio-resin and develop an enhanced RVE for the multiscale modeling of the three-phase material.

The use of topology optimization to solve a material design problem was introduced by Sigmund [9-5]-[9-8], whose goal was to find a periodic microstructure in which the mixture of two-distinct isotropic materials results in a composite material whose overall homogenized elastic properties match prescribed target values. The results of such material design problems is usually a spatial layout of a mixture that is optimized for prescribe objectives. Sigmund [9-8] applied the material design problem to obtain microstructures with extremal properties such as negative and zero poisson ratios. Diaz and Benard [9-9] used a similar approach to design materials with prescribed elastic properties using polygonal cells. In this work, the material design approach is used to determine the distribution of bio-resin (weak material) and petro-resin in a base cell containing a fixed stiff particle (clay). Ideally, it is a two-material spatial layout problem, wherein instead of a void, a weaker bio-resin material is present and the solid material is replaced with petro-resin.

Experimental data for various constituent concentrations (petro- and bio-resin) is available [9-3] (also refer Chapter 4). The objective is to determine the distribution of weak material (bio-resin) in a base-cell such that the effective properties of the base cell match the prescribed parameters obtained experimentally. The use of a single property (say elastic tensor) as a prescribed parameter will yield a material layout in the base cell whose effective properties would match that parameter. Using this material layout to obtain effective properties other than the prescribed parameter will most likely yield incorrect results. For the problem at hand, the material clearly has a unique bio-resin distribution for which various properties were experimentally measured. In other words using a single prescribed parameter to obtain the bio-resin distribution is not realistic. Hence, multiple material properties (elastic and thermal) are prescribed with the aim of obtaining a unique bio-resin distribution. Similar use of multiple prescribed paramaters in a material design study was used by Guest et al. [9-10**[**9-11] to obtain microstructures that maximize stiffness and permeability.

The topology based material design problem has also been termed as "inverse homogenization problem [9-9]." The assumption for such problems is that base cell is periodic and that the effective properties of the mixture can be obtained by analyzing only the respective base cell. The optimization problem and determination of updated design variables and sensitivities was solved by the method of moving asymptotes (MMA)[9-12][9-13]. It should be emphasized that the work attempted here aims at providing an insight to the distribution of the weaker bio-resin and not necessarily at accurately solving the material design problem.

The material under consideration is a nanocomposite bio-based material containg unsaturated polyester (UPE, primary petro-resin), epoxidized methyl linseedate (EML, bioresin) and nanoclay. The nanoclay concentration was kept constant at 2.5 wt.% and two concentrations of bio-resin, namely, 10% and 20% were considered. Additionally, models with a single exfoliated nanoclay platelet and a single intercalated gallery were studied. The RVE size was determined by fixing the length of the RVE as twice the aspect ratio of nanoclay platelet, and the width was determined to satisfy the volume fractions. The resulting bio-resin distribution was simplified to develop idealized base cells, or representative volume elements (RVE). These idealized RVEs were then used in a multilevel FE scheme (as presented in Chapter 8) to simulate the tensile response of bio-based nanocomposites and the performance of the developed three-phase RVEs were compared with existing two-phase RVEs and experimental data. The formulation used, examples studied, the determination of target properties and results are provided in the following sections. As expected, results show affinity of the weaker material with the stiff nanoclay platelets. Additionally, multi-FE simulated tensile response from developed idealized RVEs performed better than two-phase RVEs (see Chapter 8). Also, the simulated tensile responses from idealized RVEs were found to agree with average experimental response in initial stiffness and beyond 50-70% of the average experimental ultimate strain. Detailed results and discussions of multi-FE simulations are provided in Chapter 8. Overall, idealized RVEs developed from this study were found to agree reasonably well with experiments.

# 9.3 Materials Design / Layout as an Optimization Problem

In typical material design problem the base cell Y is discretized using four node plane stress elements. The material property within an element is assumed to be constant and can vary from element to element. The target property tensors, in this case the elastic tensor (E\*) and thermal strain tensor ( $\alpha^*$ ) are given and the goal is to find the vector of design variables  $\rho = \{\rho_1, \rho_2, \dots, \rho_N\}$  that results in effective tensors (E<sup>H</sup> and  $\alpha^H$ ) that match the target properties as close as possible [9-9]. The elastic and thermal strain tensors ( $E, \alpha$ ) of the materials studied in this case are given as ( $E_1, \alpha_1$ ), ( $E_2, \alpha_2$ ) and ( $E_3, \alpha_3$ ) corresponding to petro-resin (Material-1, M1), clay inclusion(Material-2, M2) and bio-resin (Material-3, M3), respectively. In this work, the distribution of M2 (clay) is fixed. Also,  $\rho_e$ , corresponds to the material property of either M1 (petro-resin) or M3 (bio-resin). The value of  $\rho_e$  corresponding to M1 and M3 is constrained to lie in the interval (0,1]. The problem is formulated such that for any element the value of  $\rho_e$  corresponding to 1 will lead to M3 (bio-resin). Equation (9-1) describes the assignment of material properties to the elements in the base cell. In Equation (9-1), the value of "a" is unity for all elements, except for those with clay inclusions (M2), where "a" is zero.

$$E_{e} = (1-a)E_{2} + a[\rho_{e}E_{3} + (1-\rho_{e})E_{1}]$$
  

$$\alpha_{e} = (1-a)\alpha_{2} + a[\rho_{e}\alpha_{3} + (1-\rho_{e})\alpha_{1}]$$
(9-1)

The material design problem is formulated as a optimization problem where a prescribe amount of material is provided and the deviation from the target tensors, namely weighted mean squares, is minimized [9-9].

The problem to be solved is: to find  $\rho = \{\rho_1, \rho_2, \dots, \rho_N\}$  such that:

$$\min \ \phi(\rho) = \frac{1}{2} \ W_E \sum_{I=1}^{6} \left( E_I^H - E_I^* \right)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \ W_\alpha \ \sum_{I=1}^{3} \left( \alpha_I^H - \alpha_I^* \right)^2$$
  
sub 
$$\sum_{e=1}^{N} A_e \rho_e = v_{BIO} A_{mat}$$
  
$$0 \le \rho_{\min} \le \rho_e \le 1$$
 (9-2)

where  $E_I$  is a compact notation to denote the six independent terms of an elastic tensor in two dimensions. Similarly,  $\alpha_I$  denotes the three independent terms of the thermal strain tensors.  $W_E$  and  $W_{\alpha}$  are scalar non-negative weight factors to emphasize importance to elastic and thermal properties, respectively.  $A_e$  is the area of element e,  $A_{mat}$  is the total area occupied by the matrix elements (excluding clay),  $V_{BIO}$  is the volume fraction of bioresin, and  $\rho_{min}$  is a prescribed lower bound for  $\rho_e$ , which was taken as 0.001 in this work. The overall formulation of the problem as expressed in Equation (9-2), the effective thermo-elastic properties, determination of sensitivities were adapted from reference [9-8] and are provided as follows:

#### a) Homogenized properties:

For any microstructure which is represented by a periodic repetition of a base cell, the effective properties are obtained such that for any test strain ( $\varepsilon_0^i$ ) applied to the base cell, the average strain energy matches the strain energy in the base cell when subjected to same field [9-9]. The final equations for effective/homogenized properties are [9-8]:

$$E_{ij}^{H} = \frac{1}{Y} \int_{Y} \left( \varepsilon_{0}^{i} - \varepsilon^{i} \right) E \left( \varepsilon_{0}^{j} - \varepsilon^{j} \right) dY \quad i, j = 1, 2, 3$$
$$\beta_{ij}^{H} = \frac{1}{Y} \int_{Y} \left( \alpha^{i} - \varepsilon^{C} (\Gamma)^{i} \right) E \left( \varepsilon_{0}^{j} - \varepsilon^{j} \right) dY \quad i, j = 1, 2, 3 \qquad (9-3)$$
$$\alpha_{ij}^{H} = \left( E_{ij}^{H} \right)^{-1} \beta_{ij}^{H}$$

where  $\varepsilon_0^i$  are linearly independent test strains,  $\varepsilon^i$  and  $\varepsilon^C(\Gamma)^i$  are fluctuation strains due to applied mechanical and thermal test strains,  $E_{ij}^H$  is the effective elastic tensor,  $\beta_{ij}^H$  is the effective thermal stress tensor and  $\alpha_{ij}^H$  is the effective thermal strain tensor.

#### (b) Sensitivity Analysis.

The detailed derivations of the sensitivities are provided in reference [9-8] and are summarized in the following. The gradient of the objective function () required for the numerical solution of Equation (9-2) was obtained as:

$$\nabla_{\rho}\phi = \left(E^{H} - E^{*}\right)\frac{\partial E^{H}}{\partial \rho} + \left(\alpha^{H} - \alpha^{*}\right)\frac{\partial \alpha^{H}}{\partial \rho}$$
(9-4)

L DI 

The sensitivities of effective elastic tensor are given by:

$$\frac{\partial E^{H}}{\partial \rho} = -\frac{p\rho^{p-1}}{A_{e}} \int_{e} \left( \varepsilon_{0}^{i} - \varepsilon^{i} \right) E\left( \varepsilon_{0}^{j} - \varepsilon^{j} \right) dA$$
(9-5)

Similar to the elastic tensor, the sensitivities of the effective thermal stress tensor are given by:

$$\frac{\partial \beta^{H}}{\partial \rho} = -\frac{p\rho^{p-1}}{A_{e}} \int_{e} \left( \alpha^{i} - \varepsilon^{C} (\Gamma)^{i} \right) E\left(\varepsilon_{0}^{j} - \varepsilon^{j}\right) dA$$
(9-6)

The sensitivities of effective thermal strain tensor are obtained by differentiating Equation (9-3) as follows:

$$\frac{\partial \alpha^{H}}{\partial \rho} = \frac{\partial \left(E^{H}\right)^{-1}}{\partial \rho} \beta^{H} + \left(E^{H}\right)^{-1} \frac{\partial \beta^{H}}{\partial \rho}$$

$$\frac{\partial \left(E^{H}\right)^{-1}}{\partial \rho} = -\frac{p \rho^{p-1}}{A_{e}} \int_{e} \left(\varepsilon_{0}^{i} - \varepsilon^{i}\right) E^{-1} \left(\varepsilon_{0}^{j} - \varepsilon^{j}\right) dA$$
(8-7)

The optimization problem at hand was solved using the method of moving asymptotes (MMA). The equality in the constraint equation as given in Equation (9-2) was changed into two inequality constraints such that an upper and lower limit to the bio-resin content could be defined. Hence, the two inequality constraints are as follows:

$$sub \sum_{e=1}^{N} A_e \rho_e \ge 0.95. \nu_{BIO} A_{mat}$$
(9-8)

$$sub \quad \sum_{e=1}^{N} A_e \rho_e \leq 1.10. \nu_{BIO} A_{mat} \tag{9-9}$$

This suggests that the amount of bio-resin can vary between 95% and 110% of the actual value of the bio-resin content as prescribed in the experiments/target properties. This tolerance in the amount of bio-resin was provided as a means to indirectly take into account

the variations in experimental data, since only the average properties are used in prescribing target properties.

## 9.4 Case Studies:

### 9.4.1 Introduction to the models/cases:

The examples solved in this study aimed at modeling varying bio-resin content (10% and 20%) and varying clay morphology (exfoliated and intercalated). Additionally, it was observed that phase-separation between petro- and bio-resin at bio-resin contents starts at bio-resin contents beyond 10%. This indicates that at bio-resin contents below 10% there is sufficient cross-linking between the bio- and petro-resins, and the material essentially behaves in a homogenized manner and not as discrete material distribution as assumed in this study. This would also suggests that for base cells with 20% bio-resin content only 10% is available for discrete distribution and the other 10% is cross-linked with the petro-resin in a true homogenized blend. The properties of this homogenized blend was lower than pure petro-polymer and hence reduced properties must be taken for the cross-linked blend in such cases. To address this issue, a base cell with exfoliated and intercalated morphology containing 20% bio-resin was optimized such that only 10% of bio-resin was available for discrete distribution while the remaining 10% was assumed to be cross-linked with petroresin. Finally, for a multiple parameter objective function like the one used in this work, it has been found that providing uniform initial value of design variable may yield unsatisfactory results and it is thus suggested that the initial value of design variable be distributed linearly decreasing away from the centroid of the base cell [9-10]. Hence, two models containing 10% bio-resin contents were modeled with the aforementioned distribution of initial values. A summary of the cases studied are provided in Table 9-1.

#### 9.4.2 Description of models

The models studied in this work can be classified into two types namely: exfoliated models (Figure 9-1a) and intercalated models (Figure 9-1b). The white region in Figure 9-1 shows the fixed location of the clay platelet and the blue region is the design domain (matrix) to consist of bio-resin and petro-resin. The RVE dimensions were taken such that the length of the RVE is twice the aspect ratio of the exfoliated platelet. The width of the RVE was computed to satisfy the clay/matrix concentration. In this study a constant clay content of 2.5 wt.% is considered. For models with exfoliated morphologies, the RVE had dimensions of 260 nm x 35 nm. Similarly, RVEs for the intercalated morphology had dimensions of 260 nm x 105 nm. Both models are discretized with square elements having dimensions of 1 nm x 1 nm. Hence the exfoliated and intercalted models have 9100 and 27300 elements. The nanoclay platelets were placed in the center of RVE thereby yielding symmetric results.

#### 9.4.3 Determination of Target Properties

The experimental properties available for various bio-based polymer nanocomposites included tensile modulus and coefficient of thermal expansions for various material concentrations. Also, the Poisson's ratios for neat resins (no clay) were available. Additionally, the effect of bio-resin on the aforementioned properties is known. As it can be seen, the available experimental data is insufficient to exactly define all six independent values of the constitutive tensor ( $E^*$ ). Hence, certain assumptions were made in defining the target properties.

The effective properties of the model considering the matrix was comprised of all UPE (no bio-resin) was first obtained ( $E_{UPE}^{H}$  and  $\alpha_{UPE}^{H}$ ). Secondly, the matrix properties

of neat bio-blends (in accordance to the petro/bio ratios) were obtained. The average decrease in tensile modulus ( $\gamma$ ) and average increase in CTE ( $\beta$ ) due to the addition of a known concentration of bio-resin was known from experiments. It was assumed that the bio-resin affects the properties in the longitudinal direction of the clay reinforcement. Along the transverse direction the properties of bio-blends was assumed. The prediction of target properties is illustrated with the example of Case-1, namely exfoliated morphology with 10% EML content.

The homogenized properties of the model with matrix properties equal to neat UPE resin (E = 3.65 GPa, v=0.3805,  $\alpha$  =100.1  $\mu$ m/°C) are:

$$E_{UPE}^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 5.531 & 1.634 & 0.000 \\ & 4.327 & 0.000 \\ sym & & 1.342 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha_{UPE}^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 76.103 \\ 107.578 \\ 0.000 \end{bmatrix} \mu m/^{\circ}C (9-10)$$

The homogenized properties of the model with matrix properties equal to a neat UPE/EML blend with 10% EML (E=3.18 GPa, v=0.3923,  $\alpha$  =105.0  $\mu$ m/°C) are:

$$E_{90/10}^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 4.950 & 1.485 & 0.000 \\ & 3.812 & 0.000 \\ sym & & 1.159 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha_{90/10}^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 77.970 \\ 113.83 \\ 0.000 \end{bmatrix} \mu m/^{\circ}C (9-11)$$

Therefore, the target propeties were defined from the combination of Equation (9-10) and (9-11) as follows

$$E^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma(5.531) & \gamma(1.634) & 0.000 \\ 3.812 & 0.000 \\ sym & 1.159 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \alpha^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} \beta(76.103) \\ 113.83 \\ 0.000 \end{bmatrix} \mu m/^{\circ}C \quad (9-12)$$

As explained earlier, the effect of nanoclay on transverse direction properties is assumed negligible, and hence the reduction in the elastic tensor terms involving the 1direction due to addition of bio-resin was applied to the terms obtained from the UPE homogenized properties. The target properties for other cases in this study were similarly determined and are reportes later along with the results of the respective cases. The values of  $\gamma$  for 10% and 20% bio-resin contents were 0.97 and 0.64, respectively. Similarly, the values of  $\beta$  for 10% and 20% bio-resin contents were 1.076 and 1.151, respectively. The description of the study cases and their results are only provided in the following. The discussions of results of the various cases follow the results (Section 9.4.12).

## 9.4.4 Case-1: Exfoliated, 10% bio-resin, 10% available for layout optimization

This case models an exfoliated clay morphology with 10% bio-resin content. The initial value of the design variables was distributed uniformly to all matrix elements. Figure 9-2a shows the histories of the objective function, magnitude of the design variable vector, and the values of constraints, as the design evolved. Figure 9-2b and Figure 9-2c show the bio-resin distribution at iteration steps of 50 and 200, respectively. The target properties are given in Equation (9-13) and the effective properties upon convergence are provided in Equation (9-14). The discussion of the results is provided in Section 9.4.12.

 $E^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} 5.365 & 1.585 & 0.000 \\ 3.812 & 0.000 \\ sym & 1.159 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} 81.887 \\ 113.729 \\ 0.000 \end{bmatrix} \mu m^{\circ}C \quad (9-13)$  $E^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 5.323 & 1.494 & 0.000 \\ 3.806 & 0.000 \\ sym & 1.162 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 76.189 \\ 116.534 \\ -2.177 \end{bmatrix} \mu m^{\circ}C \quad (9-14)$ 

300

#### 9.4.5 Case-2: Exfoliated, 20% bio-resin, 20% available for layout optimization

This case models an exfoliated clay morphology with 20% bio-resin content. The initial value of the design variables was distributed uniformly to all matrix elements. Figure 9-3a shows the histories of the objective function, magnitude of the design variable vector, and the values of constraints. Figure 9-3b and Figure 9-3c show the bio-resin distribution at iteration steps 50 and 200, respectively. The target properties are given in Equation (9-15) and the effective properties at convergence are provided in Equation (9-16). The discussion of the results is provided in Section 9.4.12.

$$E^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} 3.540 & 1.0455 & 0.000 \\ 2.321 & 0.000 \\ sym & 0.668 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} 87.488 \\ 122.270 \\ 0.000 \end{bmatrix} \mu m/^{\circ}C \quad (9-15)$$
$$E^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 3.840 & 1.153 & 0.000 \\ 3.407 & 0.000 \\ sym & 0.987 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 94.190 \\ 119.960 \\ -0.272 \end{bmatrix} \mu m/^{\circ}C \quad (9-16)$$

#### 9.4.6 Case-3: Exfoliated, 20% bio-resin, 10% available for layout optimization

This case models an exfoliated clay morphology with 20% bio-resin content. It is assumed that 10% of the bio-resin in cross-linked with petro-resin (and thus well homogenized as a single matrix material), and only 10% is available for discrete material design. The initial value of the design variables was distributed uniformly to all matrix elements. Figure 9-4a shows the histories of the objective function, the magnitude of the design variable vector, and the constraints as the design evolved. Figure 9-4b and Figure 9-4c show the bio-resin distribution at iteration steps 50 and 200, respectively. The target properties are given in Equation (9-15) and the effective properties at convergence are provided in Equation (9-17). The discussion of the results is provided in Section 9.4.12.

$$E^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 3.840 & 1.153 & 0.000 \\ & 3.407 & 0.000 \\ sym & & 0.987 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 94.190 \\ 119.960 \\ -0.272 \end{bmatrix} \mu m/^{\circ}C \quad (9-17)$$

#### 9.4.7 Case-4: Exfoliated, 10% bio-resin, Initial Value Varies Linearly

This case models an exfoliated morphology with 10% bio-resin content. The initial value of the design variables was varied linearly, decaying away from the centroid of the RVE. This was done as it has been reported to improve convergence performance. Figure 9-5a shows the histories of the objective function, magnitude of the design variable vector, and the values of constraints, as the design evolved. Figure 9-5b shows the distribution of initial value of design variable. Figure 9-5c and Figure 9-5d show the bio-resin distribution at iteration steps 50 and 200, respectively. The target properties for the 10% bio-resin materials are given in Equation (9-13) and the effective properties upon convergence are provided in Equation (9-18). The discussion of the results is provided in Section 9.4.12.

$$E^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 5.345 & 1.502 & 0.000 \\ 3.818 & 0.000 \\ sym & 1.153 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 75.399 \\ 115.360 \\ -1.4561 \end{bmatrix} \mu m/^{\circ}C \quad (9-18)$$

#### 9.4.8 Case-5: Intercalated, 10% bio-resin, 10% available for layout optimization

This case models an intercalated clay morphology with 10% bio-resin content. The initial value of the design variables was distributed uniformly to all matrix elements. Figure 9-6a shows the histories of the objective function, magnitude of the design variable vector, and the values of constraints, as the design evolved. Figure 9-6b and Figure 9-6c show the bio-resin distribution at iteration steps 50 and 200, respectively. The target properties are

provided in Equation (9-19) and the effective properties upon convergence are provided in Equation (9-20). The discussion of the results is provided in Section 9.4.12.

$$E^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} 5.018 & 1.591 & 0.000 \\ 3.813 & 0.000 \\ sym & 1.159 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} 87.644 \\ 111.120 \\ 0.000 \end{bmatrix} \mu m^{\circ}C \quad (9-19)$$
$$C^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} 4.947 & 1.468 & 0.000 \\ 3.817 & 0.000 \\ sym & 1.182 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 84.002 \\ 116.090 \\ -0.237 \end{bmatrix} \mu m^{\circ}C \quad (9-20)$$

#### 9.4.9 Case-6: Intercalated, 20% bio-resin, 20% available for layout optimization

This case models an intercalated clay morphology with 20% bio-resin content. The initial value of the design variables was distributed uniformly to all matrix elements. Figure 9-7a shows the histories of the objective function, magnitude of the design variable vector, and the values of constraints, as the design evolved. Figure 9-7b and Figure 9-7c show the bio-resin distribution at iteration steps 50 and 200, respectively. The target properties are provided in Equation (9-21) and the effective properties upon convergence are provided in Equation (9-22). The discussion of the results is provided in Section 9.4.12.

$$E^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} 3.311 & 1.191 & 0.000 \\ 3.255 & 0.000 \\ sym & 0.967 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha^{*} = \begin{bmatrix} 93.753 \\ 118.23 \\ 0.000 \end{bmatrix} \mu m^{\circ}C \quad (9-21)$$
$$E^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 3.804 & 1.191 & 0.000 \\ 3.255 & 0.000 \\ sym & 0.967 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 97.986 \\ 120.220 \\ 0.046 \end{bmatrix} \mu m^{\circ}C \quad (9-22)$$

#### 9.4.10 Case-7: Intercalated, 20% bio-resin, 10% available for layout optimization

This case models an intercalated clay morphology with 20% bio-resin content. It is assumed that 10% of the bio-resin in cross-linked with petro-resin (and behaving in a homogenized manner), and only 10% is available for discrete material design. The initial value of the design variables was distributed uniformly to all the matrix elements. Figure 9-8a shows the histories of the objective function, magnitude of the design variable vector, and the values of constraints, as the design evolved. Figure 9-8b and Figure 9-8c show the bioresin distribution at iteration steps 50 and 200 respectively. The target properties are given in Equation (9-21) and the effective properties upon convergence are provided in Equation (9-23). The discussion of the results is provided in Section 9.4.12.

$$E^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 3.818 & 1.301 & 0.000 \\ 3.358 & 0.000 \\ sym & 1.025 \end{bmatrix}; \qquad \alpha^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 95.807 \\ 116.590 \\ 0.254 \end{bmatrix} \mu m/^{\circ}C \quad (9-23)$$

#### 9.4.11 Case-8: Intercalated, 10% bio-resin, Initial Value varies linearly

This case models an intercalated clay morphology with 10% bio-resin content. The initial value of the design variables was varied linearly, decaying away from the centroid of the RVE. Figure 9-9a shows the histories of the objective function, magnitude of the design variable vector, and the values of constraints, as the design evolved. Figure 9-9b shows the distribution of initial value of design variable. Figure 9-9c and Figure 9-9d show the bio-resin distribution at iteration steps 50 and 200 respectively. The target properties for 10% bio-resin materials are provided in Equation (9-19) and the effective properties upon convergence are provided in Equation (9-24). The discussion of the results is provided in the following section.

$$E^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 5.345 & 1.502 & 0.000 \\ 3.818 & 0.000 \\ sym & 1.153 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \alpha^{H} = \begin{bmatrix} 75.399 \\ 115.360 \\ -1.4561 \end{bmatrix} \mu m/^{\circ}C \quad (9-24)$$

#### 9.4.12 Discussion of the case-studies and Idealized RVEs

The material design based optimization study was performed on eight cases that had varying amounts of bio-resin in UPE, exfoliated and intercalated nanoclay morphology and different intial values for design variables. It was observed that for all the cases studied that the objective function reached convergence at approximately after 50 iterations. Although small variations continued to occur after 50 iterations, the change in the values of objective function and the resulting effective properties was minimal. Overall, the effective elastic tensor agreed reasonably with prescribed target properties for all cases (For e.g.,  $E_{11}$  was within 0 - 14% of target property). The same agreement was not observed for the thermal strain tensor. One reason could be that the values of thermal strain tensors are in the order of 10<sup>-6</sup> lower than the individual elastic tensor properties, and hence the sensitivities due to thermal properties may be having a minimal influence on the objective function and thereby resulting material layout. Guest et al. [9-10] report similar problems with a bi-objective problem wherein the maximize stiffness and permeability. They suggest that the weight factors be modified to address these issues. In this work, models that varied the weight factors of elastic and tensor parts of the objective function, and models that had the elastic and thermal parts of objective function normalized with respective target properties were studied. Results similar to the one reported here were obtained. Nevertheless, additional analyses should be performed to address the non-zero parameter in the thermal strain tensor  $(\alpha_{12}^H)$ . Diaz and Benard [9-9] used a formulation wherein they scaled the matrial properties
and also include weight factors for each of the individual components of the elastic tensor. It is possible that such approaches would allow better control of target properties and thereby the resulting material layouts..

The models with 20% bio-resin contents had effective properties whose objective function did not fully reach global minima. The problem at hand is an error-minimization problem and hence the global minima should occur at zero, indicating a perfect match of target and effective properties. It should be noted that the target properties used in this work had many assumptions. This could be one of the reasons for the objective function failing to reach the global minimum.

A STATE OF STATE

For any optimization problem, the effect of parameters governing the solution strategy, in this case MMA algorithm, such as step size, penalty parameters, and filtering of sensitivities must be studied. Such a study was carried out in this work for the case of exfoliated morphology and 10% bio-resin content. For brevity purposes detailed results of the study are not provided, but a brief summary is given in the following. It was found that a penalty parameter (p) of 5 allowed faster convergence of results. Values greater than p=5, led to solution convergence away from the global minima. Similarly, a step size of 0.75 led to faster convergence, but in some cases caused the solution to diverge. Overall, the default values of the MMA algorithm [9-12] with the penalty parameter value of 3 and step size value of 0.5 performed reasonably well and were thus used in this work.

As mentioned earlier, the objective of the study was not to accurately solve the material design problem but to provide an insight into the distribution of bio-resin that would allow the development of enhanced three-phase RVEs for multi-FE simulations. Considering the variations in experimental results and the assumptions involved in determining the target properties, it is difficult to make strong conclusions on the resulting material layout. Nevertheless, as expected it was observed that the weaker bio-resin gravitated to accumulate around the clay platelet. It was also noted that for 10% bio-resin content the bio-resin elements were distributed along the periphery of the clay platelet, while for 20% bio-resin layout was accumulated at the clay particle ends. The reduction in elastic properties for the 10% bio-resin content was minimal ( $\gamma$ =0.97) relative to 20% bio-resin content ( $\gamma$ =0.64). Considering the load transfer between the clay platelet and the surrounding matrix suggests that in order to reduce the stress-transfer efficiency, the weaker material should affect the interface between the stiff material and the matrix. This notion supports results obtained for models with 10% bio-resin contents. One would expect similar results for models with 20% bio-resin content. Nevertheless, it was found in these cases that the weaker material accumulated in pocket type regions around the ends of clay platelet. When stress transfer along 1-direction occurs, these bio-resin rich areas at clay-ends will provide considerable compliance and hamper the efficiency of the clay platelet.

In spite of the assumptions and shortcomings in convergence of solution, the study revealed two unique bio-resin distribution for 10% and 20% bio-resin contents. The resulting material layouts were simplified and idealized RVEs were proposed/developed for these two bio-resin contents. Figure 9-10a and Figure 9-10b show the simplified idealized RVEs developed from this study.

Overall, the material design based optimization approach is a very powerful technique, and holds great promise in understanding phenomena that cannot be observed or experimentally measured. Nevertheless, the accuracy of the technique is as good as the assumptions and hence care should be taken in drawing conclusions, considering the random nature of the material, the simplicity of the models (single platelet and gallery) and the lack of accurate target properties.

# 9.5 Multi-FE simulations: Tensile behavior using idealized RVEs

The idealized three-phase RVEs (Figure 9-10) obtained from the optimization based material layout design study were used in multi-level FE algorithms to predict the tensile behavior of bio-based nanocomposites. Details of the multi-FE approach, the material models used and comparison of the two-phase and three-phase RVEs along with random clay distribution are provided in Chapter 8. Figure 9-11a and Figure 9-11b provide the comparison of tensile response from the multi-FE simulation predictions and experiments for bio-based polymer/clay nanocomposites with 10% and 20% EML contents respectively. Overall, the enhanced three-phase RVEs obtained from the outcome of the material layout study reported here was found to capture the non-linear response better and match the average experimental data very well. For instance, the multi-FE simulated tensile response from the idealized RVE for 20% bio-resin (Figure 9-10b) agreed with average experimental response for up to 70% of average experimental ultimate strain, and the stress prediction from the simulation at average experimental ultimate strain deviated within 5% of average experimental ultimate stress. This was expected as the accuracy of the model increases when the material is modeled as realistic as possible. Detailed results of the multi-FE simulations are provided in Chapter 8.

## 9.6 Conclusion

Novel eco-friendly bio-based nanocomposites obtained from reinforcing layered silicates (nanoclays) in blends of petroleum and natural polymers (bio-resin) have been shown to exhibit properties that are superior or similar to the base petroleum-polymer. The addition of bio-resin reduces stiffness and barrier properties, which can b recovered by the use of nanoclay reinforcement. The distribution of nanoclay can be observed experimentally

through electron micorscopy, but similar observations on the distribution of petro and bioresin constituents is infeasible. To understand and model these materials efficiently, the distribution of bio/petro resin was sought. The material layout problem presented in this work was aimed to develop an enhanced RVE for multi-level computational simulation. The was the use of topology optimization along with experimental data. The goal was to provide to provide insight to the distribution of bio-resin in the RVE, and not necessarily to accurately solve the material design problem. As with any optimization problem, the accuracy of the material design topology optimization problem used in this work, which minimizes the error between the experimental target properties and homogenized model predictions, depends on the input parameters. Any assumptions or incorrect target properties will clearly influence the outcome of the optimization problem, and the obtained solution is specific to the problem considered and cannot be generalized to other material compositions. Solution of the material layout problem revealed affinity of the weak bio-resin material to the stiff nanoclay platelet. This was expected as bio-resin addition reduced mechanical properties, suggesting that it affected the stress-transfer between the stiff inclusion and the matrix. Additionally, polymer chemistry literature indicates that functionalization/chemical affinity of the bio-resin can have a strong influence in attracting the nanoclay [9-4], thereby supporting the results from the study. Idealized RVEs for 10% and 20% EML contents with 2.5 wt.% nanoclay, with exfoliated and intercalated morphologies, were deduced from material layout studies and used in multi-level FE predictions of the tensile behavior of bio-based nanocomposites. The tensile response predictions using the idealized RVEs developed from this study captured the non-linear response and agreed with average experimental response in initial stiffness. Also, in case of idealized RVE corresponding to 20% bio-resin content, the simulations agreed with average

experimental response for up to 70% of average experimental ultimate strain, and the stress prediction from the simulation at average experimental ultimate strain deviated within 5% of average experimental ultimate stress. Overall, the material design based optimization approach is a very powerful technique and holds great promise in designing unique materials, and in understanding phenomena that cannot be observed or measured experimentally.

# 9.7 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the National Science Foundation under grant CMS-0409666. The implementation of the method of moving asymptotes used here was provided by Prof. Krister Svanberg from the Department of Mathematics at KTH in Stockholm. We thank Prof. Svanberg for allowing us to use his program. Authors are thankful to Dr. Alejandro Diaz, Professor of Mechanical Engineering, Michigan State University, for his help in understanding the theory and formulation of the problem during this study. Authors are also thankful to Dr. Amar K Mohanty and Dr. Manju Misra, School of Packaging, Michigan State University, for their expertise in chemistry and processing of these materials.

# 9.8 Tables and Figures

Table 9-1. Model Description for the material design layouts studied in this work

#	Model Name	Nanoclay Morphology	Weight Factors		Bio-resin content Volume fraction		Initial Value of
			WE	WA	Actual	Available for optimization	design Variable P <sub>ini</sub> *
	Case 1	and a lines of	1	1	10	10	0.1
	Case-1	extoliated	1	1	10	10	0.1
2	Case-2	extoliated	1	1	20	20	0.2
3	Case-3	exfoliated	1	1	20	10	0.1
4	Case-4	exfoliated	1	1	10	10	Linear variation
5	Case-5	intercalated	1	1	10	10	0.1
6	Case-6	intercalated	1	1	20	20	0.2
7	Case-7	intercalated	1	1	20	10	0.1
8	Case-8	intercalated	1	1	10	10	Linear variation
* Uniform distribution of $\rho_{ini}$ assumed except for case-4 and case-8 wherein Linear variation of initial value of design variable with value decreasing as the element is away from the centroid of the RVE.							

Sector 1



Figure 9-1. Base Cells: a) Exfoliated Morphology, b) Intercalated Morphology. The white region represents the ananotay and the blue region represents the design domain containing blends of blor-resin and petror-resin





Figure 9-2. Case-1, Exfoliated morphology with 10% bio-resin. a) Evolution of design, plots showing change of objective function, magnitude of design variable vector, and constraints, b) material layout at iteration step 50, and c) material layout at iteration step 200.



(a)

Figure 9-3. Case-2, Exfoliated morphology with 20% bio-resin. a) Evolution of design, plots showing change of objective function, magnitude of design variable vector, and constraints, b) material layout at iteration step 50, and c) material layout at iteration step 200.

ļ



Figure 9-4. Case-3, Exfoliated morphology with 20% bio-resin content and only 10% available for material design . a) Evolution of design, plots showing change of objective function, magnitude of design variable vector, and constraints, b) material layout at iteration step 50, and c) material layout at iteration step 200.

(a)



Figure 9-5. Case-4, Exfoliated morphology with 10% bio-resin. a) Evolution of design, plots showing change of objective function, magnitude of design variable vector, and constraints, b) Distribution of initial value of the design variable, c) material layout at iteration step 50, and c) material layout at iteration step 200.



Figure 9-6. Case-5, Intercalated morphology with 10% bio-resin content a) Evolution of design, plots showing change of objective function, magnitude of design variable vector, and constraints, b) material layout at iteration step 50, and c) material layout at iteration step 200.



Figure 9-7. Case-6, Intercalated morphology with 20% bio-resin content and all 20% available for material design. a) Evolution of design, plots showing change of objective function, magnitude of design variable vector, and constraints, b) material layout at iteration step 50, and c) material layout at iteration step 200.



Figure 9-8. Case-7, Intercalated morphology with 20% bio-resin content and only 10% available for material design . a) Evolution of design, plots showing change of objective function, magnitude of design variable vector, and constaints, b) material layout at iteration step 50, and c) material layout at iteration step 200.



(b) Initial Value of Design Variable



Figure 9-9. Case-8, Intercalated morphology with 10% bio-resin. a) Evolution of design, plots showing change of objective function, magnitude of design variable vector, and constraints, b) Distribution of initial value of the design variable, c) material layout at iteration step 50, and c) material layout at iteration step 200.

Figure 9-9 continued. . .

(c) Iteration # 50



(c) Iteration # 200





Figure 9-10. Simplified, idealized RVEs. The green, red and black regions represent petroresin (UPE), bio-resin (EML) and nanoclay respectively. a)  $10\%~\rm EML,$  b)  $20\%~\rm EML$ 

.



Figure 9-11. Comparison of tensile response from multi-FE simulations using idealized three-phase RVEs with experimental data, (a) 90/10/2.5, and (b) 80/20/2.5

## 9.9 References

- [9-1]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. "Processing techniques for bio-based unsaturated-polyester/clay nanocomposites: tensile properties, efficiency and limits." Composites: A 2009; 40:394-403.
- [9-2]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. "Bio-based unsaturated polyester/layered silicate nanocomposites: characterization and thermo-physical properties." Composites: A 2009; 40:540-547.
- [9-3]. Haq M, Burgueño R, Mohanty AK, Misra M. "Development and Thermophysical Characterization of Clay Nanocomposites from Blends of Linseed oil and Unsaturated Polyester." Composites: A, Communicated.
- [9-4]. Drown EK, Mohanty AK, Parulekar Y, Hasija D, Harte BR, Misra, M, Kurian JV. The surface characteristics of organoclays and their effect on the properties of poly(trimethylene terephtahalate) nanocomposites. Composites Science and Technology, 2007, 67:3168-3175.
- [9-5]. Sigmund O., "Design of material structures using topology optimization." Ph.D. Thesis, Department of Solid Mechanics, Technical University of Denmark, 1994.
- [9-6]. Sigmund O., "Materials with prescribed constitutive parameters: an inverse homogenization problem." International Journal of Solids and Structures, 1994; 31(17):2313-2339.
- [9-7]. Sigmund O., "Tailoring materials with prescribed constitutive parameters." Mechanics of Materials, 1995; 20: 351-368.
- [9-8]. Sigmund O. and Torquato S., "Design of Materials with Extreme Thermal Expansion using a Three-Phase Topology Optimization Method," Journal of the Mechanics and Physics of Solids, 1997; 45(6):1037-1067.
- [9-9]. Diaz, A., and Benard, A., "Designing materials with prescribed elastic properties using polygonal cells," International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering, 2003; 57:301-314.
- [9-10]. Guest, J.K. and Prevost, J, H., "Optimizing multifunctional materials: Design of microstructures for maximized stiffness and fluid permeability," International Journal of Solids and Structures, 2006; 43:7028-7047.
- [9-11]. Guest, J.K. and Prevost, J, H., "Design of maximum permeability structures." Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering, 2007; 196:1006-1017.
- [9-12]. Svanberg K., "The method of moving asymptotes." International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering, 1987; 24:359-373.

- [9-13]. Kruijf, N., Zhoue, S., Li, Q., and Mai, Y.W., "Topological design of structures and composite materials with multiobjectives," International Journal of Solids and Structures, 2007; 44:7092-7109.
- [9-14]. Zeng, Q.H., Yua, A.B., and Lub, G.Q., "Multiscale modeling and simulation of polymer nanocomposites," Progress in Polymer Science, 2008; 33:191-269.
- [9-15]. Sigmund O., "A 99 line topology optimization code written in Matlab," Structural and Multidisciplinary Optimization, 2001; 21:120-127.
- [9-16]. Bendsoe MP., "Optimal shape design as a material distribution problem," Structural Optimization 1989; 1:193-202.

# Chapter 10. Summary and Conclusions

#### 10.1 Summary:

Environmental concerns related to the use of synthetic, or petroleum based, polymer matrix composites has propelled the development of composite materials based on natural or renewable sources. Biocomposites, composed of natural fibers in synthetic or natural polymer matrices have recently gained much attention due to their low cost, eco-friendliness, and their potential to compete with synthetic composites. Nonetheless, the use of bio-based composites has been limited due to their lower mechanical and thermo-physical properties compared to synthetic composites and conventional structural materials. In this work, hybrid bio-based composites consisting of multiscale reinforcements, namely natural fibers and nanoclay embedded in blends of petroleum based (unsaturated polyester) and vegetable oil based resins (derivatives of soybean and linseed oils), were developed through integrated experiments and computational simulations. Experimental studies included development of novel processing techniques for bio-based polymer nanocomposites and detailed characterization of physical, thermal, mechanical and barrier properties of both nanocomposites and biocomposites. Computational simulations that take into account the detailed morphologies at various hierarchical length scales were developed and validated/integrated with experiments. Electron microscopy aided the development of realistic computational models (RVE, representative volume elements). The distribution of bio-resin in nanocomposites could not be observed experimentally (microscopy), hence, the available experimental data was used along with topology optimization to determine the distribution of the bio-resin and develop an enhanced RVE for modeling the three-phase

material. A multi-level finite element approach was implemented to link different length scales. The multi FE approach was used to evaluate the tensile response of clay+bio-based nanocomposites and micro-fiber+clay+bio-based composites. Overall, eco-friendly, tailorable, cost-effective and multiscale reinforced bio-based composites were successfully developed through the integration of experiments and computational simulations. It is believed that the approach of integrating simulations and experiments, as attempted in this work, holds great promise and similar methodology can be applied for other types of hierarchical materials, thereby providing guidance in designing those materials.

Constant of the second second

# 10.2 Research Findings

#### 10.2.1 Processing of Bio-based Nanocomposites

- Processing plays a vital role in the resulting properties of both nanocomposites and biocomposites.
- In order to exploit the benefits/synergy offered by the hybrid hierarchical bio-based materials studied in this work, incorporation of large amounts of bio-resin and nanoclay is needed, but such incorporation is controlled by the processing limitations of bio-based nanocomposite resins. Also, the overall properties of the bio-based composites are highly dependable on efficient processing of bio-based nanocomposite resins.
- Solvent-based processing of nanoclay reinforced bio-based resin systems brings about new challenges, such as phase separation, thermal degradation of the resin system and limitations on the maximum feasible bio-resin and nanoclay content.

- Two novel efficient solvent based processing techniques were developed through a study that compared four different techniques. The effects of sonication energy, processing time, solvent type and the associated processing issues for each of the techniques were assessed by evaluating the nanoclay morphology and the tensile properties of the resulting polymer nanocomposites. Processes that enable incorporation of relatively large amount of bio-resin and nanoclay content with minimal processing problems, lower processing time and desirable tensile properties were considered to have good overall efficiency.
- In particular, two processes were found to have good overall efficiency. One of them (Process B) consists of using acetone as a solvent and led to the best nanoclay dispersion and exfoliation, resulting in samples with high tensile modulus. The second one (Process D) consists of direct sonication of nanoclay in the resin system diluted with styrene. This process eliminates the use of a foreign solvent, thereby reducing processing time, and the resulting nanocomposites showed a good balance of tensile properties, namely a balanced improvement of stiffness and toughness.
- Depending on desired properties and applications, either of these processes is deemed suitable for effective production of bio-based nanocomposites.

#### 10.2.2 Study on Bio-based Polymer Nano-composites

- Bio-based resin systems from partial substitution of petroleum based resins (primary) with natural polymers (secondary) provide environmental friendliness, costeffectiveness and improved toughness.
- Experimental characterization of thermo-physical, mechanical, barrier properties and microscopic observations were studied on bio-based nanocomposites with

unsaturated polyester (UPE, primary resin, petro-based) and two types of bio-resins, namely epoxidized methyl soyate (EMS, soybean oil derivative) and epoxidized methyl linseedate (EML, linseed oil derivative), reinforced with nanoclay.

- It was observed that the combination of nanoclays and bio-resins in UPE resin systems lead to composites with similar or better properties than the original virgin UPE resin system.
- The drawbacks from the addition of bio-resins to the base polymer were shown to be <u>recoverable</u> through nanoclay reinforcement and vice versa.
- The addition of bio-resin increases toughness but reduces stiffness of the resin system.

ALCONTRACTOR D

- Similarly, the addition of nanoclay increases stiffness along with brittleness of the resulting nanocomposites, i.e., a reduction in toughness and ductility.
- The studies showed that a proper <u>stiffness- toughness</u> balance can be obtained and can be <u>tailored</u> by controlling the amount of bio-resin and nanoclay contents.
- Additionally, a comparative study of neat resins (no clay), from blends of EMS and EML in UPE revealed similar tensile properties for both resin blends. Nevertheless, considering ease of processing, EML resin is recommended for use. Also, EML composites have relatively better transparency than EMS composites.
- If the transparency/translucency of resulting nanocomposites is an indication of phase-separation, EMS composites seemed to have had a higher degree of phaseseparation (less transparent), also indicating that EML composites have relatively better compatibility with primary petro-resin UPE.

#### 10.2.3 Hybrid Bio-based Composites:

- Hybrid bio-based composites that exploit the <u>synergy</u> between natural fibers (industrial hemp) in a nanoreinforced (nanoclay) bio-based polymer (unsaturated polyester + linseed/soybean oil based resins) can lead to improvements in multiple properties while maintaining environmental appeal and cost-effectiveness.
- The properties of the resulting biocomposites are tailorable and seem controllable by the amount and distribution of the constituents.
- Experimental characterization studies showed that the addition of bio-resin lowers mechanical parameters, such as stiffness and ultimate tensile stress, but increases toughness parameters, such as impact strengths and ductility.
- The addition of nanoclay enhances stiffness but seems to decrease toughness. Thus, the study shows that a proper stiffness/toughness balance can be obtained by controlling the amount of bio-resin and nanoclay content. The enhancement in stiffness due to nanoclay addition was found to be less pronounced in biocomposites than in nanocomposites, as the hemp fibers control the stiffness of the biocomposites
- The synergistic behavior is not limited to stiffness-toughness balance, and similar balance was observed in thermal and barrier properties, wherein the detrimental properties of bio-resin were <u>recovered</u> by nanoclay addition and vice versa.
- The multiphase nature of the hybrid bio-based composites revealed multi-functional attributes, such as improved barrier and thermal properties along with improvements in mechanical properties.
- The multiscale reinforcement provided enhancements at different length scales. The addition of nanoclay improved the properties of the polymer matrix, thereby

improving the barrier (thermal + moisture movement) properties, while the microsized hemp fibers govern most macroscopic mechanical properties of resulting biocomposites.

 Tensile fracture surfaces (scanning electron microscopy) revealed an increase in the interfacial gap (gap between the hemp fiber and the matrix), and increased amount of pulled-out fibers, with an increase in bio-resin content. This indicates an adverse effect of bio-resin on interfacial properties. Increased pull-out of fibers indicates higher dissipation of energy, thereby higher ductility and improved toughness as observed in experimental results.

## 10.2.4 Analytical and Computational Modeling

- The success of any modeling to predict the overall properties of a heterogeneous material depends on the representative volume element (RVE) or unit cell.
- The RVE should be selected such that it is large enough to represent the microstructure and small enough to allow efficient computations.
- Unlike most conventional nanoparticles/fillers, nanoclays pose unique modeling issues such as a) particle size, b) hierarchical/intercalated morphology and c) interface and inter-gallery properties.
- Exfoliated clays may have thicknesses in range of nanometers and highly intercalated clay agglomerations may have thicknesses in the order of micrometers. Moreover, it is commonly agreed that polymer clay nanocomposites exhibit both exfoliated hierarchical morphologies. Hence most analytical models that have assumptions of uniform properties with a constant aspect ratio for all particles fail to model nanoclay composites efficiently.

- Finite element based RVEs allow detailed/realistic modeling of the material including different particle shapes and morphologies, and non-linear material properties with complex loading, and were thus used to successfully model the hybrid material in this study.
- Finite element RVEs used in this work modeled the material as realistically as possible and took into account the random distribution (due to processing) and morphologies (exfoliated, intercalated and both) of nanoclay platelets.
- A comparison of FE based RVEs and analytical models (Mori-Tanaka estimates) with experimental data revealed better agreement of FE based RVEs with experiments than analytical models. This is attributed to the more realistic modeling of the material.

#### 10.2.5 Material layout

- The distribution of nanoclay in the polymer matrix could be observed using electron microscopy, but the distribution of bio-resin in the primary petro-resin cannot be observed by this method. In order to model the hybrid composite in greater detail, it is essential to realistically model the three-phase material, and hence the distribution of bio-resin was sought.
- The material layout problem used in this work was aimed to develop an enhanced three-phase RVE by using experimental data along with topology optimization in an attempt to provide insight to the distribution of bio-resin in the RVE. Thus the goal was not to accurately solve the material design problem.
- As with any optimization problem, the accuracy of the material design topology optimization problem used in this work, which minimizes the error between the

experimental target properties and homogenized model predictions, depends on the input parameters. Any assumptions or incorrect target properties will influence the outcome of the optimization problem, and is specific to the problem considered and cannot be generalized to other material compositions.

- The bio-resin distribution resulting from a material layout problem with any single target parameter (e.g., modulus) may not yield the same distribution from any other parameter (e.g., thermal expansion). Nevertheless, in reality the material should have a unique distribution that matches all experimental parameters. As a result, a material distribution/design problem that uses multiple target parameters, like the one used in this work increases the confidence of the result.
- Optimization algorithms rely on many input variables, such as step size, penalty parameter, initial value of the design variable, etc. These variables are specific to any given problem and need to be changed for every problem.
- Solution of the material layout problem revealed affinity of the weak bio-resin material to the stiff nanoclay platelet. This was expected as bio-resin addition reduced mechanical properties, suggesting that it affected the stress-transfer between the stiff inclusion and the matrix. Additionally, in order to incorporate higher amounts of bio-resin and nanoclay, the knowledge from chemists reveal that the bioresin may have functionalization/chemical affinity with nanoclay thereby supporting the results from the study.
- Idealized RVEs for 10% and 20% EML contents with 2.5 wt.% nanoclay, with exfoliated and intercalated morphologies were deduced from material layout studies and used in multi-FE prediction of tensile behavior of bio-based nanocomposites.

#### 10.2.6 Multi-scale simulations / Multi-FEA

- Multiscale modeling is a term that covers a wide range of simulations and modeling techniques. Ideally, a multiscale modeling scheme would be the one that links all the scales from atomistic level to macro/structural level. In other words, it should connect the discrete molecular structure with the bulk continuous structure. At the same time, any modeling scheme that links any two scales is commonly considered a multiscale modeling scheme, hence making the use of this descriptive analysis term subjective.
- The most important aspect of multiscale modeling is the accurate prediction of physical/chemical properties and behavior from a lower scale (e.g., nano or micro scale) to a larger (or macro scale) without loss of intrinsic information. In other words, accurate *transfer* of effective properties from one length scale to other (also termed as hand-shaking) governs the success of the computational simulation.
- A multi-level finite element (FE) computation does not require any constitutive equations to be written at the macroscopic scale; all non-linearites are obtained from separate FE analyses at lower hierarchical (micro/nano) scale.
- In this work, a multi-level FE algorithm was implemented to model the hybrid biobased materials. A two-level (nano-micro) multi-FE algorithm was used to predict the tensile response of two-phase (nanoclay + matrix) and three-phase (nanoclay + petro-resin + bio-resin) bio-based nanocomposites. Also, a three-level multi-FE (nano-micro-macro) algorithm was implemented to predict the tensile behavior of bicomposites (natural fiber + nanoclay + petro-resin + bio-resin).
- For bio-based nanocomposites, the multi-level FE predictions of all the models were in good agreement with the initial stiffness, obtained from average experimental data.

- The two-phase intercalated models matched the average experimental response for up to 50% of average experimental ultimate strain value, while this value was only 35% for exfoliated model. Also, the stress prediction corresponding to average experimental ultimate strain deviated from experimental stress by 45% and 35% for exfoliated and intercalated models, respectively. Overall, models with intercalated clay models showed better performance than exfoliated clay models. This was expected as the accuracy of the model increases when the material is modeled as realistic as possible.
- The three-phase idealized single-particle model had the best performance of all models with good agreement up to 70% of the ultimate strain observed from average experimental response. Also, considering the deviations in the experimental data, the stresses predicted by the single-particle idealized RVE, corresponding to the average experimental ultimate tensile strain, were within 5% of the average experimental ultimate tensile strain, were within 5% of the average experimental ultimate tensile strain, the simulated responses agreed reasonably well with experimental results and were able to capture the nonlinear response.
- The multi-FE predictions of tensile response of hybrid biocomposites matched average experimental response with respect to initial stiffness. The virgin UPE biocomposite deviated from average experimental response at strain levels of 25% of ultimate strains, while this value was 35% for hybrid biocomposite (20% EML & 2.5 wt.% nanoclay) using idealized three-phase RVE. This suggests that material nonlinearity helps in capturing the non-linear behavior, but is not the only source of non-linearity.
- The deviation of the simulation from the experimental data is due to many factors, including material non-linearity, random distribution of the short hemp fibers,

interaction of the short-fibers, fiber pull-out, straightening of the curved fibers, interfacial properties, etc. Hence, relying purely on material non-linearity will still be unable to capture the non-linear response accurately, particularly near ultimate response. Nonetheless, properly designed multiscale FE simulations can shed light in understanding the aforementioned complexities and sources of non-linearity

 A simplified RVE was used in this work, with the objective of illustrating the promise of the multi-level computational scheme. A more realistic RVE with enhanced material properties and modeling of the reinforcement morphology would enable accurate modeling of such materials.

- One of the main drawbacks of multi-FE algorithm is that it is basically a more sophisticated homogenization/averaging scheme, but cannot model damage. Once the damage occurs the periodicity of the RVE ceases to exist and the assumptions of the multi-FE method are violated. Also, stress-concentrations and numerical anomalies (if any) get averaged out and hence the scheme may over-predict the actual response.
- Overall, multi-FE algorithms hold great promise in modeling different length scale within the continuum regime.

#### 10.2.7 Closure

In order to understand hybrid materials as the ones dealt with in this dissertation, including the interactions between the polymer blends and the effect of nano-inclusions and micro-fibers on the overall properties, a good understanding of chemistry of such materials combined with atomistic simulations and proper experiments at the respective scales (including nano/lower scale) is essential.

- The current work focused on mechanical behavior. A similar approach can be extended to thermal and diffusion reseonse. The success of this computational scheme will enable prediction of macroscopic responses for various material compositions and macroscopic shapes. A similar methodology could be applied for other types of nanoparticles and hierarchical materials thereby providing guidance in designing those materials.
- Overall, the study used an integrated experimental and simulations based approach to develop and understand hybrid, hierarchical, tailorable and eco-friendly materials. The study showed that bio-based composites with proper stiffness/toughness balance can be obtained while preserving environmental friendliness and cost effectiveness. The improved multifaceted features possible for these sustainable biobased materials are likely to increase their appeal for use in transportation and housing structural applications.

# 10.3 Philosophical Conclusions

#### 10.3.1 Sustainability

One of the most common terminologies used in the literature for eco-friendly materials is "sustainablility". The term "sustainable" is subjective and at times misleading. Oxford dictionary defines sustainable as "avoiding depletion of natural resources." Although materials with plant-based origin or eco-friendly appeal may be used to develop "green" materials, it is not necessary a sustainable alternative by itself. The amount of energy utilized to produce these materials, or the effort spent on making such materials feasible may circumvent the benefits offered by their natural origin. Ideally, whenever sustainability is defined, it should be combined with life-cycle assessment and energy efficiency of production and disposal.

#### 10.3.2 Multi-scale Computations

The advancements in measurement sciences and availability of computational power make multiscale simulations feasible. Nevertheless, the use of these multiscale computational schemes to determine simple elastic properties might be an unnecessary effort Nevertheless, such powerful computational schemes can be used to understand complex materials, time dependent properties, non-linear behavior, modeling damage and phenomena that cannot be measured experimentally. In a similar note, most computational schemes have inherent assumptions in their theory and their numerical models, and thereby the resulting accuracy is dependent on these assumptions. For instance, multiscale schemes that rely on local periodicity cannot model material damage. Once damage occurs, the assumption of local periodicity is lost, and the scheme is invalid. Overall, the success of the computational scheme depends on how realistic/detailed the models are, the assumptions/simplifications made in the theory and the parameters under consideration.

#### 10.3.3 Integration of Experimental results and Computational simulations

The use of experimental data to validate computational models and the use of such validated models to predict properties of complex materials for constituent concentrations to which experimental data is not available, is one of the major advantages of this approach Nevertheless, the use of average properties to validate the models is questionable, especially when there is a large deviation in the parameter studied. In such cases, a probabilistic approach needs to be taken, and a relatively larger number of simulations need to be performed.

#### 10.3.4 Electron Microscopy / Measurements at Lower Scale

The use of electron microscopy or in general measurements at lower scale is very subjective and care should be taken in its interpretation. For instance, an electron micrograph studying nano-particle distribution in a polymer may show good dispersion in one experimental slide and completely agglomerated (i.e., bad) dispersion on another. In such cases, the overall dispersion of the particulates is a subjective call. A better understanding of the equipment, its working technique and sample preparation should be taken into consideration before conclusions from such sensitive observations are made. For instance, in transmission electron microscopy, the material that is kept under observation has a size of few microns with a thickness of approximately 100 nm. Considering the macroscopic size, the randomness in processing techniques, and varied observations in different material slides, drawing strong conclusions on the macroscopic material from observations at that scale can be tricky and subjective and should be handled with care.

# 10.4 Research Needs

#### 10.4.1 Atomistic Simulations, Transient and Non-linear Properties:

Atomistic simulations (molecular dynamics) can be used to understand the phenomena for which experimental data is not available. For instance, a study on the interaction of polymer chains of petro-resin and bio-resin, bio-resin and bio-resin, and their interaction with nanoclay will shed light on the polymer blends and influence better chemistry and processing of the materials. Such knowledge will allow better design of these materials and incorporation of more bio-resin. Additionally, the use of robust multi-scale computations should be used to understand the influence of lower scale heterogeneities on macroscopic time-dependent, transient properties such as thermal and barrier properties.
Similarly it is essential to model the progression of damage of these composites. It is believed that damage initiates at the lower/atomic scales and proper use of robust multiscale computational schemes will help understand failure initiation and better design and development of complex materials.

#### 10.4.2 Statistical Considerations in Experimental Results

As expected, the experimental data revealed scatter/variations in measured parameters. These variations were specifically larger for failure-dependent parameters, such as tensile failure strains, tensile strengths and impact strengths. In this work, only the average values were considered and hence a qualitative effect and overall trends based on average values could be obtained. Detailed statistical analyses taking into account these variations should be performed to quantitatively and precisely obtain the effects of constituents, namely bio-resin and nanoclay.

# 10.4.3 True Bio-degradable "Green" Materials

The work reported uses blends of petroleum resins and bio-resins along with natural fibers. The use of all bio-resins was limited due to performance concerns. Recent advancements in the areas of bio-polymers and material science have shown promise in use of 100% bio-resins that are also bio-degradable, with improved performance. Also, the natural fibers used in this work were untreated. This was done so that a lower limit on performance could be obtained. For instance, a combination of "engineered" (or treated) fibers with 100% bio-resin and use of bio-based nano-particulates (such as cellulose whiskers, clay platelets, silica) would produce efficient "green" materials. Due to the rapid advancements in material science and chemistry (functionalizations), high-performance and "green" material are becoming a reality.

### 10.4.4 True Integration of Experiments and Computational Simulations

The computational materials based approach of developing materials requires proper integration of experiments and computational simulations. This indicates that computational models at each scale should essentially be compared/matched with experiments at respective scale. In such a case, material properties for computational models at nano-scale or any lower scale require experiments at that scale. Bulk material properties cannot be used for local/lower scale models. For instance, macroscopic properties of a polymer nanocomposite cannot be used in a computational model that studies the effect of nanoparticle. Instead experiments such as nano-indentation or atomic force microscopy (AFM) will produce more realistic local properties. Additionally, it is believed that AFM allows observation of soft and hard regions within a polymer. Ideally, such observations could enable obtaining the actual bio-resin distribution, thereby enabling better modeling of three-phase nanocomposites. Also, such observations could be used to validate models, similar to the ones developed in this study that determine the bio-resin layout using topology optimization. Overall, true integration of experiments and simulation requires measurements and simulations at respective scales.

# 10.4.5 Structural Application of Biocomposites and Large-scale Testing

The bio-based materials used in this work show great promise in use for structural applications. One of the main concerns of use of these materials for structural applications has been durability. The addition of nanoclay in the resin system delays the moisture reaching the natural fibers and thereby is believed to improve the durability of resulting

structural component. Also, their load-bearing efficiency can be improved if they are used in sandwich/hollow-core designs. Finally, large scale manufacturing and testing of such biocomposite materials is essential to prove their feasibility.

# 10.5 Research Impact

The approach attempted in this work, namely the integration of experiments and computational simulations has promise in the understanding of micro/nanoscale mechanisms governing various parameters, thereby enabling tailoring of macroscopic properties by proper synergy and distribution of materials at respective scales. This methodology is not limited to hybrid bio-based materials used in this work, but could be applied for other nanoparticle types and hierarchical materials. Ideally, computational models validated with selective experiments would allow prediction of properties for material compositions to which experimental data is not available. In the current study, experimentally validated computational models were developed at nanoscale, and were used to predict the overall macroscopic response. At the same time, in a true sense, these validated models were not implemented in determining properties for unknown material compositions. It is believed that such predictions are direct extension to the current work. Ideally, such predictions would eliminate costly trial and error experiments and enable better understanding and consequently help in design of complex materials. Overall, a successful modeling scheme, as the one used in this research could enable development of novel, efficient, cost effective multifunctional materials. This technique is powerful and can be used in diverse applications such as: a) modeling of bones and development of prosthetics, b) design of textiles, c) development of alloys and materials from a combination of heterogeneities etc. On the other hand, development of bio-based materials and their applications for structural applications would lead to sustainable, environmental friendly, bio-degradable and cost effective materials.

.